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Gore Vidal

Into the Buzzsaw is a splendid—and heartening— collection of
essays. Some are by writers known to me; others not. The one
great thing that each has in common with the others is a dedication
not only to freedom of speech but to a close scrutiny of things political
and —alas —religious. They go to the roots and they ask the only ques-
tion worth asking—why? On November 25, 1644, the poet John
Milton published Aereopagitica. In the midst of the English Civil War —
Roundhead Puritans versus King’s Cavaliers —Milton wrote a pam-
phlet in favor of divorce. Fundamentalist Protestant Christians asked
Parliament that it be burned and that the laws of censorship through
the licensing of pamphlets, etc., be reinforced. Milton’s response to his
critics was to invoke the common meeting place of Athenian citizens,
the Aereopagus, by publishing the pamphlet Aereopagitica, “ A speech
of Mr. John Milton for the liberty of unlicensed printing, to the Parlia-
ment of England.”

Although the country was engaged in a civil war whose result
would be as “fundamental and astounding” as Lincoln styled our
Civil War, Milton not only refused to submit his writings to prior cen-
sorship as required by ordinance but he denounced Parliament itself,
for having made laws so entirely unworthy of what the best minds
had thought was to be a new era of English liberties, and he
demanded the repeal of all censorship laws. In the end, if nothing
else, he redefined the prospect: “Let (truth) and falsehood grapple;
who ever knew truth put to the worse, in a free and open encounter?”

One wonders how Milton would have answered that spokesman for
President George W. Bush who admonished the press on CNN, “You
better watch what yousay.” Certainly, he would have noted that the Pen-
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tagon Junta that rules us wants every sort of power to silence its critics.
We all accept the fact that a contemporary Milton would not be allowed
on prime-time network television (which originally, like the air itself,
belonged to all the people), but he could possibly publish in a small mag-
azine or write a book never to be reviewed in the New York Times.

I cite Milton because the root of the present Islamic war against
us, provoked over time by us, is not unlike England’s civil war in
Milton’s day when each side went into battle shouting “Kill for
Jesus!” and kill one another those Jesus-lovers did.

From 1644 to 1791 is only 147 years. Here is what was ratified by
the new United States as the first amendment to its new constitution:
“Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion,
or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of
speech, or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to as-
semble, and to petition the Government for a redress of grievances.”

That says it all in a very brief space. Milton would have said it
more eloquently, but he would have made the same points.

In the hundreds of wars that the United States has fought since
the Union was invented, at every time of true crisis a small group can
always be counted upon to use the crisis of the day to stifle free
speech. After the White House spokesman’s warning, a cringing CNN
news reader came on the air to say that CNN would no longer be tele-
casting directly anything the Muslim Satan had said directly to
camera for fear that he might convert Christians and Jews to Islam—
needless to say, these were not her exact words, but she did seem to
believe that he might use CNN for coded messages to his mad fol-
lowers as Angela Lansbury manipulated the brainwashed Manchurian
Candidate with a phrase. This did not play any better than the
attempted suppression of Aereopagitica and, before long, the Bush
team were crowding onto the Muslim TV program when it agreed to
dispense Bush-speak as well as devil-talk.

It is to the credit of the Pentagon Junta that they have pro-
grammed their Bush not to butt in with too religious a light. Let
Osama go on wildly about Allah and Satan. Instead, the Junta sends
the smoking Bush to a mosque, to speak mildly of these, admittedly,
“evil people” who may have hijacked the United States postal service
for their random gifts of anthrax. I say random because the mainline
media makes every event seem random since they cannot tell us why
bad things happen, only that they do because bad people like doing
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them. I like David E. Hendrix's image that we “why” people are like
the canaries in the coal mine. When we stop our unlovely singing, the
miners know it is late but perhaps not too late to come up for air.

I should like to add to this courageous group of choristers one
Arno ]. Mayer. After the events of last September, he wrote “Untimely
Reflections,” explaining why what happened happened. He was
refused publication everywhere in the United States, including the
Nation, where I am a contributing editor. I came across his piece in Le
Monde. Here are some lines from it:

Until now, in modern times, acts of individual terror have been the
weapon of the weak and the poor, while acts of state and economic
terror have been the weapons of the strong. In both types of terror it
is, of course, important to distinguish between target and victim.
This distinction is crystal clear in the fatal hit on the World Trade
Center: the target is a prominent symbol and hub of globalizing cor-
porate financial and economic power; the victim the hapless and
partly subaltern work force. Such a distinction does not apply to the
strike on the Pentagon: it houses the supreme military command —
the ultima ratio regnum — of capitalist globalization even if it entails, in
the Pentagon’s own language, “collateral” damage to human life.

In any case, since 1947 America has been the chief and pio-
neering perpetrator of “preemptive” state terror, exclusively in the
Third World and therefore widely dissembled. Besides the unexcep-
tional subversion and overthrow of governments in competition
with the Soviet Union during the Cold War, Washington has resorted
to political assassinations, surrogate death squads, and unseemly
freedom fighters (e.g., bin Laden). It masterminded the killing of
Lumumba and Allende; and it unsuccessfully tried to put to death
Castro, Khadafi and Saddam Hussein . .. and vetoed all efforts to
rein in not only Israel’s violation of international agreements and
U.S. resolutions but also its practice of preemptive state terror.

I should point out that Le Monde is a moderately conservative,
highbrow publication and, from the beginning, a supporter of Israel.

October 2001
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EDITOR’S INTRODUCTION

We journalists aren’t a very collegial group. Collaboration is,
for the most part, anathema. With few exceptions, each of us
is forever seeking to fulfill a constant, primal urge to be the first to
“get” the story and “own” it. The competition is fierce, often cut-
throat, in our arena. This is why Into the Buzzsaw is an unprecedented
effort on the part of a group of more than a dozen reporters. Here, for
the first time in the history of American journalism, award-winning
print and broadcast reporters provide candid behind-the-scenes
views of what’s happening in American journalism today.

There are good reasons why no record like this one has ever
existed. Most journalists work behind the scenes and want to keep it
that way. They don’t ever want to be the story, they only want to tell
it. More important, there are plenty of big and little dirty secrets jour-
nalism’s “powers-that-be” don’t want publicized, particularly by
those who work for them and know those secrets. Reporters who
tattle risk losing their jobs and being blacklisted in the business. Some
of the contributors to this book have already been there and done that.
All of them are nothing short of courageous for participating in this
book. Others wanted to, but were afraid of the repercussions. That
should tell you something about the news you’re getting.

As critical of the American press as this book is, it should not be
construed as a finger-pointing exercise or a blame game. Sure, we
name names, but Into the Buzzsaw’s ultimate purpose is to invite
everyone — professional reporters and the general public alike—to
look squarely at the problems journalists face, to examine them in all
their dimensions and permutations, so that there is a greater under-
standing of what they are and why they need to be addressed. Bits
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and pieces of solutions to various problems can already be gleaned
from these chapters, but many more are needed.

This book was born of a terrible experience I had that began at
CBS after I was assigned to look into why TWA Flight 800 exploded
off the coast of Long Island, New York. I left CBS shortly after the FBI
came to the network looking for some evidence I had that they
claimed had been stolen from a hangar on Long Island where their
investigators were working. My experience at CBS led to other
strange and unsettling incidents that collectively I describe as
“walking into the buzzsaw.” The buzzsaw is a powerful system of
censorship in this country that is revealed to those reporting on
extremely sensitive stories, usually having to do with high-level gov-
ernment and/or corporate malfeasance. It often has a fatal effect on
one’s career. I don’t want to mix metaphors here, but a journalist who
has been through the buzzsaw is usually described as “radioactive,”
which is another word for unemployable.

It took several years for me to get over the trauma of my experi-
ence and to come up with the idea of putting this book together. I
knew I wasn’t the only person in the world who had walked into the
buzzsaw, but I had no idea how much company I actually had. Our
ranks are growing as I write this.

While waiting for the contributors to submit their essays, I won-
dered if they’d actually have the guts to really tell their stories. I
began to worry that the book was going to be a collection of dry, dis-
tant accounts of what’s wrong with the press. I couldn’t have been
more mistaken.

I was stunned and thrilled at the heart, the courage, and the deep
love of journalism that was conveyed in the pages I was receiving. I
was moved to tears by Bob Port’s account of his efforts at the Associ-
ated Press to get out the story of No Gun Ri, about American soldiers
and warplanes gunning down some 400 Korean civilians during the
Korean War. And by Monika Jensen-Stevenson, a former 60 Minutes
producer, who has written two books and spent almost twenty years
trying to set the record straight about former POW Bobby Garwood.

Into the Buzzsaw begins with a harrowing story about a term I'd
never heard of: “privishing.” It’s short for “private publishing,” and
it is part of the buzzsaw machinery. Veteran investigative journalist
Gerard Colby defines the term as “when a publisher kills off an
author’s book without the author’s awareness or consent.” Colby’s
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chapter gives a fascinating firsthand account of his experience with
the privishing of his first book, Du Pont: Behind the Nylon Curtain.
Colby’s meticulously documented exposé of the Du Pont family
empire drew fire from its powerful members, and led his publisher to
engage in this practice, that until now, has been kept well hidden.

Some chapters read like Indiana Jones adventure stories, but they
make stunning points about the current state of investigative jour-
nalism. DEA agent-turned-journalist Michael Levine writes of his
near-death experiences and dealings with the press while chasing
drug lords in Latin America and Asia. His story is alternately chilling,
hilarious, and infuriating. Former investigative journalist Gary Webb
picks up the drug story in California, giving a blow-by-blow account
of how he uncovered and wrote a series of reports about the Central
Intelligence Agency’s involvement in dealing drugs that wound up
on the streets of Los Angeles. Webb was working for the San José Mer-
cury News at the time. Publication of the series, entitled Dark Alliance,
effectively ended his career as a journalist. John Kelly’s chapter on the
CIA’s criminal activities around the globe and how the press point-
edly ignores them redefines the term “outrageous.” Kelly is a long-
time independent investigative reporter who was the lead writer for
Tainted Evidence, a searing account of unprofessional and illegal activ-
ities related to the FBI’s crime laboratory.

The fact that these journalists, and many others who aren’t in this
book, are willing to wage big battles —sometimes for years —to bring
important stories to your attention, makes this book a celebration of
sorts too. The fact that people like Helen Malmgren, correspondent
Ed Bradley’s producer, is doing first-rate investigative work at CBS,
or that Brant Houston’s organization, Investigative Reporters and
Editors Inc., is providing first-class training to the current and up-
coming generations of investigative reporters, are great signs.

Nonetheless, investigative reporting is dwindling, particularly at
the major networks, because it is expensive, attracts lawsuits, and can
be hostile to the corporate interests and/or government connections
of a news division’s parent company. News operations tend to avoid
these hassles. Big, sensitive stories that can’t be ignored are often cov-
ered by dutifully telling the public what appointed spokespeople and
spinmeisters have to say about them. This aids and abets cover-ups,
and amounts to censorship. Investigative producer Jane Akre’s
chapter about her fight with a Fox station in Tampa, Florida, to report
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the truth about Monsanto Corporation’s bovine growth hormone will
show you this in no uncertain terms.

My hope is that this book will give everyone a chance to look at
the stark realities of investigative reporting so that they can be dealt
with honestly —not just for the sake of individual American citizens,
but for the government and corporations, too. After all, government
is made up of people, as are corporations, and surely the individuals
working in and for these institutions realize that once they walk out
of their office doors, they become just plain people, individuals who
will suffer the consequences of a constrained and censored press just
like everyone else.

In the book’s last chapter, Robert McChesney writes about, among
other things, censorship by omission in current affairs reporting here
in the United States. McChesney points out why CNN's reports on the
“War on Terrorism” for American consumption differ greatly from
their reports on the same subject for European consumption: “Interna-
tional audiences are getting a much more critical take on the war. . ..
They will not watch CNN if it is seen as a front for the Bush adminis-
tration. On the other hand, if CNN presents such critical coverage to
U.S. audiences, it will outrage people in power here.”

Solid, in-depth coverage of the activities that our government and
large corporations are engaging in both at home and abroad is neces-
sary to protect the way of life we enjoy here in the United States. It's
been written countless times that the press is our nation’s last line of
defense for keeping our leaders honest and our government democ-
ratic. If you believe this to be true and are concerned, read on.
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Gerard Colb;

Colby is a former national vice president and current cochair
of the National Book Division of the National Writers Union
(UAW Local 1981, AFL-CIO). His articles have appeared in
a variety of national and local periodicals, and he is the
author of Du Pont: Behind the Nylon Curtain (Prentice-
Hall, 1974), Du Pont Dynasty (Lyle Stuart, 1984), and
coauthor with Charlotte Dennett of Thy Will Be Done, the
Conquest of the Amazon: Nelson Rockefeller and Evan-
gelism in the Age of Oil (HarperCollins, 1995; Harper-
Perennial, 1996). He is currently working with Dennett on a
new book on the United States in the Middle East for Harper-
Collins. He resides in Burlington, Vermont.

“Eternal vigilance is the price of liberty.”
— Wendell Phillips

In the thirty years I have been a freelance investigative journalist,
I've seen books suppressed in varying ways, sometimes by the
subjects of books, sometimes by publishers, and sometimes by
authors succumbing to self-censorship out of fear of repercussions for
telling the truth. In the 1970s, a new term came into the vernacular of
industry-wise writers: privishing.

According to the sworn testimony in federal court of a twenty-
year Viking Press editor, William Decker, the term was used in the
industry to describe how publishers killed off books without authors’
awareness or consent. Privishing is a portmanteau meaning to pri-
vately publish, as opposed to true publishing that is open to the
public. It is usually employed in the following context: “We privished
the book so that it sank without a trace.” The mechanism used is
simple: cut off the book’s life-support system by reducing the initial
print run so that the book “cannot price profitably according to any
conceivable formula,” refuse to do reprints, drastically slash the

15
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book’s advertising budget, and all but cancel the promotional tour.
The publisher’s purpose is to kill off a book that, for one reason or
another, is considered “troublesome” or potentially so. This wide-
spread activity must be done secretly because it constitutes a breach
of contract, which, if revealed, could subject the publisher to legal lia-
bility. In the book-publishing industry’s standard contract, the pub-
lisher, in return for exclusive rights sold to them by the creator
(writer), promises to not simply print the book, but to publish it,
including providing an initial print run and promotional and adver-
tising budgets adequate to give the book a fair chance in its given esti-
mated market. Too often, this is not done.

In the “old” days, privishing was usually triggered by quiet inter-
ventions against a political book (often a history, social or political
study, or biography) by one or more of the book’s powerful subjects.
Today, privishing has spread beyond political books to any book a
publisher may want to kill off for reasons that have little to do with
the book’s worth. Rather, it has more to do with the way the book-
publishing industry’s structure has been allowed to evolve into non-
publishing conglomerates. Big media corporations have now taken
over previously competing publishing houses, and “big box” chain
bookstores have pushed small booksellers out of business. What was
once secretive because of its political import is now done with
impunity under the aegis of bottom-line economics that have little to
do with the traditional concepts of a fair marketplace of ideas. Instead
of giving books time to build a readership through good reviews and
word-of-mouth recommendations, conglomerates and chain book-
stores demand quick, high-volume sales and higher profit ratios,
thereby shortening the books’ lifespans.

I discovered political privishing because my first book, Du Pont:
Behind the Nylon Curtain, was a victim of the practice. Due to limited
space, I can only provide a brief summation of my encounters with
privishing. The first happened while I was researching my book in
Delaware, the Du Pont family’s “Company State” (as Ralph Nader
called Du Pont-dominated Delaware). I had just sent out letters to Du
Pont family members requesting interviews when out of the blue, a
bearded friend of another mutual writer friend showed up at my
door. He said his name was Mark Duke and that he was writing a
story for Ramparts magazine on then-Congressman Pierre (“Pete”) du
Pont IV’s presidential ambitions. One of my writer friends, William
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Hoffman, vouched for his integrity, so I let him into my home —and
into my research files. In fact, according to court records, Duke was an
informer found through the services of Richmond Williams, the then-
director of the Du Ponts’ tax-free family archives, the Eleutherian
Mills-Hagley Foundation Historical Library. Williams, in turn, was
providing information on me to Du Pont family elders. Moreover,
Duke had been contracted to write a book to answer mine, using my
own literary agent, Oscar Collier of New York City, as his agent. Col-
lier, obviously because of the ethical conflict involved, kept his rela-
tionship with Duke a secret from me. Later, soon after Prentice-Hall
successfully privished my book and fired my disillusioned editor for
“nonproductivity,” they hired Oscar Collier as an editor.

Then there was the Prentice-Hall salesman who, “under orders,”
leaked the book’s unedited manuscript to the Du Pont family. A hand-
written index of Du Pont family names that had been specially pre-
pared by someone at Prentice-Hall was attached to the manuscript.
The salesman dropped the manuscript and index off at a bookstore in
Wilmington, Delaware, that had been previously owned by a Du Pont
family member. Another family member, J. Bruce Bredin, picked up
the manuscript from the bookstore and delivered it to the Du Pont
Company’s Public Affairs Department. Public Affairs quickly sent it
on to Bredin’s brother-in-law, Du Pont Senior Vice President and
Director, Irénée du Pont Jr., at the time effectively the family patriarch.
After consultations, Irénée flew out of the country to Latin America to
inspect Du Pont facilities, leaving the dirty work to Du Pont’s Public
Affairs Department. A series of phone calls ensued. The first was to
Book-of-the-Month Club (BOMC), whose Fortune Book Club had
contracted with Prentice-Hall to sell the book. Du Pont Company offi-
cials told BOMC officials that family members and their lawyers had
found the book “scurrilous and actionable.” Duly warned by one of
the most powerful corporations in the world, BOMC quickly caved in,
canceling the book within twenty-four hours, an unprecedented
action in BOMC's history, according to later BOMC testimony.

When BOMC informed Prentice-Hall, their legal counsel, William
Daly, called Du Pont to confirm what Du Pont officials had told
BOMC. But Du Pont officials, trying to avoid liability, denied they
were threatening to sue. At that point, Prentice-Hall’s legal division’s
efforts were undermined when the book’s fate was taken over by the
editor in chief of Prentice-Hall’s trade division, John Kirk, and the



president of the trade book division, Peter Grenquist. Kirk and Gren-
quist cut Prentice Hall’s planned first print run of ten thousand by
one-third so that, according to their own documents, the book could
not price profitably “according to any conceivable formula.” Later, in
legal depositions, they claimed that they cut the print run to compen-
sate for the loss of the BOMC print order. The federal trial judge dis-
missed this claim as bogus, since BOMC was printing its own version,
separate from Prentice-Hall’s planned ten thousand first print run.
Furthermore, instead of calling a press conference to publicly expose
the Du Pont Company’s interference, Kirk and Grenquist slashed the
advertising budget in half. Then they scaled back promotional efforts
to a few TV and radio appearances in the two most obvious big-city
markets for a book on the Du Ponts, New York and Philadelphia. All
this was done in secret. The editor, Bram Cavin, was told to keep the
author uninformed.

Two months later, when advance orders for the book were never-
theless building, my editor broke the news to me about Du Pont’s
interference. He said that John Thompkins, reputedly among Time
magazine’s best investigative journalists, was investigating the case
for a story. Thompkins indeed confirmed Du Pont’s interference from
interviews with Du Pont, Prentice-Hall, and Book-of-the-Month Club
officials, and filed his story. Documents later revealed that Robert
Lubar, a Time magazine editor, was also in touch with Du Pont offi-
cials about the book. They had contacted Lubar because they had
thought that Time Inc. controlled the Fortune Book Club, the BOMC
subsidiary that had picked up the book for sale. For unknown rea-
sons, Time killed the story.

The public might never have known about all this had Prentice-
Hall’s chief counsel, disgusted with what was happening to the book,
not decided to take his file to the New York Times” Alden Whitman. But
he did, and two weeks after the New York Times published a laudatory
(“something of a miracle”) two-page review of the book in its Sunday
Book Section, Whitman'’s article on Du Pont’s interference appeared.
He did not disclose, and perhaps did not know, that the Times itself
had already come under pressure from the Du Pont Company for the
review. The Times’ editor, Max Frankel, had resisted this pressure.
Curiously, Whitman’s article appeared on the same page the same
day that another Times article revealed that Du Pont family members
had also interfered with the reportage of Delaware’s largest daily, the



Du Pont family-owned Wilmington News Journal, causing a shake-up
of its editorial staff.

The Times article, while confirming what my editor had told me,
could not help the book any more than the rave reviews it was get-
ting. Prentice-Hall’s cut in the print run meant there were no books to
sell during the crucial Christmas season. Even in those days, book
purchasing was increasingly impulsive. In the quarter century since
these events, it has been even more driven by publicity rather than
word-of-mouth. In the old days, book purchasing was guided by
word-of-mouth among readers, which gave a book time to develop an
appreciative market. Publishers understood that. Beginning in the
1970s, however, a new book’s shelf life was cut shorter and shorter to
make way for a flood of highly publicized “celebrity” books with
anticipated big sales, huge print runs, and even larger advertising and
promotional budgets. Bookstore purchasing was becoming increas-
ingly driven by publicity and the bottom line. Having to compete
against this phenomenon is hard enough, but the situation for non-
celebrity authors is made even worse if there are no books to sell
during an impulse-buying Christmas season. Under such circum-
stances, the book dies, regardless of how much free publicity the book
earns through reviews and news stories.

That is what happened to Du Pont: Behind the Nylon Curtain.
Worse yet, as one Du Pont family member later recalled, the Du Pont
family, after convening a “war council” to discuss what the book
might mean for them, sent rented U-haul-type trucks up to Philadel-
phia when I was about to appear there for book signings and media
appearances. According to this family member, their purpose was to
buy up copies to prevent the public from doing likewise. They prob-
ably knew that Prentice-Hall would not print more in time to meet the
demand. As my agent, Oscar Collier, put it soon after, when I naively
asked for his help with Prentice-Hall and getting the rights to the
book back, “Look, Jerry, the book has had its run.” How many secretly
privished authors have heard that and blamed themselves, assuming
the problem was their writing?

By 1981, I had initiated a federal court suit against Du Pont Com-
pany for inducing a breach of contract and against Prentice-Hall for
breach of contract. My wife, investigative journalist Charlotte Den-
nett, and I would work until the wee hours of the mornings before
witness depositions. We would go over records subpoenaed from Du



Pont, BOMC, and Prentice-Hall to understand what happened to the
book and to match documents with questions we had prepared for
our attorney’s interrogatories of witnesses in New York and Dela-
ware. Although our attorney, William Standard of Rabinowitz,
Boudin, and Standard, had lost us our jury trial by failing to simply
type in a request for a jury trial on the complaint, all seemed to be pro-
gressing well.

Until we found evidence that, despite previously denying that
they had known each other, Prentice-Hall’s Grenquist and the head of
Du Pont’s public relations office had served together on a small Eisen-
hower White House commission sponsored by the American
Assembly think tank. We also discovered that before coming to Pren-
tice-Hall, Editor in Chief John Kirk had worked for two publishers
with Central Intelligence Agency ties: the Samuel Walker Publishing
Company and the Free Europe Press (the publishing arm of the CIA-
funded Radio Free Europe). We found evidence of other Du Pont ties
to the intelligence community, including one involving another
brother-in-law of Irénée du Pont Jr., who was in touch with the CIA.
We even uncovered Prentice-Hall’s close business relationship (for
business books on tax sheltering) with William Casey, a former Office
of Strategic Services officer who had been active with organizations
that had received CIA funding. After stints as Nixon’s Securities and
Exchange Commission chairman and undersecretary of state for eco-
nomic affairs, Casey had gone on to serve on President Ford’s Foreign
Intelligence Advisory Board (and was about to become Ronald
Reagan’s campaign manager and then CIA Director). This all sug-
gested the possibility of a network of “old boys” from the intelligence
community within the publishing industry (confirmed by the New
York Times in 1977) who could turn to each other when needed. Our
lawyer quickly backed away from probing these “old-boy network”
ties, however, when his opponents challenged him during Kirk’s
deposition, saying they were prepared to complain to the federal
judge overseeing the case.

The climax finally came in Wilmington the night before we were
scheduled to depose Pierre du Pont, who was by then Governor Pete
du Pont of Delaware. At about 3 A.M. we were awakened in our Wilm-
ington hotel room. Our attorney, William Standard, urgently
requested that we come to his room. When we got there, he showed
us subpoenaed excerpts of du Pont’s diary, surrendered late that night
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by Pete’s lawyer, Edmund Carpenter, another Du Pont family in-law
and one of the Delaware Bar Association’s most powerful members.

The excerpts proved that in 1974 then-Congressman du Pont had
privately been in touch with a local journalist who had filed a complaint
with the Delaware News Council in an attempt to prevent the only non-
Du Pont-owned daily newspaper in the state, the Delaware State News,
from serializing the book. The local journalist alleged that the State News
was deliberately trying to hurt Pete’s congressional reelection campaign.
The State News ran the serialization anyway, and the book became a
bestseller in Delaware (although we can’t vouch for who actually
bought the copies), whereupon the State News had its bank loans called,
and its editor was packed off to Arizona to edit his family’s other news-
paper there. At about the same time as this incident, Congressman du
Pont had assured the public that he was not concerned about the book.

Now, from his own diary excerpts, we had proof to the contrary.
But Standard saw nothing of value in the diary. When we expressed
surprise, he told us we owed him $40,000. We were shocked, espe-
cially after having paid about that amount for his time only weeks
before. I said I didn’t think he had called us down to his room in the
predawn darkness to tell us he wanted more money. I asked what was
the problem. It was then that he confessed that not only did he not
want to ask Governor du Pont the questions that we had attached to
the diary excerpts, but that he did not believe in the case and never
had. He had only taken the case because his partner, Leonard Boudin,
was tied up in another case and asked him to take ours on. I agreed
that he should not depose Governor du Pont, and the next day we
announced we were postponing the interrogatory.

Thanks to Ralph Nader’s recommendation, we got a referral to
another New York law firm and ended up hiring Ronald DePetris, a
former U.S. Assistant District Attorney who had prosecuted mostly
white-collar crime. DePetris was a moderate Republican who be-
lieved in the freedom of the press. He had no problems bringing Gov-
ernor du Pont into a public deposition in Delaware and asking the
questions we wanted answered.

The next legal drama, however, proved to be a sad development
for investigative journalism’s chances to get a fair hearing in Amer-
ican courts. When the case finally went to trial in federal court in
downtown New York City, I knew we were in trouble when Irénée du
Pont Jr. took the stand and denounced the book before an apparently



sympathetic Judge Charles Brieant. (Brieant was our fourth assigned
judge. The first two having recused themselves for previously repre-
senting Du Pont as lawyers or owning Du Pont stock, and the third
judge, a man with a reputation for fairness named Leonard Sands,
stepped down shortly before going to trial for unexplained reasons
after a year on the case.) Was Irénée upset with the book’s telling the
story of how his family built the Gunpowder Trust by buying up com-
petitors during the nineteenth century? Or for repeating Secretary of
War Newton Baker’s denunciation of the family as a “species of out-
laws” for overcharging the government and profiteering over $250
million during World War I? Or for reporting how the company
helped undermine the 1924 Geneva Disarmament Conference? Or for
revealing how it sold munitions to Chinese and South American war-
lords during the 1920s? Or for quoting Congressional reportage on
their smuggling munitions to the Nazis in Cologne in the early 1930s?
Or for reporting any of the other revelations of the Senate Munitions
Committee? Or for documenting their financing attempts to destroy
the New Deal and throw President Roosevelt out of office? Or for
citing their profiteering off World War Il and the Vietnam War? Or for
their efforts to throttle labor union organizing? Or for their support
for the Red Scare and witch-hunts of the 1950s while helping to build
the hydrogen bomb for the military industrial complex? Or for poi-
soning the environment or helping to destroy the ozone layer that had
previously protected us from global warming?

No, what concerned Irénée du Pont Jr. was his children’s possible
reactions to statements in the book which raised questions about what
happened when the Du Ponts arrived on American soil. My book
accurately stated that “accounts differed” over whether the Du Pont
family, after having fled the French Revolution for being the king’s
gunpowder makers and the last nobles to defend the king with drawn
swords, had left a gold coin for the meal they had admittedly con-
sumed after breaking into the home of a Rhode Island family. (The
unsuspecting family had left their meal waiting for their return from
church.) Du Pont acted pained over my raising questions about his
family’s traditional gold coin story, which had been passed down
from one generation of heirs to the next.

But I knew chances for justice were really bad when Judge Brieant
suddenly got up from the bench and walked down to Irénée as he was
reading a document and reached over to turn on a light for him.
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The day before the two-week trial was to end (without any press
coverage, I might add, despite press releases), the judge left no doubts
about how he would rule in the case. He called lawyers for all sides
into his chambers. He told my attorney that he was not going to find
a pillar of American society, the Du Ponts, guilty of simply exercising
their freedom of speech and expressing their opinion of a book about
them. He ignored the fact that Du Pont Company had acted on their
behalf and clearly passed on threats of legal action that were
unfounded, using legally potent terms documented in the company’s
own memoranda: “actionable” and “scurrilous.” The company’s
word —despite the company’s own memoranda evidence—that no
threat of suit was made or intended was good enough for him.
Instead, Prentice-Hall, for daring to sign a contract to publish this
book, was his target. If Prentice-Hall signed a contract to publish a
book, then it had to publish it, not privish it. The message was clear
to Prentice-Hall. They offered to settle for an amount that was less
than our cost of bringing them to trial, and then only on the proviso
that I keep silent.

Keep silent about privishing and what Prentice-Hall had done? I
refused, and the trial closed the next day. The judge subsequently
found Prentice-Hall liable for breach of contract and awarded me an
amount almost equal to what Prentice-Hall had offered. Du Pont,
however, was exonerated. Prentice-Hall then appealed, as did we on
the Du Pont side of the decision.

Our attorney, being a mild-mannered, honest Republican, was
stunned to find the open hostility he encountered from the three-
judge federal appeals panel in New York City. Judge Sterry Water-
man, an Eisenhower appointee from Vermont, slept through most of
the proceedings. Years later, his law clerk during the trial, now a Ver-
mont Supreme Court justice, introduced himself at a bar association
dinner in Vermont and graciously apologized to me for the way I had
been treated. The second judge was Lawrence Pierce, a former deputy
police commissioner for New York City. Pierce had headed up Gov.
Nelson Rockefeller’s Narcotics Addiction Control Commission, after
which President Nixon had rewarded him with a seat on the federal
bench and then brought him to the U.S. Foreign Intelligence Surveil-
lance Court. Later, President Reagan nominated Pierce to the federal
appeals bench. The third judge was Ralph Winter, then an ultracon-
servative former fellow of the Du Pont-funded American Enterprise
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Institute and a former law clerk in Delaware for a judge who had just
been charged with suppressing evidence of Du Pont workers suf-
fering from asbestos poisoning. Winter wrote the decision. He found
no error of standard of law and no specific error of fact by the lower
court, yet he sided with Prentice-Hall. Judge Winter apparently had
read enough of the book to see that it contained a great deal of eco-
nomic and political analysis, minus the usual laudatory commen-
taries on the Du Pont Company’s “better things for better living” suc-
cess story that appeared in authorized biographies (although it did
carry a glowing endorsement from Leon Keyserling, chairman of
President Truman’s Council of Economic Advisors). Winter con-
cluded—and stated in his opinion—that the book was a “Marxist
view of history” that would have no audience among mainstream
readers, and that this limited potential readership justified Prentice-
Hall’s failure to promote the book. Having created a new theory to
explain Prentice-Hall’s inactions, he substituted for the lower court as
fact finder and overturned the lower court’s award against Prentice-
Hall. All this notwithstanding Prentice-Hall’s own sales records and
expert testimony to the contrary. Investigative journalism suffered a
blow that day. So, in my opinion, did American jurisprudence.

At that point, the office of Reagan’s attorney general intervened by
reoffering our attorney a position in the Justice Department. He
accepted. Broke and desperate for legal representation, we began
looking for help. We recognized that Winter, by basing his decision on
his political beliefs rather than the lower court’s finding of fact, had
transformed our original contractual law case into a First Amendment
case where an appeals court (i.e., an arm of the government) had
stepped beyond federal rules of procedure to squash a book for polit-
ical reasons. We appealed to the American Civil Liberties Union
(ACLU) for legal help in challenging Winter’s position. After prompt-
ing from Harvard’s constitutional expert, Professor Lawrence Tribe, the
ACLU took the case to the Supreme Court. “The Court of Appeals, in
clear violation of Rule 52(a) did its own fact-finding,” argued the
ACLU. “Such discrimination based on the content of a literary work is
the ‘the essence of . . . forbidden censorship” under the First Amend-
ment.” But the Rehnquist Court refused to hear the case, and, perhaps
because of Winter’s defamatory statements against me, the press
showed little interest in the case’s merit as a constitutional issue.

All this should have driven me forever from the wilds of investi-
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gating corporate power, but I had nevertheless continued pursuing
investigative journalism. It is the dirty secret of American journalism
that, but for a few groups like the Fund for Investigative Journalism
and some foundations, there is little institutional financial support for
freelance investigative journalists. But the best kept secret in the
industry is that skin magazines like Penthouse, Playboy, Gallery, and
Oui are the best funders of freelance investigative journalism in the
United States—because it sells. The roots of this strange alliance
extend beyond sales, however, to the historical struggle against cen-
sorship in this country.

I was part of the alliance. I wrote investigative pieces about and
interviewed imprisoned boxer Ruben “Hurricane” Carter on his
murder conviction (since overturned) for Penthouse magazine, which
helped his case with the public for a new trial. For Playboy I inter-
viewed former Green Beret Captain Robert Morasco, who admitted
killing the son-in-law of the president of Saigon’s Cholon Bank under
orders from Henry Kissinger’s “40 Committee” of the National Secu-
rity Council. For the venerable North American Newspaper Alliance
(NANA), I investigated the incorporation of national emergency
statutes into normally functioning law, and in Peru, I looked into a
death squad —linked to the ruling military junta—that was stalking
through Lima, the country’s capital city. For In These Times, journalist
Charlotte Dennett and I investigated links between Brooklyn shore
real estate speculation, offshore oil development, and outbreaks of
arson in a terrified Polish American neighborhood where the local
firehouse was being closed down by the city. Dennett and I went to
South Africa for The Nation magazine to investigate South African
troops illegally intervening in the civil war in apartheid Rhodesia
(now, independent Zimbabwe). Two years later, The Nation sent us to
cover elections in Zimbabwe. For Oui magazine we investigated New
York tycoon Daniel K. Ludwig’s activities in the Amazon, and for the
Vermont Vanguard, we looked into the CIA’s use of Miskito Indians
during the Contra War against Nicaragua and the impact this had had
on Puerto Cabezas, Burlington, Vermont’s, sister city in Nicaragua.
There was also our investigation for first Crown Publishers and then
HarperCollins into why America’s largest nondenominational mis-
sionary organization looked the other way when genocide was being
inflicted on Indians in the Amazon and Guatemala.

NANA and In These Times didn’t print the Peruvian death squad
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story. Although they paid me, Playboy didn’t print the Morasco inter-
view either. This led me to focus on writing books because I could pub-
lish without encountering prepublication censorship, and the advance
on future royalties that I received upon signing a book contract paid
for at least a good part of the initial stages of an investigation.

In 1984, New York-area publisher Lyle Stuart, pledging to give
the Du Pont book the chance in the marketplace it never had, con-
tacted me and offered a contract for me to write an expanded version.
It would concentrate more on an update of the family’s activities in
both Delaware and in national politics. Stuart had a reputation in the
industry as a man who did not bow to threats or deal in censorship
and who actually promoted serious books. He had published the best-
selling The Rich and the Super Rich by veteran financial writer Ferdi-
nand Lundberg, who vouched for Stuart when I called to ask him
what he thought. Stuart had also published the aforementioned
William Hoffman’s David: Report on a Rockefeller in the early "70s, a
work for which I had provided research and which made number six
on Time magazine’s best-seller list.

This newly expanded edition, entitled Du Pont Dynasty, included
over three hundred pages of new material on top of the six hundred
pages from the 1974 edition. It was scheduled to be published in
October 1984. It was published, but not before Prentice-Hall suddenly
slapped Stuart with a subpoena in an alleged attempt to recover
$12,000 in court expenses from me (curiously, I had not heard from
them about this). But when Prentice-Hall lawyers moved into ques-
tioning Stuart about trade secrets during his deposition, including
what print jobbers he intended to use, and finally asked for a copy of
the new Du Pont Dynasty manuscript, Stuart’s lawyers stopped his
deposition. As they rose to leave, they asked who the two men were
who had slipped into the room during the questioning. “Du Pont,”
came their reply; Prentice-Hall lamely explained they thought Du
Pont would want to know. Stuart went to Publishers Weekly magazine
and denounced Prentice-Hall and Du Pont’s shenanigans as a “trans-
parent effort” to get a copy of the second manuscript just as they had
the first manuscript. He took a full-page ad in the New York Times,
mentioning the earlier effort to suppress the first edition, and went
ahead with publication. At last, I thought, I had a real publisher!

The New York Times did not review the three hundred pages of
new material in the book, despite revelations of the family’s huge con-
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tribution to the Reagan presidential campaign, their direct involve-
ment with the CIA in the bombing of Managua International Airport,
Elise du Pont’s (Pete du Pont’s wife) appointment to the Office of Pri-
vate Enterprise of the Agency for International Development to
oversee privatization as the price imposed on poorer nations for U.S.
foreign aid, and Pete du Pont’s introduction in Delaware of interstate
banking and his presidential campaign plans. But I was pleased to see
other reviews, almost all favorable. I appeared on the Financial News
Network for an interview just as the book appeared in bookstores.
After answering questions about Du Pont Company’s recent acquisi-
tions of Continental Oil and Consolidated Coal, and the family’s
interest at the time in diversifying their fortune beyond the chemical
company, I was asked about the pressure that had come down against
the earlier version a decade before. Happily, I picked up the book to
turn to page 637, where, I explained, I had written thirty pages on the
suppression of the first book, only to discover those thirty pages were
actually missing from the book.

I finished the show as quickly as I could and called home to ask
my wife to check the complimentary copies that Stuart had given us.
Two books were similarly damaged. Charlotte called Stuart, who said
he would check the warehouse’s copies. Stuart later got back to us
with the bad news: some three thousand copies of the ten thousand
first-print run were damaged by the missing pages and could not be
sold despite orders coming in. The damage, whether inadvertent or
not, had accomplished the same result that Prentice-Hall’s cutting
their first print run had done for the first book: one-third of the print
run was unavailable to book buyers exactly when they wanted to buy.
And there was an added boon for Prentice-Hall and Du Pont: the
story of the suppression of the first book was itself suppressed.

The only information that Stuart’s company would or could pro-
vide later was that they had learned that their print jobber allegedly
received 80 percent of its business from Prentice-Hall. If Stuart
received any compensation from the printer, I saw none of it. The
book soon died. The book was not re-released in 1988 when a national
market was available as Pete du Pont finally ran for the presidency.
Pete did not get the Republican nomination, but he got others to
advance his ultraconservative platform in Congress. Reversing the
New Deal —long a goal of his family—and the Du Pont Company’s
efforts to gut environmental legislation that had been passed during
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the 1970s, became the banner of the Republican Party’s right wing.
The right wing was led by congressional candidates funded by Newt
Gingrich’s Government of the People Action Committee (GOPAC).
How many voters knew that Pete du Pont had founded GOPAC in the
early 1980s to groom promising young right-wing Republican legisla-
tors to run for Congress? That GOPAC, whose donors Gingrich had
resisted revealing, had been financed by the Du Pont family? Or that
the Du Ponts’ GOPAC was the major financial force behind the
Republican right-wing’s “Congressional Revolution” of 1994, the
legacy of which we are still living with?

Despite this setback, Charlotte Dennett and I signed up with
HarperCollins to write a book on our investigation of Indian genocide
in the Amazon and Guatemala. A crucial part of our exposé entailed
taking a hard look at the Wycliffe Bible Translators, who are known
abroad as the Summer Institute of Linguistics or SIL. This powerful
group of over 5,600 fundamentalist Christian missionaries had
worked for years to bring “Bibleless” Indian tribes out of the Amazon
jungle and to help local governments end the Indians’ resistance to
encroachments on their lands and assimilate them into the global cash
economy. Trained linguists, Wycliffe’s missionaries had earned a suc-
cessful track record among governments throughout the indigenous
world. This record, however, included collaborating with U.S. coun-
terinsurgency operations in Vietnam and with secret CIA/Green
Beret wars waged in the Amazon basin during the 1960s. Even more
ominous was their silence in the face of the Brazilian military regime’s
genocidal policies during the 1960s and 1970s and the Green Beret-
advised counterinsurgency campaign in the hills of western
Guatemala between 1979 and 1987, which resulted in some 200,000
Indians, mostly women and children, being slaughtered and over 400
villages razed.

As a result of its success, Wychffe became, and still is, America’s
largest nondenominational missionary organization. They have main-
tained that funding for their missionaries’ expenses comes from
church collections, but their own records also showed that operational
expenses for their vast infrastructure came from generous donations
from Southern and Southwestern corporations, mostly ultraconserva-
tive “new wealth” firms in the Bible Belt. Wycliffe has its own air fleet
and large “jungle bases” with runways and telecommunications sys-
tems. By 1984, its yearly budgets topped $80 million for domestic
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operations and another $100 million for foreign (SIL) operations.
Wycliffe missionaries had access to these vast resources, as well as to
sympathetic ears in the State Department and on Capitol Hill, yet they
chose to remain silent while genocidal acts and policies were being
carried out against the very Indians among whom they were living.
This begged the question: Why were the missionaries so silent and
unresponsive? Was it because they were blinded by their religious
zeal to reach all the Bibleless tribes and thereby fulfill a biblical
prophecy to hasten the Second Coming of Christ? Were they compro-
mised by their bilingual education contracts with governments or by
corporate backers who might be profiting from the mass displace-
ment of the Indians?

After doing what investigative journalists often do—"follow the
money” —we found the answer, an answer that brought our research
to an impasse. The money trail didn’t lead where we thought it
would. We started out researching Wycliffe’s Southern and South-
western backers. But after four years of research, we concluded that it
was mostly Northeastern-financed major corporations, corporations
with established reputations and long-standing ties to “old wealth”
and the U.S. intelligence community, that profited handsomely from
Latin American governments driving the Indians off their lands.
These lands were rich in oil and mineral deposits and were a prime
area for agribusiness and colonization projects (real estate develop-
ment and speculation).

We switched our focus to the leading political figures in our in-
vestigation. By searching through government archives and climbing
the rungs of responsibility, we arrived once again at a mountaintop
view of power, but one even more spectacular than I had found with
the Du Ponts. This time, the ladder of responsibility led us up to
Nelson Rockefeller and his quiet investments and activity with Amer-
icanintelligence in Latin America, and then to the Rockefeller family’s
tax-free archives center at Pocantico, the family’s vast estate over-
looking the Hudson near Tarrytown, New York.

At this point in our investigation, we noticed that many funding
sources that had happily backed us as long as we were investigating
Christian fundamentalist missionaries, the CIA, and faceless corpora-
tions, suddenly ran dry. Now that we had reached Rockefeller, there
was an impasse. We found ourselves facing a difficult choice: go
alone, with all that would mean in terms of mounting debt, or throw



in the towel and publish what we had, which we knew was not the
real story. So we went ahead, driven by our conscience over so mon-
umental an issue as genocide. What really was behind it and the mis-
sionaries” complicity of silence?

In 1995, we finally published Thy Will Be Done, the Conquest of the
Amazon: Nelson Rockefeller and Evangelism in the Age of Oil. We immedi-
ately encountered problems with distribution and marketing. Some of
the problems had to do with market considerations in an industry that
had undergone structural changes since I had last published a book,
Du Pont Dynasty. Instead of the six months that you could count on in
the past to allow word-of-mouth and reviews to build a market for a
book, you now had six weeks at most, and in many cases even less.
“Big box” retailers like Barnes & Noble and Borders were quickly and
constantly sending back huge volumes of unsold books to publishers
to gain credit for their bills to these publishers, which had produced
too many celebrity books. The publishers found it no longer econom-
ical to employ staff to open these crates to sort out the damaged books
from those that could fill back orders. Instead, they either shipped the
books out again, often to the same “big box” retail stores, to be sold at
drastically reduced prices, or they burned them in incinerators adja-
cent to their warehouses to save warehouse space and inventory taxes.

We also shared in the all-too-frequent experience authors have of
not finding our book at retailers in cities we were visiting to lecture,
sign books, and appear on media. Of course, here too, we found our-
selves struggling to assert our contractual promotional rights. The
publisher initially limited our promotional appearances to New York
and Washington, D.C. When we arranged our own promotional tour
as far as Minneapolis, driving our car into the ground in the process,
and discovered that our books had not been shipped out as sched-
uled, we took our evidence from bookstores back to the publisher to
press our case for funds for an outside public relations firm.

Although that firm was successful in booking telephoned radio
interviews across the country, support from our publisher continued
to be sluggish. When a paperback edition was issued (thanks to the
our editor’s efforts), not a cent was spent on advertising for the paper-
back. When the paperback sold out, rather than print more copies,
HarperCollins declared the book “out of stock indefinitely” and
refused to print more unless there was a guarantee of five hundred
orders. While we worked on getting five hundred orders, the ante



PRICE OF LIBERTY 31

was raised to one thousand. When one thousand was reached, the
requirement was raised still again to twenty-five hundred.

Additionally, orders for the book were disappearing in the pub-
lisher’s computers. One order for one thousand copies from a semi-
nary in the Midwest simply disappeared. Another order for two hun-
dred copies from Pierre Laramée, the editor of the North American
Congress on Latin America (NACLA), met with the news that the
book was out of stock indefinitely and unlikely to be reprinted. Puz-
zled, he asked how this could be, given the book’s excellent reviews.
At this point, the sales operator stepped away from the phone, osten-
sibly to check with a superior, then came back on and said, “This book
will never be reprinted!” And hung up.

Statements gathered from these sources were turned over to our
editor. The publisher finally agreed to print more copies—but only
because we mustered up large orders confirming intended purchases
of twenty-five hundred copies. Soon, this print run was declared “out
of stock indefinitely,” even though Harper’s direct mail orders divi-
sion had to set up a special hot line to meet the demand after we
described the book’s plight on several radio shows. The hot line dis-
appeared three days after the head of the direct mail orders division
excitedly disclosed its existence to Charlotte Dennett. But Harper-
Collins refused to reprint, stating there were not enough orders to jus-
tify printing to demand. Demand not met is demand soon dead. The
book died, along with the public’s knowledge of the results of eighteen
years of investigation and writing. Despite great reviews and acclaim
by scholars, within three years of its publication in hardcover and two
years after its publication as a HarperPerennial softcover, the book was
no longer available for sale to the public. It can now only be found in
libraries, despite the fact that we continue to receive requests from aca-
demics and the general public for copies.

We continue to write, this time a book on American origins in the
Middle East and the impact of oil pipelines on decision making in the
Roosevelt administration regarding the fate of European victims of
the Holocaust, the impact of increased Jewish immigration into Pales-
tine, and Soviet encroachments on the Middle East. We are contracted
for this book with the same publisher (having signed before Thy Wiill
Be Done’s debacle) and are hoping for better results.

But one of the sine qua nons of investigative journalism is libel
insurance. Unlike staff journalists, freelance journalists have to take
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out their own insurance, and premiums can be hefty. In recent years,
the National Writers Union, affiliated since 1992 with the United Auto
Workers, has had an affordable plan with Lloyd’s of London. In 2001,
however, Lloyd’s began to refuse coverage for precisely those who
needed it most: investigative journalists.

So where does all this leave investigative journalism in America
today?

Small local newspapers and magazines are usually not able to
fund investigations or are unwilling to risk the wrath of business
advertisers offended by such “muckraking,” as they often derisively
call investigative journalism. Large chain newspapers seem mostly
content to play to their local markets, even when they have assumed
monopolies over those markets. This seems to be the Gannett news-
paper chain’s strategy. Young journalists are hired with little inves-
tigative experience and have fewer local mentors in investigative
work. The rapid turnover among reporters does not bode well for
gaining the knowledge and contacts needed for good investigative
journalism in the mainstream press. The Internet’s openness also
lends itself to abuses: Rumors posing as stories with no professional
standards for sources and corroboration, lower the public’s opinion of
bona fide journalism. Even this abuse has been used in some quarters
to try to justify attempts to censor the Internet or to even challenge
freelancers’ status as bona fide journalists —in at least one case in Cal-
ifornia, by a sitting judge.

Hovering over both print and broadcast news media is the
looming presence of corporate conglomerates with financial officers
increasingly throwing their weight around in publishers’ board-
rooms. For over a century, freelance journalists in the West have made
their living selling their articles and books to different markets. Free-
lance journalists are now threatened with “all-rights” contracts by
which publishers demand all rights to all markets for the same price,
including all dramatic rights, all serialization rights, all geographic
rights, and all formats, including electronic rights for CD-ROMs and
resale to Internet research databanks. I have, as a book contract
adviser for the National Writers Union, seen publishers’ contracts
demanding all rights “throughout the universe” and in “all formats,
including those yet to be invented.” Writers are being told that unless
they surrender all rights, they will not be published at all, effectively
subjecting themselves to being blacklisted.
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Does this threat by media owners and their financial officers inter-
fering with the content and terms of publishing extend into American
newsrooms? Veteran reporters, more than editors, admit it can. In the
book publishing industry, owners of conglomerates and their top
executives expect profits similar to high-yield cable TV operations
(where annual profits of 20 to 30 percent are not uncommon), so they
give “bean counters” the edge over editors. In the monumental battle
between “the state” (the financial powers-that-be) and “the church”
(the editors) in publishing houses traditionally used to an 8 to 11 per-
cent annual return being considered a good year, the state is winning.
And celebrity books are pushing out, not paying for, investigative
journalism.

Today, corporate publishing, to carry out privishing or to kill sto-
ries, does not need the influence of all the CIA assets that the New York
Times reported in 1977 as being positioned throughout the publishing
industry. In this age of corporate globalism, the only rationale needed
is that of the “free market.” Why should writers, and especially inves-
tigative journalists, expect to be spared any more than have small
businesses, farmers, workers, entire nations, and even the planet’s
environment? In this age, writers’ organizations across the globe have
learned that they are all in the same boat, often facing the same great
white sharks.

But what of the long-recognized special role in American jour-
nalism of sustaining the free marketplace of ideas so essential for an
informed citizenry to keep democracy alive? What of the Founding
Fathers’ recognition of that role in the special protections and privi-
leges given the press in the Constitution’s first amendment? They are
under stress as never before. And never before has Jefferson’s dire
warning been more urgent for the American people: “Our liberty
depends on the freedom of the press, and that cannot be limited
without being lost.”

SOURCE NOTES

The story of Du Pont Company’s actions against Du Pont: Behind the Nylon
Curtain and the pressure against reportage on the Du Pont family and Du
Pont Company brought against the New York Times, the Wilmington News-
Journal, and the Delaware State News can be found in Du Pont Dynasty
(Secaucus, N.J.: Lyle Stuart, 1984), pp. 652-75, with sources on pp. 938-39
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(notes 66 to 143). Court transcripts and depositions of witnesses and other
exhibits (including internal memoranda of Du Pont, Book-of-the-Month
Club, and Prentice-Hall companies) of Gerard Colby Zilg v. E. 1. du Pont de
Nemours & Co. and Prentice-Hall Inc. are on file at the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York in Manhattan, New York City,
and at the Second Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals. For the original New York
Times story on the suppression by Alden Whitman, see New York Times, Jan-
uary 21, 1975. For more on the issues of the case, see Robert Sherrill, “The
Book That Du Pont Hated,” The Nation, February 14, 1981; Milton Moskowitz,
Michael Katz, and Robert Levering, Everybody’s Business, An Almanac: The
Irreverent Guide to Corporate America (New York: Harper & Row Publishers,
1980), pp. 604-605; the Wilmington Morning News, November 15, 1979;
Philadelphia Daily News, November 16, 1979; Wilmington Evening Journal, Jan-
uary 16, 1981; and “Publishing: Reversal of Ruling Troubles Authors,” New
York Times, September 16, 1983.

For more on privishing, see Gerard Colby, “My Turn,” and Charlotte
Dennett, “Book Industry Refines Old Suppression Tactic,” in The American
Writer, quarterly of the National Writers Union, vol. 3, no. 1 (March 1984);
and “‘Privish’ and Perish,” Washington Post, Book World, vol. 13, no. 41,
Sunday, October 9, 1983.

For more on the fate of the Delaware State News, see Rolf Rykken, “The
Lingering Death of the Delaware State News,” Delaware Today, June 1981, and
reporter Jack Crofts letter to the editor in the Delaware State News, February
16, 1981.

For more on the Wilmington News-Journal, see Christopher Perry, “The
Thursday Night Massacre,” Delaware Today, February 1975; Wilmington
Morning News, January 4, 6, 7, and 23, 1975; Wilmington Evening Journal,
December 7, 1974, and January 3, 4, and 8, 1975; Philadelphia Inquirer, January
5, 1975; the Philadelphia Sunday Bulletin, November 17, 1974, and January 5
and 12, 1975; Editor and Publisher, January 11, 1975; and New York Times, Jan-
uary 21, 1975.

For the pressure put on Lyle Stuart, Inc., by Prentice-Hall and Du Pont
Company, see Leonore Fleischer, “Talk of the Trade,” Publishers Weekly, July
20, 1984, p. 87.

Finally, with respect to the marketing of Thy Will Be Done, the failure to
find copies of Thy Will Be Done at retailers during our book tour in 1995 was
the subject of a letter to our editor at HarperCollins dated July 5, 1995. Other
authors have brought to the National Writers Union’s Book Division, which
I cochair, similar problems with their publishers during book tours. Books
not arriving at retailers in time to coincide with an author’s promotional
appearance in a city is a common problem. What is not common is the dis-
appearance of large orders in a publisher’s computer or the refusal of one of
its sales operators to take a large order. We presented our editor with written



PRICE OF LIBERTY 3

evidence (memorialized in a letter dated April 11, 1997) of an order from a
Colorado seminary for one thousand books which had been taken by Harper-
Collins’s sales department, which nevertheless had not been recorded, the
editor confirmed, in HarperCollins’s computer. Additionally, the same letter
memorializes how a representative of the trade books sales department at
HarperCollins had tried to discourage Pierre Laramée from ordering two
hundred copies for a promotional campaign for NACLA. The incident was
also described by Laramee in a fax to us that we showed our editor.
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AND THE SACRED COWS
Jane Akre

Akre has spent more than twenty years as a network and local
television reporter for news operations throughout the
country. Most recently, she was investigative reporter and
anchor for Fox-owned WTVT-TV in Tampa, Florida, where
she and her husband, investigative reporter Steve Wilson,
were terminated for refusing to broadcast a story they knew to
be false and misleading. Besides anchoring, Akre has been a
specialty reporter in the areas of health and medical issues,
courts and crime, and investigative and consumer reporting.
Akre began her broadcasting career as a radio news director in
Albuquerque, later moving into reporting and anchoring jobs
in Tucson, St. Louis, Atlanta (CNN), San José, and Miami. In
1998, Akre and Wilson received the Society of Professional
Journalists Ethics in Journalism Award. In 2001, the couple
was awarded the Goldman Environmental Prize for their
struggle with the story told in this chapter.

LIGHTS, CAMERA, ACTION

It was an unusually cold November night for Florida. The three of
us walked shoulder to shoulder, wrapped in our trench coats, the
warmth from our breath visibly rising in the cold air. We were in a his-
toric area of downtown Tampa, Ybor City, where Cuban settlers first
began rolling the cigars that made Tampa famous. The streets were
cobblestone, a fact not lost on my wobbly ankles as my pumps tried
to maneuver the curves of the stone.

Alone spotlight shone brightly behind us, silhouetting the three of
us as we walked a la Mod Squad. Julie, Link, and Pete on the case. Solid.

“All right, that was good; let’s try it again.”

It was television, or should I say the image of television news. My
husband, Steve Wilson, and I were joining WTVT Channel 13, the
soon-to-be Fox-owned television station in Tampa and, teamed with
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the station’s consumer reporter, this nighttime stroll was the station’s
idea of promotion for its hard-hitting team to be known as “The
Investigators.” The former, longtime CBS affiliate wanted our forty-
five-plus-years of broadcasting experience and lured us with
promises of a flexible schedule and freedom to investigate stories of
our choosing. It all sounded too good to be true.

Our first assignment was to join a film crew, complete with a
smoke machine and bright movie lights, to shoot a commercial. In
television, image is everything.

(Voice of baritone announcer)

“The Investigators,

Uncovering the Truth!

Getting Results . . .

Protecting You!!!”

The spots started running almost immediately after we were
hired in December 1996.

BETA

My photographer, Joel, and I started driving east early one weekend
moming in January 1997. We were out to see if we could verify inde-
pendently what I had been told by those inside the dairy business.
Sources were saying that the majority of farmers in Florida and nation-
wide were injecting their cows with a powerful and controversial
growth hormone that forced them to produce more milk. Although
approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), scientists
around the world remained troubled with as-yet-unanswered questions
about the drug’s safety for consumers who drink the altered milk.

Besides, my then two-year-old daughter had just discovered and
fallen deeply in love with ice cream. Sometimes the best stories come
from self-interest.

We spotted a dairy from the car and drove up the gravelly drive.
Dairy manager Ken Deaton was as friendly as he could be when we
introduced ourselves as a news crew from the Fox station in Tampa.
Deaton and a few dairy hands had just begun walking the black-and-
white Holsteins into a dark, open-ended barn for their hormone injec-
tions. What luck! I thought.
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We asked and Deaton did not hesitate to give us permission to
take out our Betacam and begin shooting videotape that could be-
come the cornerstone of the news report we were developing.

Each cow jumped as a three-inch-long needle was plunged deeply
into her hindquarters. Posilac was the brand name of the product
proudly displayed on the syringe and packages that Joel shot along
with the name of the drug’s maker, Monsanto.

Dairyman Deaton was happy to cooperate further, standing for a
lengthy on-camera interview. Later we crouched down in a field and
watched as January’s cold brought on labor and the birth of two Hol-
steins, which Joel also recorded.

“Nature’s most perfect food,” I thought, might be a good beginning
of a script describing the scene as the newborn calf Joel named “Beta”
teetered on his shaky new legs while finding the first taste of milk.

We were off to a great start!

Little did I know that Beta would soon be shipped off to an early
and cruel death at the nearby veal factory. And that this promising
story —as well as our own futures in television journalism —would
never survive the face-off that was to follow between Steve and me
versus Rupert Murdoch’s News Corporation and its very deep
pockets.

DON'T ASK, DON'T TELL

Monsanto persistently refuses to release sales figures but claims rBGH
(or rBST) is the largest-selling dairy animal drug in America. For
about a dozen years, the chemical company and its rivals tested the
hormone for its effect on animals. rBGH does indeed turn cows into
milking machines, forcing virtually every injected animal to give
more milk. But high producers almost always have more medical
problems, and studies found that hormone-injected animals had more
lameness, reproductive disorders, and a painful udder infection
called mastitis.! To save the ailing cow, farmers almost always treat
these infections with the same antibiotics doctors prescribe for
humans when we and our children are ailing.

Industry studies also found that milk from injected cows was dif-
ferent from nature’s version, having higher amounts of a spin-off hor-
mone, insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1).2



IGF-1 is widely regarded as one of the most powerful promoters
of cell growth in all of nature. After all, it is found primarily in
mother’s milk, which is supercharged with IGF-1 to spark growth.

But here’s a primary concern of scientists around the world: IGF-
1 doesn’t differentiate between “good cells” and “bad cells” and is
known to stimulate the growth of cancerous cells as well. So, will it
promote the growth of cancerous cells in those drinking the super-
charged milk?

My own research confirmed some truly alarming news for humans
consuming milk from treated cows: the longest test for long-term
human toxicity, such as cancer, lasted only ninety days on thirty rats.3

Ninety days. Thirty rats. And what’s worse? Despite Monsanto’s
assurances that no rat suffered any adverse effects—a claim that
apparently convinced the FDA that no further testing of rBGH was
required to assure human safety —it was later revealed that about a
third of the test rats actually developed cysts and lesions on their thy-
roids and prostates. Those responses, among others, were enough to
prompt safety regulators in Canada to ban rBGH there until more
thorough testing proves that the product is safe for humans. (Mon-
santo, having already convinced American regulators that the
product is safe, has little incentive to do further testing and has
announced no such plans.)

The Center for Veterinary Medicine (CVM), an arm of the FDA,
which approves animal drugs, was charged with oversight of rBGH.
Early on, CVM scientist Dr. Richard Burroughs asked too many ques-
tions about the lax safety studies required of Monsanto. “The drug
review process has become more of an approval process,”4 he noted
before suddenly finding himself “reassigned” to another job within
the CVM.

Eventually, Burroughs was fired as a safety watchdog at the FDA,
which ultimately gave the green light to Posilac, disregarding the con-
cerns he and others raised. Approval came in November 1993. No
withdrawal period was required, no environmental impact statement
was needed, and no testing for the possible long-term effects on the
health of milk drinkers has been required to this day.

By February 1997 our story was ready to air. It attempted to
answer some troubling questions: Why had Monsanto sued two small
dairies to prevent them from labeling their milk as coming from cows
not injected with the drug? Why had two Canadian health regulators
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claimed, like Richard Burroughs at the FDA, that their jobs were
threatened —and then said Monsanto offered them a bribe to give
fast-track approval to the drug? Why did Florida supermarkets break
their much-publicized promise to consumers that milk in the dairy
case would not come from hormone-treated cows “until it gained
widespread acceptance” among the wary public? And why, in large
part due to concerns about human health, was the United States the
only major industrialized nation to approve the use of this controver-
sial genetically engineered hormone?>

LAWYERED UP

The four-part series took my photographer and me to five states and
produced fifty videotapes vielding more than sixteen hours of pic-
tures and sound. Steve was brought in to help produce the piece that
was scheduled to run February 24, 1997, during a “sweeps” period.

As most savvy viewers know, advertising rates are set during
those ratings periods, so many TV stations try to air their best work at
such times to lure as many viewers as possible. (Others resort to
sleazy sweeps gimmicks but that’s another book!)

Station managers were so proud of our work that they saturated
virtually every Tampa Bay-area radio station with thousands of dol-
lars” worth of ads urging viewers to watch what we’d uncovered
about “The Mystery in Your Milk.”

But then, our Fox managers’ pride turned to panic. Friday
evening before the scheduled airdate, Steve and I were called to the
news director’s office. “Read this,” he said, handing us a fax. It was a
letter from a New York law firm, Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft,
addressed to Roger Ailes, president of Fox News in New York. It was
written on behalf of the firm's client, Monsanto Company, and John
Walsh, the lawyer who authored the letter, minced no words.

Walsh charged in a letter that would later become a key piece of
evidence in the dispute, that Steve and I had “no scientific compe-
tence” to report our story. Monsanto’s attorney went on to describe
our news reports, which he had ostensibly never seen, as a series of
“recklessly made accusations that Monsanto has engaged in fraud,
has published lies about food safety, has attempted to bribe govern-
ment officials in a neighboring country and has been “buying’ favor-
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able opinions about the product or its characteristics from reputable
scientists in their respective fields.”

He charged that we had conducted ourselves unethically in the
field. And to make sure nobody missed the point, the attorney also
reminded Fox News’ chief that our behavior as investigative journal-
ists was particularly dangerous in the “aftermath of the Food Lion
verdict.”6 He was referring, of course, to the then recent case against
ABC News that sent a frightening chill through every newsroom in
America. The Food Lion verdict showed that even with irrefutable
evidence from a hidden camera documenting the doctoring of poten-
tially unsafe food sold to unsuspecting shoppers, a news organization
that dares to expose a giant corporation could still lose big in court.

Confronted with these threats, Fox decided to “delay” broad-
casting the story, ostensibly to double-check its accuracy. I remember
leaving news director Daniel Webster’s office but stopping at the door
to ask an important question. I had to know whether he had lost faith
in us or was frightened by the threat.

“ Are you pulling the story because of the letters?” I asked. “Yes,”
he confirmed in a moment of honesty perhaps not rare for him, but
increasingly uncommon in the executive suites of more and more
news organizations struggling to maintain profits at virtually any cost
these days.

One week later, the station’s general manager screened our reports.
We were lucky. General Manager Bob Franklin was a former investiga-
tive journalist himself. After he found no major problems with the story
and we all agreed we could minimize legal risk in the wake of their
lawyer’s letter by offering Monsanto another interview, a new airdate
was set. But Monsanto turned down the interview offer and directed
John Walsh to write another threatening letter to Ailes in New York.

This time there was no room for interpretation. Walsh wrote in a
letter dated February 28, 1997, that some of the points of the story
“clearly contain the elements of defamatory statements which, if
repeated in a broadcast, could lead to serious damage to Monsanto
and dire consequences [italics mine] for Fox News.”7

Never mind that I carried a milk crate full of documentation to
support every word of our proposed broadcast. And never mind that
we refuted all claims that we had acted improperly in our newsgath-
ering and reporting. Our story was pulled again.

This time, if not dead, we knew our broadcasts were clearly on life
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support as Fox’s own attorneys and its top-level managers, all of them
anxious to avoid a legal challenge or lost advertising revenue, looked
for some way to make the whole thing quietly go away.

KILL THE MESSENGER

Our story was pulled shortly after Rupert Murdoch’s news corpora-
tion formally closed the $3 billion deal to control WTVT and several
other stations he added to his empire in early 1997, making the former
Aussie (now a naturalized U.S. citizen) the owner of more American
TV stations than anyone else.

And it was not long after our struggle to air an honest report had
begun that Fox fired both the news director and the general manager.
Put in charge of the newsroom—and presumably the fate of our
story—was an assistant news director once quoted as telling a
reporter in another newsroom she ran, “This is not the TV news busi-
ness, this is the entertainment business.”

At WTVT, Steve and I were dumbstruck when we heard about her
idea to park an empty Ryder truck in front of the Tampa federal
building on the anniversary of the Oklahoma City bomb blast —but
that was not how we determined Sue Kawalerski’s reputation was
well earned.

Not long after we arrived, she had somehow decided there was
more going on at local health clubs than merely exercise. Jaws
dropped all around the table at a meeting of the entire investigative
team when Sue suggested maybe one of us could visit a few of the
more popular clubs and discreetly scrape the walls and take water
samples from the hot tubs. Why? She thought it would be big news if
we could discover semen samples that would prove her theory that
some club members were involved in illicit sex, exposing other unsus-
pecting club members to some pretty unsanitary conditions.

And who had Fox chosen to ride herd on journalism leadership of
that caliber? The new general manager was brought in from High
Point, North Carolina. Dave Boylan had climbed his way into his first
general manager’s job at the Fox-owned station there and in a few
short years had overseen revenue growth that impressed his corpo-
rate masters at Fox in Los Angeles. The GM job in Tampa, a big step
up, was his payback.
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Journalists are often apprehensive about working at stations
where the general manager has no experience in journalism and is
under constant pressure to protect the bottom line at virtually any
cost. Too many times at too many places, such managers view the
news as a commodity, not a public service. And when a strong inves-
tigative story brings a threat of expensive litigation or the subject of
such a report is an advertiser who threatens to cancel and take his ad
dollars elsewhere, managers revert to salesmen. They do whatever
they feel they must to put the station’s interest first, regardless of their
obligation to use their broadcast license to serve the public interest.

It was not long after Boylan took over in March that Steve and I
scheduled a visit. Perhaps we had an ally who could help get our
stalled stories on the air.

We were not completely surprised to find Dave to be “salesman”
all the way. Small talk filled our conversation in his glass-enclosed
corner office, upstairs, overlooking the station’s impressive fountain.
A smiling Dave told us his wife collected “accessories” at the many
furniture outlets back in High Point. Nice, I thought. Dave seemed
sincere when he looked us in the eye and promised to look into the
trouble we were having getting our rBGH story on the air. But when
we returned a few days later, his strategy seemed clear.

“What would you do if I killed the story, would you tell anyone?”
he asked. “Only if they ask,” was Steve’s response.

Dave started to sweat. Here were two reporters who clearly didn’t
know how the game was to be played.

He knew the local media writers had heard the radio ads for the
milk series, and it wouldn’t look good for the station’s image if word
leaked out that powerful advertisers, backed by lawyers threatening
to sue, could actually determine what gets on the six o’clock news—
and what gets swept under the rug. And Dave knew it wouldn’t look
good for Dave.

To resolve this dilemma, Dave called us into his corner office
again a few days later. This time, he was much firmer.

He went on to explain that if we didn’t agree to changes that Mon-
santo and Fox lawyers were insisting upon, we’d be fired for insub-
ordination within forty-eight hours. Steve made it clear that those
changes would result in broadcasting what we knew to be false and
misleading information to the public. We pleaded with Dave to look
for himself at the facts we’d uncovered, many of which conclusively
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disproved Monsanto’s claims, both about its product and about our
work to uncover the truth.

We reminded him of the importance of the facts about a basic food
most of our viewers consume and feed to their children daily. This
was news, we told him. His reply: “We paid $3 billion dollars for these
television stations. We'll tell you what the news is. The news is what
we say it is!”

There wasn’t much to say after that. “Is this a hill you're both
willing to die on?” Dave asked. I could see the disappointment and
anger on Steve’s face. Before we got up from Dave’s plush couch and
left his office, Steve was firm but respectful when he made it clear we
would neither lie nor distort any part of the story. And if insisting
upon an honest report ended up costing us our jobs, Steve told him
we’d be obligated to report that kind of misconduct to the Federal
Communications Commission.

Forty-eight hours came and went. Dave never called, not until
about a week later when he invited us back to lay out the deal. We'd
be paid full salaries and benefits through the rest of the year in
exchange for an agreement that we would drop our ethical objec-
tions and broadcast the rBGH story in a way that would not upset
Monsanto.

“Will you do the story exactly the way Carolyn wants?” Dave
asked. Carolyn Forrest, the Fox attorney based in Atlanta, would
have the final say on the exact wording of our report. And after the
carefully sanitized version aired, we would be free to do whatever
we pleased —as long as we forever kept our mouths shut about the
entire episode, Monsanto’s influence, the Fox response, and we
could never ever utter a public word about what we’d learned
about the growth hormone.

Fox made it clear we would never be free to report the story for
any other news organizations, not for any broadcast or print media,
even if they weren’t Fox competitors. Never, anywhere, not even at
our daughter’s PTA could we utter a word about how our milk
grocery store has changed in what many believe is a dangerous way.

As journalists, Steve and I badly wanted to get the story on the air
so the public could make its own judgment. But a buyout, no matter
how lucrative for us personally, was out of the question. Neither of us
could fathom taking hush money to shut up about a public health issue
that absolutely and by any standard deserved to see the light of day.



After asking for and receiving the deal [italics mine] in writing, we
politely declined the offer —and told Dave we’d decided to just hold
onto the written document that laid out his deal.

MEANWHILE, BEHIND THE SCENES

Behind the scenes, Monsanto’s threatening letters didn’t stop. In Jan-
uary I had interviewed Roger Natzke, a dairy science professor at the
University of Florida. Everything had gone well; he’d even given me
a guided tour of the “Monsanto Dairy Barn” at the Gainesville dairy
school where Posilac had been tested in the mid-1980s. Natzke gave
the product a glowing report and admitted he promoted its use to
farmers through Florida’s taxpayer-supported agriculture extension
offices. After spending a few hours with him, Natzke even gave us
directions to a good lunch joint.

The professor must have forgotten about our pleasant exchange
when he called the station to complain about my reporting tech-
niques, one month after the interview. “She’s not a reporter” was part
of the phone message a secretary took for the assistant news director.
The words “St. Simon’s Island” were also scrawled on the note.

“What does that mean?” I asked. The assistant news director
apparently did not see any connection or conflict in the fact that
Natzke admitted that he had just returned from a weekend at the
island resort —courtesy of Monsanto.

The pieces of the puzzle behind the Monsanto pressure began
falling into place. Natzke’s complaint call came the same week as the
Monsanto threat letters arrived. And not until months later in the dis-
covery phase of our lawsuit did we learn that a third threat arrived at
the station that same week from a local dairyman, Joe Wright.

Wright had spent no more than five minutes on the phone with
me the month before in an uneventful conversation about the dairy
business. Based on that conversation, he wrote a letter to the station
saying, “Ms. Acre’s [sic] work is gaining notoriety in our dairy indus-
try. . .. The word is clearly out on the street that Ms. Acre is on a neg-
ative campaign based on everyone’s assessment of the numerous
interviews she has already conducted.”

Wright had reached these conclusions after attending the twenty-
second Annual Southern Dairy Conference in Atlanta. That little



confab was a veritable Who’s Who of the dairy industry and appar-
ently, our report was the topic of intense discussion there.

Following the conference, Wright went to Dairy Farmers Incorpo-
rated, a dairy industry promotion group, which helped draft his letter
of complaint that Fox did not reveal to us at the time.

Also behind the scenes, another group, calling itself the Dairy
Coalition, had launched a much stealthier attack on the story and us.
An ad hoc group of dairy and pharmaceutical companies, the Dairy
Coalition was formed around the time Posilac was approved by the
FDA in 1993. The coalition’s job was to help get the good word out
about the growth hormone and defend it from any attacks from sci-
entists and consumer groups who insisted more testing was needed.

As we were preparing our case for trial months after we were fired,
Steve called the coalition’s director, Dick Weiss. Steve said he was a
reporter interested in the rBGH story, and what could Weiss tell him
about the Dairy Coalition? And what about that rumor that a Tampa TV
station had threatened to blow the whistle on the hormone?

Weiss obviously did not make the connection. Instead, he took
great pride in bragging that the Dairy Coalition had “snowed the sta-
tion with piles of paperwork and all sorts of pressure to have that
story killed.” He laughed like a college kid who had just pulled the
best prank in the fraternity.

GETTING THE BOOT

The remainder of 1997, more than eight months, was spent on virtu-
ally nothing but this one story. Although they never told us at the
time, Fox Television Stations president Mitchell Stern had ordered
Carolyn Forrest to “take no risk” with the story. That directive meant
cutting out everything that Monsanto, the dairy industry, and even
grocers would find offensive and cause for pulling their ads or
sparking a lawsuit.

“A risk of cancer?” You don’t need to use that word, said com-
pany lawers. Instead, call it “human health implications.” The cre-
dentials of our scientists critical of the Monsanto product? We don’t
need their credentials, said Fox, just call him a “scientist from Wis-
consin.” Meanwhile, tell viewers that the FDA reviewed all human
health concerns before approving the drug, insisted the assistant
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news director. The problem with that was that many of the studies
were done postapproval, we told her. Do it anyway, she insisted.

Fox threatened us with our jobs every time we resisted the dozens
of mandated changes that would sanitize the story, and fill it with lies
and distortions. “You'll be charged with insubordination,” the general
manager threatened, if we didn’t do what the lawyers wanted.

In our four decades in the business, Steve and I had never seen a
news-editing process that was so incredibly one-sided, and so clearly
designed to make the story more palatable to Monsanto.

No case better illustrates why lawyers should never be in charge
of the editorial process of reporting the news. Lawyer Carolyn For-
rest’s mandate was to protect the station against litigation, to “take no
risks” that the station would ever have to stand up for the truth in
court. Ours was to work, first and foremost, in the public interest to
find and broadcast as many facts as we could reasonably report.

Forrest could never understand why we insisted on investi-
gating Monsanto’s glowing claims about its product. “While some
say this, Monsanto says that” was her approach. Just let the viewers
sort it out.

She and a lot of lawyers like her cannot understand the difference
between a reporter, especially an investigative reporter, and a stenog-
rapher. A reporter’s obligation is always to explore the claims made
by all voices in any story, critics and proponents alike. If a claim
doesn’t hold water, we have the obligation to show why not.

But none of that mattered to our friends at Fox who like to boast
about news that is “fair and balanced,” different than all the others.
“We report, you decide” is their motto. During one May phone review
of the latest script, after we had faxed her more documentation, For-
rest finally leveled with us. “You guys just don’t get it. It doesn’t
matter whether the facts are true. This story just isn’t worth a couple
of hundred thousand dollars to go up against Monsanto.”

So, we suggested, just kill the story. We fully recognize that the
employer has the right to set whatever litigation risk level it chooses.
In the end, no story was preferable to a story that was slanted and dis-
torted. But the lawyers and Fox managers knew killing it would be a
“major PR problem,” as the local counsel wrote in his notes that also
were turned over later during the discovery process. After all, Fox
had already spent thousands of dollars on radio ads promoting the
series, which were running the weekend before the scheduled airtime.
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Local newspaper media critics were anxiously awaiting the series.
What would the station tell them if the story suddenly disappeared?

So write and rewrite we did. Eighty-three versions of the rBGH
story and not one of them was acceptable to Fox lawyers. Instead,
what we got was an offer for more hush money. Fox’s general man-
ager presented us with an agreement, crafted by Fox counsel, that
would give us a full year of our salaries and benefits worth close to
$200,000 in no-show “consulting jobs” with the same strings attached:
no mention of how Fox covered up the story and no opportunity to
ever expose the facts Fox refused to air.

Poor Dave Boylan was so exasperated when we turned down his
second hush money offer, he just wagged his head and said, “I don’t
get it. What is it with you two? I just want people who want to be on
TV!” And the sad truth is that today, many newsrooms are full of
people like that who call themselves journalists.

At the first window in our contracts, December 2, 1997, we were
both finally fired, allegedly for “no cause.” But then, an angry-but-
gloating Carolyn Forrest wrote a letter spelling out “there were defi-
nite reasons” for our dismissals. She went on to characterize our resis-
tance to broadcasting the story as she directed as “unprofessional and
inappropriate conduct.”

As Steve commented when he read the letter, just what is the
“professional and appropriate” response for a reporter when a station
directs him or her to deliberately lie on television?

The Forrest letter would prove a major tactical error for Fox and
the basis of our lawsuit.

FULL FRONTAL ASSAULT: OUR TRIAL AGAINST FOX

On April 2, 1998, we filed a lawsuit under the Florida Private Whistle-
blowers Act against Fox Television, the first of its kind for any jour-
nalist. Under the law, a whistle-blower is any employee, regardless of
his profession, who suffers retaliation for refusing to participate in an
illegal activity or threatening to report that illegal activity to authorities.

We argued that we were entitled to protection as whistle-blowers
because the lies and distortions our employers wanted us to broadcast
were not in the public interest and therefore violated the law and reg-
ulations of the Federal Communications Commission.
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After Fox’s local counsel lost two major efforts to have the suit
derailed, Fox brass apparently decided they needed bigger, smarter,
meaner lawyers. That’s when they turned to Bill McDaniels and the
Washington, D.C., firm of Williams & Connolly, the same firm that Bill
Clinton used to help him through Whitewater, Monica Lewinsky, and
impeachment. It’s the firm that crafted his famous redefinition of the
word “is.”

Several weeks before the start of the trial, in a scene right out of
films like Class Action, Williams & Connolly camped out on the top
two floors of the Hyatt Regency Hotel, one of the plushest in down-
town Tampa. Using more than a dozen lawyers and some of the top
firms around the country to help with various pretrial chores, Fox
staff lawyers regularly flew back and forth, first class, between Los
Angeles and Tampa.

We found ourselves practically living in an old downtown house
that served as the offices of my own lawyers, John Chamblee and Tom
Johnson. Both of them are extremely competent and well-respected
labor and civil rights attorneys who rolled up their sleeves early on,
prepared for a fight, and always kept their promise to stand with us
no matter who and what the other side kept throwing our way.

Hours of late nights and their well-crafted legal briefs and court-
room appearances before three judges eventually allowed us to with-
stand all three motions by Fox, which was desperate to have the case
thrown out of court without the spectacle of a public trial.

The case Fox had vowed would never go to trial was, after more
than a two-year delay that forced us to sell our home and drain our
savings, finally going to be heard by six jurors in a Tampa courtroom.

CRAZY LIKE A FOX

The Fox legal strategy was tightly woven from day one and helped by
a well-coordinated team effort. Their defense: that we had turned our
backs on the story and were using the whistle-blower claim as a
“tactic.” We missed deadlines, they claimed, and had told managers
and lawyers from the first that we were “going to get Monsanto.”

I watched as the attack on our competency as reporters softened
with time, as it became evident the media conglomerate could be on
the hook for defaming our reputations.
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The Fox effort, though slick and united, was not flawless. Fox
News director, Phil Metlin, told the six-person jury that if he ever
learned a news organization was trying to eliminate risk by using a
threatening letter as “a road map” to craft a story, it would “make me
want to throw up.” Just a few days later, Metlin sat at the defense
table with a blank stare when the local Fox counsel took the stand and
bragged that he “could edit all risk out of a story” by using threat-
ening letters from the subject (in this case, Monsanto) of the story as
“aroadmap” to avoid lawsuits and other trouble for a station. By that,
he said on the stand, you knew in advance the subject’s hot spots and
you could successfully avoid poking the beast. Unfortunately, it’s
sometimes those hotspots that are precisely the areas that need inves-
tigation, whether the subject likes it or not.

Metlin, a likeable but hapless Woody Allen kind of character, also
didn’t score any points with his bosses or the jurors when he admitted
that he never found even a single error in our reporting of the rBGH
story and saw no reason why our final version of the story could not
have aired.

More than two years had passed since we filed our suit, and our
former general manager, Dave Boylan, now had to be flown into town
for his testimony. On the eve of the trial, Fox had rewarded him with
another precious step up the Fox ladder — promotion to general man-
ager of the Fox-owned station in Los Angeles, the second-biggest sta-
tion in the group.

Boylan lost his bravado on the stand. He constantly shot quick
and nervous smiles at the jurors while repeatedly looking over to the
defense team after virtually every answer. During our cross-examina-
tion of Boylan, it helped that Steve knew exactly what had transpired
during 1997. Earlier in the trial, it had been estimated that lost rev-
enue in advertising from Monsanto ads for Roundup or Nutrasweet
could have cost the station about $50,000. Fox bragged that $50,000
was nothing for an organization of its size, but Steve’s relentless inter-
rogation of Boylan showed that the actual cost of going up against
Monsanto could have been much higher.

“You testified Fox owns twenty-three stations?” Steve asked.

“Yes,” Boylan answered.

“Could Monsanto pull advertising off all twenty-three?”

“Yes.”

“And the Fox News Channel?”
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“Yes.”

“And the Sky Channel in Europe?”

“Yes.”

“It could extend well beyond $50,000, couldn’t it Mr. Boylan?”

“It could,” Boylan admitted.

Attorney Bill McDaniels earned the nickname “Thumper” from
our team because he made an audible noise with his foot whenever he
got nervous. And there was a lot of thumping during the presentation
of our case, particularly when Ralph Nader took time from his presi-
dential campaign to serve as an expert witness. Nader is generally
recognized as the nation’s premier consumer advocate and an expert
in the public interest. In our case, we were trying to show the jury that
it was not in the public’s interest to have broadcasters intentionally
distort the news. Fox had tried unsuccessfully, through repeated and
desperate objections, to have Nader eliminated as an expert.

On the stand, Nader told the jurors what the FCC has repeatedly
said: that it is “a most heinous act” to use the public’s airwaves to
slant, distort, and falsify the news. “A reporter has a legal duty to act
in accordance with the Communications Act of 1934 and in addition
to their professional responsibility to be accurate, not to be used as an
instrument of deception to the audience,” Nader testified.

McDaniels also objected vehemently to Walter Cronkite’s inclusion
as an expert on our side. “Mr. Cronkite is not an expert in the pre-
broadcast review of a story,” the Fox counsel argued in all seriousness.

I couldn’t believe my ears. For thirty years Walter Cronkite was
the managing editor of the CBS Evening News. During Mr. Cronkite’s
deposition, McDaniels asked the eighty-three-year-old anchorman
whether he was a lawyer and suggested to Cronkite that, unless he
was an attorney, he couldn’t be an expert in the prebroadcast review
of a story.

In his deposition, Cronkite said that every ethical journalist
should resist directives that would result in a false or slanted story
being broadcast. “He should not go a micro inch toward that sort of
thing. That is a violation of every principle of good journalism,”
Cronkite intoned.
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THE RULING

After a five-week trial, the jury awarded me $425,000 but gave
nothing to Steve. His last words to jurors in his closing argument,
even if they felt his questioning of Fox witnesses was too aggressive
in the courtroom —and many times he went for the jugular as well as
any trained litigant—“don’t take it out on her.”

Apparently the jurors listened. In representing himself, Steve real-
ized there were risks, but there was also a lot to gain. His questioning
of the defendant in the courtroom and during seventy-three deposi-
tions he conducted in five states and the District of Columbia elicited
some of the most damage to their side. But as we feared, the jury had
a difficult time seeing Steve as both a victim and a tough courtroom
advocate.

In any event, we view the verdict as a win for us both. Our trial
was never about money. It was about a reporter’s duty to resist and to
blow the whistle loud and strong when he or she is being pressured
to lie and distort the news over the public airwaves.

Fox immediately announced that it would appeal. “Your Honor,
we just want our good name back,” said Fox attorney McDaniels in
arguing on two separate posttrial motions that the judge should
throw out the jury’s verdict.

In what seemed like a final act of desperation, McDaniels seemed
to be tossing the entire network’s credibility in the garbage by making
an argument any legitimate news organization would be embarrassed
to voice. The veteran lawyer told the judge, “there is no law, rule or
regulation against slanting the news.”

The judge denied both motions and allowed the jury’s verdict to
stand.

Steve plans an appeal as well. In the end, we suspect he received
no monetary award because of what seems to be an erroneous instruc-
tion from the judge to the jury. The jurors were told that in order to
find for each of us, they must determine there was no other possible
reason each was fired other than the fact we resisted orders to lie on
the air and threatened to blow the whistle to the FCC. Lawyers han-
dling Steve’s appeal argue that the standard should be the same as in
cases of discrimination, that the discrimination must be an important
reason, even if not the only reason, for an illegal dismissal.

Fox has many years of appeal ahead of it—first to the Second Dis-
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trict Court of Appeals in Florida, then on to the Florida Supreme Court,
and eventually the U.S. Supreme Court, if it is willing to hear the case.

We have been out of work since being fired. And all the while, of
course, we don’t see a cent of our winnings.

WE WIN; FOX SPINS

It's perfect. A television news organization just found guilty of
slanting the news, slants the news regarding the ruling!

The jury rendered its verdict just after 5 pM. Friday, August 18,
2000. Fox’s Tampa station, which kept a camera in the courtroom and
provided spotty coverage of the trial, ran the news of the verdict at or
near the top of its 6 P.M. broadcast.

The report was a fairly straightforward item announcing to
Tampa viewers that the jury had awarded me damages “because the
station violated the state’s whistleblower law.” Anchorwoman Kelly
Ring even went on to announce the reason for the verdict in my favor
was “because she refused to lie in that report and threatened to tell the
FCC about it.”

But by 10 PM., the Fox corporate spinmeisters had rewritten the
story entirely, crafting a devastatingly embarrassing loss into “good
news” for their side.

“Today is a wonderful day for Fox 13, because I think we are com-
pletely vindicated on the finding of this jury that we do not distort
news, we do not lie about the news, we do not slant the news, we are
professionals,” said Fox News Director Phil Metlin, looking rather
uncomfortable on camera.

Metlin’s statement is directly contradicted by the jury’s own unan-
imous verdict so clearly stated on the official Verdict Form for Jane
Akre, August 18, 2000. The jurors were asked to rule on this question:

Do you find that the Plaintiff, Jane Akre, has proven, by the greater
weight of the evidence, that the Defendant, through its employees or
agents, terminated her employment or took other retaliatory per-
sonnel action against her, because she threatened to disclose to the
Federal Communications Commission under oath, in writing, the
broadcast of a false, distorted, or slanted news report which she rea-
sonably believed would violate the prohibition against intentional
falsification or distortion of the news on television, if it were aired?
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The jury’s answer: “Yes.”

If indeed Fox regards the jury verdict as “complete vindication,”
the network should abandon its appeals, accept the verdict, and pay
up. But that will never happen. Fox would miss a great opportunity to
show its other employees what can happen if you mess with Murdoch.

SACRED COWS

You would think that our jury verdict— granting reporters whistle-
blower protection, finding that a major network slanted the news and
now insists that there is no law against that kind of breach of trust—
would spark some interest from the news media itself.

Instead, the silence has been deafening.

During our trial, a New York Times reporter kept calling asking
what would be the best week to come cover the case. We spoke to him
after the trial was over to find out why he never showed up. A big
story related to the CBS series Survivor was breaking at the time, the
media writer told us. He was just too busy.

One of the biggest names in investigative reporting for 60 Minutes
sent a producer to spend nearly a week with us in the months pre-
ceding our trial. The producer gathered documents to take back to
New York, but in the end CBS took a pass. The story was deemed to
be “too inside baseball.” Our translation: There’s an unwritten rule
that news organizations seldom turn their critical eye on themselves
or even their competitors. The media are the last sacred cows.

A 60 Minutes producer later called to apologize and offer his sup-
port, “We’re brothers in journalism,” he said.

One might expect a little better from “Florida’s Best Newspaper,”
as the St. Petersburg Times calls itself. Its reporter seemed intelligent
and fair when she interviewed us after the jury’s verdict. Imagine our
surprise when we read the part of her story that said, “And the jury
did not believe the couple’s claim that the station bowed to pressure
from Monsanto to alter the news report.”

Steve called the reporter to ask how she could have written that
we didn’t meet the burden of proof in the case we had just won. “I
didn’t write that,” she said, confessing that that paragraph was added
later by an editor who did not spend any time in the courtroom and
ultimately declined our request to correct and clarify his copy.
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One cannot help but wonder what was said behind the scenes, as
the same legal firm that frequently represents the St. Petersburg Times
also represented Fox in the suit we won.

Bad copy takes on a life of its own. When Reliable Sources, the
CNN program on the media, ran a blurb on the Saturday show fol-
lowing the verdict, the producer substantially repeated the St. Peters-
burg Times version of the story, again reporting the station didn’t bow
to pressure from Monsanto to alter the news report.

We sent the show’s producer the jury instructions and the jury’s
verdict. Several weeks passed before we heard anything. Finally she
got back to us, declining to correct her copy but opening the door to
some correction down the road. We're still waiting.

For all the other television stations in Tampa, our trial and the
issues it raised was basically a nonevent unworthy of any coverage.
No broadcast station in the market (with the exception of the com-
munity radio station WMNF, a University of South Florida reporter,
and the defendant Fox station that fired us) ever sent a reporter to
cover our trial.

Even so, when the verdict was in, the news director at top-rated
WEFLA Channel 8 did not hesitate adding his two-cent instant analysis
in a St. Petersburg Times postverdict story headlined, ”Verdict Is Not
Expected to Affect TV News.”

While freely admitting that he “had no first-hand information
about the case,” WFLA's Dan Bradley nonetheless espoused that ours
was merely a case about two reporters’ “resistance to vetting.”
Bradley should know that that conduct can get you immediately fired
for insubordination at any television station, so why were we kept on
for a full year?

After that article appeared, we offered to have lunch with Bradley.
We were eager to avoid the embarrassment for both of us that comes
from making irresponsible comments, and we wanted him to know
the facts before he blurted out any further opinions. I got a rather curt
e-mail in response: “Thank you for sharing your thoughts and com-
ments with me regarding my quotes in the St. Petersburg Times article.
I have no interest in discussing this any further and see no need to
schedule a lunch with you.”

St. Petersburg, Florida, is also home to the much-vaunted Poynter
Institute for Media Studies. It’s a journalism training center and think
tank considered a credible resource on and for the media, its motives
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and inner workings. In 1997 as our battle began, we thought enough
of Poynter to schedule a lunch with one of its ethics experts to ask him
for some guidance. Could he or Poynter help mediate this situation to
some resolution, we asked? We were told the institute has a policy of
not getting involved in such situations, especially when the news
organization involved is right there in the Tampa Bay area.

Given Poynter’s hands-off attitude when we sought assistance
there, I was very disappointed to read a posttrial comment by another
Poynter “expert,” Al Tompkins. Also without a shred of firsthand
knowledge of the issues, he jumped at the opportunity to be quoted
as concluding ours “was not a watershed case.” And when asked
what reporters like me and Steve should do when pressed to distort
the news, Tompkins told the St. Petersburg Times, reporters should
“quit” and “walk away.”

When Steve called Tompkins and suggested they meet to discuss
what really happened, the Poynter fellow said that that would be a
great idea; he’d call as soon as he returned from a trip. We never heard
another word from him.

Taking an offer for hush money, as we were offered, allowing a
news corporation to sanitize and distort a story out of fear or to curry
favor, may keep your yolk intact and fuel in the Lexus, but it certainly
betrays any reporter’s commitment to the public.

We set out to tell Florida consumers the facts that a giant chemical
company and a powerful dairy lobby clearly didn’t want them to
know. That used to be something investigative reporters won awards
for. But these days, as we’ve learned the hard way; it's something you
can be fired for whenever a news organization places more value on
its bottom line than on honestly delivering the news to its viewers.

Right after we filed our lawsuit in April 1998, we were pleasantly
surprised to find that the nation’s largest journalism organization, the
Society of Professional Journalists (SP]), was awarding us its presti-
gious Ethics Award. At the SP] annual meeting, past president Paul
Brown said that the award was for our “refusing to incorporate false
information into an investigative story about bovine growth hormone
and then waged [sic] a post employment campaign to make sure the
record was set straight in this case.” We had received the Joe A. Call-
away Award for Civic Courage from the Shafeek Nader Trust for the
Community Interest, named after the late brother of Ralph and Claire
Nader. In awarding the prize, Claire Nader said it was for those indi-
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viduals who “take a public stance to advance truth and justice, and
who challenged prevailing conditions in pursuit of common good.”

The Alliance for Democracy honored us for Heroism in Jour-
nalism in 1999. Most recently, the prestigious Goldman Environ-
mental Prize recognized us as North America’s 2001 winners for out-
standing environmental achievment in standing up for the truthful-
ness of the rBGH story. These accolades helped buoy us through some
difficult days. The SPJ’s 1998 award was particularly gratifying
because a group of our own colleagues was standing up to show sup-
port. But not for long.

Almost as soon as the news was out, a Fox employee and others
affiliated with the local chapter of SPJ, starting writing letters to the
ethics committee chairman questioning why the award was given
when there was no outcome in our lawsuit.

To his credit, committee chairman Steve Geimann stood up for his
decision and quoted the SPJ’s code of ethics that says, “deny favored
treatment to advertisers and special interests and resist their pressure
to influence news coverage.” He reminded the critics that the court-
room is not always the best place to find the truth, something any
journalist should know.

Geimann may have made his point and fended off the weaker-
willed SPJ leaders who didn’t want to offend their Tampa chapter, but
imagine our surprise when the SPJ’s legal defense fund turned us
down for a small stipend to help offset the six-figures we owed the
lawyers who brought us our victory.

They had turned us down at first because the lawsuit could be
construed as an employment dispute and, in any event, our claims
had not been proven. But even after the jury ruled in our favor, SPJ
offered no further support.

Steve even flew to Columbus, Ohio, to make our case before the
group’s board of directors at its national conference. When the
group’s legal fund chairman— Christine Tatum of the Chicago
Tribune—told her fellow directors, “I don’t think we want to be
picking a fight with big news organizations over who they hire and
fire and why,” our fate was sealed. Although we finally got strong
support from the Tampa-area directors and others, SPJ’s president,
president-elect, and others voted us down.

Some board members claimed they were troubled that this was
not a First Amendment case but a labor dispute. Surely they knew
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that the First Amendment does not cover reporters inside a news
organization. It is a protection to keep government from restricting a
free press. When the press itself is willing to disregard its public trust
and individual reporters who are employees stand up to stop it, it will
always be “a labor dispute.”

There are plenty of good journalists working today in places
where they are pressured to put good journalism on the back burner
of the stove of a fast-cooking corporation bent on maintaining profit
margins not to be found in any other industry. We have heard from
many of those fine reporters constantly conflicted about how to
respond to pressure to slant the news everywhere from local commu-
nity papers to big-city dailies and television networks.

The choices we made to resist orders to distort the news have
proven much easier to make than to live with, but they must come
from within the journalism community. How can anyone who calls
himself or herself a journalist betray a trust that is the bond between
all journalists and the public they serve?

Sadly, we see it happening with greater frequency throughout the
so-called mainstream media, by honest people who fear they just
cannot stand up and say no without facing the destruction of their
careers and their families—and by lots of well-dressed people who
just want to be on TV.

YOU GOTTA HAVE FRIENDS

On September 13, 2001, a number of well-known, megamedia com-
panies became Fox’s friends in the courtroom, filing an amicus curiae*
brief. The Belo Corporation, Cox Television, Gannett company, Media
General, and Post-Newsweek stations, while not active participants in
our litigation, added their voices in support of the defense —Rupert
Murdoch’s News Corporation.

Just what exactly are they supporting? Had anyone from these
corporate newsrooms sat in during our trial, covered it for their news
outlets, or even debated Steve and me at a journalism conference, I

—- be able to be convinced that the issues of journalism are the

*According to Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary, amicus curiae refers to a “pro-
fessional person or organization that is not a party to a particular litigation but that is per-
mitted by the court to advise it in respect to some matter of law that directly affects the case
in question.”
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basis of this newfound friendship with Fox. But not a single repre-
sentative from any one of these news organizations made such an
effort. Not one of them ever filed a story on our case. Not once did
they consult our lawyers. I shouldn’t be surprised that this friendship
is not about the news business, but the news business.

Stay out of our newsrooms, the amici (friends) argue. The First
Amendment gives them the right to control what goes on behind the
sacrosanct newsroom doors, they argue. But as they rally round the
flag, these media giants and their Washington, D.C.-based lobbyists
are working vigorously behind the scenes to dismantle any govern-
ment restrictions they don’t like, such as those limiting the number of
television stations one owner can control, equal time for political can-
didates, and fairness and obscenity standards.

As the friends say, nearly forty states have whistle-blower laws,
and this case could lead to many more editorial disputes being aired
in the courtroom, And that’s not good for business. (Read the Amicus
brief and others on the www.foxbghsuit.com Web site.)

Fox and its media friends seem to be ignoring what is getting
them in trouble these days. Instead of joining forces to keep
reporters in their place, they might fare better if they did a little
soulsearching and got behind independent journalism forums
where editorial voices, free of commercial concerns, can hear and
decide internal disputes while ensuring that the corporations are
acting in the public interest. This, in theory, is the FCC’s role, but it
has been years since that federal agency punished a broadcaster for
not acting in the public interest. The FCC now spends most of its
time doling out the public’s airwaves to private owners who make
the most convincing arguments. So, who is watching out for the
public interest? Essentially, no one.

It's time for news corporations to take seriously the news end of
the news. Maybe then viewers would catch on and start watching
again, and reporters wouldn’t have to put their jobs on the line and
expose the internal workings of a news organizations in open court,
just to do their jobs properly.

Our competent appeals lawyers, Stuart Markman and Michael
Finch, believe that this case will define whistle-blower labor law for
private companies and will likely make its way to the Florida
Supreme Court. Certainly, Fox will take it there if it loses this first
round. Stay tuned!



A NOTE ON SOURCES

The story of rBGH began long before I began looking into it in
November 1996. For many years, before and after its approval, citi-
zens and scientists have tracked its progress through the system.
Monsanto studied the genetically engineered hormone as an animal
drug for about a decade, and some of those studies have been made
available. The source notes on rBGH studies were among the dozens
used to research the original story.

The controversy over rBGH has traveled recently to Canada and
the European Union, both of which decided to reject the drug for use
in those countries. Numerous articles have been written on the inter-
national rejection of rBGH. Since our departure from Fox, Steve and I
have conducted an interview with the Health Canada regulators, who
spoke of pressure from Monsanto to approve the drug, and Richard
Burroughs, formerly of the FDA.

In addition, more than seventy-three depositions taken in prepa-
ration for trial yielded some helpful information on what happened to
this story within Fox and why. Depositions were conducted on Roger
Ailes of Fox News; Dave Boylan, general manager for Fox, now in Los
Angeles; Phil Metlin, news director; as well as many Fox employees
who were at the station at the time we worked there. In addition, a
Monsanto spokesman was deposed as well as several lawyers for Fox,
a couple of dairy farmers, and the dairy scientist at the University of
Florida. These depositions are part of the court record, and the
majority of them have been videotaped. The threatening letters from
Monsanto are also part of the public record, attached as Exhibits C
and E in the case of Steve Wilson and Jane Akre v. New World Communi-
cations of Tampa, Inc., a Florida Corporation d/bfa WTVT Channel 13,
Tampa. Fox 13 is a wholly owned subsidiary of News Corporation.

In this chapter, I mention the Food Lion verdict. It is well known
within America’s newsrooms for having had an immense, chilling
effect on investigative reporting. In this case, producers for ABC news
obtained jobs working at deli counters and meat handling areas of
Food Lion stores in South Carolina and North Carolina. Viewers of an
ABC PrimeTime Live program that was broadcast in November 1992,
saw hidden camera video of Food Lion employees repackaging and
redating fish, grinding expired beef with fresh beef, and applying
barbeque sauce to old chicken to mask the smell.
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Food Lion sued ABC and was awarded $5.5 million in January
1997, though that was later reduced to $315,000. In this case, the
methods of newsgathering were on trial more than the story. The
case was precedent setting in that Food Lion won a huge award
without having to prove that the news report in question was false
and malicious.
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THE SILENCE
OF THE LAMBS:

An American in Journalistic Exile
Greg Palast

Palast is an American who writes for the Guardian and
Observer newspapers of London and reports for the BBC’s
60-Minutes-esque Newsnight. Palast abandoned hopes of
working in America when mainstream press failed to report
on his groundbreaking exposés known for stripping bare
abuses. Two documentaries about his investigation of the
“presidential election rip-off” will soon be released in
America. Palast is author of the book The Best Democracy
Money Can Buy: Incendiary Writings of an Investiga-
tive Reporter (Pluto Press, 2002).

H ere’s how your president was elected:

In the months leading up to the November balloting, Florida Gov-
ernor Jeb Bush and his secretary of state, Katherine Harris, ordered
local elections supervisors to purge fifty-eight thousand voters from
registries on grounds they were felons not entitled to vote in Florida.
As it turns out, only a handful of these voters were felons. The voters
on this scrub list were, notably, African American (about 54 percent),
and most of the others wrongly barred from voting were white and
Hispanic Democrats.

Three weeks after the election, this extraordinary news ran, as it
should, on page one of the country’s leading paper. Unfortunately, it
was in the wrong country: Britain. In the U.S.A,, it ran on page zero.
The story was not covered on the news pages. It was given big net-
work television coverage. But again, it was on the wrong continent —
on BBC television, London.

Was this some off-the-wall story that the Brits misreported? A
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lawyer for the U.S. Civil Rights Commission called it the first hard
evidence of a systematic attempt to disenfranchise black voters; and
the commission held dramatic hearings on the evidence.

So why was this story investigated, reported, and broadcast in
Europe?

I'd like to know the answer. That way I could understand why a
southern California hodaddy with a wife and kiddies has to commute
to London to tell this and other stories about my country.

The question, why from Europe? is best phrased as, How did a hun-
dred thousand American journalists sent to cover the election fail to
get the vote theft story and print it (and preferably before the election)?

Think about all the tales of investigative reporting in this book.
They share three things: They are risky, they upset the wisdom of the
established order, and they are very expensive to produce. Do profit-
conscious enterprises, whether media companies or widget firms, seek
extra costs, extra risk, and the opportunity to be attacked? Not in any
business text I've ever read.

But if profit-lust is the ultimate problem blocking significant inves-
tigative reportage, the more immediate cause of comatose coverage of
the election and other issues is what is laughably called America’s
journalistic culture. If the Rupert Murdochs of the globe are shepherds
of the new world order, they owe their success to breeding a flock of
docile sheep; snoozy editors and reporters who are content to munch
on, digest, and then reprint a diet of press releases and canned stories
provided by officials and corporate public relations operations.

Take this story of the list of Florida’s faux felons that cost Al Gore
the election. Shortly after the British story hit the World Wide Web, I
was contacted by a CBS TV network news producer ready to run their
own version of the story. The CBS hotshot was happy to pump me for
information: names, phone numbers, all the items one needs for a
quickie TV story.

I also freely offered up to CBS this information. My first story was
about voters falsely accused of felonies; my new story was about
those who did in fact serve time but, nevertheless had the right to
vote. The office of the governor of Florida, Jeb Bush, brother of the
Republican presidential candidate, had illegally ordered the removal
of the names of felons from voter rolls — real felons — but with the right
to vote under Florida law. As a result, fifty thousand of these legal
voters, almost all Democrats, could not vote.



One problem: I had not quite completed my own investigation on
this matter. Therefore CBS would have to do some actual work, reviewing
documents and law, obtaining statements. The next day I received a
call from the producer who said, I'm sorry, but your story didn’t hold
up. Well, how did the multibillion-dollar CBS network determine
this? Why, we called Jeb Bush’s office. Oh. And that was it.

I wasn’t surprised by this type of investigation. It is, in fact, stan-
dard operating procedure for the little lambs of American journalism.
One good, slick explanation from a politician or corporate chieftain and
it’s case closed, investigation over. The story ran anyway —on BBC-TV.

Let’s understand the pressures on the CBS producer that led her
to kill the story on the basis of a denial by the target of the allegations.
(Though let’s not confuse understanding with forgiveness.) First, the
story is difficult to tell in the usual ninety seconds allotted for national
reports. The BBC gave me a fourteen-minute slot to explain it.

Second, the story required massive and quick review of docu-
ments, hundreds of phone calls and interviews, hardly a winner in the
slam-bam-thank-you-ma’am American school of journalism. The BBC
gave me six weeks to develop the story.

Third, the revelations in the story required a reporter to stand up
and say that the big-name politicians, their lawyers, and their PR
people were freaking liars. It would be much easier, and a heck of a lot
cheaper, to wait for the U.S. Civil Rights Commission to do the work,
then cover the commission’s canned report and press conference.
Wait! You've watched Murphy Brown, so you think reporters hanker
every day to uncover the big scandal. Bull. Remember, All the Presi-
dent’s Men was so unusual they had to make a movie out of it.

Fourth, investigative reports require taking a chance. Fraudsters
and vote-riggers don’t reveal all their evidence. And they lie. Make
the allegation and you are open to attack or unknown information
that may prove you wrong. No one ever lost his job writing canned
statements from a press conference.

Meanwhile, back in sunny England . . .

My paper received about two thousand bless-you-Britain-for-
telling-us-the-truth-about-our-election letters from U.S. Net-heads
who were circulating the samizdat presidential elections coverage.
Also I received a few like this:



You pansey [sic] brits seem to think that the average American is as under-
educated and stupid as the average British subject. Well comrad [sic], I'm
here to tell you . . .

which ended with some physically unfeasible suggestions of what to
do with the Queen.

My editor noticed only one —a letter demanding retraction of my
first article on Katherine Harris’s phony voter purge—or else. It was
from Carter-Ruck, a law firm with the reputation as the piranhas of
the libel bar in England. They had cornered the market in repre-
senting foreign millionaires unhappy about their press. They did not
represent the Bush family, but a company that had once employed
George Bush Sr. (Bush resigned from this in 1999), a Canadian gold-
mining company originally funded by arms dealer Adnan Khashoggi.

You didn’t know that Poppy Bush went to work for a Canadian mining
company after he left the White House? Of course not — the firm has sued,
or threatens to sue, any paper or person who reports on them in ways
they find less than flattering.

My reports on the Florida ballot shenanigans first began as a
sidebar to this story about the cash flowing into Bush family bank
accounts and campaign war chests from firms for which the elder
Bush performed favors after leaving the White House.

Who were these Canadian guys who could hire our former presi-
dent and his Rolodex? If American papers weren’t curious, Britons
found this stuff fascinating. This Canadian company, Barrick Gold,
had purchased a mine, with Bush’s apparent help, in Tanzania. I had
received information from Africa that in 1996 the previous owner of
the mine had allegedly buried alive fifty-some jewelry miners who
had refused to leave the property. Sickening stuff, these allegations
were also mentioned in a report by Amnesty International, which I
cited. I also cited Barrick’s denial. Barrick had bought the mine in 1999.

Barrick Gold and its demi-billionaire chairman demanded that my
paper retract the allegations of killings. They demanded that we print
that the Guardian newspapers were happy to confirm that no one died
at that mine. A Canadian newspaper that had picked up my story
already had grabbed their ankles and run that incredible retraction.

In England, there is no defense of repetition. That is, I can’t say I
accurately reported on the Amnesty allegations; I have to prove that
miners were actually buried alive in Tanzania. We called Amnesty,
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which courageously refused to help, announced it would be silent on
advice of lawyers, and allowed the company to state that Amnesty
had cleared the company.

I was ready to go along with some kind of apology and retraction,
only because I was living on Red Bull, potassium powder, and no
sleep, trying to get out the elections story, and I sure as hell didn’t
need another distraction.

But I had a problem. Our paper encouraged a human rights
attorney to go to the Tanzanian mine. He came back with witness
statements, photographs of a dead exhumed body, and videotapes
showing bodies being exhumed from the mine pits. His name is
Tundu Lissu —and when the company found out about his investiga-
tion, they threatened him with a lawsuit as well.

That’s when I lost any sense of reason. I hinted that if the Guardian
fabricated a lie to save a few shekels, I might have a claim against my
own paper for defaming me as a journalist. I'd never do it; the threat
was nuts (not exactly a career-maker), but my paper hesitated about
giving in—and got sued by Barrick. It was December. The money
clock on legal fees was now ticking, making me the most expensive
journalist at the Guardian papers.

Meanwhile, back in the U.S.A. . ..

Salon.com, the Internet magazine, ran my story on the theft of the
elections. It wasn’t exactly print, but at least it was American. And now
columnists like Bob Herbert of the New York Times picked it up, and
some radio talk shows too. But still, not one news editor called, not even
from the Washington Post, with whom the Guardian shares material.

From a news view, and the flood of site hits, this was Salon.com’s
biggest political story ever —and it named part 1 its political story of
the year.

But where was part 2? On its Web site and on radio programs, the
magazine was announcing part 2 would appear in two days . . . and in
two days. .. and in two days . . . and nothing appeared. Part 2 exposed
how Jeb Bush violated court orders by refusing to register to vote over
fifty thousand people who had criminal records in other states.
(Florida law bars the vote only to the state’s own felons and those in a
dozen other states.) The fact that 90 percent of these voters were
Democrats should have made it news because this maneuver alone
more than accounted for Bush’s victory.
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I was going crazy: Gore had not yet conceded. The timing of part
2 was crucial. Where the hell was it? Finally, the editor told me: the
Washington bureau chief (quite a title for Salon) had determined that
the story didn’t check out. You see, we checked with Jeb Bush’s office
and they said . . .

Agh! It was déja vu all over again.

I called the bureau chieftain himself, who sniffed, I used to work for
the Washington Post, you know. And the Post would never run this story.

Well, he had me there. They hadn’t, they didn’t. Not yet. So God
bless America.

Meanwhile, back in sunny England . . .

Bad news. In the middle of trying to get out the word of the theft
of the election in Florida, I was about to become the guinea pig, the
test case, for an attempt by a multinational corporation to suppress
free speech in the U.S.A. using British libel law.

Here’s something I bet you didn’t know about Britain: there is no
freedom of the press. There is no First Amendment. England is one of the
few nations on earth without a written guarantee of freedom of
speech or press. That's why we Americans celebrate July 4th. Britons
don’t have freedom of the press, and they don’t want it —not the public,
not the government, and, weirdly, not the editors or the publishers.

This hit me on the head in 1999 when my paper was facing
charges under the Official Secrets Act. The Guardian had published an
innocuous letter by a former MI-5 agent in the Letters to the Editor
section. In the U.K,, it’s a serious violation of the law to publish any-
thing by a former agent—even a Christmas card. (The last example is
not hypothetical.) My editor argued with me in favor of the Official Secrets
Act, the very law under which he at that moment faced unlimited jail time.
It brought home that Britons are subjects, not citizens.

Lacking a First Amendment, Britain has become the libel suit cap-
ital of the world. Stories printed anywhere else draw steep judgments
in London. Guardian newspapers receive notice of suit or service of
suit about three times a day —that’s one thousand libel notices a year!
This creates a whole encyclopedia of off-limits topics, including an
admonition from our legal department not to disparage the marriage
of Tom Cruise and Nicole Kidman (sent the day after they announced
their divorce).

Britain’s libel law has privatized censorship. No paper could afford
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to defend all these actions. One excellent reporter, chosen journalist of
the year, told me to just sign anything and get out of it. That’s just how
it'’s done here. And Floyd Abrams, who defends the New York Times in
the U.S. and Europe, explained, the truth alone is not a defense in Eng-
land. All my photos of dead bodies in Tanzania meant nothing in our
case. (Barrick counters that the bodies in the film did not come from
their mine site or were not victims of the clearance operation.)

And now the Canadian Goldfingers were about to try something
new in the British censorship game: annul the U.S. Bill of Rights. Their
legal gambit was brilliant. I have a U.S.-based Web site for Americans
who can’t otherwise read or view my BBC and Guardian stories. The
gold mining company held my British newspaper liable for aggra-
vated damages for publishing the story in the U.S.A. If I did not pull
the Bush/Barrick story off my U.S. Web site, my paper would face a
ruinous bill.

The legal department begged me to pull not just English versions
of the story but my Spanish translation, printed in Bolivia. ;Caramba!
I resisted.

But Goldfinger was not done. Their lawyers told our paper that I
personally would be sued in the U.K. over my American Web publica-
tions of my story —because the Web could be accessed in Britain. The
success of this legal theory would further chill U.S. publishers with
international sales. Suddenly, instead of the Internet becoming a means
of spreading press freedom, the means to break through censorship, it
would become the electronic highway delivering repression.

And repression was winning. InterPress Services (IPS) of Wash-
ington, D.C,, sent a reporter to Tanzania. They received a note from Bar-
rick that said if the wire service even mentioned the allegations of killings,
even with Barrick’s denial, Barrick would sue. The IPS story never ran.
Lawyers told the reporter that there were a couple of newspaper cus-
tomers in Canada (which inherited British libel laws), and the U.S.-based
wire service couldn’t chance it. The Internet reach threat was biting.

I chose to fight. In July I issued an alert to human rights groups
worldwide. My paper went ballistic: In the U.K., one can’t complain
about being sued for libel, because under their libel law, a paper is
guilty of defamation until it proves itself innocent. Therefore, publicly
defending oneself repeats the libel and makes the paper and reporter
subject to new damages and court sanctions. Kafka had nothing on
the British court system.




Most of my colleagues were sympathetic, but not all. As one
noted, any other reporter would have been sacked on the spot. And
now my paper was flooded with thousands of we-support-your-
courage letters.

The pressure was on. And, I'm pleased to say, my editor refused
to sign the abject, lying retraction—just fifteen minutes before the
court-imposed deadline. Then he sent me this encouraging note: “We
are now going to spend hundreds of thousands on some fucking
meaningless point you are trying to make. I hope you are happy.”

Meanwhile, back in the US.A. ...

In February 2001, I took my BBC film crew to Florida, having
unearthed a page marked “secret” and “confidential” from the con-
tract between Florida and the company the state had hired to make up
the list of names to purge from the voter rolls. Here it was, smoking-
gun evidence that the Republican officials knew their operation had
knowingly wiped out the voting rights of thousands of innocent
voters, most of them African Americans.

(I wondered why not one American news outlet had bothered to
obtain these documents, available through Florida’s freedom-of-
information law. But I did find this in the files: The Orlando Sentinel
had been suspicious of the conduct of the voter purge before the elec-
tion. The government e-mail was a gloating message that the Sentinel
had been thrown off the scent by that brilliant ploy: flat-out official
denial and a schmooze job, which the Sentinel ran as fact.)

It was February. I took my camera crew into an agreed interview
with Jeb Bush'’s director of the Florida Department of Elections. When
I pulled out the confidential sheet, Bush’s man ripped off the micro-
phone and did the fifty-yard dash, locking himself in his office, all in
front of our cameras. It was killer television and wowed the British
viewers. We even ran a confession from the company. Newsworthy
for the U.S.A.? Apparently not.

My program, Newsnight, has a film-trading agreement with ABC
Nightline, a kind of sister show. Over twenty thousand Net-heads in the
United States saw the BBC Webcast, a record; and they banged ABC TV
with demands to broadcast the BBC film, or at least report on it.

Instead, Nightline sent down its own crew to Florida for a couple
of days. They broadcast a report that ballots are complex and blacks
are not well educated about voting procedures. The gravamen of the
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story was blacks are too freakin’ dumb to figure out how to vote. No men-
tion that in white Leon County, machines automatically kicked back
faulty ballots for voter correction; whereas, in very black Gadsden
County, the same machines were programmed to eat mismarked bal-
lots. (That was in our story, too.)

Why didn’t ABC run the voter purge story? Don’t look for some
big Republican conspiracy. Remember the three elements of inves-
tigative reporting: risk, time, money. Our BBC/Guardian stories
required all of that, in short supply in American news operations.

Meanwhile, back in sunny England . . .

My paper was again ready to throw me to the dogs. Understand-
ably, they couldn’t spend half a million pounds defending a story
about a Canadian company in Tanzania, dead bodies or no. But in
July, human rights groups bombarded Barrick’s Toronto headquarters
with petitions demanding they stop trying to censor the story and
permit a public inquiry into the alleged killings. And Barrick started
to give, getting nervous, offering my paper a (relatively) cheap out.

Would my paper still have to confirm no killings took place?
Under the horrific British system, a statement that no one died, read
in open court, would have given this factoid the virtual force of law,
barring any paper from reporting otherwise.

While Amnesty International’s leaders hid under their desks
(despite Bianca Jagger’s several phone lectures), other groups — Friends
of the Earth (Holland), Corner House (U.K.), and Britain’s National
Union of Journalists — took the extraordinary step of intervening in the
libel action under a rarely used provision of the law allowing third par-
ties to argue against the settlement of a lawsuit in a manner that could
harm the public interest. They presented the judge with evidence of the
Tanzanian killings, with a plea to keep the matter open.

Astonishingly, the judge accepted the interveners’ position,
requiring Barrick to accept that the agreement with the Observer did
not foreclose allegations of the killings. So that’s how it ended: a half-
baked apology from my paper and Barrick frustrated, unable to
extract a statement that no one died at the mine. Hooray.

Well, half a hooray. I still faced personal ruin. The threat of a law-
suit against a reporter after settling with a paper was not cricket even
by English legal traditions. But Barrick told my paper’s attorneys that
it was still prepared to sue me in the United Kingdom.
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Barrick’s decision to sue depended, their lawyers said, on my
behavior in the United States and Canada.

So I went on the radio in Toronto, where Barrick is headquartered.
[ talked about Barrick, the Tanzanian mine, and censorship.

As I write, I'm waiting for the writ. My woes are nothing. The
Tanzanian papers splashed the story and as a result, lawyer Tundu
Lissu is facing charges of sedition there for releasing the videotape.

Meanwhile, back in the U.S.A. . ..

My part 2 on the theft of the elections found asylum in that dis-
tant journalistic planet not always visible to the naked eye, the Nation
magazine. Bless them.

In May, the U.S. Civil Rights Commission prepared to report on
the election in Florida. They relied heavily on the material uncovered
by the BBC for the core of their commission’s finding of systematic
voter disenfranchisement in Florida. Our documents were their main
evidence used in witness cross-examinations.

And then, mirabile dictu, the Washington Post ran the story of the
voter purge on page one, including the part that couldn’t stand up for
CBS and Salon, and even gave me space for a bylined comment.
Applause for the Post’s courage!

Would I be ungrateful if I suggested otherwise? The Post ran the
story in June, although they had it at hand seven months earlier while
the ballots were still being counted. They waited until they knew the
findings of the U.S. Civil Rights Commission Report, so they could
fire from behind that big, safe rock of official imprimatur. In other
words, the Post had the courage to charge out and shoot the wounded.

So there you have it. Take your pick: Work in the United Kingdom
where editors are scared of lawsuits, or America, where editors are
scared of their own shadows.

And then came September 11 . . .

Journalism is a planet whose inhabitants are rewarded for big
mouths and instant answers. On September 11, the vomit of journo-
babble began before the World Trade Center towers hit the ground. In
the U.S., professional hair-do Tom Brokaw was typical. He didn’t
know who did it, but he knew why: Someone hated these symbols of
American capitalism and our spirit of freedom. Across the Atlantic,
colleagues at Guardian newspapers were just as swift to wag their fin-
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gers in print, blaming the attack, as Europeans are accustomed, on the
Jews (by way of “Imperial Israel”) and gloating that it was about time
the Americans learn why everyone hates them.

I spent the day just outside New York, uselessly staring at my
laptop, silent and worried sick about my friends on the fifty-second
floor of Tower One where I had worked for many years. A simple
question nagged at me: not the grandly philosophical why? but how?
How had the FBI, CIA, America’s zillion-dollar intelligence apparatus
missed this one? Over the next two months, I found a frightening
answer: They were told not to look.

A group of well-placed sources —not-all-too-savory —spooks and
arms dealers—told my BBC team that before September 11 the U.S.
government had turned away evidence of Saudi billionaires funding
Osama bin Laden’s network. Working with the Guardian and the
National Security News Service of Washington, we got our hands on
documents that backed up the story that FBI and CIA investigations
had been slowed by the Clinton administration, then killed by Bush
Jr’s when those inquiries might upset Saudi interests.

The story made the top of the news—in Britain. In the U.S., one
television reporter picked up the report. He was called, he says, by net-
work chiefs, and told to go no further. He didn’t. Rick MacArthur, pub-
lisher of Harper’s, asked me why the story did not run in the U.S.A.

Suggested responses welcome.






SHOUTING AT THE
CROCODILE

Maurice Murad

Murad began his career at CBS News in 1962 as a film editor
on The Twentieth Century series with Walter Cronkite. It
was there that he began working with the great journalists
who invented television news. He became an associate pro-
ducer in 1974 and then a producer in 1977. The next twenty
years were spent almost entirely producing long-form docu-
mentaries and newsmagazine broadcasts. Murad has pro-
duced dozens of documentaries for the CBS Reports series, for
the series Our Times and Crossroads with Bill Moyers, and
for the American Parade with Charles Kuralt. In addition,
he was the supervising producer on the magazine series West
57th. Most recently, Murad spent two years producing sev-
eral two-hour documentary specials and producing for Mike
Wallace at 60 Minutes. Murad has won numerous awards for
his work, including Emmys for film editing, writing, direct-
ing, producing, and investigative journalism. He also received two DuPont/Columbia Jour-
nalism awards, the Edward R. Murrow Journalism Award, and the Peabody award.

It was during the height of the Clinton impeachment frenzy. Larry
Flynt, the publisher of Hustler magazine, was making the televi-
sion rounds castigating the “puritanical Republicans” and promising
a bombshell any day now —a juicy scoop exposing a Clinton enemy
who was having an extramarital affair. I was sitting in Mike Wallace’s
office at 60 Minutes going over a story when the executive producer,
Don Hewitt, poked his head in. He looked at Mike and said, “If you
want Larry Flynt, I can get him.” Wallace didn’t hesitate for a second.
He said, ”I have no interest in that, whatsoever.” And Hewitt said,
“Neither do I” and walked out of the room. I was astonished. Flynt
was what we in television call a “get,” a hot personality that could lift
a broadcast’s ratings. And I remember thinking that this is the only
place left in the television news business where this conversation
could have occurred. Here were two old veterans refusing to give in
to the prurience of the times. I felt proud to have any association with
them. Five minutes later I sat in my office knowing that, after thirty-
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eight years, it was time to put in my papers, that I would be leaving
CBS News for good.

Africans have a saying: “Don’t shout at the crocodile until after
you’ve crossed the river.” Well, I'm on the other side now, so I hope
you'll forgive my shouting. I'll try to keep this from being a screed,
but there are some things I need to vent about. I also ask forbearance
for the occasional journey into my past. I want you to know where I
came from, so you can get a better idea of why I feel the way I do
about television journalism today.

I never wanted to be a journalist.  had majored in film production
in college and I was trained as a film editor. I showed up for work in
September 1962 thinking of CBS News as just another production
company. My first assignment was for a broadcast called The Twentieth
Century with Walter Cronkite, a historical documentary series. Each
week we refought a battle of World War II or returned to the Roaring
Twenties or regurgitated the Russian Revolution. It was a classy oper-
ation, done with impeccable research and attention to detail. If it
weren’t for the primitive graphics and some Cold War jargon, you
couldn’t tell those broadcasts were made four decades ago. Still, there
was nothing about this series to disabuse me of the notion that this
was just a stepping-stone for a career in film production.

Fourteen months later President Kennedy was shot.

Cronkite stifled a tear, pulled off his glasses, and told us that the
president was dead. It was only then that I realized that Walter had a
day job. It was lunchtime. A buzz went through the cafeteria in the
CBS Broadcast Center. People got out of their chairs and headed out
the door. Others were already striding through the hallways with a
sense of purpose. “Right,” I thought, “this is CBS News.” It was that
weekend, watching the television coverage along with everyone else,
that I began to understand where it was that I had come to work.

A year later I was temporarily reassigned to work for a documen-
tary series called CBS Reports. By that time Edward R. Murrow, who
had started the series, was gone, but his producers were still there.
These were men (there were no women producers then) who had
made their bones mostly at newspapers — good journalists who were
still learning to communicate in this new, visual medium. I was
trained visually but didn’t have a clue about journalism. God! Did I
get lucky.

The first CBS Reports 1 worked on was called “The Divorce



Dilemma.” It was a one-hour documentary on what were then the
archaic divorce laws of New York State. The state legislature was, at
the time, considering a divorce reform bill. The producer, Warren Wal-
lace, was a friendly, sophisticated man whose way of working was
that he would research a story for a few months, then film the inter-
views and situations that illustrated his research. With the research in
hand, we looked at the raw footage together. Warren then told me
what was important to show and which subjects he wanted to cover.
I was left alone to construct the interviews and sequences in an order
that I thought best told the story. Warren would then look at my cut
and tell me what he thought was wrong or right about it and, most
important, if it reflected the truth about what he had found out and
filmed. Then, he wrote the script. It was like being in journalism
school with myself as the only student in the class. I was to find out
that most of the old-line producers worked this way, and, though it
would be eight years before I went out into the field, my education as
a journalist seemed assured.

And why suddenly did I want to become a journalist? Well, after
the documentary aired, Warren called to say that a New York state sen-
ator told him that the broadcast had put the vote to change the divorce
laws over the top. I had no way to know if that was true, but I was
euphoric. One drag on the narcotic of influence and I was hooked. I
learned only later what a terrible burden this kind of power can be.

In the '60s and '70s, CBS News was one of only four national out-
lets for public affairs. We had enormous influence and we knew it. But
there was always a sense that we were a quasi-public institution with
a duty to inform and be fair. In fact, we referred to ourselves as the
“license to run the whorehouse” because, in those days, a television
network was guaranteed to make a nice profit. But “fairness” and
“information” are ill-defined terms. There has always been a fine line
between an investigative piece and a polemic. A great deal of my sen-
sibility in this regard was established during my early years, encour-
aged by those who led CBS News and a few great journalists who
took the time to mentor me.

In the '60s there were two presidents of CBS News, Richard Salant
and Fred Friendly. Friendly was the great pioneer and probably had
more to do with the look of television news and public affairs than
anyone. But for those of us old enough to remember, Richard Salant
was the man. It was Salant who codified the standards and practices



we follow today. Until he insisted on it, CBS News had no book of
rules outlining proper journalistic method and behavior. To be sure,
there were rules that we kinda, sorta knew from memos that had been
passed down since the late ‘50s. But if you broke one of them, there
was no real way to call you on the carpet. If you look at some of the
old documentaries and newscasts, you will see moments that were
obviously staged and interviews that were either somewhat rehearsed
or edited in a way that distorted the meaning of the interviewee. Ever
since the Salant edict, every editorial employee at CBS News has been
given a large white book that defines what a journalist may or may not
do. For example, when there was only one camera available to film an
interview, it would be directed at the subject. When the interview was
over, often the camera would be redirected toward the correspondent
who would re-ask the questions for editing purposes. Salant’s new
rules required the interviewee to be in the room so that he or she could
be sure that the questions were asked in exactly the same way.
Another rule he insisted on was that no musical scores were to be used
in documentaries. He was adamant that it was too easy to use music
to editorialize. There were dozens of rules like these. If you got caught
breaking one of them, you were in deep trouble.

My first contact with Richard Salant was at a screening of a docu-
mentary that was part of a series called The 21st Century. It was a sci-
ence series that tried to predict what the future would be like thirty-
five years hence. It was a difficult concept for television because there
was so little we could film. Through editing, animation, and inter-
views with futurists, we were barely able to hold a viewer’s attention.
At the screening a sequence came on that was a ballet of the planets
set to music. No big deal, but a tolerable visual concept that had some
value. In the darkness of the screening room, Salant asked for some
explanatory narration about what he was seeing. I was horrified. Nar-
ration would totally disrupt the aesthetic of the sequence. I said
nothing, but when Salant left, I went into a state of high dudgeon.
Why do we have to screen for this guy? What the hell does a god-
damned lawyer know about filmmaking? Burton “Bud” Benjamin,
my executive producer, put his arm around me and said, “You know
kiddo, every morning Salant comes into work and sits at his desk.
Right above that desk is a hole straddled by a big cow. And every
morning, before he has his coffee, that cow shits all over his head. You
never hear him complain. He never rubs any of the shit off on you. So,
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give him his two lines of narration and be grateful.” The cow Bud was
referring to was the corporation, CBS Inc. And what really made
Richard Salant a great leader was his ability to keep the corporation
off the news division’s back. Not that Friendly ever took any crap
from corporate. He howled about their meddling all the time. It's just
that Salant kept them at bay without anyone ever noticing. When I'm
asked what it was like at CBS News back then, I always answer, “It
was a sweet place to work.” In retrospect, I realize that much of that
sweetness was due to Richard Salant.

Another day, another screening. It was a documentary about
Lyndon Johnson'’s plan to send wheat to India to relieve an impend-
ing food crisis. Salant suggested that we insert a map showing a ship’s
journey from Houston, Texas, to Poona, India. Winston Burdette, the
correspondent on the broadcast cooed drolly, “Of course, we better
make sure our audience knows that the Earth is round.” Emboldened,
I chimed in “God, that would be so boring.” Wrong! Salant almost
never raised his voice. Nor did he this time. He simply turned around
in his seat and said “Boring? Boring? Our franchise is to inform, not
to entertain. I don’t care if everyone falls asleep. I want the informa-
tion in there.”

I have often joked that Ed Murrow left CBS just as I came in, and
the news division has gone downhill ever since. Truth be told, the
fellow who runs it now, Andrew Heyward, is putting more and better
news programming on the air for less money in real dollars than we
ever dreamed of back then. But that statement, “I don’t care if
everyone falls asleep,” could never be uttered today. The corporations
are now pretty much in control of the network news divisions, and
keeping audiences awake is paramount. If the information is going to
put you to sleep, it isn’t going to be there. A news broadcast gets rat-
ings, or it is gone.

Want an example? Nightline, the paragon of television journalism,
devoted five nights to a wrap-up of the Clinton presidency. Virtually
all of the first four nights were devoted to scandals (Gennifer Flowers,
Paula Jones, and Monica Lewinsky), a policy failure (universal health
care), and a budget battle (the closing down of the government). A por-
tion of the fifth night dealt with the bombing of Yugoslavia and subse-
quent capitulation by Slobodan Milosevic. All were hot topics, with
personal anecdotes from White House insiders. (“When I heard the
Flowers audio tape my heart sank,” says George Stephanopolous.) In
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all five nights there was nothing on Clinton’s decision to reject a com-
promise thus destroying federal habeas corpus, nothing on the dra-
conian immigration act he signed into law, nothing on his instant
recognition that globalization was now the driving force behind for-
eign policy, nothing on his willingness to fight his own party on the
North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), nothing on putting
teeth in the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) by
backing the World Trade Organization, nothing on his bailout of the
Mexican economy, nothing on his efforts to bring peace to Northern
Ireland, nothing on his overtures to reduce tensions with North Korea,
nothing on his gamble to back Boris Yeltsin—a move that may have
thwarted a return of the Communists to power—and nothing on his
fight against the evisceration of the clean water act. I could go on.
Why? you may ask. After all, they had five nights, and Ted Koppel and
his executive producer, Tom Bettag, are without question the two
brightest minds in our business. The answer is Jay Leno and David
Letterman. Even at Nightline information goes begging when ratings
are at stake. There’s a reason why they aired over forty broadcasts on
Jim and Tammy Faye Baker, and it had nothing to do with the public’s
need to know. I feel terrible picking on Nightline. It's far and away the
best public affairs broadcast on television. I only do it to show that no
one is exempt from the pressure of getting ratings. Everything you see
on television today should be put in that context.

The problem is most apparent in local news. There, the slogan “If
it bleeds it leads” has always applied, but today there is a subtler way
of keeping you watching for the entire broadcast. In the nightly
trailers and in the broadcast openings, an announcer will tease you
with words that, in one form or another, say, “If you don’t watch our
newscast, you will die, you will die poor, and your mourners may not
show up because of an impending storm.” This usually takes the form
of “Tonight on News 2 New York . . . Is there a killer hiding in your
basement? . . . Your credit may be at risk without your knowing it. . ..
Could there be snow in the forecast?” This is a formula that was first
developed for sweeps (months when the ratings are measured) and is
now used all the time. What kind of stories actually run? Certainly
any murders or fires will run first. Then teased story #1 about a mold
called stachybotrous that occasionally is found in some buildings and
can be, but is seldom, fatal —and could be, but is very unlikely to be,
in your basement. Killer mold is a staple of local news and the story
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in one form or another is rerun three or four times a year. Teased story
#2 is about credit card companies that can make mistakes on your
credit report and cause you to have difficulties. This is another staple,
rerun several times a year. It usually ends with the anchor telling you
how to get a copy of your credit report. And . . . is there snow in the
forecast? Well, not tomorrow but, on the fourth day of the five-day
forecast, there’s the possibility of snow showers with little or no accu-
mulation. There are many variations available with this formula:
killer shopping carts (there may be microbes on them from the pre-
vious user), killer chickens (improperly cooked chicken can make you
ill), killer soda cans (a soda can top that has stickiness from another
can that burst may harbor germs), and killer doorknobs (depending
on the location, they can have everything on them from mucous to
feces). Of course, since the World Trade Center attack, there has been
a wealth of doom to use in the opening teases.

Local stations will often hold you for the end of the newscast by
promising a story with some cute animals in it. This is a holdover
from an older formula used during the Vietham War that, in those
mostly male newsrooms, was referred to as “vets, pets, tits and tots.”
A war story, a dog story, a story about raising children, and some
cheesecake. The dogs, somehow, have survived.

I need to convey just a few more things about my journalistic
upbringing. Most of what I became as a producer for CBS News I owe
to two people, Tom Spain and Irv Drasnin. Tom Spain is a truly won-
derful, award-winning documentary filmmaker whose greatest
attribute is his courage. He always admonished me to do stories the
way I thought best, then fight like hell to keep them that way. Though
he’s only a few years older than I am, he was my first mentor. From
my early days in the editing room to the last segment I did for 60 Min-
utes, his philosophy, attitude, and method has informed the way I do
stories. Tom was James Fallows before there was a James Fallows, that
is, above all a good journalistic citizen. His first lesson to me can be
summed up as, “people are more important than television.” It was
really just the golden rule applied to journalism—that you should
treat people and their stories the way you would want to be treated.
Second, if you honestly reveal something of yourself and your inten-
tions to people in your story, they will be more open and honest with
you. Third, and most important, most stories aren’t black or white.
They are gray. This is something that most people directly involved in




a story instinctively know and fear that you, the journalist, either
don’t know or worse, that you don’t care. These maxims can even
apply in many types of investigative stories. An example: Tom and I
were assigned to work together on a film about mental institutions.
Tom was to film the story, I was to be the film editor, and the two of
us would coproduce it. Our associate producer, Peter Schweitzer,
though a young man, already had a wonderfully developed sense of
visual storytelling.

It was 1978, a time when mental patients were being released to
live on the outside in the naive hope that facilities would be built to
house and care for them. The common wisdom was that large institu-
tions were ill equipped to care for the mentally ill. At the time, the
image of most mental hospitals was somewhere between movies like
The Snake Pit and One Flew Over the Cuckoo’s Nest. None had a worse
reputation than Creedmoor Psychiatric Center in Queens, New York.
Creedmoor had lost its accreditation two years previous and had just
regained it. And so we chose Creedmoor as the place we would film
to see if people might be better cared for on the outside. The first thing
we did was spend a lot of time with the new director of the hospital,
Dr. Bill Werner. Dr.Werner was responsible for regaining Creedmoor’s
accreditation, and we knew that there would be no access without his
cooperation. Our first question to him was, “How did you get this
hospital reaccredited so quickly?” He said, “ I have only two rules for
my staff: Don't hit the patients and don’t fuck the patients. Other than
that, be as creative as you like.” I remember his eyes boring in on us
to see our reaction. We were sizing him up and he was clearly doing
likewise. After several visits during which we forthrightly explained
our intentions, Dr. Werner told us we could have the master key to the
acute ward, that we could come in unannounced anytime and were
free to talk to anyone about anything. Naturally we were shocked and
asked why he would take the chance in doing that. He said that he
believed that patients would be better cared for in outpatient clinics
and that if he were going to be the commandant of Andersonville (a
notorious prison camp of the Civil War), he wanted the taxpayers to
see just what it was they were paying for. It was clear to us that he had
come to trust us. He believed that, if we spent time investigating the
problems of large institutions, we would come to the same conclu-
sions that he had. And by the way, to you nonjournalists out there, the
best way to co-opt reporters is to give them full access. Bill Werner



AT THE e
seemed to understand that. We spent the next four months at Creed-
moor just watching what went on, getting to know the patients and
staff, and finally getting permissions from everyone to film in the
ward. Every so often, Tom would bring in his camera and just point it
around so that people would get used to it. As we spent more and
more time there, we began to realize how fuzzy this issue of deinsti-
tutionalization was. The ward seemed to serve an important function
for some of the more acute patients. When it all became gray, when
we were sure we had no answers to the problem, we began to film.
Our method was simple. Bill Moyers was our correspondent. He had
come to Creedmoor from time to time during our research period but
pretty much left us to do our work. While everyone knows Moyers as
a thorough journalist and a great intellect, few may know that he’s
also a great street reporter. He can think on his feet better than anyone
I've ever been privileged to work with. So we brought him to the door
of the ward and told him to knock on it and just use his natural
curiosity and his instincts. I said, “Don’t turn around and say ‘roll
camera.” We'll be there.” Things went well that first day, and the next,
and the next. But I sensed that, despite all the months of our living on
the ward, despite all the conversations we had with the staff, some of
them were still wary of us. Then one day one of the patients, an
elderly woman, had a psychotic episode. She became violent and had
to be subdued. Two of the mental health therapy aides brought her to
the ground quickly and softly, restrained her, and calmed her down.
Tom was right there in the hallway. He had his camera loaded and
ready, but he turned away from the incident and never turned the
camera on. I could hardly believe it. Why? What Tom instinctively
understood was that the two aides were the kindest, most devoted
people on the ward; that this kind of incident wasn’t typical and had
not happened in all the time we had been there; that while the woman
was let down gently, on film the action would appear violent, and that
showing this incident would distort the basic sense of what the ward
was like. Now, I realize that there’s a whole body of thought that says
to show everything and let the chips fall where they may. But a docu-
mentarian working for a network news division, with just one pre-
cious hour of airtime, has a responsibility to leave a viewer with a
sense of what's typical and a duty not to sensationalize a story. In
print you can give nuance with words. A camera shot isn’t always
what it seems and can leave a false impression. A film producer can
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hardly write a line asking the audience to not believe their eyes. At
any rate, Tom’s actions weren’t lost on the Creedmoor staff. One of the
aides involved, a woman named Mabel Taylor, told us she had been a
little leery of us. Not any more. It was clear sailing from then on.

After almost a year of research, shooting, and editing, we came to
the conclusion that the problems inherent in leaving people in or
dumping them out of mental hospitals were caused more by the
system than the people in it. The documentary called Anyplace But
Here won four Emmys, the Christopher Award (the Christophers are a
Catholic organization that honors programs that “light candles rather
than curse the darkness”), the Monte Carlo Film Festival’'s Interna-
tional Critics’ Prize for News Programs, and the American Mental
Health Association Award. But that’s not what I brag about. The real
awards came from the people we filmed. Virtually all the patients,
their loved ones, the psychiatrists, therapy aides, and social workers,
none of whom can ever agree on anything, called to say we got it right.
Unfortunately, Dr. Werner died of a heart attack just before the broad-
cast aired, but I want to believe that he, too, would have thought so.
Best of all, we were told by people in the field of mental health that
Anyplace would be shown as a training film for prospective mental
health workers to give them a realistic view of what they would be
facing if they entered the field. That’s what I brag about.

But, lest you think things were better in those “golden years” of
broadcast news, the vice president in charge of documentaries called
Tom Spain a few months later to complain that we had shot six thou-
sand feet more film than the budget allowed for and demanded to
know why. This, to a man whose previous two broadcasts alone had
won every journalism and television award known to humankind.
Tom calmly told him that he needed the extra two and a half hours of
film to properly complete the job. He hung up the phone, turned to me,
and said, “This is the last film I ever do for these guys.” And it was.

Tom Spain is more of a documentary purist than Irv Drasnin. He
tends to choose stories and issues that can be presented with little nar-
ration, using the principals in the story to carry the audience along.
Drasnin is more of a gonzo journalist and a terrific writer. He came to
documentaries from the hard news side of television and tends to
tackle large issues that require enormous amounts of research and
understanding before the fieldwork begins. I first worked with him in
1974 on a film called The Guns of Autumn, a ninety-minute documen-
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tary about hunting in America. I was the editor, and a woman named
Meg Clarke was the researcher, a title that belied her huge contribu-
tion to the broadcast. Vowing not to film any “slob” hunters (hunters
who didn’t follow the basic rules of safety and sportsmanship) Irv,
Meg, and the associate producer, David Lowe Jr.,, went out into
America and filmed for three months. They filmed a buffalo hunt in
Arizona (the culling of a herd by permit), deer hunting in the Col-
orado mountains (the idyll of the lone hunter), duck and goose
hunting in Pennsylvania (again by permit and with limits), two bear
hunts in Michigan —one with dogs and one at a garbage dump (most
bears are hunted with dogs or with bait) —and the hunting of exotic
animals raised for that purpose at a ranch in Texas. Through the entire
editing process, Irv and Meg made sure I didn’t distort in any way the
sense of what happened in the field. Now, the stories I could tell about
this broadcast would fill a book (I'll let Irv write it). I'l] tell only one.
This is how I learned that a journalist can never be too prepared and
why one should never exaggerate, even a little.

The Guns of Autumn was completed, and all involved were sitting
in the CBS Reports screening room. We had just shown the film to our
boss, Bill Leonard, who, at the time, was CBS News vice president of
public affairs programming. The lights came up, and Bill was effusive
in his praise. Irv was properly humble, and I said, “Boy, the hunters
are going to love this film.” Bill said, “Are you kidding?” I replied,
“No, This is what they do. This is their sport the way it really is.” He
said, “You're either the most naive son-of-a-bitch who's ever lived or
the dumbest.” He was surely right on both counts. Before the film
aired, we got five thousand letters telling us what a bad job we had
done. After the film, aired we got ninety thousand letters saying the
same thing. Many of the letters had the same exact wording, which
led us to believe that a lot of the mail was orchestrated by the National
Rifle Association (NRA). I couldn’t imagine what was making the
hunters so upset. The only thing we showed that hadn’t been on
American Sportsman was the animals getting hit by bullets and falling
dead. Then came a deluge of over $350 million worth of lawsuits
against CBS News. Most of them, we believe, were encouraged or
paid for by the NRA. As CBS prepared for the legal onslaught, they
asked Meg and Irv to reproduce their research in a coherent form.
And, out of that came a 132-page paper on the kinds of hunting that
typically went on in this country. It was here that I learned the lesson
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of preparedness, because after all the litigation was complete, CBS’s
liability came to one dollar. In just one case the CBS lawyers opted not
to put on a defense because, prima facie, there was no evidence of dis-
tortion. The judge, presiding in the plaintiff’s venue, said that strategy
was arrogant and instructed the jury to find against CBS. The jury’s
reply was to award the plaintiff a dollar, the traditional way juries
have of saying that a case has no merit and should never have been
brought. Through all of the turmoil that followed the broadcast, that
132-page research document held up. Every sequence in the broadcast
was representative of hunting in America, and no one could show
otherwise. After that, and for the rest of my working life, I have imag-
ined Drasnin sitting on my left shoulder as I wrote a script line asking,
“ Are you sure you can back that up?”

Another lesson Drasnin taught me was to do my own digging and
to believe my own eyes. It sounds ridiculously simple, but I'm always
surprised by how many reporters don’t do it. By 1976 I had already
produced a television magazine segment and held the title of asso-
ciate producer/editor. Irv asked if I would work with him as his asso-
ciate producer on a film about the civil war in Zimbabwe, which was
then called Rhodesia. Would I? Jesus! Exotic Africa! A civil war! Look
out Hemingway, Murad has left the building. So, after reading every-
thing that was available and spending ten days in London talking to
people who knew the situation there, Drasnin, Meg Clarke, and I
headed for Rhodesia. Now, there are a dozen great stories about the
making of this documentary. Again, I'll let Irv write the book. But
after we finished unpacking our stuff at the Monomatapa Hotel in
Salisbury, our cameraman, David Green, suggested we go over to the
bar at Meikle’s Hotel. All the journalists hung out there, and he
thought we could kind of get the lay of the land. Drasnin declined and
forbade us to go over there, ever. I was crushed. Why? I mean, what
good was it being on a foreign assignment if you couldn’t kick back
at the end of the day with others in the biz, have a beer, and tell war
stories? The gist of his argument was that when you hang around
with other journalists, be it in Washington, D.C., or Shanghai, China,
you all recirculate the same information. After a while that body of
information becomes the common wisdom, which clouds your ability
to process what you are seeing for yourself. Worse, when everyone is
writing the same thing, a laziness sets in, and there’s a tendency to
accept what has been written as fact. Drasnin’s idea was to put aside
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all we had read and everything we were told and try to find out for
ourselves what was going on. I've noticed since that time that, when-
ever there’s a large group of reporters covering a situation, all the sto-
ries that are filed read alike. This is especially evident in political cam-
paign coverage. Everyone seems to have the same take on a story.
Often, the result is bad information being given out. An example:
When Al Gore rowed down a river in a kayak for an “environmental”
photo opportunity, the Republican National Committee sent out a
press release saying that a wasteful amount of water had been
released from an upriver dam on orders from the Gore campaign, so
that he might row his kayak. This calumny was repeated in all the
newspapers the next day. As it turns out, water is released from that
dam every day. And on the day the photos were taken, less water was
released than usual. How did it happen that the story was misre-
ported? I don’t know, but I imagine that the reporters on the bus had
a huge chuckle and decided it was too delicious to ignore. And if one
reporter was going to go with it, they all had better go with it. There
would be time for a correction at some later date.

This leads me to one of the biggest gripes I have about journalism
today. I call it “The curse of the clips.” I have no doubt that, twenty
years from now, some fellow will be writing an article about the pres-
idential campaign of 2000 and recount this event as one of the Gore
campaign’s blunders. He will have gone to old newspaper clippings
(now in an archival base on the Internet), found the story, not seen the
follow-up correction, and this libel will be given new and perhaps
permanent life.

It’s not easy fighting off the urge to piggyback on another reporter’s
work. In 1977, Tom Spain, Peter Schweitzer, and I were assigned to do
a documentary about illegal Mexican immigration to the United
States. We were in our offices in New York when we read a front-page
story in the New York Times, the gist of which was that thousands of
Mexicans were massed at the California border preparing to make a
dash for the United States. The detention centers were supposedly
full, and the Border Patrol was being overwhelmed. So we packed our
bags and hightailed it for the Chula Vista Border Patrol Station on the
California-Mexico border. There we found six rather bored Mexicans
whose only concern was that they were running out of cigarettes and
who wanted to be tossed back to the Mexican side as quickly as pos-
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sible. The Border Patrol guys said that it had been fairly quiet in
recent weeks, a fact we could substantiate easily by riding with them.
So how did this story get written? We called the Times, and they
explained that it was done from information that was in the Los
Angeles Times and would be corrected. But in the meantime, did some
other reporter or columnist go to the clips and repeat this informa-
tion? Were assignments made by other news organizations based on
this story? I don’t know. But, believe me, it happens. The New York
Times has earned the right to be called “the paper of record.” They
have the best reporters and editors in the world working there. The
problem lies not in their making mistakes. We all do. The problem is
that many journalists take what they read in the New York Times as
gospel —almost as if it were a primary source.

Here’s an example. In 1980 I was assigned to produce an hour that
was to be part of a five-hour documentary series titled The Defense of
the United States. My assignment was to document the readiness and
costs of our conventional (nonnuclear) forces. Part of the hour was
devoted to what was then known as the Rapid Deployment Force
(RDF). It was a combined force of army, marines, and airborne troops
operating under the Southern Command. There was controversy over
whether the force should exist at all, given that their mission was
exactly that of the Marine Corps alone. The New York Times had
reported that the budget of the RDF was $5 billion a year, which
seemed small given the large number of troops who were assigned to
the force. Luckily my associate producer, Margaret Drain, became sus-
picious. Margaret (who is now the executive producer of The American
Experience on PBS) was almost maniacal in her search for facts. She
often said that we were lucky to find and deliver five new facts in any
documentary hour, and she was right. Anyway, she found a source in
the Pentagon who told her, off the record, that the actual cost was
closer to $23 billion. After further inquiry she felt safe in saying the
cost was at least $19 billion. I cannot, even now, tell you who that
source was. He was promised confidentiality. Suffice it to say, he was
a person who had some direct supervision of the RDF’s budget. When
the broadcast was completed, we screened for Roger Coloff, our boss
at the time, and gave him a script. We got a call from him a day later
saying that we had made an error in the cost of the Rapid Deployment
Force, that the figure was $5 billion. He had read it in the Times. After
we explained to him how we arrived at the figure and who our source
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was, Roger said, “Go with it.” And we did. Now, I relate this story not
to crow about how we got something right that the Times got wrong.
I relate it because a few months later, we read in a weekly newsmaga-
zine that the RDF cost the taxpayers $5 billion a year. Obviously that
reporter had been bitten by the “curse of the clips.” What’s more, I
have never seen the $19 billion figure in any subsequent story about
the RDF. Everyone, it seems, uses the New York Times as their favorite
clip source. So, if the RDF idea is ever reborn and some reporter writes
about the RDF experiment in the 1980s, which figure do you think
he’ll use when citing the cost?

It's just so important for a reporter to disassociate himself or her-
self from the whole media whirl. At the time we were doing the
Defense hours, stories were circulating through the media about the
lack of readiness of our armed forces with special significance
attached to the low quality of recruits entering the service. The draft
had ended, and there was no longer a war to fight. Morale was said
to be at an all time low. We spent a lot of time with the army, the
marines, and the navy (the air force has an inordinate percentage of
officers), and what we found was a very high caliber of recruit being
led by a disgruntled officer corps. (No war, no promotions.) Also, we
had read in many journals that the Eighty-second Airborne, an elite
corps, was in a state of unreadiness. Yet, when we went on NATO
maneuvers in Europe called Operation Reforger, the Eighty-second
Airborne troops acquitted themselves beautifully. They competed
with crack German and British troops and kicked ass. So, why was
this misinformation so prevalent? My guess is because the military
establishment was looking to get more funding for pay and recruit-
ing, and it was in their interest to promote such notions. Too often a
reporter will take some expert’s word for what’s happening and that
“expert” may have an agenda. In this case, I believe that a lot of
reporters couldn’t resist military men criticizing their own.

This phenomenon is most apparent when dealing with the issue
of education in America. We have all heard lately about how poorly
our public education system is working. Five years ago I began pro-
ducing a series of broadcasts featuring the students who would grad-
uate in the year 2000. For research purposes I visited inner city, sub-
urban, and rural schools all over the country. I spent a term filming
the freshman class in Joppatowne, Maryland. I spent another term
filming sophomores in Franklin, Tennessee. I produced another hour
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involving students from many different places. If I learned one thing
in all that time, it was that our public schools are working. Make that,
working well. After a few months at Joppatowne High, I asked the
principal of the school, Tom Ackerman, what all this stuff was about
the deterioration of the public school system. From what I could see,
most teachers were creative and hardworking, and most students
were well-mannered and serious. He told me that it’s in everyone’s
interest to badmouth the public schools. Teachers want higher pay,
principals want budget increases, school boards want bond issues to
pass, religious organizations want a voucher system to support their
church schools, inner-city parents want charter schools, and the party
out of power needs an issue with which to whip the party in power.
It’s no wonder you can’t get an “expert” to tell you that the public
schools are doing well. Tom Ackerman then asked me if I would be
willing to believe my own eyes. That’s funny, I thought. He asked me
to look at America—look at how well we are doing compared to the
rest of the world. If our system was so bad, why is it that each year
our physicists, chemists, economists, writers, and medical researchers
keep winning Nobel Prizes? We have the highest standard of living in
the world for a reason, he asserted. I asked what about the fact that
our students do poorly on tests compared to, among others, Chinese
students. His answer was that while the Chinese may do better in
tests at age eighteen, no one ever tests them again at twenty-three. By
that age, those students have been burnt out preparing for tests, while
American kids are first coming into their period of creativity. And
after all, what’s an education for? Certainly, beyond learning for
learning’s sake, it’s to attain a higher quality of life. Indeed, when we
asked some students in China what they thought about that, they
readily admitted that the Chinese system allowed precious little room
for creativity. Another complaint people have is that when American
school kids are tested, they fall into the average range compared with
other countries. Of course they do. An accurate statistical sample will
take kids from superb districts to awful ones. Also, ours is a country
that takes in tens of thousands of legal immigrants each year, and
Lord knows how many illegal ones. Ten percent of the people living
in the United States were born elsewhere. It might be informative to
list some other countries that fall into the average range. How about
England, Germany, Canada, Norway, Switzerland, Israel, Hong Kong,
and Russia? And while on the subject of Russia, forty years ago



Admiral Hyman Rickover predicted that Russia would bury us
because its schools taught rigorous science courses whereas ours were
too lenient. Back then, Rickover probably needed recruits with a
physics background to build his atomic submarine fleet. If I learned
anything in the two years I spent with the class of 2000, it's that
America’s future is in good hands, largely due to an excellent public
school system.

Ah well, this treatise is about journalism, not public education, so
let me get on with it. Here’s an example of a misreported story that
has been bugging the hell out of me. It shows what can happen when
a piece of dramatic information is released and the story begins to
snowball.

In October 1995, just before the fifth anniversary of the Gulf War, I
was assigned to do an hour documentary that looked at that war and
its consequences. To refresh your memory, the war was ended rather
abruptly by President Bush, though his generals in the field were
telling him that in one more day they could march unopposed into
Baghdad. We now know that Saddam Hussein’s family had already
fled the country, and he had an escape plane fueled and ready for him-
self if the coalition forces kept advancing. Wafiq Samerai, Iraq’s intel-
ligence chief, was with Saddam when President Bush called off the
war. He told us in an interview that Saddam “changed from a man
who was sensing danger, sensing death was coming at any minute, to
a man who had escaped drowning and got away unscathed.” The
upshot of the decision to stop the invasion at one hundred hours (a
purely political move suggested by Colin Powell) was that nineteen
million Iraqis were given an indeterminate sentence to live under a
brutal dictator. So far, it has been ten years and counting.

I had tried many times to get into Iraq. My mother and father
(both Sephardic Jews) were born and raised in Baghdad, and I wanted
very much to see my ancestral home. Each time I was rebuffed. The
word “journalist” on my passport seemed to assure that I would
never get in. As luck would have it though, just as I was assigned this
project, Saddam invited journalists from all over the world to come to
Iraq to witness the presidential election he was about to hold. We
applied and were given visas. By that time Iraq had been living under
United Nations sanctions for five years, and the media was full of sto-
ries about Iraqi suffering. The most horrifying of these was that a half
million Iraqi children had died from starvation caused by a lack of



9  |NTO

food due to the sanctions. I have, at times, recused myself from cer-
tain stories because I felt too emotionally involved to be objective.
This might have been one of them. The bastards, I thought, are killing
my people. I just wanted very badly to see where my parents had
come from, so I took the assignment.

At that time, no air traffic was allowed into Baghdad. The only way to
get there was over land from Amman, Jordan, in a tedious twenty-
five-hour journey across the Iraqi desert. We were pretty groggy as we
motored into Baghdad, but almost instantly I began to feel something
was odd. I turned to my colleague, Deirdre Naphin, and said, “This
doesn’t look like a place that’s under sanctions.” There was normal
street activity, trucks carrying consumer goods, a huge amount of
construction, an inordinate amount of traffic, food stalls that were
bulging with fruit and vegetables, and people who were as well-
dressed as in any place I had been in the Middle East. What to make
of it? We got to the al Rasheed hotel, unpacked, and headed straight
for the Ministry of Information. Anyone who has ever covered the
Middle East knows how hard it is, once in country, to get going on a
story. We were lucky that our cameraman had been to Iraq before, and
he guided me to the person in the ministry who tended to be the most
cooperative. I will not use names here because, even now, anyone
who helped us, though innocently, could be in danger. I was asked
what I wanted. I said, “I want to see the starvation —any place it exists
—in hospitals, the countryside, in city neighborhoods, up north,
down south, in Karbala, Nejef, Mosul, Basra, or Baghdad. I need to
bring this story to our viewers back home.” He nodded. “Of course,
of course. You shall have it, insha’allah.” We waited for days.
Nothing. But we had many other things to film around the city, and
so we kept busy. I kept noticing food stands full of food, even in poor
neighborhoods, and, Lord knows, we were eating well in restaurants
and at the hotel. We also found that there was a food program being
run by the government that allotted each family a ration of rice,
cooking oil, tea, sugar, and, for those with young children, powdered
milk. At one point, we got an interview with a gentleman who headed
the World Food Program. He told us that there was no starvation in
Iraq as yet; in fact, they didn’t even have a feeding program going on
at that time. I asked, “What about the half million dead Iraqi chil-
dren?” He said that was the number of children that were at risk of



SHOUTING AT THE CROCODILE 9%

starvation, but he had not seen any famine as yet. “What about in the
countryside?” I asked. He said, because the people there were closer
to the food supply, there was less risk for them. He also told us that
Saddam had begun an irrigation program to grow food in the desert
and that, as far as fruit and vegetables were concerned, the Iraqis were
self-sufficient. We then interviewed a person from CARE (a private
international relief and development organization), a woman most
sympathetic to the Iraqis, who also told us that there were no current
feeding programs but warned that children were at risk if the gov-
ernment ration supplement ever stopped.

Finally, we were given permission to visit Saddam Hussein Chil-
dren’s Hospital in Baghdad where, we were told, we would see the
problems caused by the lack of food. There was a “minder” with us
from the Ministry of Information, a man who kept tabs on what we
did. Journalists go nowhere in Iraq without a “minder.” Once at the
hospital, the first thing I noticed was a lot of men standing around
doing nothing. Odd, since the second thing I noticed was the dirt and
cigarette butts all over the floors. We were brought up to a wing that
was supposed to be where they dealt with malnutrition. There were
three children on the ward, two premature babies and one boy about
four years old. Each was attended by a woman from the child’s
family. The first woman, dressed in Western clothes, was leaning over
an incubator looking at her child inside. She looked healthy, was obvi-
ously upper class, and luckily spoke English. I asked if the baby’s
early birth was due to malnutrition. She was reluctant to speak with
me but said, “No, I had enough to eat.” She didn’t know why her
baby was born prematurely. Next to the second incubator, a woman in
traditional Muslim dress silently stared out into the ward. She spoke
no English, and I didn’t speak Arabic well enough to ask her about the
baby. The doctors had already told us all three cases were due to mal-
nutrition. The third child, a four-year-old boy was, we were told, suf-
fering from kwashiorkor, a condition brought about by severe protein
deficiency. The boy had no orange discoloration of the hair associated
with the condition, nor was his stomach distended. He did have
scabrous brown marks the size of quarters over most of his body, and
I knew that rashes were common in people suffering from kwash-
iorkor. Usually, powdered milk will help the condition, but perhaps
the family hadn’t gotten the ration. The woman who was tending him
spoke no English, so I accepted the doctor’s diagnosis at face value. I



9  nTO THE BUZZSAW!

thought it was strange though that, in a city as large as Baghdad, there
were only three cases of so-called malnutrition. On any given day
there would be more cases than that in any New York City hospital.
So, I asked Deirdre to interview the doctor on camera knowing that
our “minder” would concentrate on that. When the interview started,
I backed out the door and began searching each floor of the hospital,
looking for more cases of starvation or malnutrition. There were none,
just what seemed to be ordinary pediatric patients.

So, we went to the countryside, ostensibly to cover the voting in the
presidential election. We headed first to Nejef, then to Karbala. All the
while I was looking for evidence of starvation. Because I had the heart-
breaking experience of covering the famine in Ethiopia in 1987, I had a
pretty good idea of what famine looked like. There was nothing. Not
even in Karbala where the people had fought bitterly against the gov-
emment and where Saddam responded by bombing the entire city,
including the mosques. It was still in ruins with rubble everywhere. But
no starvation. It’s time, I thought, to start believing my own eyes.

What we finally figured out was that there was no food crisis in
Iraq; there was a currency crisis caused by inflation. The problem
wasn'’t finding food; the problem was paying for it. During the Iran-
Iraq war, Saddam began to flood the market with Iraqi dinars to be
used to purchase armaments. So much money was needed they began
printing it with color photocopy machines. By the time we got there,
one hundred dinars was worth about seventeen cents. The depriva-
tion, such as it was, in Iraq in late 1995 was as much due to the Iran-
Iraq war as it was to the UN sanctions. Though food was plentiful,
Iraqis were forced to pawn their worldly possessions or barter with
others in flea markets for food money.

It turns out that what was happening in Saddam'’s Iraq resembled
in many ways what happened in Mengistu’s Ethiopia. This was
nothing more than political deprivation. Control the food supply, and
you control the people. Like Mengistu, Saddam could easily have
ordered that food be distributed to his people at any time. But fear of
starvation is a powerful political weapon. It was not lost on anyone
that, during the Iraqi presidential election, government food ration
cards were used for voter identification. As far as UN sanctions were
concerned, anyone standing at the Jordanian or Turkish border could
easily see them being broken. King Hussein of Jordan was diligent in
not allowing anything to pass that could be used for weapons, but
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winked at everything else. I saw large earthmoving equipment piggy-
backed on flatbed trucks headed from Jordan to Iraq. At the Turkish
border, there was no inspection of vehicles at all. All day long one
could see trucks with huge containers hanging beneath them. They
were empty coming in and full of Saddam'’s oil coming out. It was clear
that Saddam had plenty of money for medicines or anything else he
might have needed to alleviate the suffering of his people as evidenced
by the presidential palaces that were then under construction. Iraqi
officials denied that this was proof of sanction busting, saying that the
palaces were paid for in local currency. Imported steel reinforcement
rods paid for in worthless currency? Hardly. And if you could smuggle
in steel rods, how hard would it be to smuggle in antibiotics? While we
were there, Saddam was building his fifty-second palace. Former Iraqi
officials, now in exile, have testified to over $30 billion in personal
wealth held by Saddam in foreign bank accounts. The reality is, this
image of a starving people suited him. The doctors, in a kind of dog
and pony show, would display gutted ambulances that were waiting
for spare parts while right down the avenue there were car dealers
showing Mercedes Benz, BMW, Lexus, and other luxury cars. At the
car mart, a kind of used-car bazaar, there were hundreds of vehicles
that could have been cannibalized to keep the ambulances running.
The doctors told us there were no antibiotics available to treat infec-
tions but, by that time, Saddam had twice refused our offer to let him
sell $2 billion worth of oil for, among other things, medicine. Saddam’s
whole strategy was geared to getting all the sanctions lifted. To do that,
he had to elicit the sympathy of the world. Smart man, that Saddam. It
was working then. It still is. After the September 11 attack on the World
Trade Center, the first message Osama bin Laden sent through al
Jazeera cited our killing of children in Iraq.

So, five months after I see all this and report all this, what do I
read in the New York Times? What do I see and hear on television,
including on my own network? A half million Iraqi children have
died because of the UN sanctions. It had been over a year since I first
read that figure, but these reports were still using the 500,000 number.
Amazingly, though the sanctions were still in place, not one child had
died in the last year. At one point my boss, Linda Mason, sent me a
rocket. “What the hell is going on?” she asked, “Did you miss some-
thing?” I have to tell you, even when you know you are right, when
something like this happens, your mouth gets dry. I told her I would
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send her a detailed account of how I reported my story and what I
had to back it up. Instead, what I did was send her a detailed ren-
dering of what was wrong with all the other stories and told her to
burn it after she read it. The last thing I wanted to do was get into a
pissing match with broadcasts in my own news division. Even now I
am loath to do it because most of the people involved are first-rate
journalists who seldom get snookered. And anyway, they know who
they are.

On May 20, 1996, the Iraqis and the UN reached a settlement
allowing more Iraqi oil to be sold for money to purchase food and
medicine. The New York Times began to hedge on its previous reports.
They put the number this way. “Since the earlier deal broke down,
hundreds of thousands of Iraqgis (not Iraqi children) have become mal-
nourished or ill, with many dying from lack of medication, United
Nations agencies estimate.” The parentheses are mine. Then, in the
May 1996 issue of Harper’s, Paul William Roberts wrote about a recent
trip to Baghdad. In the article there is detail after detail about life in
the city. No mention whatever of famine.

Finally, in the New Yorker of May 17, 1996, T. D. Allman, in a long
article on his visit to Iraq, wrote, “I found no evidence that they were
suffering and dying because of the embargo.” He goes on, “All over
Iraq, I made impromptu visits to hospitals and dispensaries. I talked
with hundreds of Iragis about the embargo. No one mentioned the
rampant malnutrition and disease that was so widely reported.”
More, “...fresh fruits and vegetables were available everywhere.
Every night there were traffic jams in front of Baghdad’s most popular
restaurants, as the jeunesse dorée flocked to them in their Nissans and
Mercedes. One couldn’t help noticing that there was no shortage of
imported cigarettes. Aspen, a Canadian filter tip, and Johnny Walker
Black [sic] seemed the most popular brands.” He ends, “Under the
new arrangements, access to food and medicine will remain a polit-
ical, not a humanitarian matter. Saddam and his enforcers will decide
who eats and who gets antibiotics.”

Whooof! It was like the foreman of the jury had pronounced me
“not guilty” or rather, “not crazy.” But, let’s try an experiment. It is
probable that Iraq will remain under sanctions for a while yet. Secre-
tary of State Colin Powell has stated that he will try to enforce them
even more stringently. How many more times do you think you'll see
the “500,000 dead Iraqi children” figure cited? Keep your eyes open.
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Next case. Of all the things going on in journalism today, none is
more insidious than conglomerate ownership of journalistic enter-
prises. When Westinghouse bought CBS, I worried that there would
be many stories that we at CBS News would be proscribed from cov-
ering. I have no evidence that this ever happened but, then again, no
one ever asked to do a story about the atomic waste cleanup in
Aniston, Alabama, that Westinghouse was involved in. When West-
inghouse split off, then sold off their industrial assets, I was relieved.
Then came the sale to Viacom, an entertainment-based company.
Better, but still a problem. The cross-promotion of entertainment on
news broadcasts, which was once forbidden, is now so common that
we hardly notice it. You can’t turn on a news broadcast, local or
national, without seeing some mention of Survivor or Who Wants to Be
a Millionaire or the latest big television sports event or a story based
on an original movie running that evening (meet the real twins that
were separated at birth). Ask yourself, will Viacom ask Hillary
Clinton for favors because of their $8-million book deal? Did Disney
squash an ABC News report about pedophilia in its theme parks?
When I watch MSNBC, should I wonder if its brutal “bash Clinton all
the time” programming had anything to do with Microsoft’s fight
with Clinton’s Justice Department? Would Rupert Murdoch use the
Fox News Channel to achieve his own personal goals? Certainly his
newspaper, the New York Post, never slants the news toward Mur-
doch’s business interests. Hmummmm.

On one level, we needn’t worry. The concept of the liberal media
or the conservative media is so much bushwa. The media is market
driven, period. Whatever sells suppositories gets on the air or in the
newspaper. It's true that most of the people who run media busi-
nesses are conservatives, but that conservatism seldom trickles into
the reporting. (Except at Fox News Channel where their mission is to
capture the conservative audience.) I can think of only once in thirty-
eight years that I was asked to change a sequence because of its polit-
ical implications. In a documentary about Watergate, I was asked to
remove George Bush Sr. from a scene in which he introduced Richard
Nixon to a large gathering. Though Bush was head of the Republican
National Committee during Watergate, the president of CBS News at
the time, Eric Ober, said that using it was a cheap shot. It was certainly
true in the early years of television news that most of the producers
and reporters were liberals. Not any longer. Most people in editorial
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control nowadays are market-oriented centrists. For the most part,
stories are chosen for their general interest and mass appeal. Station
managers and news directors routinely define success or failure in rat-
ings, demographics, and winning day parts, not in the importance of
a story. That’s not lost on young reporters who understand exactly
what’s expected of them. In producing stories, the biggest no-no is to
offend a substantial chunk of the audience by reporting things in a
way that goes against their attitudes. If you need proof of this, hark
back to the coverage of the World Trade Center attack. Most on-air
reporters behaved as either government cheerleaders or psychothera-
pists to the masses. One month after the attack, President Bush held
his first formal press conference. In it, he gave virtually no informa-
tion that wasn’t already public. Regardless of the question asked, he
kept repeating the same mantra about American resolve. Yet after-
ward, local and network anchors described him as “forthcoming” and
“in command.” Everyone had read the same poll numbers. On that
day, President Bush had a 90 percent approval rating. No one was in
the mood to hear him criticized, least of all, news directors.

But don’t be faint of heart. There are still ways to remain reason-
ably informed. The first thing to do is distinguish between informa-
tion programming and the political mud wrestling that passes for
public affairs. Capital Gang, Hardball, Crossfire, and the rest of the
talking head spitting matches, whether network, syndicated, or on
cable, are worthless. It is false conflict masquerading as serious dis-
cussion. The people who appear on these broadcasts are either trying
to drive up their speaker’s bureau fees or pushing their point of view
with no respect for the truth. They are aware, as you should be, that
the manipulation of perceptions is replacing reality as the governing
principle in human affairs. So, as Chris Matthews starts shouting over
his first guest, who is shouting over his second guest, turn to PBS
where the NewsHour is parsing the day’s events in a calm thorough
manner. Don’t worry, you'll get used to the pace.

Here’s another tip. Don’t get your information from entertain-
ment programs. According to one study, a lot of people do. Jay Leno,
David Letterman, and Saturday Night Live all do skits based on per-
ceptions of people and events, not on truth. There are other admix-
tures of entertainment and current events that are perhaps more diffi-
cult to sort out. Rush Limbaugh and Imus in the Morning come to
mind. Limbaugh’s approach is pretty straightforward. Something



like, Love me or hate me, I'm a conservative Republican. If you think
I'm slanting the truth, I don’t care, as long as you listen to my show.
Imus, on the other hand, seems to be an equal opportunity destroyer.
He will go after almost anyone, though Bill Clinton has been his target
of choice for the past five or six years. I've heard him refer to the
former president as “a fat pantload,” a “slime ball,” and “a dis-
graceful human being” literally dozens of times. He constantly did
skits referring to sex acts committed by Clinton, both real and imag-
ined. And then who appears on his show, in effect legitimizing this
obscenity? Tom Brokaw, Jeff Greenfield, Dan Rather, Mike Wallace,
Tim Russert, Barbara Walters, and virtually every journalist you've
ever heard of except maybe Peter Jennings, all of whom treat Imus’s
loaded questions with great seriousness. Then, of course, they plug a
book or an upcoming broadcast. A few weeks after George W. Bush
took office, I heard Imus and Andrea Mitchell crapping all over Bill
Clinton, and I wondered, just what kind of White House coverage I
had been getting from Andrea Mitchell all these years? Speaking of
Andrea Mitchell, the only real information I've been able to glean
from the Imus show is how much the Washington “elite” hate Bill
Clinton. I mean, Sally Quinn (who is so last century), commenting on
Clinton’s marital infidelity? Give Imus credit, though. When his show
became “Trash Clinton all the time,” his ratings went down, yet even
after Clinton left office, he continued the barrage. How idiotic does it
get? try to imagine a skit berating Terry McAuliffe (the chairman of
the Democratic National Committee) and you get some idea of the
desperation that set in. Even Imus had to watch his tongue when it
came to Bush-the-younger. A year after George W. had been sworn in,
Jay Leno was still telling three Clinton jokes a night. He ended one
routine by saying that Clinton is like an ex-wife who just won’t go
away. The truth is, shows like The Tonight Show and Imus and Lim-
baugh and Hardball, to paraphrase Jack Nicholson in A Few Good Men,
wanted Clinton on that wall. They needed Clinton on that wall. That
ought to be warning enough that these shows are pretty worthless for
anything but entertainment.

So how do I stay reasonably informed? I rely on National Public
Radio, the BBC World Service (which is still available on the Internet),
C-SPAN, Britain’s Economist magazine, and columnists whom I've
read over the years — like Tom Friedman and Michael Lind. I also read
the New York Times (I know, I know, so why do I keep griping about
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it?). I used to read Brill’s Content to see how I had been duped by some
media outlet or other, but that magazine has gone belly-up.

One other thing. Since I retired and have time to watch more live
news feeds, I've been surprised at how well the network evening
newscasts sum up the day’s events.

That Dan Rather . . . he’s still my fave.

Okay, so why after that glorious moment in Mike Wallace’s office
did I decide to call it quits? Because I shouldn’t have been surprised
at the decision to turn down the Flynt interview. Wallace and Hewitt
were old-school guys who have been doing things on their own terms
forever. I, on the other hand, though I was in the protective bosom of
this great broadcast, had forgotten my upbringing. I had begun to
equate ratings, demographics, and winning day parts with success. I
had begun choosing stories that way. I had become as institutional-
ized as the people of whom I was critical. Screw it, I thought, by the
time I shake this attitude loose, I'll be in a rocking chair dribbling oat-
meal on my bib. I was gone.
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You don’t choose to have the kind of experience I had while trying
to report on the demise of TWA Flight 800. It happens to you. You
fall into it. At CBS, I'd recently picked up an Emmy for investigative
reporting when I was assigned to investigate the crash. I had no idea
that my life would be turned upside down and inside out—that I'd
been assigned to walk into what I now call “the buzzsaw.”

The buzzsaw is what can rip through you when you try to inves-
tigate or expose anything this country’s large institutions—be they
corporate or government—want kept under wraps. The system fights
back with official lies, disinformation, and stonewalling. Your phone
starts acting funny. Strange people call you at strange hours to give
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you strange information. The FBI calls you. Your car is broken into
and the thief takes your computer and your reporter’s notebook and
leaves everything else behind. You feel like you're being followed
everywhere you go. You feel like you’ve been sucked into a game of
Dungeons and Dragons. It gets harder and harder to distinguish truth
and reality from falsehood and fiction. The sense of fear and paranoia
is, at times, overwhelming.

Walk into the buzzsaw and you’ll cut right to this layer of reality.
You will feel a deep sense of loss and betrayal. A shocking shift in par-
adigm. Anyone who hasn’t experienced it will call you crazy. Those
who don’t know the truth, or are covering it up, will call you a con-
spiracy nut. The word “conspiracy” is commonly used now (either as
an adjective or part of a phrase) to malign those who raise unpopular
questions about sensitive issues. The fact is, conspiracies do exist.
There are laws on the books addressing them and Justice Department
officials deal with them all the time. However, in the case of the TWA
Flight 800 disaster, I don’t know of anyone who disagrees with the
government’s conclusions who describes the official investigation as a
conspiracy. Incompetent. A cover-up. These are the descriptions most
skeptics use to characterize the official investigation. Not “conspiracy.”

WAKE-UP CALL

If TWA 800 hadn’t exploded July 17, 1996, on its way to Paris, this
book wouldn’t have been written. If my executive producer at CBS,
Linda Mason, hadn’t assigned me to look into the story, you wouldn’t
be reading this chapter. Trust me, never in a million years did I ever
imagine that I'd find myself in my current position as some kind of
rebel trying to take on America’s journalism establishment. I was
reared a member of Haiti’s “Morally Repugnant Elite” and educated,
for the most part, in private institutions, including Columbia Univer-
sity’s Graduate School of Journalism. Not a thing in my frankly elitist
background prepared me for this experience.

Looking back, this story was gunning for me from the very beginning.

The night it happened, I'd come home from work around
6:00 .M., totally exhausted. Senior Producer Jamie Stolz and I had
been getting ready for the premiere of “CBS Reports: The Last Revo-
lutionary,” a biography of Fidel Castro that we’d spent a year pro-
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ducing. It was going to air the following night, July 18, at 9:00 P.M. The
show looked great and had already been critically acclaimed in the
press. I couldn’t wait to watch it on TV. At home, things were quiet.
My husband was already on his way to JFK airport with my eleven-
year-old son, who was catching a plane to Paris.

I decided to take a nap. At around 9:45 P.M., the phone rang, jar-
ring me out of a sound sleep. At the other end of the line, my neighbor
was frantic. Was that my son’s plane that just crashed? Her words
were like hot oil on my brain. I told her I didn’t know and hung up. I
started dry heaving. Everything inside me went black.

My son was on Air France, five minutes behind TWA. That night,
I cried for hours, out of relief, out of grief for what could have hap-
pened to him, and for what did happen to all those passengers on
Flight 800.

The next night, my show was preempted by crash coverage.

THE ASSIGNMENT FROM HELL

What I liked about my boss, Linda Mason, was that from the begin-
ning of my tenure at CBS, she was very supportive. Only a few
months after I'd been hired, she okayed on short notice an expensive
and risky idea I had to go down into Mexico, hook up with a smug-
gler, and cross the border with a couple of undocumented farm
workers. She also spent a lot of money and gave me endless leeway to
investigate a brutal crew boss in charge of large groups of undocu-
mented farm workers in several states. But I delivered. The crew boss
was busted and our show, “Legacy of Shame,” won an Emmy. Then
Linda assigned me to deliver Fidel Castro for a film biography, which
I did. For three days, Castro gave Dan Rather an unprecedented per-
sonal tour of significant sites of the Cuban leader’s life.

It was while I was still basking in the golden glow of all kinds of
professional praise for the Fidel show that Linda called me down to
her office to tell me that she wanted me to look into the crash. The
man in charge of the FBI task force assigned to investigate whether
criminal activity had caused the incident was already a familiar face
on TV. Jim Kallstrom was telling the public barely a week after the
crash how confident he was that his task force was going to solve the
mystery of TWA 800’s demise in no time: “We have a very, very active
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investigation. We're still getting very good information, so when the
day comes, and I think it will be soon . . . whether it's going to be three or
four days or a week [italics mine] ... that we decide collectively and
based on science and based on good forensic investigation, we will be
able to move swiftly, aggressively, and professionally” (Newshour
transcript, “Sleuthing with Disaster,” August 22, 1996).

Later on, senior National Transportation Safety Board (NTSB)
investigator Hank Hughes would provide shocking details to a senate
judiciary committee about just how “swiftly, aggressively, and profes-
sionally” Kallstrom and his men moved for sixteen months after Kall-
strom made that statement. Meanwhile, there I sat in my little box at
CBS, gearing up my own investigation, blithely unaware that I was
putting myself on a crash course with Mr. Kallstrom and his crew.

Linda told me that CBS already had reporters out on Long Island
whom I could hook up with and that I should go to Washington to
talk to correspondent Bob Orr. I flew to Washington and met with Orr,
who told me that his high-level government sources in Washington
were telling him the crash was caused by a mechanical failure. I didnt
say much in response. I told him I was hearing other things and left it
at that because it was obvious he trusted his sources.

On a story like this one, I was especially leery of official govern-
ment sources. I was far more interested in talking to the people actu-
ally working at the crash site recovering the debris and investigating
the cause. I wanted firsthand information. I wanted to get to the
people who were directly involved, people who were not allowed to
talk to the press. One of my rules of investigative reporting is: The
more sensitive the investigation, the more you avoid “official” sources
and the harder you try to get to the firsthand people. Sometimes you
have to work with a “cutout,” or someone these sources will talk hon-
estly to, because they recognize the person as one of them.

My “cutout” was CBS’s law enforcement consultant, Paul
Ragonese. A no-bullshit cop from Brooklyn, Paul was on the NYPD’s
bomb squad and counterterrorism team for six years. He had a wealth
of sources dealing directly with the aftermath of the crash—NYPD
divers involved in debris recovery, other specially trained NYPD per-
sonnel, and even agents on Kallstrom'’s task force. Here are excerpts
from the notes I took when he got back to me after talking to them.
For obvious reasons, I'll only identify the sources as being NYPD:
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NYPD: “From day one, there were military guys everywhere on the
scene . .. thinks military is involved. Finding absolutely of bomb or
missile. He says that the military was doing something twelve miles
off the coast of Moriches. The whole thing is screwed up. Just a mess.
People running around, touching stuff.”

(Altered, tainted, or missing evidence was a hallmark of this investi-
gation, but more on that later on.)

NYPD: “NYPD divers showed up on Thursday momning, and were
given radio instructions by the military not to dive until the military
showed up. The NYPD divers waited until Sunday for the military
divers from the Explosive Ordnance Division (EOD) from Fort Mon-
mouth to show up . . . military gave NYPD divers orders where to dive.”

Paul also secretly met with two high-level members of the FBI
task force. The ground rules for the meeting were that they would not
offer any information, but would confirm or deny any information
Paul ran by them. They confirmed that military exercises were going
on in the area that evening and that a drone was part of the exercises.

They also told Paul that they had not yet been given permission
(as of October, almost three months after the crash) to “check out” the
military.

In an October 18, 1996, memo, Paul, in his inimical, cut-the crap
style, drew up a list of unanswered questions that no one else at CBS
was asking, among them,

What was a sub hunter doing in the area?
Why was a missile cruise ship on patrol in the area?

Why did the Pentagon deny military presence in the area that night?

Why was the FBI involved from day one when normal procedure is
to have the NTSB determine cause?

How do you write off the findings of missile experts who stated
what the witnesses saw was consistent with a missile?

How is it that no military personnel that were in the area (P-3 Orion,
USS Normandy) saw anything when civilians saw a lot?

Shouldn’t we question the effectiveness of our defense if two high-
tech military units missed something that was in the sky that night?



Paul ended his memo with this: “In any investigation there is an
evolution of suspects and scenarios. There is mere suspicion, reason-
able suspicion, and finally probable cause. All three scenarios (mal-
function, explosive device, missile) cannot all be equal. After three
months, one scenario must be the frontrunner. As of now, the mal-
function is not logical and I believe never was; the explosive device on
the plane is not being supported by the evidence although I believe
still very possible, leaving only the missile scenario which includes
witnesses which will never go away.” Those last six words were
prophetic, as even now, the witnesses hang around this officially
closed investigation like skeletons that won't stay in the closet.

Besides an endless lineup of the logical sources—eyewitnesses,
scientists, law enforcement, medical personnel, airport personnel,
etc., I was talking to other reporters. Most journalists hate to share,
but on a huge story like this, pooling resources with solid reporters is,
I think, a good idea. In his stories, veteran print reporter David Hen-
drix at The Press-Enterprise in Riverside, California, was asking the
same questions as I, so I called him. He had some very good military
sources who gave him information he was willing to pass along, as
well as a few technical experts he was willing to share. David intro-
duced me to cop-turned-journalist Jim Sanders and brought me one
step closer to my day of reckoning at CBS.

Like me, Jim Sanders was inadvertently sucked into this story. His
wife, Elizabeth, happened to work for TWA training flight attendants
and was hearing all kinds of strange rumors. She and her colleagues
asked Jim to look into them. Jim eventually hooked up with David
Hendrix and a stunning source known to me at the time as
“Hangarman.” The only thing I knew about Hangarman was that he
was an investigator inside the Calverton hangar (where the remains
of Flight 800 were collected) who was so troubled by what he saw
going on in there that he started talking to Sanders and smuggling out
documents for him to peruse.

Hangarman had smuggled out a copy of the downed plane’s
debris field that undercut assertions that the center wing tank was the
site of the “initiating event” that caused the plane to explode. He'd
also sent a copy of the NTSB “Chairman’s Briefing/Status Report,”
dated November 15, 1996, in which Chairman James Hall directs Ron
Schleede, deputy director of the NTSB’s Office of Aviation Safety, to
write a letter for his boss, Bernard Loeb, to sign. The purpose of the
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letter was eyebrow raising: “The letter will reference,” Hall wrote, “the
[FAA] technician [not identified by name] who did the analysis
resulting in conflicting radar tracks that indicated a missile. It will also
inquire why that information was reported to the White House and
sent to the FAA Technical Center before the Safety Board was given
access to the data.” Hall wanted the letter sent to Mr. David F. Thomas
of the FAA’s Office of Accident Investigation. The letter contains a
paragraph outlining an interesting sequence of events:

... during the first few hours after the accident, some FAA personnel
made a preliminary assessment that recorded ATC [air traffic control]
radar data showed primary radar hits that indicated the track of a
high-speed target that approached and merged with TWA 800. One
of your staff called our office about 0930 on July 8 [sic, the actual date
is July 18], 1996 to advise us of the preliminary assessment of the
radar data by FAA personnel, suggesting that a missile may have hit
TWA 800. This preliminary assessment was passed on to other gov-
ernment officials, including White House officials. After the Safety
Board received the ATC radar and reviewed it, it was determined
that the preliminary assessment of FAA staff was incorrect.

With that, Bernard Loeb told the FAA that the NTSB’s analysis
trumped the FAA’s. Then came a bit of strong-arming: “We under-
stand that FAA official [sic] now agree [this part is underlined in pen
or pencil] with the Safety Board’s determination. .. .I would appre-
ciate it if you could verify that all specialists and/or managers
involved in the preliminary radar analyses fully agree that there is no
evidence within the FAA ATC radar data of a track that would suggest
a high-speed target merged with TWA 800.” If smoke wasn’t coming
out of Thomas'’s ears when he read the part where Loeb tells him to get
all the FAA experts to discredit themselves and get in line behind the
NTSB’s experts, surely he was fuming after reading Loeb’s next
request: “I would also appreciate an explanation about how the pre-
liminary incorrect assessment occurred, so that potential public or
media inquiries can be handled in an accurate and consistent manner.”
So not only does Loeb want Thomas to get his experts to back up the
NTSB whether they want to or not, he wants Thomas to explain why
the FAA experts screwed up and get back to him so he can tell the
world just exactly where the FAA went wrong. In his January 9, 1997,
response to Loeb’s letter, Thomas refused to roll over completely. He
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said that he could not confirm that all the FAA personnel involved in
the early radar analysis agreed with the NTSB’s assessment. On a
more conciliatory note, Thomas did say that “The assessment by the
FAA Technical Center indicated that the likelihood of a missile was
remote,” but he qualified this statement by adding, “It must be noted,
however, that FAA air traffic radar is designed to detect and monitor
aircraft, not high-speed missiles, so any conclusions based on this
review must consider the technical limits of the radar.”

Network TV coverage of this exchange of letters conveyed the
impression that the FAA technician had used bad judgment and
flown off the handle too fast when he fired off his memo to the White
House. The Loeb/Thomas letters were the prevailing images used.
The “missile” part of Loeb'’s letter was highlighted and excerpted and
was followed by the excerpted and highlighted “remote possibility”
line in Thomas’s response. The coverage bolstered the NTSB's posi-
tion and discredited the FAA. Mainstream media wrapped up the
whole episode in a nice, neat package, even though any journalist
with half-decent instincts could tell there was more digging to be
done on the radar issue.

SHIPS —WHAT SHIPS? —IN THE NIGHT

Around the time Sanders was receiving Hangarman’s documents, the
Pierre Salinger affair broke. A former White House press secretary
and network correspondent, Salinger announced to the world on
November 8, 1996, that he’d received documents from French intelli-
gence proving that a U.S. Navy missile had accidentally downed the
jetliner. That same day, FBI's Jim Kallstrom called a press conference
to deny Salinger’s allegations. When the conference began, he was
flanked by Rear Admiral Edward K. Kristensen (the NTSB's Jim Hall
was late) and surrounded by a phalanx of other secret service and mil-
itary personnel. Kallstrom rattled off a prepared speech, and then it
was time for questions. A man raised his hand and asked what I
thought was a pertinent—and impertinent—question. He wanted to
know why the navy was involved in the recovery and investigation
while a possible suspect. Kallstrom’s response was immediate:
“Remove him!” he yelled. Two men leapt over to the questioner and



grabbed him by the arms. There was a momentary chill in the air after
the guy had been dragged out of the room. Kallstrom, Kristensen,
Hall, and their entourage acted as if nothing had happened. There
was something very disquieting about the goonish tactics. A dispas-
sionately dismissive response from Kallstrom would have been a
more convincing way to tell us that the navy had nothing to do with
the disaster. In any case, right then and there, the rest of us had been
put on notice to be on our best behavior.

The conference continued. Admiral Kristensen explained that the
navy had only two assets in the area that night: a P-3 Orion subma-
rine-hunting plane 80 miles south of the crash and the missile cruiser
Normandy about 185 miles southwest. He was repeating the Defense
Department’s statement made moments after the explosion. The
admiral was either misinformed or lying. This would become evident
as time went on.

Both the P-3 Orion and the Normandy were capable of electroni-
cally tracking any object that may have hit the plane prior to its
exploding. But by alleged unfortunate coincidence, neither did,
according to the navy. Admiral Kristensen said at the press conference
that at that time, the Normandy was conducting “basic engineering
casualty control exercises,” so the ship’s radar was put on low power
and couldn’t pick up anything past the 150-mile range. Journalist
Dave Hendrix scrutinized the Normandy’s ship log, which, he
reported in The Press-Enterprise, “notes every fluctuation on fog,
speed, equipment change and on-board exercise” [italics mine]. The log,
Hendrix wrote, “records no exercise or radar reduction that night.”
Indeed, on that day from noon to midnight the information recorded
on the log is routine stuff, like “c.0. [commanding officer] on the
bridge,” “c.o. off the bridge,” and “observed sunset energized nav
[navigational] lights.” There is absolutely no mention of a “basic engi-
neering casualty control exercise.” So again, what we have here is
either a lie or a gross oversight on the part of the ship personnel
keeping the log and the ship commander who signed off on it. Either
prospect is disquieting.

Flight 800 crashed off the coast of Rep. Michael Forbes’s (R-N.Y.)
district. His constituents called in droves after the disaster, putting
intense pressure on him to find out what happened. Forbes told his
then-chief of staff, Kelly O’'Meara, to look into it. A few weeks after
the Kallstrom/Hall/Kristensen press conference, O’'Meara met with
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three FBI agents. She asked them if there had been any submarines
in the area when Flight 800 crashed. Their response was to ask her if
she had top security clearance. She didn’t so they refused to discuss
the matter.

Meanwhile, a paper trail of conflicting information flowed into
Kelly O'Meara’s office from official military sources. In a December
1996 letter to Congressman Forbes, the Navy Department wrote that
the P-3 Orion “had flown directly over TWA” [italics mine] just before the
explosion and “dropped sonobuoys during a training portion of the
flight.” In February 1997, the Defense Department’s general counsel’s
office wrote that the P-3 “was flying on a routine training flight approx-
imately 55 miles southeast of the site” [italics mine]. Nearly a year after
the crash, the general counsel’s office reported, “the Navy has con-
firmed that there were no submarines [my italics] in the vicinity of the
TWA Flight 800 crash site at the time of the crash. Only two sub-
marines were operating north of the Virginia Capes Operating Area at
the time. These submarines were operating approximately 107 and 138
[my italics] miles from the crash site.” So, according to official sources,
at 185 nautical miles away the Normandy was in the vicinity, and at 107
and 138 miles away, respectively, the subs weren’t. The same report
upgraded the P-3’s “routine training flight” to being “en route to oper-
ations with the USS Trepang,” the sub that was 107 miles from the crash
site. Later on, it would be discovered that there were more military
assets that were much closer. The point here is to show you how infor-
mation is twisted and turned, how contradictory information is dis-
seminated at different times to create confusion, how lasting misim-
pressions are manufactured, and how ultimately the truth gets buried
under mountains of “information.”

O’Meara’s most spectacular find with respect to military assets in
the immediate area when Flight 800 went down would come around
two years later, after she’d been pressured out of her job and had
started working as an investigative reporter for the Washington Time's
Insight magazine. The NTSB had previously released radar informa-
tion that focused on a 20-nautical-mile circle centered on the crash site.
According to O’Meara’s September 20, 1999, article for Insight, this
information “was the basis of the FBI's conclusion that there was little
air or naval traffic in the selected area at the time of the crash.” But
now, O’'Meara had received additional radar data from the NTSB
which encompassed a larger perimeter. Just outside the 20-mile nau-
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tical circle the NTSB had previously released was a stunning sight: “. . .
between the perimeters of a 22-nautical-mile circle and a 35 nautical
mile circle,” O’'Meara reported, “a concentration of a large number of
radar blips appears to be moving into a well known military warning
area closed to civilian and commercial traffic.” This warning area,
known as W-105, “was activated for military exercises along with sev-
eral other warning areas along the Atlantic coast,” she added. When
activated for military use, these areas are off-limits to nonmilitary ves-
sels like commercial and pleasure craft.

Months before O'Meara’s article was published, the National Trans-
portation Safety Board’s radar analysts had identified the tracks of four
surface vessels that were within a six-mile radius of the jetliner when it
exploded. The closest vessel is now known as the “30-knot track.”

In his “Independent Interim Report Regarding Some Anomalies
within the Official Crash Investigation of TWA Flight 800,” indepen-
dent investigator and physicist Dr. Tom Stalcup explained why. By the
way, Stalcup and his associates were the only independent investiga-
tors that NTSB Chairman Jim Hall ever met with (Stalcup told me
Hall offered him a job during the meeting on August 22, 2000) to
answer questions. In his report, Stalcup wrote,

1. [The 30-knot track was] confirmed a surface vessel by the FBI [Lewis
D. Schiliro, acting director in charge, FBI, in a letter to Rep. James Traf-
icant] and NTSB [Radar Data Group Chairman Charlie Pereira, in
recorded phone conversation with Tom Stalcup (1998)], it was in the
area ... moments before the debris began to fall. It left the scene at 30
knots (35MPH) rather than assisting with search and rescue. [This is
illegal as per maritime law; Federal Code Title 46, Section 2304 “Duty
to Provide Assistance at Sea.”]

2. Its [the 30-knot track] position just before F800’s breakup is con-
sistent with the origin of “flare” type object, which rose from the
ocean surface, according to eyewitnesses.

3. Its speed (30 knots) and direction (away from the accident scene
and land) are inconsistent with the many citizen mariners who
sailed to the area to aid in the search and rescue effort. [The ques-
tion here is, why was this ship leaving the scene at a fast clip when
even citizens in pleasure craft were rushing to the scene?]

4. To date, this vessel has not been identified by the FBI or NTSB as
stated in the following letter from Lewis D. Schiliro, Acting Assis-
tant Director in Charge, FBI.
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Stalcup goes on to quote Schiliro’s response to Rep. James Trafi-
cant’s question in an April 1998 letter about whether or not the FBI
had positively identified all the aircraft and vessels near the flight that
evening. Schiliro’s response came three months later: “No ... in Jan-
uary 1997, the FBI first noted the presence of a surface vessel...
between 25 and 35 knots. ... Despite extensive efforts, the FBI has
been unable to identify this vessel.”

After Schiliro wrote to Traficant, Accuracy In Media’s Reed Irvine
had this phone conversation with FBI task force chief James Kallstrom
about the 30-knot track:

Irvine: Hey, the Bureau [FBI] just sent Traficant a letter saying they
couldn’t identify three vessels that were in the vicinity for privacy
reasons—come on.

Kallstrom: Well, yeah. Well, we all know what those were. In fact, I
even spoke about those publicly.

Irvine: What were they?

Kallstrom: They were navy vessels that were on classified maneuvers.
Irvine: What about the one that went racing out to sea at 30 knots?
Kallstrom: That was a helicopter.

Irvine: On the surface?

Kallstrom: Well, between you and I, the conventional wisdom was,
although it's probably not totally provable [emphasis mine], that it was
a helicopter.

In one brief “doublespeak” exchange, Kallstrom goes from saying
the 30-knot track “was a helicopter,” to “it’s probably not totally prov-
able” that it was a helicopter. Meanwhile, Schiliro, Kallstrom’s suc-
cessor, has already told Congressman Traficant that it is a surface
vessel, but that the FBI hasn’t figured out what kind of vessel it is. It's
troubling that these two top dogs in the FBI can’t get their stories
straight. But it's even more disturbing that they haven’t been able to
identify the “30-knot track.” If they’re telling the truth, it says some-
thing pretty unsettling about our top law enforcement and military
agencies’ capabilities. It says that they are incompetent beyond our
wildest nightmares and that we are extremely vulnerable to attack.
Frankly, I hope they’re lying on this one.
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Even though the “30-knot track” has still not been identified, Kall-
strom has long since assured the American people that no stone has
been left unturned. If you ask me, this sure as hell is an unturned
stone. In fact, it’s been so pointedly ignored that the stone has turned
into a boulder in the minds of those paying attention. It should be
noted here, too, that O'Meara received the additional radar informa-
tion almost two years after the NTSB publicly released the original
radar data as Exhibit 13A of the “Aircraft Performance Group
Chairman’s Factual Report” at a hearing in Baltimore. She received it
on a disk that, she reported, had “the complete [italics mine] database
of Exhibit 13A.” Here again, it seems that in December 1997 the NTSB
used the classic “sin of omission” maneuver to lie to the public about
what was out there that night. The radar information released at the
Baltimore hearing was cut off right when it got really interesting. This
is the kind of stuff that anyone even halfheartedly digging into this
story runs into on a regular basis. The lesson here—and I'm going to
repeat it over and over in this essay —is that on sensitive stories you
can’t trust official sources any more than you could trust President
Clinton when he said he didn’t “have sex with that woman” —or any
of his predecessors when they were in tight spots.

ALL MISSILES PRESENT AND ACCOUNTED FOR

This is going to be a brief section, but I just had to include it because
it shows just how outrageous the lying gets. Shortly after TWA Flight
800’s demise, the Pentagon assured the public that all missiles in the
U.S. arsenal were accounted for, implying that friendly fire was out of
the question. Of course, no one asked how this was done, and done so
fast. The answer is it wasn’t, and it couldn’t have been. There are hun-
dreds of military facilities around the country, and each and every one
would have to have been contacted to begin the process. Plus, missiles
are constantly being moved around, so even an approximate
accounting of the entire arsenal in America would have been difficult.
Counting U.S. missiles overseas would have been an even bigger
problem. On his way to the crash site on July 17, Jim Kallstrom
expressed concern about American missile stocks that weren’t
accounted for after the Gulf War. And what about all those missiles
we gave to the Afghan rebels and then tried to buy back from them—



with little or no success? Two months after Flight 800 exploded, the
General Accounting Office put out a report entitled “Inventory Man-
agement: Vulnerability of Sensitive Defense Material to Theft.” Here’s
part of what’s written in the “Results in Brief” section of the report:
“Discrepancies still exist between records of the number of missiles
and our physical count. Also, the missiles may be vulnerable to
insider theft because DOD is not always selecting a representative
sample of containers to be opened during maintenance checks. In
addition, some facilities are not fully complying with DOD physical
security requirements.” Gives you a warm, fuzzy feeling, doesn’t it?
When the Pentagon stepped up to the microphone and announced
that all their missiles were present and accounted for, they didn’t
really mean it. What they were really saying to the public and the
press was, “Don’t go there.”

MINISTERS OF TRUTH

While I was sifting through the reports Paul Ragonese was bringing
in from his law enforcement sources on the scene and trying to figure
out who was telling the truth and who was lying, Dan Rather was
talking to the press about the Salinger situation. Rather told New York
Times reporter Matthew Purdy that when the story broke, he decided
to lead with it “primarily to knock it down.” “I'll never cease to be
amazed how a rumor takes off like mildew in a damp basement,”
Rather continued, adding that there was “quite considerable evidence
that it didn’t happen.”

I have a lot of respect for Mr. Rather. He bears the extreme pres-
sure of being CBS New’s living logo with great grace for a man of his
intensity. When I produced for him, he was quintessentially profes-
sional and easy to work with. So I wince when I say this: To my mind,
his remarks were out of line. At the time, there was no considerable
evidence of any kind, although a large number of eyewitnesses were
raising eyebrows about seeing “flare-like” objects going up to meet
the plane. Even the FBI was still publicly looking into a possible mis-
sile hit. Without a doubt, Salinger’s rushing to the press with a state-
ment he couldn’t back up was incredibly irresponsible, and he got
what he deserved. Rather’s comments were just plain inappropriate.
When he made them, he (purposely or inadvertently) took off his
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journalist’s hat and became a communications officer for the govern-
ment. It wouldn’t be the last time.

During the first weeks following the Flight 800's demise, there was
a great deal of coverage about evidence of a high-pressure explosive
force—either a bomb or a missile —causing the jet to blow up. Indeed,
the coverage was going in the same direction as the FBI. The New York
Times was printing headlines like “Jet’s Landing Gear Is Said to Provide
Evidence of a Bomb,” (July 31, 1996), “Fuel Tank’s Condition Makes
Malfunction Seem Less Likely” (August 14, 1996), and “FBI Says 2 Labs
Found Traces of Explosive on TWA Jetliner” (August 24, 1996). But by
September, the press was tuming around to the new government line,
no questions asked. “New Focus on Malfunctions in Inquiry on TWA
Crash,” read a New York Times September 19, 1996, headline.

What's fascinating about this is how the same paper first prints a
series of reports talking about hard evidence the investigators have
uncovered indicating that a mechanical failure was unlikely —like
“traces of explosives in the passenger cabin,” ”very heavy damage to
the landing gear,” and “portions of the fuel tank wreckage” being
“virtually unscathed” —and then turns around and writes a subse-
quent story that says, “The investigators acknowledge that they have
no evidence pointing to a mechanical malfunction. Rather, they say,
the failure to find proof of a bombing, after more than two months,
lends indirect credence to another theory...” Indirect credence to
another story?!? What happened to the traces of explosives, etc., that
you reported about earlier?

And that’s another huge problem for you, the average citizen
seeking good information from your newspaper or TV news broad-
cast. You probably didn’t realize until you read this just how mutable
the truth is. You probably didn’t know that often what is reported
today is the truth, until official sources change it later on. The new
truth can be the exact opposite of what was reported before, and it
will be reported, no questions asked. What was reported before no
longer exists or matters because official sources, our nation’s minis-
ters of truth, say it doesn’t. Go back and read George Orwell’s 1984.
It'll give you goose bumps.



CHAOS AT CALVERTON

While government officials were publicly assuring everyone that the
investigation was well in hand and proceeding apace, insiders were
saying otherwise. Paul Ragonese’s NYPD source’s statement, about
“people running around touching stuff” at the Calverton hangar
where the jetliner was being reconstructed, was later corroborated by
an October 28, 1996, document from the Justice Department’s Office
of Inspector General that investigative reporter John Kelly gave to me.
The document contains a transcript of a telephone interview that
Inspector Alison Murphy conducted with FBI Examiner Bill Tobin.
Tobin talked about a memo he wrote that contained a paragraph
about the “hysteria” at Calverton in the first months of the TWA
investigation. Tobin told Murphy that he wrote that the NTSB “ques-
tioned the behavior of [the FBI's] Explosives Unit Examiner Tom
Thurman, because they felt some of his behavior was unscientific and
that he had acted inappropriately during parts of the investigation.”
Tobin described Thurman as “exhibiting storm trooper behavior.” “ At
one point during the investigation,” Tobin said to Murphy, “Thurman
dug into passenger seats and proceeded to place fragments in pill-
boxes with no concern for trajectory.” (Analyzing and recording the
trajectories or directions the fragments came from would help inves-
tigators determine what caused the explosion that embedded them in
the seats.) Later on, I got even more details about evidence being
tainted at Calverton when Kelly O’Meara and I met with an FBI agent
who told us that Kallstrom had a posse of agents (including Tom
Thurman) who were running around the hangar picking up debris
and literally banging it up to make it fit into boxes headed for the FBI
lab in Washington. There, the agent told us, this “evidence” was to be
used to support Kallstrom’s bomb scenario. He also said that agents
inside Calverton had taken to calling the FBI task force chief, Jim “It’s
a Fucking Bomb” Kallstrom. Even more outrageous, the agent told us
that FBI agent Ken Maxwell was giving visiting VIPs “missile tours”
of the wreckage, ostensibly pointing out evidence of a missile hit.

But back to the altered, tainted, or missing evidence. On the NTSB
side, senior investigator Hank Hughes’s contemporaneous notes for
his May 10, 1999, appearance before a senate judiciary committee
hearing on “Administrative Oversight of TWA Flight 800,” are even
more mind-boggling:
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. ME’s [Medical Examiner’s] office — [FBI agents at Medical Exam-

iner’s office] lacked organization and failed to establish chain of
custody on clothing and particulate matter taken from ME staff.
Didn’t decontaminate same at Calverton.

. Stowed blood-soaked passenger and crew clothing in refriger-

ator trailer contrary to universally accepted forensic procedure.
Two months into the investigation the refrigerator trailer’s
refrigeration unit ran out of fuel and the contents of the trailer
baked in 90 degree temperature for 2, days until the trailer was
refueled and the refrigerator unit restarted. This resulted in
mold cultures growing in the clothing and other potential evi-
dence which had been stored in the trailer.

. Took seat covers off without documenting where they came

from. [In his testimony, Hughes said that “many, many seat
covers —there were 430 passenger seats and 21 crew seats —had
the seat covers removed and they were commingled in a dump-
ster. About two months into the investigation, I went to the
dumpster with the assistance . . . of an FBl agent . . . and tried to
sort out the materials in there. We found, in addition to the seat
covers, actually seats that had been missing. . . ."]

. Didn’t x-ray seats in an organized manner. Missed several rows

of seats. [Hughes’s testimony regarding x-raying and chemical
swabbing seats: “. .. my team and I went to great pains to specif-
ically tag the seats...that had not been examined. Yet to this
day [May 10, 1999], those tags are still there because they have
not — the FBI never went back and did a subsequent exam, either
by chemical swab or x-ray examination.”]

. Chemical swabbing wasn’t done on an on-going basis.
. Parts were taken from the interior hangar by the FBI without on-

scene FBI or NTSB staff being consulted or advised as to what
was taken. [Hughes testimony: “ Another problem that occurred,
and it was recognized about two months into the investigation,
was the disappearance of parts from the hangar. ... We found
that seats were missing and other evidence had been dis-
turbed.”] After NTSB complaint was lodged, FBI security caught
two FBI agents in interior hangar in the early morning hours. FBI
installed security cameras and the problem was eliminated.

. West Coast agent [in his testimony, Hughes identified Ricky

Hahn as the FBI agent] attempted to flatten pieces of wreckage.

. Bomb techs did not document evidence in accordance with

accepted procedures.

. ERT [Evidence Recovery Team (FBI)] qualification in basic forensics

very limited. Only four [out of thirty-two] of the ERTs were trained.
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10. FBI declined to provide representation on investigative groups.
[The NTSB’s investigation was compartmentalized into a series
of groups, ie., the “Witness Group,” the “Forensic Pathol-
ogy/Medical Examiners Group,” etc. The FBI, according to
Hughes, did not have representatives in any of these groups.
What Hughes is saying here is critical because although the
NTSB was legally mandated to lead the government’s investiga-
tion unless and until the FBI formally declared it a criminal
investigation (which they never did), the fact is that the FBI took
charge and controlled access to the most critical evidence. By not
providing representation on investigative groups, the FBI essen-
tially obstructed the NTSB's investigation.]

11. [FBI] Treatment of ATF [Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms] was
unprofessional. Didn’t use them [even though explosives inves-
tigations are ATF’s forte].

12. Lack of biohazard training and improper use of equipment.
Wouldn't let their people [meaning the FBI wouldn’t let FBI
agents] use NTSB equipment.

13. Apparent lack of coordination between FBI bomb tech, lab, and
agents assigned to investigation.

14. Agents stuck knives and screw [sic, he probably means “screw-
drivers”] into seat back [sic] which destroyed any chance of tra-
jectory analysis.

15. FBI took charge of victim recovery but failed to use GPS [Global
Positioning Satellite] fixes to verify recovery location.

16. An FBI agent, not associated with the activities in Calverton,
brought an unauthorized psychic into the hangar in September.

Hughes also had this to say about the aforementioned FBI Explo-
sives Unit Manager, Tom Thurman, his group, and what they were
looking for: “Mr. Thurman’s group basically got to the scene and when
we started to assemble the parts and catalog them for later reconstruc-
tion, began to do the chemical screening and examination, looking for
what they believed was an explosive device, you know, a bomb or a mis-
sile. ... The problem was . .. we [the NTSB investigators] wanted to do
it in a systematic organized way. Their job, from what I could see, was
more of a shotgun approach. . .. It caused some problems and friction.”

Hughes testified that the ratio of “FBI and other folks” to NTSB
personnel was about one hundred to one. This, along with the infor-
mation provided above and the fact that the FBI refused to share its
firsthand eyewitness information with the NTSB, should leave no
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doubt that while the NTSB was, by law, supposed to be in charge of
the investigation, it never really was.

One month after his damning testimony before the senate judi-
ciary committee, Hughes provided even more striking evidence of the
NTSB’s backseat role in the investigation. Committee chairman Sen-
ator Charles Grassley wrote Hughes with one more question on
behalf of committee member Senator Strom Thurmond: Did Hughes
talk to his NTSB superiors about the FBI's shenanigans? Hughes's
answer was as forthright and brutal as his testimony:

I saw little positive action taken by the NTSB to address these prob-
lems. In my opinion, we (NTSB) had a serious leadership problem
during the course of the investigation. One of many examples of this
was vice chairman’s Robert Francis’s absence on a daily basis from
all daily investigative progress meetings. ... I have participated in
over 110 major transportation accident investigations while with the
NTSB and the TWA 800 investigation is the only one in which the
NTSB board member in charge was never available to the investiga-
tive staff.

But Hughes didn’t stop there: “During the course of the on-scene
investigation, which lasted over a 15-plus month period, the NTSB
vice chairman in charge of the NTSB investigation not only never
showed up for daily investigative progress meetings, he gave away
the Safety Board’s authority, to [sic] without, to my knowledge, con-
sulting the staff or the headquarters managers. It is easy to see how
the FBI just resorted to their usual modus operandi of taking charge
even if they didn’t know what they were getting into.”

The FBI and the NTSB were at loggerheads from day one of the
investigation, but the press didn’t pay much attention to this crucial
detail. There was little cooperation and a lot of compartmentalizing
going on. The guys with the guns were really in charge, controlling
key evidence, even though legally, they weren’t supposed to be.
Hughes stuck his neck out far when he testified before that senate
subcommittee. Today, he still works at the NTSB, but his responsibil-
ities have been cut back drastically. Essentially, he’s a black sheep
waiting to retire. When he does get his gold watch, he might be
willing to talk. On stories like this one, good government sources are
often the ones who spoke up (usually briefly) to contradict the party
line and then retired.
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DAY OF RECKONING

I had started talking to Jim Sanders after David Hendrix introduced
us and told him he could trust me. As a result, CBS was the first net-
work to receive a copy of the documents smuggled out of the
Calverton hangar. Since my executive producer, Linda Mason, had
told me to offer all new information to CBS Evening News first, I took
the stack of papers consisting of a copy of the debris field and some
other documents (including the NTSB “Chairman’s Briefing/Status
Report” of November 15, 1996) to Northeastern Bureau Chief Bill
Felling. I also gave Felling a copy of a lab report Sanders had sent to
me which detailed the analysis of red residue found on some of the
jetliner’s seats. Sanders was soon to become an international figure by
announcing that the analysis showed that the elements in the residue
were consistent with those in solid rocket missile fuel.

CBS Law Enforcement Consultant Paul Ragonese and I had met
with Felling to talk about what we’d uncovered so far. First, there was
the fact that an investigator on the inside was leaking documents to
Sanders because he felt something fishy was going on. The debris field
documents were among them and were interesting because they
showed what fell off first and where it landed. Since what is hit first
usually falls off first, it raised questions about where the initiating
event had occurred. Paul told Felling about his secret meeting with the
FBI task force members who had told him that there were military
exercises going on out there that night and that a drone had been
involved. Felling asked Ragonese if his sources would be willing to
come forward. I could practically hear what Ragonese was thinking
(What? Is this guy stupid, or what?), but he calmly told Felling that
this would not be possible because these guys would not only lose
their jobs, but even worse things could happen to them. Meanwhile,
Felling didn’t seem too interested in the documents I'd handed to him.

When Jim Sanders was ready to go public with his “residue”
story, he gave The Press-Enterprise, David Hendrix’s paper, the print
scoop and me the TV scoop. CBS was going to be the first TV network
to tell the story of an independent investigator who claimed he’d been
given evidence of a missile hitting TWA 800 from “Hangarman,” a
government investigator inside Calverton.

Since I “got” him, I interviewed Sanders. Sanders has a cheery
manner of presenting things, and I couldn’t help wondering during
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the interview if this man realized what he was doing. I remember, too,
that an associate producer from my documentary unit had sat in on
my interview with Sanders. Afterward, she told me that he gave her
the creeps. I was taken aback by her remark but thought that maybe
she was put off by the fact that he lacked some kind of title that would
make him a more “legitimate” source. Personally, I was feeling a
twinge of worry for the guy. To me, it looked like he was headed for
big trouble after engaging in what I felt was either an act of courage
or of supreme folly. Today, I realize it was an act of courage.

My interview with Sanders was in the can, and the documents
he’d given me were on Felling’s desk, yet no one at Evening News was
using the material to put a story together. I couldn’t figure out why,
and I was getting antsy as other networks were calling him. Out of
desperation, I finally did something very politically incorrect in any
corporate environment. I burst into a morning meeting of news exec-
utives sitting in the glass-encased conference room of the Evening
News ”fishbowl” and demanded to know why we weren’t doing a
story on Sanders and his documents. At the very least I felt that the
fact that an NTSB investigator was smuggling documents out to him
was newsworthy. As I stood there in front of a sea of white shirts,
someone | didn’t recognize looked at me and said, “you think it’s a
missile, don’t you?” “I don’t know what the hell it is,” I shot back,
“but don’t you think we should be doing a story that asks a few ques-
tions about this guy and his documents?” The silence that followed
was deafening. I couldn’t believe it. When I'd walked in there, I gen-
uinely thought that there had been some major oversight and that I
was helping to correct it at a level where it could be corrected imme-
diately. Their response told me otherwise. I walked out of there
feeling like I'd cooked my own goose. As I headed down a hallway
back to my office, one of the Evening News producers ran after me. She
introduced herself and said that she had some good sources who were
talking about friendly fire. I don’t remember the rest of our conversa-
tion because my head was vibrating, but we had a few conversations
after that, and it was clear she felt that the issue was worth looking
into, but dangerous to a reporter’s career. Obviously, she had better
survival instincts than 1.

Meanwhile, the story was getting very hot and other networks
were clamoring for Sanders, so I was forced to give up CBS’s exclusive
and tell him he could go elsewhere for airtime. Of course, the minute
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word hit the fishbowl that the other networks were booking Sanders,
Felling called me to ask me if I could bring him in again. Controlling
my anger, I told him I'd try, but Sanders was already in NBC's clutches.
I marched down to the fishbowl, and in front of all the producers yelled
out to Felling: “We’ve lost him to NBC!” He just looked at me and
shrugged: “So (as in so what)?” Unfortunately, I couldn’t hide my con-
tempt as I turned on my heel and went back to my office.

But CBS could no longer avoid the Sanders story. Felling called
and asked me if I could get photographs of the red residue. Sanders
FedExed them to me, and I gave them to Felling. That day, I went
down to Felling’s office to talk to him about the story and remind him
of the Sanders interview that we had in the can. As I walked in,
Felling was on the phone with David Caravello, a producer in the
Washington bureau. Felling signaled me to get on the phone exten-
sion to hear what Caravello was saying. I picked up right when an
irate Caravello was telling Felling that Sanders wasn’t credible and
that he wasn’t going to give him any airtime. I should have known.
Caravello was producing for correspondent Bob Orr who had told me
earlier that his top Pentagon contacts had assured him that the U.S.
military had nothing to do with TWA 800’s demise and that it looked
like a mechanical malfunction was responsible.

I couldn’t help feeling that Orr was invested in the mechanical
malfunction theory because he didn’t want to contradict the sources
that he depended on to do his job. I couldn’t blame him. In the hard
and fast TV news business, quick access to top sources is a bottom line.

After hanging up from Caravello, I turned to Felling and told him
that I thought the Sanders story should be done with a New York cor-
respondent. For Orr to do a story that might rile his Pentagon sources
would, I told Felling, be the equivalent of him “shitting in his own
nest.” We could run two tracks on this story, I told him, the official
Washington track and the New York track that raised more sensitive
questions. Felling just looked at me and smiled a weak smile. What I
realized later was that there was no way CBS was going to air a story
that would rile the Pentagon. Silly me.

CBS used a classic avoidance tactic to keep Sanders off the air
while reporting his side of the story. On the Evening News, Dan Rather,
reading off of a teleprompter, told America about Sanders’s allega-
tions. Rather’s narration continued while the camera cut to a photo of
the residue that Sanders had provided. Then it was time for the FBI's
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response to the allegations. The FBI's TWA 800 task force chief, James
Kallstrom, appeared live. Looming large in a big-screen image, Kall-
strom told Dan that the red residue was glue. The fact is, Kallstrom
lied to Rather, and Rather bought it hook, line, and sinker. Without
one follow-up question, not even one asking how it could be that
Sanders was able to get a piece of evidence from the hangar where
security was supposed to be so tight, Rather thanked Kallstrom and
moved on to the next story.

Shortly thereafter, Sanders wanted to know if I wanted a sample
of the seat foam with residue on it so CBS could have it tested and
report the results. He still trusted me, and I still hadn’t given up on
the network, so I told him that I'd ask around and get back to him. I
called Felling and asked him if CBS Evening News was interested. He
told me he’d get back to me. He called back and said no. Given my
previous dealings with him, I wasn’t surprised, so I didn’t ask why. I
went up to 60 Minutes (I was already developing some stories for
them) and offered it to Senior Producer Josh Howard. I warned him
that a federal grand jury had been convened to deal with legal trans-
gressions connected to the TWA 800 investigation, including evidence
being “stolen” (which is how the feds viewed the residue samples
sent to Sanders) from the hangar. Howard wasn’t fazed. “We’ve dealt
with grand juries before,” he said. I was elated. In the world of news,
60 Minutes, I told him, was the “last broadcast with balls.”

With Howard’s permission (which he more recently told me he
didn’t recall giving to me, although he does recall getting the sample)
in hand, I called Sanders, and he FedExed the sample to me. The
minute it arrived I took it to Howard'’s office and put it in his desk for
safekeeping until I could locate a lab. A couple of days later, my
beeper went off. I dialed the phone number indicated. It was my exec-
utive producer, Linda Mason. She sounded a little rattled. She said the
FBI wanted to talk to me about some stolen evidence and that she told
them I didn’t have any. “Linda, we need to talk,” I said.

In her office, I told Linda about the sample in Howard’s desk. I
told her that I'd given it to him after Felling had declined to take it.
She told me that Felling had spoken to CBS’s lawyer, Jonathan Stern-
berg, and he had advised against accepting it. Felling hadn’t said a
word to me about consulting with CBS counsel, but I wasn’t surprised
he’d kept that information to himself. We weren’t exactly on the
friendliest terms. I won’t go into the rest of my conversation with
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Linda because she asked me to keep it confidential. She sent me up to
see Sternberg, who told me that the government’s lawyer, Valerie
Caproni, was anxious to have me testify before her grand jury in
Brooklyn about what I knew about Sanders’s inside source,
“Hangarman.” The government was desperate to find out who he
was. I had no idea who Hangarman was, although I would have
given my right arm to know (although not for the purpose of telling
the feds). Sanders had refused to tell me. Sternberg managed to con-
vince Caproni that I wasn’t the canary she was looking for. Linda
arranged to return the sample to the feds, where it disappeared for-
ever. I was deeply disappointed.

So just what was that red residue? To this day, I can’t say for cer-
tain. But I can say this: physicist Tom Stalcup oversaw the same test
on the glue named by the feds (after soaking it in sea water from the
same area where the jetliner went down) that Sanders performed on
the residue. The results are clearly different: the glue—a specific 3M-
brand adhesive (Scotch Grip 1357) —contains no silicon (a common
solid rocket fuel ingredient), while Sanders’s sample contains 15 per-
cent silicon. The 3M adhesive contains only trace amounts of calcium
(the pyrotechnic that provides the burn when mixed with oxygen-
providing perchlorate) —0.0220, while Sanders’s sample contains 12
percent calcium. The 3M adhesive contains trace amounts of alu-
minum (aluminum powder fuels rockets)—0.0065, while Sanders’s
sample contains 2.8 percent aluminum. Other elements found in
Sanders’s sample were undetected in the 3M adhesive.

With the comparative test results in hand, Dr. Stalcup called the
National Transportation Safety Board to inform them of his results. He
spoke directly with their scientist in charge of chemical testing, Dr.
Merrit Birky. Dr. Birky said he had not compared the adhesive with
Sanders’s sample because if they didn’t match, “Well, you're not going
to put the thing to bed.” When Stalcup told me about this conversation,
I couldn’t help thinking about how the American public had not only
paid for the investigation of TWA 800, but for the cover-up, too.

One final note about the residue and explosives: NTSB investi-
gator Terrell Stacey told Sanders that the residue was found on seats
in rows seventeen through nineteen. Interestingly, these rows were
among the rows (fifteen through twenty-five) where the FBI admitted
that traces of explosives PETN and RDX had been found. The FBI
tried to explain away the explosives findings with a lie covered with
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a veneer of truth. They said that most likely those explosives were
deposited there from a “spill” during a bomb-sniffing exercise carried
out on the 747 when it was parked at the St. Louis airport a little more
than a month before Flight 800’s demise. Indeed, the 747 that was to
become Flight 800 was parked at that airport. The lie here is that the
bomb-sniffing exercise took place in the 747 that was Flight 800.
Officer Herman Burnett of the St. Louis Police Department carried out
the exercise in an empty TWA 747 jetliner. He told the FBI that he
began the exercise at 11:45 A.M. and that it took him about another half
hour —until 12:15 P.M. —to conduct the exercise and then take the dog
and explosives off the plane. Burnett didn’t note the tail number of the
jetliner he had used, but according to TWA's records, the 747 at the St.
Louis airport with the same tail number (17119) as the future TWA
800, left its gate at 12:35 P.M. with more than four hundred passengers
on board. Big question: How do you load four hundred-plus passen-
gers and crew along with their bags and food on an aircraft in just
twenty minutes?

CBS: HASTA LA VISTA

A few weeks after the FBI's visit to CBS, I received my walking
papers. I'd been expecting them. The unexpected had occurred ear-
lier, when the institutional buzzsaw that kills sensitive stories and
eventually comes after the journalists trying to tell them had been
revealed to me.

Law enforcement consultant Paul Ragonese eventually got his
walking papers, too. Bill Felling’s farewell comment to Ragonese was,
“You and Kristina were wrong about TWA 800.” Ragonese was
replaced by none other than the FBI's TWA 800 task force chief, James
Kallstrom.

Sometimes I wonder if Mr. Caravello ever thinks about his assess-
ment of Jim Sanders as an uncredible source. By the time CBS had
become aware of him, Sanders had penetrated the investigation more
deeply than any other reporter in America. The feds came down hard
on him for it too. They illegally obtained his e-mails from AOL and
then dragged his wife (because she had contacted NTSB investigator
Terrell Stacey for her husband on a couple of occasions) and him to
court, hanging threats of long prison sentences over their heads for



coercing Stacey into sending Sanders the residue sample. The residue
was evidence “stolen” from a federal investigation, and Stacey, who
had nabbed it, wasn’t the guilty one, it was that evil Sanders guy and
his crafty wife who had cajoled him into taking it. Stacey testified
against Sanders.

All journalists should take very careful note of what happened to
James Sanders and his wife. If it could happen to them, it could
happen to you and your spouse or loved one.

After leaving CBS, I wanted nothing more to do with TWA 800. I
wasn’t sure I wanted to have anything more to do with journalism
either. But my phone was ringing off the hook. Reporters — from Cur-
rent Affair to the BBC—wanted to talk to me about what happened at
CBS. I refused to talk about that, but I did invite one Japanese jour-
nalist to come to my house and review my documents because he
seemed genuinely interested in investigating the crash. While sifting
through my papers, Yoichiro Kawai kept telling me that I should con-
tact Congressman Mike Forbes’s chief of staff, Kelly O’'Meara. I kept
smiling and saying yes, but thinking that I'd be damned if I was going
to call some government flak to “share.” From where I was sitting, the
government was doing a great job of keeping a lid on any real infor-
mation about TWA 800. A few days after Yoichiro’s visit, Kelly
O’Meara called me.

TOURING CALVERTON WITH
CHIEF OF STAFF KELLY O'MEARA

A seventeen-year veteran of Capitol Hill, Kelly O’'Meara was just
recovering from a decade-long investigation of the suspicious “sui-
cide” of a young U.S. Marine in El Salvador when TWA 800 exploded
in the sky. Years of fighting with the military to get to the truth of
what really happened to the young soldier had finally culminated in
the government changing the cause of death from “suicide” to “unde-
terminable.” Then suddenly, Congressman Forbes (R-N.Y.) charged
Chief of Staff O’Meara with looking into the crash.

Way before we met, she was raising the same questions I'd been
asking. After a long conversation on the phone, we decided to meet to
compare notes. We invited The Press-Enterprise’s David Hendrix to
join us. O’'Meara, Hendrix, and I spent many hours in Congressman
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Forbes’s office pouring over the hundreds of documents we’d gath-
ered in the course of our respective investigations. While we had doc-
umented evidence of official lies being disseminated to the general
public about the investigation, the “smoking gun” remained elusive.

Although deeply shaken by my experience at CBS, I had been
sucked right back into TWA 800. When O’Meara invited me to accom-
pany her and Diana Weir (Forbes’s chief of staff on Long Island) to
visit some of the areas that were key to the investigation, I agreed
to go along. After visiting the Moriches Coast Guard Station, we went
to the Calverton hangar. O’Meara told me to wait in the car while she
and Weir went inside for a tour. But then Weir suggested that we ask
if it would be all right for me to go along. I walked in, presented my
passport, signed in as Weir’s guest, and off I went. I had no press cre-
dentials at the time.

Inside the hangar, the FBI's Ken Maxwell met us and took us to a
small room for a briefing before the tour. As he spoke, both O'Meara
and I noticed something interesting on the wall behind us. There on a
triangulation map of the area where the jetliner exploded, was a spot
identified as “possible missile launch site.”

Calverton hangar is enormous. One area, called the “bone yard,”
was a huge hallway containing pile after pile of debris. Looking at this
seemingly endless line of stacked-up metal, my thought was that it
must have taken a very powerful force to fragment the plane into so
many small pieces. While examining the reconstructed interior with
its rows and rows of mangled seats, O'Meara and I noticed another
interesting thing: some rows were missing. Among them was row
seventeen. According to “Hangarman,” or NTSB investigator Terrell
Stacey, the seats in that row were covered with the mysterious red
residue that he’d sent to Sanders.

During the tour, I tried to keep my mouth shut, but my curiosity
got the better of me, and I asked a few questions. While examining the
reconstruction, I made a comment about the center wing tank that, I
think, made Maxwell realize that I had more than just a passing
interest in the mock-up. Right then, he excused himself. When he
came back, the tour was cut short.

Two days later, FBI agent Joe Valiquette called O’Meara. “You
know,” He said, “Mr. Kallstrom is very upset that that woman was in
the hangar and he is going to be calling the Congressman about this
incident.” Kallstrom told Deadly Departure author Christine Negroni,
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“I was furious. Here we were trying to cooperate with the congres-
sional people and one of the staff members would bring someone
from a news organization into the hangar.”

I guess Kallstrom forgot that I wasn’t from a news organization.
According to Diana Weir, when Kallstrom spoke to Forbes, the FBI
task force chief mentioned that he had a “huge file” on me. I sent
FOIA (Freedom of Information Act) requests to the FBI, CIA, navy,
and everyone else I could think of to get my own copy of that volu-
minous file. I was curious to know just how evil I was in Mr. Kall-
strom'’s eyes. Everyone, including the FBI, wrote back saying they had
nothing on me.

Kallstrom’s talk with Forbes triggered the end of O’Meara’s sev-
enteen-year career on Capitol Hill. She’d become a political liability
while doing the job he’d asked her to do. O’'Meara, who knows the ins
and outs of government like the back of her hand, who possesses
investigative skills superior to those of most veteran reporters, is now
an investigative journalist.

INTERBODY IMPLOSION

The most gruesome and fascinating bit of information O’'Meara and I
uncovered during our investigation came to light while talking to Suf-
folk County Medical Examiner Dr. Charles Wetli. He had told us that
an extremely high-pressure, forward-moving force had ripped
through the cabin, turning the air deadly with flying objects: “It was
like a machine-gun nest in there,” he said. He showed us some slides,
including one of a piece of bone embedded in fuselage, like an arrow
shot into a tree. He told us that many bodies were completely riddled
with bits and pieces of wire, fuselage, and other objects. These were
painstakingly removed and handed right over to FBI agents standing
at the autopsy tables.

Then Wetli told us about something that belongs on Ripley’s
Believe It or Not: interbody implosion. Every body that came into the
morgue was identified by DNA. During the course of this process, it
was discovered that two bodies that had come in two weeks apart
shared the same DNA —a virtual impossibility. Further research
revealed that they were a husband and wife who had been sitting next
to each other when the aircraft exploded with such intensity that their
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bodies, right down to their DNA, were fused together. Since he’d
never seen anything like it before, Wetli had to coin a new term for it:
interbody implosion. The question to ask here is, Would an explosion
in the center wing fuel tank sparked by a short circuit create such an
extreme-pressure environment?

GETTING STONED

My phone started acting funny after I came home from CBS. On cer-
tain calls, I'd hear all kinds of clicks. Sometimes I'd be talking and the
line would just go dead. I tried to keep my paranoia under control,
but I did call Bell Atlantic to ask them to check for a wiretap. They
never got back to me. After a while, I settled into a liberating, what-
the-hell-I've-nothing-to-hide mindset.

After O'Meara left Forbes’s office under duress, we decided to
write a book about our experiences with TWA 800. It was the summer
of 1997. The book’s working title was Unauthorized Access. We were
nervous about doing it, but we shared a strong sense of outrage. We
went to a number of publishing houses for pitch meetings, and sev-
eral editors wanted it. Our literary agent, Sandra Martin, set up an
auction so they could fight for it. The morning of the auction, one by
one, the editors called up to back out. Sandra said she’s had editors
not show up for auctions and then call later to say that they couldn’t
get the advance money or give some other reason. “But I never had
them call and say I can’t participate in the auction—and give no
reason, just say, ‘I can’t participate, " she said.

Summer folded into fall, and on the day before Halloween, my
family and I moved to La Crescenta, California, right outside of Los
Angeles. I spent months working odd jobs, including working on an
ABC special, Sex with Cindy Crawford, a stint that paid well but
marked the lowest point of my producing career.

Then, out of the clear blue sky, I was dragged back through the
looking glass into the TWA 800 story. Tom McMahon, an award-win-
ning, ex-network producer who has his own production company in
Los Angeles, called to set up a meeting to talk to me about doing a
segment on TWA 800 for a series pilot he was producing for Oliver
Stone. Stone wasn’t really interested in TWA, McMahon said, but
McMahon wanted me to write up a pitch to submit to him. By this
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time, | was soul-tired of TWA. I was tired of trying to get the story out,
tired of all the weirdness, tired of fighting the powers-that-be. “Tired,
Tired, Tired,” to quote comedian Chris Rock. But McMahon was
really excited about it. So, I asked him, “What makes you think that
this segment will ever see the light of day?” I'll never forget his reply:
“Consider this a rip in reality,” he said.

Like most Americans, Stone had no idea about all the shenanigans
going on behind the scenes of the TWA 800 investigation. Kelly
O’Meara and I wrote up a pitch. Stone okayed it. So we headed to
New York to start producing the segment.

It was then that the most bizarre incident I've experienced to date
with this story occurred. O’'Meara and I had driven up to New York
from Washington in her car. We had arrived late at night and parked
on the street right in front the building we were staying in. We
decided to take out our bags and leave everything else in the trunk.

“Everything else” included our TWA documents, O’Meara’s com-
puter, a movie camera, a tool chest, and some tennis rackets.

The next morning, we went to the car, and O’Meara opened the
trunk. Everything was there, except for the TWA 800 documents and
O’Meara’s computer. The trunk lock itself looked untouched and
worked perfectly. Yes, ladies and gentlemen, these things do happen
in the United States of America. I would never have believed it if I
hadn’t experienced it myself. As I read some random notes that
O’Meara wrote up about this episode, I actually smile. She has a cer-
tain righteous fierceness about her that, combined with her superior
reporting skills, makes her a great journalist: “I'm sitting in the police
station in Manhattan,” she wrote, “and the only thing I can think of is
to make sure that woman types up on that report that they stole my
TWA documents.” I have to confess before moving on that Kelly and
I had no one but ourselves to blame for the theft. We had broken a car-
dinal rule of journalism: never, ever let your most important docu-
ments out of your sight. Fortunately, we had followed a second car-
dinal rule: we had made backup copies of these documents and squir-
reled them away in various places —just in case.

Our story for Oliver Stone was going to be an investigation of the
investigation; our independent investigation of the official investiga-
tion. Since some of the most troubling issues surrounding the official
investigation had to do with the eyewitnesses, we decided that the
centerpiece of our segment would be a huge eyewitness shoot that
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would take place in an airplane hangar. We’d gather as many eyewit-
nesses as we could find and bring them together in a sort of town
meeting to talk about what they’d seen and how the authorities had
dealt with the information they provided. In a couple of weeks’ time,
we’d gathered more than thirty eyewitnesses, found some local pro-
duction help, and were closing in on a hangar. Then we got a call from
Los Angeles.

It was Tom McMahon calling to tell us to stand down. The shoot
would have to be postponed. There was a problem with ABC.

This was a little discouraging as it took a lot of convincing to get
so many eyewitnesses to agree to go on camera. As we waited for
word to move again, the buzzsaw kicked into high gear. It began with
a “Periscope” piece in Newsweek entitled “Stone’s Take”:

The theory that TWA Flight 800 was brought down by a missile may
be widely discredited, but it won’t die. The latest conspiracy crank
to delve into the mysterious crash is none other than film director
Oliver Stone. His production company is preparing a one-hour,
prime-time “reality” special called “Oliver Stone’s Declassified” for
ABC's entertainment division, including a segment on the missile
theory. But not everyone at ABC is thrilled with the project. Like
most mainstream media, ABC News has reported federal investiga-
tors’ conclusion that the crash was caused by a mechanical malfunc-
tion. Says an ABC News spokeswoman: “We are confident that this
program will be clearly identified as Oliver Stone’s point of view.”

I immediately called Tom McMahon and asked if anyone from
Newsweek had called over there to ask what we were doing on TWA
800. He said no. I told Tom that I had a bad feeling about the
“Periscope” piece, and that I was fairly sure that this was an opening
salvo, and that in a few weeks’ time, there’d be a barrage of press on
our show. Then, I fired off a letter to Michael Kramer at the now-
defunct, media watchdog magazine, Brill’s Content:

Dear Mr. Kramer:

In all my many years of reading Newsweek, I've never been aware of any
“planted” stories but I think I've found one on page six of the October
19,1998, issue. The brief Periscope piece entitled “Stone’s Take” (a copy
of which is enclosed) caught my eye because I am producing the seg-
ment on TWA 800 for Oliver Stone’s “Declassified” show.
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For the record and edification of the Periscope reporter who
wrote “Stone’s Take,” Mr. Stone isn’t delving into the TWA 800 crash,
I am. I was hired to do the story because I am an award-winning
investigative producer and I've spent more than two years following
the story. I don’t know who told Periscope that my segment is about
the “missile theory,” but I didn’t and it isn’t. And to the ABC News
spokesperson who expressed her confidence that “this program will
be clearly identified as Oliver Stone’s point of view,” I have this to
say: I don’t give a damn what Oliver Stone’s point of view on TWA
800 is and I'm sure that’s just fine with him. I wasn’t hired to do a
piece from his point of view, I was hired to do a solidly reported seg-
ment based on the more than two years my associate producer and
I have spent looking into this story.

With the cooperation of ABC News, a Periscope reporter has
written a piece discrediting “Declassified” and the TWA story before
the show has even been filmed. In effect, Periscope has telegraphed
to Newsweek’s large readership that “Declassified” couldn’t possibly
have any merit as a serious investigative program because “con-
spiracy crank” Oliver Stone is in charge. Periscope and ABC News
may have succeeded in the short run. Ultimately, Stone’s show will
stand or fall on its own merit.

I may be wrong, but it looks to me like ABC [News] is upset
(and scared too, maybe) about the fact that a hardcore investigative
show is being produced outside of their purview. They should be.
But “Stone’s Take” is a nasty little bit of mouthpiece journalism and
Periscope should be ashamed.

Kristina Borjesson

The only thing I was wrong about was the timing of the press bar-
rage. It came much earlier than I expected, virtually on the heels of the
“Periscope” piece. Time magazine’s “The Conspiracy Channel?” and
“Casting the First Stone but Not Airing It” said it all about main-
stream media’s “balanced” view of “Declassified.” “The Conspiracy
Channel?” starts off like this: “Which would you rather watch: a
responsible and balanced ABC News report about the tragic but acci-
dental crash of TWA flight 800 or a stylish X-Files-like show exposing
the bastards who blew her out of the sky, narrated by conspiracy
auteur Oliver Stone?” Here’s a note to John Cloud, Jeffrey Ressner,
and William Tynan who worked on this piece: Even today, years after
you put your piece together, government investigators still don’t know



THE BUZZSAW 135

what happened to TWA 800. Their best guess is that an electrical short
circuit ignited fumes in the fuel tank, but they admit they have no
conclusive evidence to back this up. So, what information did you
have proving that the crash was “accidental”? What information did
you have showing that Stone was going to “expose the bastards who
blew her out of the sky”? Just how much did you know before you
cobbled together your witty little piece?

In his November 7, 1998, piece in the New York Post entitled “Oliver
Stone’s Take on Flt. 800 Yanked by ABC,” reporter Don Kaplan quotes
a network news source saying, “ABC has such a strong news brand,
and people might confuse the Oliver Stone special with a news spe-
cial.” No they wouldn’t. The Oliver Stone special would have been
much harder hitting than anything allowed on a regular news special
(I know, I've worked on network documentaries). And that, I think,
was the real problem. Imagine ABC’s entertainment division coming
up with a more journalistically sound, harder-hitting newsmagazine
show than ABC’s news division—or any other network news divi-
sion—would ever dare to put on. Aye, now there would be a rub.

The New York Times’s Lawrie Mifflin also weighed in: “ABC Says
It Is Dropping Plans for Stone Special on Flight 800.” Mifflin reported
that ABC decided to kill the show after some “ABC journalists had
expressed dismay to their superiors about the proposed program. . . .
Fearing that viewers would perceive it as an ABC News report, ABC
has reported that the missile theories are groundless.” Later on in the
article, Mifflin writes, “The National Transportation Safety Board, the
Federal Bureau of Investigation and the Central Intelligence Agency
[italics mine] have all said there is no evidence to support the theory
that the crash was caused by a missile or missiles.” The CIA? What
mandate did they ever have to be involved in the investigation? They
did, however, put together an animation for the FBI that was com-
pletely discredited by the eyewitnesses whose testimony the CIA
claimed to have used to create it (more on that later).

Without a doubt, the coverage of “Declassified’s” death was, with
few exceptions, a propaganda juggernaut that made it clear that
anyone who didn’t believe the government'’s officials or the journal-
ists who unquestioningly reported what the officials said was a con-
spiracy nut. This, of course, is the old “marginalization” routine. If
you don’t go along with the party line, you're shoved into the margins
and eventually out of the picture.
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“Declassified” had been approved and in the works for six
months when O’Meara and I were called out of the field. The show
was cancelled within a matter of three or four days after we were told
to stand down. In that brief period, agents were called and the deal
was off and settlements were made. Negotiations to revive the show
would not be considered, end of story. Oliver Stone said it was one of
the worst things that had ever happened to him in his professional
life. The big question here was: Where did the pressure come from?
From ABC’s news division that had invested in the mechanical theory
and was afraid “Declassified” might make them look bad? Stone told
me that the pitch for “Declassified,” described the prospective series
as an edgy investigative magazine show that would make 60 Minutes
pale in comparison. I could see why ABC’s news division would try
to kill it. And what about the FBI and the NTSB? The FBI in particular
had a real “thing” about denying the public access to information
about the eyewitnesses.

THOSE DAMNED EYEWITNESSES

The FBI's “thing” about the eyewitnesses was first apparent at the
National Transportation Safety Board’s public hearings held on
December 8, 1997, in Baltimore, Maryland. Days before the hearing,
James Kallstrom wrote to NTSB Chairman James Hall to ask that
information on the eyewitnesses and the red residue found on the
seats not be discussed at the hearing. Hall complied with Kallstrom’s
request. Now, I don’t know about you, but a letter asking that these
specific items be omitted from the roster would send me digging
deeper in precisely those two areas. Sometimes, in a sensitive investi-
gation, if you pay attention, you'll find that if you're told not to bother
looking somewhere, it is exactly where you should look. If you're told
something isn’t important, go check it out because it might be very
important.

Paul Ragonese once said during a conversation we were having
about the eyewitnesses that standard operating procedure for a law
enforcement officer arriving on the scene of a crime or accident is to
ask everybody in sight, “Did anybody see anything?” In the case of
Flight 800, hundreds of people saw something and they reported
what they saw to the FBI. Ultimately, over six hundred witnesses
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spoke to FBI agents. But the FBI and the NTSB did everything they
could to diminish the importance of eyewitness testimony. Perhaps
the most startling effort the FBI made in this regard was to commis-
sion the CIA to create an animated sequence that would convince the
public that what the eyewitnesses said they saw was actually an
optical illusion.

The CIA animation was based largely on the testimonies of eye-
witnesses Dwight Brumley and Mike Wire. Although the eyewit-
nesses said they saw a “flare-like” object rising from the ocean surface
to meet the jetliner, the video’s narrator said in so many words that
what they actually saw was jet fuel streaming down from the crippled
craft after it had exploded. Mike Wire is a Vietnam veteran who was
working on a bridge on the south shore of Long Island at the time of
the disaster. He had this to say after reviewing the video: “The ani-
mation didn’t match anything that I had seen in no way, but I just fig-
ured well, let’s just be quiet about it ‘cause they’re still investigating
and it could be a story they could correct later on.”” Dwight Brumley
was an active-duty master-chief in the U.S. Navy flying on US Air
Flight 217 in the crash site area right before and during the time TWA
800 occurred. He was looking out his window when the tragedy
occurred. He didn’t think the animation was accurate either: “For
them to put that flare moving from my left to right is completely —it’s
almost perpendicular to the path that I observed....What they’re
animating as a flare doesn’t even get close to what I saw, not even
close. There’s no way that was headed east, northeast.” Do you sup-
pose Lawrie Mifflin at the New York Times, who mentioned the CIA as
a credible source debunking the missile theory, ever picked up her
phone to ask these eyewitnesses about the credibility of the CIA’s ani-
mation that was based on their testimonies?

Brumley and Wire’s assessments matched those of other eyewit-
nesses on Long Island who viewed the CIA video and were certain
that what they had seen that night was ascending, not “streaming
down.” Local businessman Richard Goss, who was sitting on the
porch of the West Hampton Yacht Club at the time, called the video “a
joke.” Retiree Paul Runyan was standing in his yard: “What I saw was
going up from the surface . . . like a rising flare.” Suzanne McConnell,
a nurse, was watching from her back porch: “If it was something from
the plane, it would be going down, but this was clearly going up.”
Darrell Miron is a carpenter and graphic artist: “I seen that video and




I did not enjoy watching it because I did not see that that night.
There’s no way physically possible that that happened. . . . It started
low and went up. The streak of light caused something in the sky to
explode. I don’t call it a missile because it’s their job to tell me what it
is. I seen a streak of light heading up and something happened to the
point where that plane was. . . .”

Miron was also among those eyewitnesses who were struck by
the FBI’s less than enthusiastic response to receiving the information
they wanted to provide. “It was rather odd that when the FBI came to
my house and talked to me,” said Miron, “because it seemed to me
that they were more interested in what I knew rather than what I seen.
... I offered to create a graphic animation of what I seen, exactly. They
didn’t want me to go there. They told me no, do not do that. I thought
that was odd.”

Perhaps even more odd was James Kallstrom’s attempt to legit-
imize the CIA video by telling victims” family members that the eye-
witnesses had reviewed it before it was released and found it to be
credible. That was in late 1997. Almost a year later, in an interview
with Dr. Tom Stalcup, chairman of the Flight 800 Independent
Researchers Organization (FIRO), Kallstrom admitted that the eye-
witnesses had not screened the CIA video prior to its release.

Under FIRO's aegis, Dr. Stalcup compiled a comprehensive statis-
tical analysis of the government’s eyewitness information and put it in
a report entitled “Review of the Official TWA Flight 800 Witness
Reports.” Very interesting information emerged from Dr. Stalcup’s
number-crunching. For instance, 94 percent of the eyewitnesses who
saw a streak of light early enough to note its origin, said it rose from the
ocean’s surface. Of the 134 witnesses who provided information related
to the rising streak’s trajectory, 116 are inconsistent with the official (CIA
video) explanation for the streak. “Most reject the official scenario,” the
report says, “because Flight 800 in crippled flight didn’t originate at the
surface [and] Flight 800 was never ascending straight up.”

In another FIRO report, Dr. Stalcup writes: “It was stated that ‘the
witness reports were the first and only evidence or indication of a
missile attack.” This is factually false.” Then he goes on to list the other
possible evidence/indications of a missile attack:

PETN and RDX (explosives used in missiles) were found in the
wreckage. The NTSB has not conclusively determined the sources of
these explosives [remember the FBI trying to throw the public off the
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trail with the dog-sniffing story?] and their detection anywhere on
the wreckage is indicative of a possible missile attack.

FAA radar detected high-speed (Mach 2) targets apparently exiting
Flight 800 immediately after the initiating event. The targets are also
indicative of a possible missile attack.

The “localized re-crystallization of portions of the rear spar” cannot
be explained by the official breakup sequence. The re-crystallization
of metal is indicative of a missile attack.

The last time official investigators publicly discussed the eyewit-
nesses was during a brief period at the tail end of a legally mandated —
per the Government in the Sunshine Act— public hearing that the NTSB
held in late August 2000 to inform the public of their final findings. I
attended the hearing and believe me, the government’s officials did
everything in their power to avoid any sunshine on the eyewitness
issue. They spent long periods of time discussing issues like the dangers
of lint on wires—which seemed like an exercise in public navel-gazing
engaged in to take up time and deliberately avoid the real issues. On the
second and final day of the hearing, toward its very end, the board
members finally got around to addressing the eyewitnesses, albeit only
briefly. This alone tells you how loath they were to publicly discuss this
part of the investigation. They had good reason. The fact is, that of all
the 670 eyewitnesses the FBI tracked down, the NTSB only spoke to
about a dozen of them, according to NTSB Witness Group Chairman,
Dr. David Mayer. At the hearing, a brief presentation was followed by a
trivial question and answer period that was marked by one board
member suggesting that some eyewitnesses who reported seeing an
ascending object had been drunk at the time. The whole hearing felt
rigged, with no dissenting voices allowed. Conspicuously absent, for
example, was a representative from the International Association of
Machinists and Aerospace Workers (IAMAW) who disagreed with the
NTSB'’s final conclusion about the cause of TWA 800’s demise. The
IAMAW concluded that the initiating event occurred not in the center
wing tank but on the left side of the aircraft’s exterior: “a high pressure
event breached the fuselage and the fuselage unzipped due to the event.
... The explosion [in the center wing tank] was a result of this event.”

But the eyewitnesses have been and are still the 900-pound gorilla
in the middle of the room, because there are so damned many of them.
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BOTTOMEFEEDERS VERSUS BACKBITERS

During my tenures at CBS and CNN, I rarely ran into a producer
working on a very sensitive story. If I had to tell you why, I'd say this:
Getting a job at a network is hard enough because the competition is
brutal, but keeping it —especially since there’s no job security and your
contract comes up for renewal every two or four years—is a skill that
requires as much political savvy asjournalistic talent. There’s no point in
looking for trouble or hard work by pitching a tough story. Network pro-
ducing is an all-consuming job. The hours are horrendous. Investigative
pieces in particular can wreak havoc on your mind, body, and family.

On a story like TWA 800, as you saw with my experience at CBS,
you can become a pariah among your colleagues as well as with gov-
ernment investigators if you persist with your politically incorrect
investigation. But what’s interesting about TWA 800 is the number of
independent investigators who are, even to this day, working hard to
get to the bottom of this disaster. This has angered government inves-
tigators. James Kallstrom, who, as the Haitian expression goes, doesn’t
keep his “tongue in his pocket,” seemed particularly upset by Oliver
Stone’s efforts: “The real facts are glossed over by the likes of Mr. Stone
and others who spend their life bottom-feeding in those small, dark
crevices of doubt and hypocrisy,” he told the Associated Press’s Pat
Milton. Kallstrom was implying that independent investigators are
“bottom-feeders” out to make a buck at the expense of the victims’
families, who require our silence to achieve peace of mind and closure.

What a bunch of bull. First of all, I don’t know of one independent
investigator or journalist who has made big bucks pursuing the truth
in this matter. On the contrary, it is a tough row to hoe financially
speaking. As for the families’ peace of mind, I think Kallstrom
implying that we should drop it for their sakes redefines the term
“manipulative.” With all due respect to the families, what about the
peace of mind of all the living who get on planes every day to fly off
the coast of Long Island?

Even worse, from my point of view, are those I call “the back-
biters.” They are the journalists who gratuitously attack other jour-
nalists working the unpopular sides of a story. I'm going to name
names here because I find this practice insidious and destructive to
our profession as a whole.

After leaving CBS, I felt that the best policy was to keep my mouth
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shut about what happened. I didn’t really want to continue looking into
the story, much less become the story. When the New York Observer’s
Philip Weiss called me for an interview, I told him off the record about
what I'd experienced and then refused to say anything for public con-
sumption. He asked me if I minded if he spoke to the people at 60 Min-
utes, and I told him to do as he pleased because I had no right to tell him
whom he could and couldn’t talk to. The senior producer of 60 Minutes,
Josh Howard, told Weiss that my “official relationship with CBS
ended” before I had pitched the TWA story. Then he went on to say this
about the proposal I submitted to him for a story on TWA Flight 800: “It
sounded kind of wacky, and we said, ‘No thanks.”” First, here’s the
“wacky proposal” or “blue sheet” (as it’s called inside the network) that
I submitted to Howard on March 18, 1997:

TWA 800: TROUBLE INSIDE THE INVESTIGATION

A retired cop turned journalist is on the run, wanted by the FBI for
“stealing” evidence. The FBI seizes a copy of FAA radar tapes from
a retired pilot who claims he got them from a source inside the inves-
tigation. A grand jury is convened for what appears to be an
unprecedented purpose —investigating leaks within the TWA inves-
tigation. Meanwhile, crash investigators called to the Hill have little
progress to report; the NTSB's Dr. Bernard Loeb saying that there
was evidence consistent with the plane being struck by a missile
fragment only seemed to add to the confusion. At the same hearing,
Representative Frank Wolf said, “the credibility of the U.S. govern-
ment could be tarnished if this thing goes on much longer.”

Indeed. So what is going on? What's going on between the FBI
and the NTSB? Why are people inside the investigation leaking doc-
uments, forensic evidence, and key information to the press,
including CBS’s law enforcement consultant, Paul Ragonese, who
secretly met with two members of the task force? Is Jim Sanders,
now hiding from the FBI after announcing that the red substance he
received from a source inside the investigation was fuel exhaust
from a missile, a publicity-seeking flake or a credible journalist with
an incredibly good source? Will the congressional subcommittee
inquiries help or hurt the investigation?

60 Minutes focuses on the drama behind the scenes of this
unprecedented investigation and looks for clues to the ultimate
question: What really happened to TWA 800?



Now isn’t that just the “wackiest” thing you’ve ever read?

As I mentioned before, Josh did not say “no thanks.” If he had, the
FBI would never have come calling at CBS. Also, my official relation-
ship with CBS ended when they gave me notice. Prior to that, I was
working on a month-to-month basis as my contract had ended and
there was no documentary to assign me to at CBS Reports. During that
time, as Josh Howard may have forgotten (and I have the memos to
prove it), I was developing several stories for 60 Minutes, including
one on child soldiers, another on former SAC commander General
Lee Butler, and another on Korean alien smugglers. CBS correspon-
dent Bob Orr also took his best shot across my bow. In his interview
with Philip Weiss for the New York Observer, Orr said that he was
“never impressed by Ms. Borjesson,” and then posed these rhetorical
questions: “What was her level of access and expertise, and who did
she talk to? Who were her sources? One, and he was alarmingly thin.”
I don’t know why in the world Mr. Orr would say that I had only one
source on this story. It would have been easy enough for him to fact-
check his statement before he made it.

Besides misspelling my name (that would be Kristina with a K,
Ms. Negroni, not a CH) Christine Negroni, an ex-CNN reporter and
author of Deadly Departure, a book about the Flight 800 disaster, incor-
rectly described what happened with Sanders’s sample when it
reached CBS and then went on to incorrectly state that the reason The
Press-Enterprise’s David Hendrix and I had “much information in
common,” was because we were staying in touch with Kelly O’Meara.
[ didn’t meet O’Meara until after I'd left CBS. I had no idea that we’'d
uncovered similar information until I met her later on. Negroni, who
seems to have had liberal access to James Kallstrom, quotes him
implying that O’Meara was pushing “a conspiracy thing” in Con-
gressman Forbes’s office: “I was aware from people around the inves-
tigation that Forbes’s office was part of this whole conspiracy thing to
some degree. . . . Alot of people were concerned and puzzled by what
his office was doing. I didn’t know how much he was doing and how
much was happening by some strong person [he’s talking about
O’Meara here] with a lot of leeway in his office.” In the last paragraph
of this chapter, Negroni writes that O’'Meara and I had “convinced”
Oliver Stone that “the investigation of Flight 800 was worth another
look.” As you read earlier, we didn’t “convince” Stone of anything.
Stone’s producer, Tom McMahon, approached me and asked for a
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pitch. If anything, he had to convince me to wrap my arms around the
TWA 800 tar baby one more time.

In all fairness to Negroni, I refused to talk to her, but that’s no
excuse for not getting her facts straight.

Perhaps the most puzzling attack on O’Meara came from a highly
respected Washington Post reporter, Howard Kurtz. She had recently
received new radar information from the National Transporation
Safety Board, so she asked for and was granted an interview with the
NTSB’s Peter Goelz and Bernie Loeb. Shortly thereafter, on August 23,
1999, Howard Kurtz wrote the following in the Post’s Style section:

UNFRIENDLY FIRE

Peter Goelz, Managing Director of the NTSB was taken aback when
he was interviewed by a reporter for Insight magazine, the Wash-
ington Times’ sister publication. He says Kelly O’'Meara was “extra-
ordinarily antagonistic.” O’Meara was questioning Goelz about
secret government radar reports that she said showed plenty of
activity nearby on the day in 1996 that TWA Flight 800 crashed. The
government says it found no evidence to support theories that a mis-
sile downed the plane. Goelz quickly realized he knew O’Meara
from previous incarnations. She had pursued the missile theory
while working as chief of staff to Representative Michael Forbes,
then a New York Republican who had questioned whether there had
been a terrorist on the plane, and she had worked on an Oliver Stone
docu-drama about TWA 800 that the filmmaker was preparing for
ABC before the project was cancelled. “She really believes that the
U.S. Navy shot this thing and that there was a fleet of warships,”
Goelz says. O'Meara did not return calls, but Insight Managing
Editor Paul Rodriguez called her previous jobs irrelevant. “She has
working knowledge of an issue, it's like saying someone who
worked as a tax accountant has a bias towards tax accountancy. If
anyone has questions about her bias, wait until they see a printed
product finished. It’s just carping about an aggressive reporter.”

Goelz had contacted Kurtz within an hour of the interview, which
was tape-recorded and leaves no doubt as to who raised the con-
spiracy issue (it wasn’'t O’Meara). Kurtz ran his piece within forty-
eight hours of the interview —days before O’Meara completed the
article she was working on.

I have several questions and comments about Kurtz’s piece. First
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of all, I can’t for the life of me figure out what is newsworthy about it.
If a reporter being aggressive is big news, then we should be seeing
articles like this everywhere all the time. Most reporters are pushy,
whether they’re asking the right questions or not. Its clear that Goelz
got in touch with Kurtz to write the article. Could it be that this high-
caliber journalist stooped so low as to write a piece the sole purpose
of which was to make another journalist look bad?

Kurtz writes about O’Meara’s “previous incarnations” as if they
were big minuses in her current career. O’'Meara’s long experience
with the TWA 800 story was the reason she managed to get the addi-
tional radar information in the first place. I disagree with Rodriguez
that her previous jobs were irrelevant. Her previous jobs were utterly
pertinent to covering the TWA story. (Why do you think CBS hired
James Kallstrom as their law enforcement consultant after he retired
from the FBI's TWA 800 task force? Same difference.) She had more
documentation on, and experience with, this story than ten regular
reporters. I can’t help feeling that Goelz used Kurtz to publicly bite
back at her. Also, one correction, Mr. Kurtz: The Oliver Stone piece
was not a docu-drama; it was a straight-up newsmagazine piece.

This concludes the Enquirer segment of this essay, but please,
don’t let the gossipy, backbiting tone distract you from the main
point: Don'’t let official sources use you as a mouthpiece to attack a
fellow journalist—or anyone else for that matter. As Ted Koppel put
it, “Aspire to decency. Practice civility toward one another. Admire
and emulate ethical behavior wherever you find it.”

PLUS CA CHANGE, PLUS C’EST LA MEME CHOSE
(THE MORE THINGS CHANGE,
THE MORE THEY STAY THE SAME)

On July 17, 2001, five years almost to the hour that TWA Flight 800
blew up off the coast of Long Island, New York, on its way to Paris, I
sat down to begin the first draft of this chapter. A few minutes into my
efforts, I received notice that the government’s TWA 800 damage-con-
trol buzzsaw is still firmly in place.

The notice came in the form of an e-mail from Emmy-winning
documentary film producer Jack Cashill. Lawyer Greta Van Susteren
of O.]. Simpson fame had invited Cashill to appear on her 7:30 pM.
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CNN show, The Point, to talk about Silenced, Cashill’s recently released
investigative documentary on the official investigation into the TWA
800 crash.

Cashill’s e-mail arrived at 5:45 PM., a little less than two hours
before he was to go on the show:

Just got the call I was half expecting. CNN cancelled. No one from
the NTSB [National Transportation Safety Board], FBI, etc. will do
the show with me. CNN says that I can’t do the show myself because
that would not be ‘responsible journalism.” The NTSB folks, how-
ever, may appear by themselves. That is ‘responsible journalism.’
The producer and Greta Van Susteren are furious. Not their fault.
This came from the top. Yesterday, when this was set up, there was
[sic] no conditions put on it. They told me I probably would do it
alone. The standards for responsible journalism seem to have
changed over night. . .. If you ever needed a textbook case of what
is wrong with the media, this is it.

I put in a call to Cashill’s contact on Van Susteren’s show to con-
firm what he wrote in his e-mail. Her voice mail picked up. I left a
message, but she didn’t call back. I finally spoke to someone who said
that they'd been deluged with calls on this matter and that all calls
had to be referred to CNN's public relations department. I told this
person that I didn’t want to play that game, that I just wanted to run
Cashill’s e-mail by someone over there to check its accuracy. The
person agreed to talk to me as an unidentified source.

The person told me that the show’s executive producer made the
decision not to allow Cashill to go on alone. “We had no idea we were
going to run into this problem,” the source said. Then the source told
me that the NTSB’s Jim Hall and Peter Goelz both refused to appear
on the show with Cashill, and that Hall would be going on alone.
Then why, I asked, if it’s not “responsible journalism” for Cashill to go
on alone, is it “responsible journalism” for Jim Hall to go on alone?
Because, said the source, Hall is a “legitimate news guest.” Then,
slightly defensively, the source quickly added this about Cashill:
“Lots of people warned us about this guy.”

The “legitimate news guest” —as opposed to what in this case—
the “illegitimate news guest?” In cases of stories dealing with sensitive
issues or exposing high-level corporate or government malfeasance,
legitimate news guests are often official spokespeople with big titles
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who deliberately do one of two things when facing the press. They
deliberately mislead or outright lie to the reporter. Or, they simply
don’t address your question but instead talk a lot and say nothing (this
is a favorite with politicians) until their time —or yours—runs out.

What I have to say to a reporter or correspondent who accepts at
face value anything an “official” source or a “legitimate news guest”
has to say about a sensitive issue or an explosive event like TWA 800
is simple: Don’t do it. Whether you're a big network’s ten-million-
dollar man or some Podunk paper’s ten-thousand-a-year cub
reporter, you can bet your booties that your “legitimate news guest”
from the FBI or the NTSB or the DEA or Congress is going to lie to you
at some point. Hell, even the president of the United States himself
isn't above wagging his finger at a camera and lying to the whole
damned country. Far too often, legitimate news guests are invited on
shows where the correspondent’s producers simply haven’t done
their homework. The results, in terms of meeting basic journalistic
standards of conveying the truth, are disastrous.

Van Susteren’s chat with Jim Hall is an example. I'm going to
deconstruct her encounter with him on her program and show you
why. I'll begin with the introduction she read (she may or may not
have written it by herself), which was very politically correct and
downright biased:

At first, people suspected that a bomb went off on the plane. But a
painstaking search brought up most of the shattered pieces of the
747 for investigators to reconstruct. Their conclusion: an electrical
spark probably ignited vapors in the jet's empty fuel tank, vapors
caused by the heat of air conditioning units located just under the
tank. Just two months ago, the government ordered airlines and
plane manufacturers to change the way fuel tanks are designed,
repaired, and operated.

Here’s how I read the subtext in Van Susteren’s introduction: inves-
tigators worked their butts off (that’s the “painstaking search” part)
and finally concluded —although they can’t prove it (that’s what the
word “probably” tells you) —that an electrical spark caused the plane to
explode. And, they’re doing something about it (albeit belatedly).

Next comes the intro’s grabber, the sensational part that’s sup-
posed to make you want to hear what the legitimate news guest—
former NTSB Chairman Jim Hall —has tc say:



Is that the end of the story? And what about the conspiracy theorists
who keep insisting the jet actually was shot down?

Now she’s telling you to think that anyone who doesn’t buy the
government’s unproven theory, anyone who thinks the jet may have
been shot down, is a “conspiracy theorist.” Tacitly attached to the
term “conspiracy theorist” are all kinds of other nouns and adjectives
like “goofball,” “nutcake,” “bottomfeeder” (Jim Kallstrom’s personal
favorite), “crazy,” and so on. Using insulting and false labels to mar-
ginalize dissenting or politically incorrect voices is a ploy that gov-
ernment and corporations as well as the press use on a daily basis.

Van Susteren cuts right to the chase after her intro. She asks Jim
Hall a straight yes or no question: “Jim, can you say with one hundred
percent certainty that the people who think that this was shot down —
this flight was shot down, that they are wrong?”

Jim responds with the classic don’t-answer-the-question-just-talk-
a lot-and-say-nothing ploy. He goes on for over a minute (an eternity
in TV time) about the victims and the investigation, and as he moves
to a higher level of inanity by talking about how this “accident” is
comparable to that of a Delta jetliner downed by wind shear in that
they are both tragedies that have resulted in “great advances in avia-
tion safety,” Van Susteren interrupts him:

“Then does that mean, Jim, that you are one hundred percent cer-
tain that these —that the conspiracists [emphasis mine] who some say
that they saw a white light traveling skyward, uh, zigzagging, disap-
pearing and then an orange ball of fire—can you say with one hun-
dred percent certainty that they’re wrong?”

There she goes with that “conspiracist” stuff again. But this time,
Van Susteren gets credit for being the dog that won't let go of a bone.

Hall’s second response, particularly on the heels of his first long-
winded answer, tells me that he is trying to avoid outright lying. He
succeeds with a Bill Clintonesque semantic maneuver that would get
him off the hook in a court of law (Hall has a law degree). The average
viewer probably didn’t pick up on it, but Van Susteren, who is a
lawyer, probably did: “Greta, in my mind [emphasis mine],” Hall says,
“with one hundred percent certainty, our investigators based on the
facts that they developed, uh, uh, they are wrong, they are incorrect.”
The subtext here is that by using the words “in my mind” Hall is only
conveying a personal opinion, not an objective certainty. He’s doing
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this to avoid stating as a fact that his investigators are right and the
“conspiracists” wrong. “In my mind” is followed by “with one hun-
dred percent certainty,” creating a strong impression of factuality
when again, he’s only conveying a personal opinion.

This unquestioning, uncritical, soapbox-providing, ersatz jour-
nalism has got to stop. This censorship via disinviting dissenting
voices—in this case, an award-winning reporter—who have dug
around and unearthed evidence that official sources don’t want aired
on a mass medium is not just shameful, it's downright dangerous.

RAISON D’ETRE

If ever there were a time when disseminating disinformation via offi-
cial sources, when uncritical, uninformed, and inane reporting were
dangerous, it's now. The most amazing act of terrorism ever seen on
this planet occurred on September 11, 2001. Two kamikaze planes
piloted by angry, it seems, Muslim fundamentalists on a jihad, dove
into the World Trade Center towers. Now, more than ever, we need a
critical press willing to dig deep and cut the stenographer-to-official-
sources act. We need to find out why and how this could happen. At
this time, when our lives are threatened and plans for hostilities are
being made and carried out on our behalf, we need to be vigilant and
to stay well informed.

That is part of what the power of the press should be used for.
Information about our government’s activities here and abroad with
respect to this “War on Terrorism” is being tightly controlled. We have
now reached a point in the history of our nation where our leaders
speak openly and often about controlling our access to information
and protecting the truth with lies. Even more chilling, we’ve been told
to “watch” what we say and do. In such a climate, reporters must be
astute and creative to get to the truth and get it out. While great cau-
tion must be taken not to report anything that would jeopardize those
out there putting their lives on the line for us, we have to be careful not
to allow ourselves to be completely led by the nose either. Read
respected publications put out by the foreign press. They’re not subject
to the same constraints that America’s mainstream press has to endure
when it comes to reporting on American affairs. Communicating with
people directly involved in the events you are covering is paramount.
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I've had plenty of negative things to say about official sources, but
I do want to add here that they don’t always lie. Nonetheless, the
press should follow the Ronald Reagan lesson plan for dealing with
sources that may or may not be honest. Like Ronald Reagan with the
Soviets, the press often has no choice but to deal with official sources.
Reagan had to communicate, negotiate, and even break bread with
Mikhail Gorbachev. But when it came to accepting his word at face
value about the size and makeup of the Soviet arsenal, Reagan smiled
his thousand-watt smile and said these now-famous words: “Trust,
but verify.” The subtext here is, I'm not just going to trust you, I'm
going to check out everything you say.

So, trust but verify. Hang that on your walls in big bold letters,
dear up-and-coming colleagues and all those who have forgotten the
“verify” part. In my view, journalists are this nation’s last line of
defense for keeping all of us from becoming a nation of expendable
cockroaches. This, I believe, is our real raison d’étre.
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COAL MINE CANARIES

David E. Hendrix

Hendrix has thirty-five years in print journalism, divided
almost evenly between reporting and editing. He is currently
assistant metro editor for The Press-Enterprise in Riverside,
California, where he has won writing awards for breaking
news and investigative stories. He has directed reporters or
reported himself on national and international stories such as
the mass kidnapping of twenty-six school children in Cali-
fornia, Stealth Fighter development ten years before its
acknowledged existence, Cold War NATO defense plans,
missing Vietnam War servicemen, the illegal transfer of sur-
plus military aircraft to private aerial firefighting contractors,
the crash of TWA Flight 800, and U.S. anti- and counterter-
rorism programs. He has also appeared as an expert witness in
county superior court and before the U.S. Senate and provided
evidence to U.S. Congressional sources.

That's exactly how I felt: used.

I'm sure my exasperation showed when the young man intro-
duced himself as a driver for the Bob Dole for President organization.
My rush trip from California to Washington, D.C., was supposed to be
about the TWA Flight 800 disaster and investigation, not someone’s
eleventh-hour bid to win a presidential election.

Frankly, I now felt somebody was trying to exploit my newspaper
and me by building on what we had uncovered in the three months
since Flight 800’s midair explosion killed 230 passengers and
crewmembers just off New York’s Long Island coast. There were
rumors that friendly fire blew the Boeing 747 jumbo jet apart on July
17,1996, but more than a dozen federal agencies publicly proclaimed
that that was impossible because no military exercises were sched-
uled near the scene.

151
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We of The Press-Enterprise uncovered unimpeachable government
evidence in late August that, contrary to public statements, U.S. mili-
tary training zones were active when Flight 800 went down. On
October 4, we printed the information and a graphic disclosing which
zones were activated, including one a few miles from the disaster. We
weren’t reporting that U.S. military or other agencies did shoot down
the jetliner, but we were disclosing the lies we had discovered.

That story and the continued false statements out of government
agencies were what prompted this flight to Washington on October
24, 1996. An ex-CIA agent, a World Health Organization official, and
others told my editors and me that important congressmen “from
both sides of the aisle” felt that something about the crash was being
covered up by U.S. officials but didn’t know what and didn’t know
which questions to ask.

Could I come to Washington, at their expense, and tell the con-
gressmen or their staff members the questions they needed to ask
crash investigators? They, then, would make the inquiries and give
the answers to us first.

It wouldn’t be my first trip to D.C. as an expert witness or to dis-
cuss with congressional investigators what wasn’t being asked in
major inquiries. I had been interrogated and consulted about the
search for American servicemen missing from the Vietnam War and
about a federal program that illegally transferred surplus military air-
craft to private aerial-firefighting contractors.

As in the other issues, our stories in The Press-Enterprise turned up
information that other media had missed or appeared to be uninter-
ested in pursuing.

[ sometimes felt like a coal mine canary, the bird that miners use
to detect poisonous gas. If the bird suddenly quits chirping and keels
over dead, the miners know they have to get out fast. Singing solo in
such conditions can be lonely and frightening, but singing is prefer-
able to silence. Miners learn to listen for the canary —or its silence.

So, here I was in Washington, D.C., a few minutes past midnight,
with a Dole for President driver as my guide. I doubted he was taking
me to Clinton Reelection Committee headquarters for a joint conference.

How did I get here? Where was this story taking me and my
newspaper, whose editors had the courage to print many stories other
newspapers sometimes ran from and then sniped at? Why was a
160,000-circulation “mainstream” daily on the edge of California’s



HENDRIX COAL MINE CANARIES 153

Southern California deserts investigating an aviation accident that
took place above an ocean three thousand miles away? Because of
previous good work we did.

This business is like the food chain: small fish lead to bigger ones,
which lead to even bigger. Good cop reporters eventually run across
corruption involving people bigger than the corner bookie. Maybe it’s
the bookie’s customers.

My years chasing prisoners of war (POWs) led through many cor-
ridors and uncovered legal and illegal activity connected to U.S.
defense agencies, contractors, and intelligence agencies. Along the
way, I picked up good inside sources who fought the illegal activities.

They sometimes call when least expected.

One such source had helped me immeasurably in the series about
the illegal transfer of military aircraft to firefighting contractors. I had
never quoted him in a story. Until his call one hot August afternoon
in 1996, his role simply was as a trusted, proven guide.

“You need to look into the TWA Flight 800 crash,” he told me.
“You'll find it was a case of friendly fire.”

If I hadn’t known him, I would have thought him delusional.
There had been some speculation about such a thing, much of it on
the Internet, but most people still believed a terrorist bomb or missile
brought the plane down. Actually, I and some of my other aviation
sources thought the Flight 800 crash might be a matter of age catching
up to an older Boeing 747-100. I had considered doing a story about
that possibility.

I really didn’t want this call. I was in the midst of a rare extra day off
and halfway through mowing my lawn. And after thirty years in the busi-
ness, I knew these types of allegations never end in a nice, neat package.
I didn’t need another years-long story with no discernable ending.

I asked him how he knew. He said some navy colleagues, men
who supervised and monitored military and civilian air communica-
tions along the East Coast, told him. They used to work for him. They
were on duty the night of July 17 and heard the military communica-
tions. My source said it was a training exercise gone awry. The sce-
nario included a drug plane being shot down, but somebody acci-
dentally launched a missile and Flight 800 became an actual target.
They heard somebody say, “Get the ships out of here.”

“How trustworthy are these people?” I asked.

“Very,” he said. He had worked with them when he used to
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supervise the scheduling of the military operating areas, or MOAs as
the training zones are known. I hadn’t known that much about his
navy career and knew nothing about the MOAs. He gave me some
more details, and we ended the phone conversation.

Damn! This wasn’t my bailiwick, and I was almost sure we
wouldn’t get into TWA 800. The crash was on the other side of the
continent, and the FBI had the case well in hand. Besides, it was my
day off. I stood at my kitchen counter and pondered calling my boss
or pretending the phone exchange hadn’t happened.

But this source had never been wrong before. And he knew the
gigantic nature of what he was telling me now. I could envision the
story about the exercises breaking three or four weeks downstream
and me telling my editors that I had known the story a month earlier
but hadn’t told them.

So I called my boss, Metro Editor Norm Bell, just to be on the
record, and told him who called. To my surprise, Norm told me to
come in and work the story for a couple of hours, and see where it led.
I reminded him I would be on overtime. He told me the company
could afford it, especially if it turned out to be good.

I spent a couple of hours and then a couple of days. And then a
couple of months and several years. We found two major problems:
outright deception within the investigation and a seeming predispo-
sition by national media to accept whatever top officials “leaked” out.
As a doctor friend of mine says, it sounds like journalism by urology:
The biggest leaker wins.

I've had reporters tell me they could not educate themselves
about the intricacies of fuel volatility, aerodynamics, military exer-
cises, or the difference between rocket fuel and glue. That’s not true.
It just takes time and resources.

Actually, I had no idea how to proceed in the beginning. No other
major stories or series were identical to this. And the bodies,
wreckage, and evidence were three thousand miles away.

The first thing I did was perform what I call the “Chicken Little”
test. If somebody says the sky is falling, the first thing I must do is
determine if a sky exists. No sky? Then it can’t be falling. There is a
sky? Has it the properties to fall, or has it ever fallen before? If so,
where, when, and under what circumstances? And so on, step by step.

I had to find out about these military operating areas. Where were
they?
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My source sent me to the local airport to buy East Coast aviation
maps, on which I would find the military operating areas. Their
number and proximity to shore amazed my editors and me. Flight 800,
and all other aircraft headed to or from Europe, had only about a
twelve-mile corridor in which to operate. It certainly created a narrow
target zone for potential terrorists. Flight 800’s wreckage and the bodies
inside rained down on the outskirts of Military Operating Area 106.

OK, so there was a sky. But that still didn’t prove a chunk of it had
fallen. No matter how good my source was previously, this was a new
subject, and his information had to be proved or disproved. Other
than him, I had no real contacts. His people didn’t want to talk, afraid
they might jeopardize their jobs. Ninety-one percent of the world’s
whistle-blowers face immediate job security problems.

So, I read everything I could find about the crash and began calling
official agencies. I anticipated ridicule and didn’t expect anybody to
say, “Oh, yeah, we shot the plane down.” I wasn’t disappointed. I
called more than a dozen official agencies, told them the story about
the alleged exercise and accident, and asked them what they knew.
Nada. Nothing. Zilch. Additionally, navy, FBI, Coast Guard, New York
Air National Guard, and Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) rep-
resentatives said there were no scheduled or unscheduled military or
any other type of operations or training exercises near where Flight
800 went down or in the area the night of July 17, 1996.

These are what I call “on-the-record” statements. The public infor-
mation officers, the type I usually get passed to because I'm not with
the New York Times or Washington Post, usually know only what
they're told. They take my questions, ask others who are authorized
to speak, and then pass the responses back to me. I know this. But it’s
important to build this official record. Sometimes they're told the
truth. Many times they're not.

“No friendly fire. No exercises, so how could there be?” every-
body responded. My source was outnumbered 13-1. I was ready to
tell my bosses “no story” when an unrelated call changed that.

Alongtime colleague and friend, freelance investigative journalist
Jim Sanders, called to discuss our mutual interests: The abandonment
of American POWs in Southeast Asia and the secret return of some of
these men.

Jim and another journalist colleague, Mark Sauter, had written
two scholarly books about the U.S. POWs missing from all American



wars in the 1900s. Independently, I had written stories for more than
a decade about the issue.

Coincidentally, Jim and I had met the morning after TWA Flight
800 exploded in midair. His wife, Liz, was a TWA flight attendant and
cabin safety-training supervisor. The couple were visiting Liz's
mother in rural Riverside County. Jim and I had an appointment with
an intelligence source to discuss secret U.S.-Vietnam negotiations for
American servicemen in the mid-1980s.

We did that interview, but the Flight 800 issue promptly took over
Jim and Liz’s lives. They knew many of the fifty-two TWA people
killed in the crash, and Liz had worked the Paris flight many times.
TWA officials called her and told her to return to help deal with the
disaster’s aftermath.

Jim and I hadn’t talked since that day, so I told him I was working
the Flight 800 story. That’s odd, he said, because he was too. Some
TWA employees, aware that he was an investigative journalist and ex-
cop, asked if he could look into the crash.

Some TWA employees, including ones who had worked on the
specific Boeing 747 that exploded, were part of the National Trans-
portation Safety Board’s (NTSB) investigative teams and were sharing
some of their intimate information. Jim told me that friendly fire was
among the possibilities being discussed. I told him about the call from
my source. Jim’'s source was totally different, so I called his person,
who told me about the friendly fire rumors.

My original source’s information was better than rumor but
hadn’t been proved. The TWA rumors were connected to people
inside the accident investigation but unsubstantiated. Rumors by def-
inition are general talk not based on definite knowledge. Gossip. That
doesn’t mean the information is true, false, or unfounded; it means
the speaker is spreading somebody else’s information.

My boss told me to put everything into story form and see what
it looked like. I did. It looked like a story that reported interesting
rumors surrounding a major investigation. Nothing substantiated. No
first-person account.

One of my cardinal rules is to try to keep my sources separated if
they don’t know each other. Source A’s confirmation of source B’s
information is not confirmation if A got it from B. If A and B both got
it from C, it certainly is not independent confirmation. I know of one
intelligence agency in which a person at one desk will call a reporter,
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“leak” information, and a person at the next desk will “verify” or “con-
firm” the information. That’s not confirmation: that’s manipulation.

Anyway, Norm passed the completed story to our managing
editor, Mel Opotowsky, a journalist of great integrity and national
standing who has no fear of man, God, or beast. He looked at the
piece, thought it interesting, but without a hook for us to run. Keep it,
he said. Something might come along for us to use it.

A story did break that said faint traces of explosives found on
Flight 800 cabin debris, thought initially to point to a bomb or missile,
probably were residue left from a June 10 exercise on the plane for a
bomb-detection dog in St. Louis. That disclosure seemed to take a lot
of punch out of national reporting that looked at a bomb or missile as
a possible cause of the deaths of 230 people.

Nobody examined the bomb-sniffing exercise to see if it were true.
That proved to be a grievous error for everybody —victims’ families,
investigators, journalists, and the nation. I'll discuss that later.

I continued poking for some authentication that military-style exer-
cises near Long Island had occurred the night Flight 800 went down.
My original source told me to push the FAA for its July 17, 1996, flight
controller logs, which would tell the status of the northeastern MOAs.

On Sunday, August 25, Mel called me at home. He said that a New
York Times story for Monday might be the piece in which to sandwich
my reporting about the friendly fire rumor. The Times storv was about
Long Island photographer Linda Kabot, whose July 17 snapshot at a
political fundraiser returned with a strange object in the background
sky. The cigar-shaped object looked like it might have something fiery
coming out of one end. Was it a missile? A drone? The FBI had taken
the negatives and photos, except for one held by the photo lab, and
hadn’t returned them or disclosed test results.

Could an abbreviated version of my piece insert into the Times
story? Sure. “Beyond Linda Kabot’s photo, a related rumor about the
TWA crash keeps making the rounds,” our insert began. “It does not
involve terrorists, but a supposed exercise that went awry involving
units of the Coast Guard, Customs, Drug Enforcement Agency and
Air National Guard operating in the vast restricted military practice
area off the Long Island shore.”

The insert included additional information, and concluded:

“But according to federal officials, there are some major holes in
the story:



* There was no exercise that night.

* The air space was available for civilian use.

* The non-military agencies don’t even have anti-aircraft guns,
let alone missiles.

* And there is no national plan to shoot down drug smugglers’
planes.”

I read the story in Monday morning’s paper with everybody else
and figured that was the end of The Press-Enterprise’s involvement in
the Flight 800 case.

I was so wrong.

The next day, an FAA source faxed me the flight controllers’ logs I
had sought for weeks. They proved the world and I had been lied to,
often and frequently. A large area within twelve miles of where Flight
800 exploded not only was active, off-limits to nonmilitary aircraft, and
considered dangerous to civilian air traffic, but another large area nor-
mally off-limits to the military had been reserved for navy operations.
The Navy P-3 Orion antisubmarine aircraft that was almost over Flight
800 at the time the jetliner exploded was headed for the special zone for
a hide-and-seek game with the nuclear submarine USS Trepang.

I showed the logs and map to my editors. I can still see us, check-
ing the FAA documents against the aviation maps. We kept asking the
same question, over and over: Why were we lied to? The three FAA
pages did not, and still don’t, prove a missile shot down Flight 800 or
that U.S. equipment was involved in the disaster. But it answered one
of my Chicken Little questions: Were military operating areas near
TWA 800 “hot” at the time it exploded, and were there exercises
scheduled in them? Yes.

The flow of information accelerated for several weeks. We learned
that at least one U.S. sub, and maybe two, were relatively close to the
disaster site. I say “relatively” because the FBI and navy said the two
navy assets closest to Flight 800 were the nonlethal P-3 and the guided
missile cruiser USS Normandy 185 miles south.

Well, that was patently false. It took almost two years, but we
proved through the navy’s own information that, minimally, three or
more subs, a patrol plane, and aircraft carrier exercises were between
Flight 800 and the Normandy.

And the Normandy, according to official navy records and state-
ments, was in four different places at the time of the crash, ranging
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from 185 to 290 miles south. The southernmost site adds more subs, a
guided missile frigate, aircraft carrier, and carrier jets to the pool of
military units operating in the area that U.S. investigators proclaimed
to be in the “vicinity of the crash” and void of exercises.

Radar data the NTSB released for its December 1997 hearings,
almost eighteen months after the Flight 800 incident and our story,
revealed four other mystery tracks “consistent with the speed of a
boat” within three to six miles of the jumbo jet’s course at the time of
its midair breakup. None returned to offer any assistance.

The names of the vessels remain undisclosed and the FBI says it has
no idea what the closest vessel is. A memo released under our Freedom
of Information Act (FOIA) request quotes a navy captain at the Pen-
tagon as telling an Atlantic Fleet officer to keep the names of three mer-
chant ships that could have been close to Flight 800 “in-house Navy for
the time being.”

But we didn’t know in September 1996 to what extent the official
record had been falsified, only that it had.

If there were nothing to cover up, why was there a cover-up?

I called the FBI's New York office, which was handling the inves-
tigation, and asked if the bureau wanted a copy of the FAA docu-
ments that contradicted agency and navy statements about no nearby
military exercises. “No,” I was told. I called the navy and then the
Department of Defense to ask about the discrepancies. Their repre-
sentatives said the FBI had forbidden them to say anything about
Flight 800-related issues.

I beg your pardon? The FBI had forbidden the navy and Depart-
ment of Defense? In thirty years of covering military issues, some even
more significant than this, I had never heard such a thing. Defense agen-
cies always bristled at the suggestion that they couldn’t handle their
own issues. In this case, they appeared eager to hide behind the FBI.

One navy spokesman finally told me he could not answer ques-
tions on the phone about anything that related to Flight 800 issues. But,
he said, if the same questions were submitted as part of a FOIA
request, I could get the answers. I took the officer’s response for the
gift it was and immediately submitted a request with thirty-seven
questions. It took months to get the invaluable documents in response.

Because we had no sources inside the Pentagon, Mel turned to
one of his former reporters, Knut Royce of Newsday. We fed Knut the
FAA documents, and he got some responses, which he fed us. They



were very different from what was being printed elsewhere, and one
navy official confirmed a P-3 versus sub operation.

“This had to be a command-and-control exercise or exercise to
qualify somebody to do something or whatever,” a retired senior Pen-
tagon officer said. The “whatever” could range from missions with the
army’s Special Forces to exercises with a foreign navy’s submarine.

Said one navy official:

Keep this on background. Submariners get freaked out when you
talk about what they’re doing. We have no subs with surface-to-air
missiles. But there’s nothing to say that if you're on a littoral [shore-
line] operation with Special Forces you couldn’t put Stingers [mis-
siles] on them. The Russians had worked with a rocket system on
their subs because one of the things that scared them to death was
our anti-submarine helos [helicopters]. They always wanted a way
of last resort to fire back.

We ran our story Friday, October 4, complete with a map-graphic
and the responses Knut got for us.
Our lead:

On the night TWA Flight 800 exploded in midair, nearby military
training areas covering thousands of square miles were assigned to
exercises deemed potentially dangerous to civilian aircraft, Navy
and federal aviation records reveal.

Solid clues as to what caused the July 17 disaster continue to
elude investigators. Officials say a missile, bomb or mechanical
failure probably caused the crash. And unsubstantiated rumors per-
sist that the plane was brought down by “friendly fire.”

Details of what was happening in the active military training
areas remain an official secret more than two months after the
nation’s second worst air crash killed 230 people. But government
records contradict weeks of official denials that any significant
amount of military activity was scheduled the night of July 17.

A sidebar described the narrow corridor Flight 800’s crew had to
use because of the scheduled exercises.

The stories were to be transmitted to the Associated Press
Thursday night, but our computer link didn’t work. Therefore, the
stories didn’t get the distribution they deserved.

Some of our readers, however, contacted other publications, and
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our information began circulating. The chief U.S. correspondent for
the French magazine Paris Match called, and I sent him the FAA doc-
uments and a copy of our map-graphic. Paris Match printed their ver-
sion and credited The Press-Enterprise. Almost simultaneously, I was
invited to fly to D.C.

So, here I was in room 716 of the Hyatt Regency Washington,
mulling what to do about the scheduled meeting. Although it was
1 A.M,, I called the go-betweens and told them that if the meeting were
taking place at Dole campaign headquarters I wouldn’t attend and
would write a story about the one-sided rendezvous. The meeting
was switched to a law firm’s conference room, where at about 10 A.M.,
I met the ex-CIA agent and Bob Dole’s chief of policy, Richard Fore.
The wife of an aide to Senator Bob Smith of New Hampshire was my
chauffeur. So much for “both sides of the aisle.” I gave them a copy of
our October 4 story, the list of questions I asked the navy to respond
to, and left.

Fore said it was too late to affect the election anyway.

The trip to Washington produced nothing tangible.

In November, days after Clinton defeated Dole for the presidency,
ex-Kennedy White House press chief Pierre Salinger entered the
Flight 800 mix. He cited the Paris Match story about the military
activity and a document that he said intelligence agents gave him. The
“document” turned out to be a copy of an Internet-distributed asser-
tion that a U.S. Navy ship accidentally downed Flight 800.

In response, navy spokesman Rear Admiral Edward Kristensen,
who was directing salvage operations, said in a national press confer-
ence the P-3 and the Normandy 185 miles south were “the only two
assets that the Navy had operating off the East Coast . . . in the vicinity
of the TWA 800 crash site.”

How many times would that response go unchallenged?

I persuaded my editors that we should not get involved in
Salinger’s allegations but should stick with our own investigating. I
have nothing against Mr. Salinger; I just felt he might not be receiving
the best advice.

Within the investigation, officials were shifting toward pinning
the explosion on some type of undiscovered mechanical failure. Only
15,000 to 20,000 pounds of the approximately 370,000-pound airplane
remained on the Atlantic Ocean’s floor. No other major media seemed
to have picked up on or to have been investigating the misstatements
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about military activity. And quite honestly, just because the govern-
ment was prevaricating about that issue did not prove “friendly fire.”

But it did keep us searching. If I find my dog dead of gunshot
wounds at my neighbor’s fence, that doesn’t prove he killed it. How-
ever, if my neighbor said he was gone that weekend but really was
home with his gun club, it makes me wonder.

At times, I felt our voice to be the only one challenging the official
chorus. The only canary in the coal mine. Thankfully, I found others.
Several paid a dear price for their independence. Kristina Borjesson,
then an independent producer with CBS Reports who also was devel-
oping stories for 60 Minutes, called me from New York. She got my
name and number from Paris Match. She had won an Emmy for inves-
tigative reporting that she’d done for Legacy of Shame, a CBS docu-
mentary about migrant farm workers. Borjesson said she was con-
cerned about the general media’s seemingly blind acceptance of the
government’s take on Flight 800. Her sources were providing dif-
ferent views from inside the investigation, talking about missile and
explosives evidence that wasn’t getting proper consideration and
about the FBI’s inordinate grip on other agencies. She said her execu-
tive producer had assigned her to look into the crash and share any-
thing she uncovered with CBS Nightly News first and then any other
show that might be interested. Borjesson said she was concerned that
her reporting was not going to go anywhere at CBS Nightly News
because it contradicted the information a Washington correspondent
was getting from Pentagon sources, who were saying the crash was
caused by a mechanical failure.

I was alternately pleased and concerned: pleased that a journalist
at the national level was critically reviewing the investigative process
but concerned that people in a major news outlet seemed worried
about upsetting the establishment.

I also connected with reporters or publishers of news magazines
and aviation industry publications who were concerned about gov-
ernment misstatements or pieces that didn’t fit mechanical failure as
a cause.

In early 1997, I got another call from Jim Sanders. A major source
within the investigation had supplied him with documents showing
how Flight 800 debris landed in the ocean. Jim used a computer
spreadsheet to collate the information and found the plane had unrav-
eled right to left just behind the wingfront. An NTSB metallurgy study
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suggested that the plane was falling apart before the center fuel tank
exploded. Critical pieces inside the tank seemed to be burned after the
plane began disintegrating, not before. I sent a copy of the metallurgy
study, with its graphics, to a longtime source who is an aviation expert
and crash investigator. I asked him to read the report and tell me what
he thought. He said that the information told him that the plane was
falling apart before the fuel tank exploded. He especially was inter-
ested in drawings that showed unexplained gouges on the plane’s
exterior, just above the right wingfront. The gouges were covered with
soot deposited after the gouges were made. The aluminum skin,
which began peeling when the aircraft was breached, also stressed
inward at this point. All this led the expert to conclude that something
bumped into the aircraft before it began falling apart. (The gouges
also were in the area where traces of explosive chemicals were found
on the aircraft’s exterior, but the metallurgy report did not deal with
such issues.) The FAA had told the White House hours after the explo-
sion that radar seemed to indicate a high-speed object was closing on
Flight 800 seconds before the disaster; NTSB officials wanted the FAA
to recant but FAA officials refused.

And then there was the red residue. After the computer work
revealed a clear, narrow path of initial destruction through the plane,
with three consecutive rows of seats among the first debris streaming
out, Jim’s source looked at the debris and said a red substance was on
the seatback fabric on all those rows. The source removed some small
pieces of the substance-laden fabric and mailed them to Jim, who had
them tested for contents. Meanwhile, alerted by Jim that he had this
material, I scouted for people who could tell me what solid fuel for
rockets might contain. Clanging inside my brain was what my original
retired navy source had told me just before my trip to Washington:
Have somebody check debris for evidence of solid fuel for rockets; if an
inert missile passed through the fuselage, it would leave a chemical
trail of fuel exhaust. I learned from experts that solid fuel for missiles is
a rather basic recipe of explosive ingredients mixed in differing pro-
portions, depending on the speed and distance you want the object pro-
pelled, as well as its size and weight. A rubber-based bonding agent
keeps the fuel components from separating. Solid fuel for rockets, when
ignited, generates a continuing, controlled explosion. Cars are moved
by the energy from controlled explosions inside the engine block.

Until Jim got the pieces of fabric, four media outlets, all bigger



than the newspaper for which I work, were interested in presenting
his information. Two bailed after he got the material. I was afraid that
Kristina Borjesson and CBS would present vital information before I
could, but the ball bounced into my court: Jim contacted me, asked if
we could present his evidence, and I talked to my editors.

Jim flew from Virginia to California and presented his informa-
tion, including results of an independent lab test of the red sub-
stance’s contents. A genuine rocket scientist told me the ingredients
and proportions were consistent with solid fuel for missiles. I had an
independent aviation and accident expert read the metallurgy report,
ensuring I didn’t set him up with any of my comments or other infor-
mation, and he said the evidence told him that the plane was falling
apart before the center fuel tank exploded. His conclusion: Something
external hit the plane and caused it to begin unraveling before fuel-air
vapors ignited in the center tank. A separate set of color graphics
showed that only two seats and passengers’ bodies in the forward
part of the aircraft had burn marks. If the fuel tank explosion and fire
ignited the disaster, where were the burn marks on the bodies and
cabin interior closest to the first flames?

My editors decided the public had a right to the information Jim
had acquired. They assigned another reporter to help me, and we
began writing, while our graphics department turned information
into understandable visual explanations. I had two long phone inter-
views with Jim’s inside source who had provided the documents and
material. On Friday, March 7, 1997, I called the New York office of
James Kallstrom, the assistant FBI director who was leading the
bureau’s investigation into Flight 800. It was the first time I got
through to him, personally. I told him the evidence we had, including
the lab report.

“There is a red residue trail but it has no connection to a missile,”
he told me. “I'm not going to get into it. There’s a logical explanation
but I'm not going to get into it.”

Had he told us what he thought it was, we could have postponed
publication, handled that question in about two days, and provided
additional information that could have helped the FBI and NTSB. But
he didn’t tell us, so we couldn’t tell him.

We had wanted to publish on Saturday, March 8, 1997, but several
problems prevented us. I was still writing, and my bosses wanted to
edit the copy calmly, not in a rush. Additionally, Pierre Salinger’s col-



league, Mike Sommer, wanted us to review and print excerpts of their
fifty-eight-page essay that contended the navy accidentally shot
down Flight 800. In return, we would get the right to copublish pic-
tures of FAA radar that showed a mystery blip closing with TWA
Flight 800. The earliest he could get the package to us from Paris was
Saturday morning our time. We waited, read the material, and
decided to print our own information and not get hitched to
Salinger’s wagon.

We published our package for the morning of Monday, March 10.
I faxed copies to the NTSB and Kallstrom’s office, as soon as the first
papers came off the press late Sunday night, and we sent electronic
copies to the Associated Press, which we had alerted beforehand.

The story exploded around the world.

“New evidence, much of it distilled from FBI and National Trans-
portation Safety Board documents, points to a missile as the cause of last
July’s crash of TWA Flight 800,” the lead story began. I wish I could take
credit for such a succinct lead, but my metro editor, Norm Bell, bailed
me out of my legalistic drafts and distilled it into readable English.

The stories, graphics, color photo of Jim’s mottled-red fabric, and
large bold-faced headlines made an incredible package. We even
shoved the index off the front page for the first time in anybody’s
memory. I went home a tired but satisfied reporter.

At 3 AM. I bolted upright in bed, gripped by a terrible panic.
Dreadful questions reverberated inside my head: What makes you
think you’re right? What makes you think you have what it takes to
do this story? What makes you think you haven’t dragged your news-
paper over a cliff, a fall from which it and you will never recover?

The fact that I had prayed a lot wouldn’t sway a jury. Sweat seeped
from each pore. In my mind, I went over each story and fact, line by
line. We not only had double-checked, we had triple, if not quadruple-
checked. We had not taken Jim at his word. We checked the informa-
tion independently and ensured the documents were real. I had
checked the debris recovery chart against latitude-longitude maps to
ensure the aircraft parts were recovered where Jim said they were. I
had found independent analysts who had no connection to Jim.

Finally settled in my mind, I went back to sleep, thankful for the
extra hour my bosses had given me because of the late nights.

Nothing I had ever done in my previous thirty years of journalism
prepared me for that Monday morning I walked into work. Phones
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were ringing incessantly, and news assistants could hardly keep up
with the messages.

Our stories were being reported worldwide. Radio and TV news-
casts were leading with our reports. Call slips from at least four dozen
news outlets, including talk shows and some European media orga-
nizations, were on my desk. Mel Opotowsky, my managing editor,
had taken some of the more important ones and responded to them,
especially ones that required an official Press-Enterprise spokesman. It
was heady, just like out of a movie, but scary. This was real. We were
smack in the middle of one of the biggest stories around.

We decided I would continue with the story, and Mel would
handle the media inquiries. We wanted the focus to remain on the
information, not the newspaper and/or me. We weren't the story; the
story was the story. That may sound simplistic, but it was an impor-
tant decision and invaluable lesson. I can’t imagine what would have
happened had I dissipated myself by responding to the media frenzy
or trying to justify the stories we did.

Other media organizations wanted our information, but none of
the majors I know of began their own really independent inquiry to
determine if what the government was telling them was true, except
for Borjesson. The Village Voice began carrying challenging stories by
freelance writer Robert Davey, but almost all others threw the infor-
mation overboard when the FBI said the red residue was adhesive,
aka glue. Glue?

Kallstrom told me where to go Monday morning. He said Jim had
used a good lab but that “the boys” used to handling such stories
would have asked what else the red stuff might have been and made
that inquiry before printing such a story. Well, I had asked him that
question three days earlier, but he said he wouldn’t tell me, so that
took care of asking him. But Monday, he was conciliatory, telling me
that he knew I was a sincere, honest reporter who had been led astray.
I avoided the argument. Knowing when to accept an offer, I asked
what I ought to look for, and he told me I might consider whether the
red residue was adhesive from 3M Corporation.

I thanked him, called 3M, and talked to their lead expert. I read
him the ingredients and proportions, and he said most of the same
elements were in adhesive but in much smaller proportions. Also,
with rubber bonding agents being part of solid fuel for rockets, some
adhesive would show up anyway.
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Jim had one piece of red-encrusted fabric left, which he wanted a
media organization to have tested independently. He shipped the evi-
dence to Borjesson, but the FBI discovered 60 Minutes had the fabric,
and CBS turned it over to officials at the FBI's request. CBS let Bor-
jesson go a few weeks later.

Nine months later, the NTSB would release a report that said the
“red residue” was 3M’s “Scotch Grip 1357 High Performance Contact
Adhesive.” The report prepared by a NASA chemist, however, said it
was impossible to determine if the product were used on the 747 seats
of Flight 800. The NASA chemist told me in August 1998 that the test
he was instructed to conduct determined that 1357 was present in the
samples he was given but that “there was other material in there.”

“At no time was I asked to analyze for or determine the presence
of materials which may also be found in solid rocket fuel,” the analyst
said in our August 10, 1998, story. He told me there were tests that
could have conclusively proved whether the red residue was missile
fuel or not, but that the NTSB had prohibited any additional tests.

We faxed the story, before we printed it, to the chemist to ensure
we had his comments accurate and in context, because of the story’s
significance: Given the opportunity to determine if the red residue
was consistent with solid fuel for rockets, the NTSB said no. It was
like testing a dead man’s blood for caffeine and refusing to test for
strychnine.

Besides, 3M’s Scotch Grip 1357 High Performance Contact Adhe-
sive is green, not red.

The story turned out to be my last for the newspaper about TWA
Flight 800, although I later did a chapter for Jim Sanders’s book, Altered
Evidence. He wrote it, the second of two books about the TWA 800
crash, after a Brooklyn federal grand jury indicted him and his wife on
charges of conspiring to steal pieces of debris from an airplane crash.
A jury convicted them in federal court after the judge ruled Sanders
and his wife could not argue they had received the evidence as part of
a First Amendment-protected journalistic investigation.

The chapter I wrote for Jim’s book dealt with the bomb-detection
exercise the St. Louis Airport Police and the FAA said was conducted
June 10, 1996, aboard Boeing 747 No. 17119, which a few weeks later
became the ill-fated TWA Flight 800 aircraft.

Early in the crash investigation, the FBI used that alleged June 10
exercise to explain away the trace amounts of PETN and RDX that



crash field tests found inside and outside 17119’s debris. PETN and
RDX are compounds found within explosives. PETN is more
common, while RDX, at the time of the crash, was manufactured only
for the U.S. military.

The FBI, in a letter to Rep. James Traficant (D-Ohio), gave its
account of the police officer’s bomb-detection exercise, with his dog,
aboard 17119. The officer hid several types of explosives aboard the
airplane and asked his dog to find the samples, which it did. The exer-
cise aboard the empty plane ended at noon, the FBI said. The police
officer did not follow usual protocol by having a training officer
observe and didn’t log the tail number of the airplane because he
wasn’t required to, the FBI said.

That story had more holes than Swiss cheese.

Company records reveal that the plane backed away from the ter-
minal at 12:35 P.M,, late on its trip to Hawaii with more than four hun-
dred passengers. With the help of Kay Pennington, an invaluable
researcher for many of my stories, I traced the pilot and copilot of
17119 plane on June 10. I talked to them. They said there’s no way the
plane could have been empty and available at the times the FBI report
says the bomb-detection exercise was taking place. The cockpit and
cabin crew for a 747 board the aircraft at least an hour before takeoff,
if not earlier. Passengers begin boarding at least forty-five minutes
before scheduled take-off, which was 11:45 A.M. Never, in their
twenty-plus year careers, did a bomb-detection exercise ever delay
the pilot or copilot of plane 17119, and they had never interrupted
such an exercise in progress, the two told me.

So, based on a report about an impossible inspection, the FBI
explained away evidence of explosive residue found inside and out-
side Flight 800.

A second Boeing 747 was empty and parked exactly opposite
plane 17119 in St. Louis the morning of the alleged bomb exercise. It
was plane 17117, Flight 800’s sister, and didn’t depart for New York
until more than an hour after 17119 left for Hawaii. That plane had
plenty of time for a bomb exercise. But it was never tested.

No other journalist had the story. We got it because I had to rely
on rank-and-file sources, thank goodness.

Although I was disappointed my paper didn’t run the story about
the alleged St. Louis bomb-detection exercise, I am proud of my pub-
lisher and editors for printing stories no other outlet seemed interested
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in pursuing. We had, with the government’s own words, proved the
untruths or misstatements government investigators and officials made
about the nation’s second deadliest air accident. They still haven’t found
the cause. They’'ve guessed at what they say they think it might be.

Let’s review:

They said: There were no nearby military exercises that day. Not

true.

They said: There were no military assets in the area other than a

P-3 and the USS Normandy. Not true.

They said: There was no evidence of missiles or explosives. Not

true.

They said: The debris had no evidence of explosives. Not true.

They said: The explosive residue found on the plane’s interior is

explained by an earlier search-dog exercise. Not true.

They said: Tests say red residue is adhesive. Not true. The adhe-

sive is green and the NASA scientist conducting NTSB
tests said he was not permitted to test for red residue’s
origin.

They said: The FBI and the military identified all ships and

planes in the area. Not true.

They said: The NTSB does not know what caused the center fuel

tank to explode. True.

The NTSB has no idea what all the FBI knows. True.

Okay. And the reason we should believe everything these investi-
gators tell usis...?

Other than Robert Davey for the Village Voice, and Kelly Patricia
O’Meara for Insight magazine, few regular reporters continued to
challenge the government’s official views about Flight 800's death.
Kelly, a respected congressional aide and researcher for eighteen
years before she turned journalist, provided invaluable assistance to
me while she was working for Representative Michael Forbes (R-N.Y.)
off whose district’s shores Flight 800 fell into the ocean.

One last observation before I close with some insights about jour-
nalism today. It troubles me how government agencies meddled with
news outlets in this story and how some media organizations let it
happen.

Case no. 1:

A navy official called my publisher, Marcia McQuern, in
November 1997 and told her the Flight 800 story was over because
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Pierre Salinger was quitting the active hunt for a cause. Therefore,
they said, there was no reason to respond to my inquiries about cer-
tain navy equipment. Marcia, a respected reporter and editor before
being appointed my newspaper’s chief executive, told the navy
officer we were not directed by Salinger’s actions, we would decide
whether we had a story or not and that the navy’s function was to
provide us the information to which we legally were entitled. None of
us had ever experienced such a call before. We ultimately got the
information and used it for stories.

Case no. 2:

Kristina Borjesson and Kelly O’'Meara contracted with a California
production company to produce a program hosted by Oliver Stone for
ABC Entertainment that would include interviews with Flight 800 dis-
aster witnesses, whose testimony the FBI asked the NTSB to exclude
from its December 1997 public hearings. Stone is famous—or infa-
mous—for his movie that portrays a conspiracy to assassinate Presi-
dent Kennedy. After officials objected to ABC, the ABC News Division
asked that the program be scuttled, arguing that viewers would get
mixed up seeing a news-style program produced by the entertainment
side. The truth is, every network’s news department should have inter-
viewed the witnesses years ago and presented a program with their
information. The networks all dutifully carried the government’s
opinion that the witnesses didn’t see what they saw. The American
public is smart enough to separate fact from fiction. That’s why the U.S.
Constitution requires jurors to be drawn from the general population.

Case no. 3:

After O’'Meara resigned from Representative Forbes’s staff, she
became an investigative journalist for the Washington Times’ Insight
magazine. She took along her insider’s knowledge of the mistruth the
government presented in the Flight 800 investigation. Eventually, she
asked for and obtained a copy of hours of radar tracks before and
after the crash. A careful, independent analysis showed more ships
and aircraft in the area than even I was aware of. I was envious of her
findings but glad they landed in the hands of someone with her
knowledge and tenacity. Of course, she took her findings to the NTSB
and asked their officials to explain. Basically, they said the informa-
tion wasn’t saying what it said. When she left, they called the rival
Washington Post, and said a conspiracy theorist reporter, once con-
nected with Oliver Stone, was going to publish a misguided story
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about ships and aircraft near TWA Flight 800. The Post published the
hit piece, generated by a government agency that’s commissioned to
get all the information to the public, not cover it up.

What has all this taught me? What should it teach you, as a reader,
and maybe as a journalist? What have I learned after more than thirty
years in this profession?

In the American system, when judges like the NTSB or FBI are
granted the authority to also serve as jurors, they decide whether
some type of evidence is insufficient or not. It therefore becomes offi-
cially insufficient, no matter how much information is generated to
the contrary. An official pronouncement of insufficiency does not
mean it actually is so, but the edict remains official and is repeated as
gospel for decades, maybe forever.

Journalists, with insulfficient time or desire to pursue a story for years
on end, take the quickest way out: They recite the official record and
depend on pronouncements or “leaks” from bureaucrats who helped
draft the official record or have a stake in the official edict. Reporting only
what they or the official records say is not journalism in its best form. It
simply is reporting: reporting what officials want you to repeat.

I think journalism in its best form is striving to find the truth, not
just what somebody says is the truth. Sometimes you begin with the
latter to find the former.

In the American system, a government source decides what con-
stitutes evidence. When the source or the government institution is
the accused, it therefore decides what constitutes evidence against
itself. It's fortunate that most criminals don’t have that same right.

Whatever editors are convinced of is what the readers will read or
the public will hear or see. A reporter can know everything in the
world, but without some editor’s authorization somewhere, the story
remains in the reporter’s brain. The reporter can be brilliant and the
editor superior, but in a disagreement, editors have the last word.

I have over and underreacted as a reporter and editor. The public
loses when that happens. An editor must ensure that he or she makes
the reporter prove the story. But editors also must ensure they do not
bend or kill stories to meet their own prejudices or hold the bar so
high that no amount proof will meet the test.

Editors have the power of life and death. Reporters have the
power of truth and deceit. Together, they are incredible, quarrelsome
rescuers or uncomprehending assassins of reality.




Reporters must approach each story as an explorer entering
uncharted territory. More inviting, maybe, they should approach each
story as if it were a lover whose body is being explored for the first
time. Such a sense will leave the reporter interested and attentive to
each detail, eager to learn more.

Each story, no matter how small, affects somebody, somewhere. A
reporter had better be ready to back up what he prints or speaks or
shows. In Turlock, California, when high school athletes didn’t like
stories I wrote, they egged my car.

I believe that journalism, a profession I consider one step below
being a minister for God, is corrupted in America. I didn’t say corrupt;
I said corrupted, and we are the most probable perpetrators. That’s
tragic. Because once an investigator is seduced by and depends on the
group he or she sets off to expose, the investigator, intentionally or
not, becomes part of a cover-up. Anybody waiting for an honest
report is deceived.

The rush for a figurative romantic success has too many journal-
ists —reporters and editors —sleeping with anybody at an official level
who will talk. The differences between a prostitute and call girl are
location and price, but a john is still a john. Too many journalists have
turned into johns.

Just because you read it in a big paper or see it on network TV
doesn’t make it so. The same holds true for small outlets and the
Internet. But, conversely, it doesn’t necessarily mean the information
isn’t so. What's the proof?

Be skeptical of people—including reporters. They —we —all have
our axes to grind and other people’s oxen to gore.

Reporters, as with most people and energy forces, usually follow
the path of least resistance. That means that you can lead many
reporters where you want them to go by opening the door you want
them to go through.

Aleak from a source is not aleak: it is information the source wants
to give you to lead you in a certain path. It's up to you to be wary of the
path and determine if integrity or duplicity is waiting as a reward. If it’s
the latter, what are you going to do when you find out that you’ve been
used to hoodwink the audience? Reporting a spokesman’s comments is
not reporting; it’s becoming the spokesman’s spokesman. Don'’t believe
everything you're handed, especially by a friend. Triple-check it before
you use it, and remain skeptical to the end.



Don’t expect to be loved at the end of a story, especially if it takes
a long time to develop or goes against the grain. Editors will
begrudge the extended time you're taking to prove or disprove some-
thing, and colleagues will think you're trying to create some type of
privileged job.

Government owes us a truthful explanation of events. In reality,
we are the government, but people by and large have abdicated
power and responsibility in return for safety, security, and conve-
nience. Let leaders lie to us and cheat as long as we have food, money,
and pleasure. Let somebody else take care of our children and parents
so we don’t have to be burdened with the responsibilities.

When the watchdog is asleep, it has become the weapon of the
enemy.

If excrement flows downbhill, it begins somewhere toward the top,
not the bottom.

Who owns your loyalty: the public or your sources?

A reporter for Newsday, which did yeoman work about much of
the crash and aftermath and won the Pulitzer Prize for its Flight 800
stories, told me at the NTSB'’s crash hearings in Baltimore that jour-
nalists really prefer at least one other media representative to echo a
reporter’s findings.

“No reporter likes to be out on a limb alone,” the reporter said.
“Well, nobody except maybe you.”

I laughed because it’s true. I would have preferred some other
“mainstream” media outlet to be reporting separately what I was. It is
lonely being alone, and I have awakened more than once with panic
attacks like the one I described. But I took the reporter’s observation
as a compliment.

The songs coal mine canaries sing may become irritating at times,
but smart people learn to appreciate their presence and listen for their
tunes. The silence of the canaries is a signal that the environment has
turned deadly.
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My journalistic training was pretty classic. When I was in col-
lege, Seymour Hersh came to visit the school paper (where I
lived), slouching against a counter in a cheap suit, to tell a group of
young writers how he’d run up his credit cards tracking down the
witnesses to the My Lai massacre. We gazed at him reverently. A
couple of years later, I worked at a daily newspaper in Philadelphia,
and the reporter at the next desk and I wrote a letter to legendary
newsman Harrison Salisbury to ask him whether we would ever get
an opportunity as good as the Pentagon Papers story. Salisbury wrote
back. “Every reporter who dedicates himself will get great stories,” he
advised, “just work at your craft.”

Back then that meant midnight to eight, working out of police
headquarters and rushing out on major crimes. One night the
overnight guy on the desk chewed me out for failing to report in
which leg a murder suspect was shot when a cop brought him down
in a subway tunnel —hey kid, right leg or left leg?

At that time the journalistic culture was already changing. News-
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rooms were beginning to look more and more like insurance offices.
Computers were crowding out the old Facit and Royal manuals. The
hardboiled reporters at my paper complained about the SYJs—
Serious Young Journalists —who were coming on to the job; kids like
me, from Ivy League schools, who were of a better class than the old
reporters. SYJs didn’t have a pint of whiskey in the desk drawer, they
saw themselves as godlike bearers of accurate information.

In the old culture you weren’t allowed to take yourself too seri-
ously. You were union. “Newspapers are classified as manufac-
turing,” an older reporter told me one day. You identified with cops
and with the clerks at City Council, and you were duty-bound to
cheat on your expenses and hit the Pen and Pencil bar when you fin-
ished a day’s work.

All that was going by the boards, and back then, a writer intent on
serious work, I was happy to see it go. Now I'm not so sure. Today’s
mainstream journalistic culture is a lot more responsible than my news-
paper was just twenty years ago. I'm still embarrassed by some of the
statements my paper made without checking them out very closely.
Libel law and professionalism have made reporting a lot more accurate.

But we've paid quite a price for that professionalism. When I
started, reporters didn’t identify with lawyers or city councilmen;
they identified with the middle class, and with underlings. Being
aggressive and contemptuous of authority were valued attributes.
Today those sorts of attitudes strike people in the profession as
unseemly and vaguely dangerous.

The change is more than cultural, it’s also structural. In the infor-
mation age, the media are far more influential than newspapers were
when the rewrite guys were sipping whiskey. A couple of classmates
I knew in journalism at Harvard are now more powerful than many
senators. That idea would have boggled our minds years ago. Then
there were a thousand newspapers that didn’t care all that much what
other newspapers were saying. Even the Washington Post was just
another voice. Television was still finding itself. No small group of
outlets could ever function as the political agenda-setters that a rela-
tively small group of outlets is today. Globalization had not yet inte-
grated our economy with Japan’s.

Today the big media corporations are Atlases of the international
economy, whether the news people like it or not. News executives
have one eye on the stock price. This new role has made them tem-
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peramentally conservative, sober, and afraid of deep controversy. As
a result it’s just not the same being a reporter.

My focus here will be my experience in the ‘90s, but the war
against terrorism has solidified the trend I describe. Of course, any
administration in wartime will attempt to control information. But in
the present war, the reporter’s duties seem more burdensome than
ever: to not just bring back the good news from the battle front, but to
affirm the free market values of the West, which Islamic fundamen-
talists reject. Even if you enjoy those values and think they’re worth
fighting for—as I do—you have to marvel at the ways in which var-
ious issues make it into the agenda, or don’t make it. The discussion
of some unsettling questions will be highly circumscribed, for
instance: Is our culture shallow and materialistic? Is American policy
in the Mideast evenhanded or unfair? What can be done to address
these sorts of inequities?

I believe that discussions of these questions at dinner tables are
likely to be far more free than the public discussion—that the Amer-
ican people have become more interesting than the mainstream
media. It’s the loss of professional freedom that I regret.

My own realization of the cultural change came, dramatically, in
the middle "90s, when a very responsible magazine I work for now
and then sent me out to Arkansas to try and figure out why so many
people hated Bill Clinton so much. It was a liberal magazine, by and
large. The editors (and I) had voted for Clinton (in 1992 anyway).
Probably, I was meant to be writing a “reported essay” about how
backward backwoods America was, about the ways that Bill Clinton
had threatened traditional ideas of manhood by supporting gays in
the military and having a modern marriage with Hillary Rodham
Clinton. And yes, I think there’s some truth to that analysis.

Duly, I visited the White House first, and amid the spellbinding
architecture of the Old Executive Office Building, met with a young
aide in the White House counsel’s office who handed me a thick report
showing how everyone who was saying hateful things about Clinton
was frothing at the mouth, getting heard on the Internet, and their
claims were ultimately making it into the legitimate press. “Commu-
nications Stream of Conspiracy Commerce,” was the report’s weird
title. Before long that report would become a scandal, but not, I'm
embarrassed to admit, because I understood how disgraceful it was.

I got out to Arkansas a few days later, just before the election in
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1996, and soon met a woman named Linda Ives. After I'd spent five
minutes with her, I knew she was no lunatic. Her son was one of the
two “boys on the tracks.” He and a buddy had been killed when they
wandered in on a drug operation outside Little Rock. The killers had
tried to disguise their handiwork by laying the boys’ bodies on rail-
road tracks, to be run over by a freight train. Just a small-town crime,
except that their killers had been able to count upon some measure of
political protection. The state medical examiner, appointed by Bill
Clinton, had blatantly helped frustrate justice in the case, by ruling
that the boys had committed suicide by smoking dope and laying on
the tracks. When his judgment was at last revoked and the cases
treated as murders, several witnesses to a local grand jury were
rubbed out, and no one was ever charged in any of the widening circle
of violence. It went beyond the county. “This goes deep,” a relative of
one of the executed witnesses told me one night sitting in his car. He
declined to go public. Linda Ives had been fighting for justice for
years without a hearing from anyone in power. She was deeply alien-
ated. (This story has been fully explored and related by Mara Leveritt
in her book, The Boys on the Tracks.)

I saw other cases that had the same atmosphere of sinister cor-
ruption and blind supposition. You knew something was wrong, but
you didn’t know who exactly was responsible. As a writer who cares
about the legitimacy and accountability of authority, I was curious to
learn more. Meantime, I felt I could make a strong case about
Arkansas political culture: it was not particularly democratic, a one-
party state where authorities turned a blind eye to local abuses. As an
ambitious machine politician trying to institute marginal reforms, Bill
Clinton had a passive but complicit role in these practices. Mean-
while, the abuses had—legitimately, I felt—fostered hatred for
Clinton among working-class, white right-wingers.

My editors were completely incurious. They didn’t want to open
the box. It wasn’t so much that they were liberals who’d voted for the
guy. It was that they were uncomfortable even raising such questions
about authority. I remember one of them saying, “There’s no way to
fact-check any of this.” What he meant was there’s no way to say for
sure who is right, or what is true. And he was right. It did not appear,
at the outset anyway, that there was any sure way to establish the truth.
By printing the claims, the only thing you could be sure you were doing
was raising serious questions about the integrity of the president.
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The alternative was to dismiss the claims by mocking the sources.
My editors wanted to go that route. I couldn’t bring myself to do it.
I'd met these people, and believed some of them. My editors and I
ended up printing a compromise that was a botch. The most revealing
thing about the episode was how paralyzed my editors were. They
couldn’t even hear the information. It was too unsettling.

For instance, one of the stories involved a blustering and aggres-
sive man named Jerry Parks. Parks had served as head of security at
Clinton campaign headquarters in Little Rock during the "92 cam-
paign and then a year later, in September 1993, had been gunned
down mob-style on the streets of Little Rock. His son Gary told me
(and his widow Jane made the claim elsewhere) that Jerry Parks had
been killed because he had information about Clinton’s sexual activi-
ties, which he was threatening to peddle. (And this was the very time
that the state troopers were about to go forward with assertions about
Clinton’s behavior.)

I never cared much about Clinton’s sex life. I'm a child of the "70s,
and relished all that I could partake of the sexual revolution. Clinton’s
sex life was never that interesting to me. But I respected the rights of
others to talk about that stuff if they wanted. And in the end, the real
story, for me, was the Clinton team’s efforts to suppress those who
knew and cared about his sex life. I never cared what Monica did with
her thong and Bill did with his tongue. The scandal was important
because it demonstrated the atmosphere of vague threat and char-
acter assassination that soon cloaked anyone who objected to the way
the president dealt with women.

My editors couldn’t have cared less about Jerry Parks. Their
response was to throw up their hands and say Gary Parks was crazy.
I'd met him a couple times and was pretty sure he wasn’t crazy. In my
view, his story deserved investigation by journalists as much as a
third-rate burglary at the Watergate carried out by a motley crew on
the right had deserved further investigation in 1972.

The mainstream press completely ignored the Parks story. But you
could find loose talk about Jerry Parks all over the Internet. There was
free speech on the Internet, maybe too much free speech. Irresponsible
speech. But to the exact same degree as the Internet was wild, the cor-
porate media were cautious. They would do nothing to rock the boat.

Once during that same period, a big editor sighed to me that he
had too much power. He was nostalgic for the spirit of free expression
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that had gotten him into the business in the first place. Now he com-
manded as much power as any congressman —through his publica-
tion—and as much as he enjoyed it (who doesn’t like a little power,
who doesn’t aspire to influence?), he knew that he had lost a basic
freedom, to say what came to his head.

I have sympathy for friends who work in the corporate media. It’s
a terrible burden to be setting the agenda. They have to mull their
statements carefully before they speak. They didn’t ask for that
power. The world changed right under them in the last twenty years.
The American political parties atrophied; their power to select candi-
dates was taken over by television. Media companies became big
players in the new economy. And these changes have affected the way
any well-paid reporter treats an open microphone or a blank screen.
Issues like globalization and the integrity of high officials are not
issues on which a reporter is allowed to be dispassionate, or casual.

In late 1993, a financial newsletter behaved casually about such
things when it reported a rumor that a Democratic senator was of the
belief that the late White House lawyer Vince Foster had not died as
it was asserted he had, by his own hand in Fort Marcy Park. The
report had a dramatic effect. The markets were reported to have slid
sharply on the rumor.

This was the information age at work; this was the “synergy” that
had been so buzzed. The media came to understand, in an unspoken
and instinctual way (as opposed to a policy that anyone had to spell
out), that certain types of stories were dangerous even to talk about,
stories that suggested that our leaders were not telling us the truth
about important questions.

I remember describing to an editor at my mainstream publication
some of the questions surrounding Vince Foster’s death. He cut the
conversation off. “Listen, Vince Foster killed himself in Fort Marcy
Park,” he said, as if he had been there. Of course he hadn’t been there.
He didn’t know that that was true any more than I knew the alterna-
tive to be true. But I had legitimate questions, and he was not able to
hear them. On this matter, the official version could not be reexam-
ined. And especially after a Mike Wallace report on 60 Minutes
declared (shakily) that the Foster skeptics were loonytunes, it wasn't.

Compare this culture for a moment with the 1970s culture of the
Washington Post, the paper that took on a president. It goes without
saying that the defiance of Richard Nixon was a special moment in



American history. It wasn’t just Katherine Graham’s bravery or
Woodward and Bernstein’s persistence that brought Nixon down. The
smell of cordite was in the air those days. Nixon was weird. Vietnam
and the Kennedy and King assassinations had produced a revolu-
tionary upheaval in our awareness and values. People were smoking
dope in newsrooms (believe me).

Just the same, the Washington Post experienced a sharp drop in its
stock price when it took on Nixon. And yet it did so anyway.
Katherine Graham resolved to weather the Wall Street storm.

Would any publication display such sangfroid today? I think it is
extremely doubtful. The corporate media are just too big, and depen-
dent on too many backers, their editors too answerable to business
executives, and their reports too integrated into the economy, for
them to be able to go out on a wing and a prayer, as Woodward and
Bernstein did initially (they had nothing hard, they had some sharp
questions), and investigate the legitimacy of the powers-that-be.

Now consider a lesser contemporary scandal than Watergate, but
one that certainly approaches the perimeters of power: the strong pat-
tern of suppression of evidence by the FBI over the last ten years, from
Ruby Ridge, Idaho, to Waco to Oklahoma City. It would be hard to
find an organization more rife with doubtful official behavior. Yet
none of these hammer blows was initiated by the mainstream media.
The questions have resulted from a right-winger’s lawsuit, from a
right-winger’s movie, even from an FBI internal investigation.

Where are the journalistic birddogs? Why haven’t these scandals
sowed dragon’s teeth in the mouths of the media? Why hasn’t anyone
in the corporate media called for radical reform?

It simply won’t happen. The reporters are making too much
money, and have too much invested in the stock market, to possess
the inclination to raise fundamental questions about the govern-
ment’s exercise of power. It’s sociological. Reporters do not think of
themselves as irreverent characters from the movie the Front Page, let
alone Tom Paine raining invective on his masters. They are the new
masters; they understand themselves, accurately, to be winners in the
global economy. When a high government spokesman comes out to
address them — often a spokesman who has been in the media, or will
be—they feel an Ivy League identification with him, certainly more
identification than they do with ordinary Americans, who generally
make far less than the reporters do and are not as interested in power.
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I see the early "90s as a turning point. The shift in journalistic tem-
perament is best shown by the sharply different coverage of third-
party candidates Ross Perot, in 1992, and Ralph Nader, in 2000. Perot,
who I think is a true maniac, got endless coverage for his wacky ideas.
He was all over the front pages of the big papers. The New York Times
even ran two profiles of his vice presidential candidate, James Stock-
dale, in which Stockdale went on about his war experiences, his taste
for the Greek philosopher Epictetus, and so forth.

Now name Ralph Nader’s vice presidential candidate. Chances
are you can’t. (It's Winona LaDuke.) I'd be hard pressed to find an
occasion when the Times even mentioned her, let alone told us what
she liked to read.

It is unquestionable that Perot’s stunning 19 percent in the polls in
1992 was media-aided, while Nader’s 3 percent in 2000 was beaten-
down by the media. Perot was a wonderful character who also had
something to say, and when he came along, the media were still a little
bit freewheeling and could still take delight in a maniac. They were as
surprised as anyone that he polled nearly one in five votes. Eight years
later, Ralph Nader (a maniac in his own right, in my opinion, but more
cerebral and serious than Perot) took on some of the same issues (from
a different point of view of course), and while his groundswell was not
as significant as Perot’s, his ideas were virtually shut out by the media.

I'm not suggesting a conspiracy. Over eight years, stability had
become a much greater value to the media. They worked for big cor-
porations and had a bias when it came to Nader’s anticorporate ideas.
Those ideas seemed foolish to the reporters. They were incapable of
giving him a full hearing.

This sort of conservativism has invaded even public television
(which draws support from the likes of Archer-Daniels-Midland). Jim
Lehrer officiated at the debates that sidelined Ralph Nader in fall
2000. Whatever mathematical rationalization any organization wants
to offer for leaving Nader out, he was without a doubt the most
important dissenting voice in the presidential fray. And one has to
ask, what is the role of public television in the discourse? Is it to
include or exclude alternative views? (This is, after all, the same Jim
Lehrer who, somewhat uncomfortably, asked Bill Clinton about
Monica Lewinsky in an interview at the beginning of 1998, was lied to
by Bill Clinton, and never addressed that lie publicly, even as he was
later decorated by Bill Clinton with the National Humanities Medal.)



Public broadcasting is now virtually indistinguishable in its con-
cerns and attitudes from the mainstream liberal media (the Wash-
ington Post, the New York Times). Reporters who work for National
Public Radio (NPR) often go on to be hired by the prestigious corpo-
rate media, intermingling their worlds. Veteran NPR-star Susan Stam-
berg was, as of summer 2001, airing interviews of actors on network
television shows. It was the same sort of in-depth celebrity stuff that
you might find in the Post’s Style section. What is public media’s
raison d’etre?

A more telling example is Terence Smith, of the News Hour. He is
a former reporter for the New York Times. In the summer of 2000 he
opened a segment about the government’s report on the crash of TWA
800 by saying, provocatively, that the government’s findings (that
most probably a spark from an unknown source ignited fuel vapors
in the jetliner’s center fuel tank causing it to explode) were “contro-
versial.” But in the ensuing dialogue, which involved a couple of
members of the mainstream press, there was no hint at all of why
Smith had called the report “controversial,” no exploration of that
controversy whatsoever. Smith was obviously terrified of even lifting
the carpet on such a discussion. Not that he was above teasing his
segment by using a provocative term. His comment was not merely a
bait and switch, or a moment of intellectual dishonesty (though it was
both those things). It was deeply revealing of the ways of the main-
stream press. They know that something is going on out there, that
government is being sharply criticized. They hear the rumble, on the
Internet, on independent radio, and in the alternative media. But they
disbelieve it, and they are simply powerless to provide a forum for
that criticism.

What the critics suggest, sometimes compellingly, is that govermment
will lie to its people about important matters. And that is, right now
anyway, too fundamental a criticism for the mainstream to entertain.

That night on the Jim Lehrer News Hour, the two reporters dis-
cussing TWA 800 went on and on about the government version of the
crash. They passed on what government spokesmen had said as
gospel. They were completely incapable of acknowledging, let alone
assessing, the harshly different view of that crash that is held widely
in the alternative media, and indeed among the citizens of southern
Long Island, near where the crash occurred.

I first learned about the alternative view of the crash at a forum
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conducted in 1998 by the right-wing group Accuracy In Media at the
Army-Navy Club in Washington. A beefy and homespun former navy
aviator named Bill Donaldson gave a rambling talk about his personal
investigation of the matter. He had brought along videotapes of him-
self heating jet fuel in a crab pot on his backyard barbecue, then trying
to make the fuel ignite, unsuccessfully, in an emulation of a center-
wing-tank explosion. More important, Donaldson brought audio-
tapes of several interviews he’d done with eyewitnesses. The eyewit-
nesses sounded calm and sane, and each of them said that he had seen
a flare-like streak go up from the surface of the sea, followed after
some seconds by a fireball in the sky. These simple and assured state-
ments contradicted the official version of the crash, for they suggested
strongly that a missile had struck the plane.

Intrigued, I decided to meet some of these eyewitnesses myself,
and not Donaldson’s. I went to the community of Center Moriches
and began looking for people who had seen the crash. I spoke to half
a dozen. What I found —and what many other reporters found, before
and after me —was that there existed a large group of people who had
seen something that the government later saw very differently.
Indeed, these people felt misrepresented by the government version
and insulted by the cartoon enactment of the crash that the CIA had
produced, without talking to a single one of them.

A cartoon enactment of the crash produced by the CIA —did you
read that right? You did. In the '70s, a CIA-produced animation
would have elicited only astonishment, anger, and mockery. The cul-
ture of the press held government if not in contempt, in some great
distrust, and if the CIA, of all faithless outfits, extruded a film pur-
porting to show what ordinary people had seen one night, without
talking to any of those people (the CIA based its cartoon on FBI wit-
ness reports), everyone would have picked up a stone.

And this is what is so perplexing: Today, the CIA has in fact been
stoned and ridiculed for this video enactment, so ridiculed that the
government has withdrawn the video as part of its evidence. Yet this
process — the debunking of a government statement, and the govern-
ment heeding the debunkers — has taken place completely outside the
mainstream media, which embraced the cartoon. That debunking
process took place on the Internet and among the community of TWA
800 skeptics.

These skeptics have been influential. They have had a sort of
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power. The CIA cartoon (with its absurd claim that the plane rose
three thousand feet after breaking apart) is on the trash heap of his-
tory. The clear aim of the National Transportation Safety Board’s hear-
ings and reports has been to pacify or neutralize those skeptics. But
you would never know it from the mainstream media, which simply
regurgitates the official version, while nervously mentioning a “con-
troversy” it is afraid to go into.

I'm not trying to advance the missile theory here (although clearly
I support that theory as the best explanation of what happened on
July 17, 1996). My goal is to describe the conduct of the establishment
press when someone puts forward a serious challenge to government
integrity. They just can’t hear it.

After I went to Long Island and talked to eyewitnesses, I went
back to some big editors to discuss what I had heard. It was
astounding to me that in the shadow of the media capital of the
United States, you had a burgeoning Roswell, New Mexico—a com-
munity that completely distrusted the government version on an
important question and believed an alternative theory. I wanted to
write an article about this clash of realities.

My editors weren't interested, just as all the other mainstream
media have never been interested in this question. It is, again, simply
too at odds with their understanding of the world; it suggests that the
government would lie flatly about an important matter. The main-
stream media’s response has been to behave as if the skeptics either
don’t exist, or they’re crazy (e.g., Greta Van Susteren on CNN refer-
ring to these people as “conspiracists”).

Whether right or wrong, the TWA 800 skeptics come from a fairly
broad spectrum of people who have opposable thumbs, who you
would think should have a hearing. There are the scores of eyewit-
nesses, some of whom have a military background and presumably
know what they are talking about. There are right-leaning and left-
leaning organizations, from Accuracy In Media to Donaldson’s group
of retired aviators among the hawks to the Flight Eight Hundred
Research Organization, which is chiefly academics, many on the left.
There are diverse publications, from the Village Voice to Riverside, Cal-
ifornia’s The Press-Enterprise to Insight magazine in Washington, D.C,,
to Dan'’s Papers on Long Island. In the aviation industry, there are
many retired TWA employees and an aircraft workers’ union that was
a party to the official investigation that have questioned the findings.
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The French press has been sometimes contemptuous of the American
government version. And I haven’t even gotten to the Internet.

The questions these people raise are not trivial. For instance, they
have pointed out that James Kallstrom, then of the FBI, said, vehe-
mently, at a press conference in 1997, that every boat in the area of the
crash had been identified. Subsequently, government radar data was
released showing that the boat closest to the crash had never been iden-
tified and sped away from the area at more than thirty knots an hour.

What do you do with such a troubling set of facts? It is not as if
anyone in the mainstream media has seriously considered these issues
and come up with a good answer. Opposing theories of the Kennedy
assassination got a lot more attention than these skeptics. The main-
stream media’s response has been a dull one—to solemnly and sto-
ically report the government’s assertions, over and over. They simply
cannot entertain the possibility that the government has lied to them.

They seem to identify with the government experts. Indeed, Jim
Kallstrom, who misrepresented the facts on the boats when he was
working for the FBI, later was hired by CBS.

I have many friends among the mainstreamers, and I have sym-
pathy for them. Their hands are tied. Their organizations are just too
powerful. In decades past, musings about the Kennedy assassination
never threatened to upset the apple cart. The same cannot be said for
such considerations by an agenda-setting corporation today.

Wondering about what really happened to TWA 800 on, say, ABC
would have serious consequences. It would represent a powerful
accusation that people could not ignore —as they have, say, The Press-
Enterprise. The reporter could harbor little hope that he would win.
He would know that the government would denounce him, with rage
(as it has done to the skeptics, even prosecuting writer Jim Sanders
and his wife).* He would know that he might be professionally iso-
lated, that other reporters might well describe him as a lunatic. And
even if he stuck to his guns, he could have little hope that he would
be shown to be right. And meantime, to the extent that anyone did
take him seriously, he could well be seen as affecting global markets
and come under huge pressure for doing so. The right-wing nuts who
always said that one-world government would affect our sovereignty

*Sanders and his wife were prosecuted for asking NTSB investigator Terell Stacey to
supply them with “evidence stolen from a federal investigation,” which was a piece of a
seat with red residue on it that Sanders had tested and then publicly stated contained ele-
ments consistent with solid rocket missile fuel.



weiss WHEN BLACK BECOMES WHITE 187

have a point: global media companies have to be as concerned with
what sells in Singapore as well as in Seattle, which is hardly good
news for the old free market of ideas.

That free market is alive and well, but it’s marginalized. You have
a wild and free debate of these issues in the fringe press, and on the
Internet, and no debate at all in the mainstream media.

This is hardly a new phenomenon, of course. The powerful have
always published official truths. In Cuba they turned the cameras
aside when Fidel fainted during a speech. In the kingdom of Tonga,
where I am writing a book, they do not allow public criticism of the
king and members of the royal family. The old Soviet Union did not
exactly embrace debate about communism. The American variant
seems to be that in the headquarters of global capital, corporate media
outlets cannot entertain serious questions about the legitimacy of the
powers-that-be, even when spokesmen are shown to lie.

At least in our rich democracy, the alternative view is widely
available. Anyone who doubts the government’s findings on TWA
800 has the power to arm himself with a contrary set of facts.
Arkansas nursing-home owner Juanita Broaddrick’s assertion that
Bill Clinton had raped her thrived on the Internet while it was virtu-
ally ignored among the agenda-setters.

Still, I'd argue that this is not a healthy state of affairs. We have a
split discourse: two sharply different worldviews existing alongside
one another. There is almost no common ground between these belief
systems, and a lot of stress on the social contract during crises. The
famous red and blue map of the Bush and Gore vote in the 2000 pres-
idential election —showing the Democratic vote concentrated in cities
and on the coasts, and the Republican vote in rural areas and small
towns —helps illustrate the information divide. Most well-paid
reporters are urban liberals, firmly ensconced in the blue zone, phys-
ically and culturally. The country has weathered many such divides
before, and will weather this one, too. But speaking personally, it's no
fun. I've put some distance between myself and many of the liberal
media friends I made at Harvard College, but now in my mid-40s, I
still have to make a living. For me, the role of the corporate media is
one of the most compelling ideological/political questions of our
time. But the publications that pay don’t care for me to write about it.
Though God knows they are happy for me to do celebrity profiles.

My answer has been to pick my spots. I'm lucky to have a column
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in a New York weekly; I pipe up on my central issue there now and
then, though my paper’s audience is a privileged one, and I don't
relish alienating those readers by going on about issues they don’t
really buy. I'm working on a historical case that speaks to these ques-
tions, but happily in another time and place than millennial, global
America, where the First Amendment now seems to come second to
how the markets closed in Japan.

And if a glossy magazine asks me to write about an actress, I'll do
it if I need to. If she tells me she twisted her ankle on the set, I'll be
sure to ask which one.
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Helen Malmgren

Helen Malmgren is a producer for Ed Bradley at CBS News,
where she works on 60 Minutes pieces as well as hour-long
documentary specials. During the last five years, she has pro-
duced stories about toxic dump sites, brutal police officers,
dangerous hospitals, and the AIDS pandemic in Africa. She
has won a number of awards for her work, including the
Peabody Award, the Academy of Arts and Sciences Ribbon of
Hope Award, and the Sigma Delta Chi Award from the
Society of Professional Journalists.

Many journalists will tell you that, somewhere between
Tonya Harding and the tobacco lawsuits, television
reporting went into the toilet. Networks are spending most of their
resources on the big, big stories now. If you're working on O.]. or
Monica or Elian, you're constantly rushing to get dishy little details
on the air before scores of other reporters do. And if you're not
working on this week’s top story —if all you have is an exquisitely
researched, nationally important story about, say, radioactive waste in
the water supply — well, good luck pitching it. And don’t ask for any
decent money to shoot it.

While all that may sound familiar, it’s not the entire story. Every
legal fiasco, every tabloid riot and factual screw-up on the national
news not only embarrasses the networks, but also increases the stock
of their best investigative reporters.

It's true. Remember the story about how Big Tobacco forced the
networks to their knees back in 1995? Facing a $10 billion lawsuit by
Philip Morris, ABC News apologized for a story about how tobacco

189
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companies manipulated the levels of nicotine in their cigarettes. Media
critics ripped ABC for buckling to corporate interests. Everyone was
talking about the chill effect and the death of investigative journalism.

In the middle of this mess, Peter Jennings proposed an investiga-
tive special about the tobacco companies’ nasty, underhanded tactics:
how they lie to the public, buy off politicians, and intimidate oppo-
nents. Network executives jumped on the idea, then bragged in the
press how ABC News was still committed to the tobacco story. The
show was given a huge budget and an hour of airtime. Nine people,
including me, were assigned to it.

Then, while we were working on our tobacco hour, 60 Minutes,
under threat of a lawsuit, pulled its interview with tobacco whistle-
blower Jeffrey Wigand. Media critics went crazy. The story was hotter
than ever. The networks were on the defensive. And Walt Bogdanich,
the producer whose story prompted the ABC lawsuit and apology,
became the center of a sensational bidding war.

At the time, I was Walt’s associate producer on the tobacco show,
and we could hardly talk for half an hour without someone from
Dateline or 60 Minutes calling to recruit him, or someone from ABC
calling to convince him to stay put. Even I started getting recruited,
and I hadn’t done anything. At one point, Walt and I went for a walk
in Central Park to get away from his phone and do some work on our
piece. We weren't there ten minutes when along came Forrest Sawyer,
then an ABC anchor, running across the lawn to make Walt an offer to
work with him.

This seemed miraculous to me. First, ABC apparently hung Walt
out to dry. A few months later, they were practically groveling at his
feet. But since then, I've noticed this kind of thing happen more than
once. It seems that even the least liked, most disparaged news execu-
tives—the ones everyone blames for the decline of TV news—still
want to be associated with good investigative reporters.

This is a good place for me to point out that, even though I'm
talking about executive decisions at the networks, I have never been
in any executive meetings about what will go on the air or when to
pull the plug on a lawsuit or anything like that. I can tell you what
I've observed, but I don’t know why TV executives act the way they
do. What's more, [ don’t want to know.

[ was at an Investigative Reporters and Editors conference once
where the biggest event, with at least fifteen hundred people in the
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room, was a talk given by Ira Rosen of PrimeTime Live and Neil
Shapiro of Dateline. It was called something like “What the Bosses
Really Want.” With all due respect to the illustrious careers of Neil
Shapiro and Ira Rosen, why would an investigative journalist want to
go out and look for what pleases his boss? Pitch to your boss, argue
with your boss, cajole your boss, even flatter your boss, but as soon as
you start focusing on “what the bosses really want,” then you might
as well not have a brain of your own, and you are no longer a jour-
nalist, and you should get a job doing something else.

Even the truest believer has to admit that TV journalism has
changed significantly, and not exactly for the public good. While
Watergate and the Pentagon Papers and My Lai made investigative
journalism seem glamorous and heroic in the ‘60s and ‘70s, the
biggest stories of the last decade have put journalists just below used
car salesmen on national popularity polls.

Tobacco was one of those stories. Walt Bogdanich won in the
end —he went to 60 Minutes and then to the New York Times —but that
story ruined the trust between a lot of investigative journalists and
their lawyers, and it sent the message that when the stakes are at their
highest, the networks might abandon their public mission and turn
on their own reporters.

Of course, another one of those stories was the Monica Lewinsky
scandal. And then there was the Elian Gonzalez craze. But before all
those stories, and bigger than any of them, was O. J. Simpson.

HOW I LEARNED TO LOVE THE O. J. SIMPSON STORY

No, really.

I know, I know, it’s the story journalists love to hate, the shameful
period in TV news, the story that went on and on dominating the
headlines for so long that one word about Johnnie Cochran or Mark
Fuhrman still provokes eye rolls in any newsroom.

I reported on The People v. Simpson from the day after the murders
to the day of the verdict, sixteen months later, and I can confirm that
some of the journalism on that story was shockingly bad. There were
reporters buying stories and bookers buying pricey “thank you gifts”
for their interview subjects. There was a guy working for one of the
networks who seemed to do nothing but eavesdrop on other journal-
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ists’ conversations and then call into the bureau and pass on what
he’d heard as if it were his own reporting.

And then there were the really, really stupid assignments.
Example: For two weeks, I had to stake out a paralegal who was
reported in a British tabloid to have had a fling with Nicole Simpson
years before her murder. I didn’t even have a car, but my boss wanted
me to sit on the curb for eight hours a day in front of this guy’s apart-
ment building in Beverly Hills. After a few days, his neighbors started
bringing me tea in the morning and lemonade in the afternoon, and I
knew all their dogs’ and children’s names. I never saw the guy. I
heard he was on vacation. He probably came back home about the
time my boss lost interest in him and reassigned me.

So what exactly did I love about the O. J. Simpson story?

In spite of all the nonsense, I think O. J. was one of the great inves-
tigative stories of our time. O. ]. wasn’t just about murder or celebrity.
So many people followed the O.]. Simpson story so closely that it
changed life in America, and then it became a story about American
life. Who couldn’t tell you what they were doing and thinking during
the “slow chase,” when almost every television station in America
went to a live shot of O. ].’s white Bronco heading south on the 405
freeway? How many people have told you that when the not-guilty
verdict was announced, the white people in their office were stunned
and the black people in their office were jubilant, and that made them
all wonder how well they really knew each other?

Suddenly, the whole nation was talking about domestic violence,
and how it affects even the superrich. They were talking about whether
a mostly white police force can be fair to a black suspect. Whether a
mostly black jury would convict a famous black man. Whether DNA
evidence alone was enough to convict someone of murder. During
those sixteen months, we did O.].-related stories about battered
women'’s shelters, secret police fraternities, drug dealing, real estate,
jury selection, how many autopsies the Los Angeles County Coroner
had botched (a lot), how many cases the FBI crime lab had blown (a lot),
mafia connections to sports figures, and illegal domestic servants.

The real problem with the O. J. Simpson story was not that it was
too tabloid or that it became a media circus. The real problem was that
it gave the news media a new model for big-story coverage —satura-
tion coverage. And saturation coverage doesn’t leave a lot of airtime
or resources for other stories.
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One month into the O.]. story, ABC decided to be the first net-
work to stop broadcasting live court hearings and put its soaps back
on the air. Ratings dropped immediately, precipitously. I don’t know
exactly what impression that experience made on network executives,
but a number of newspapers reported it, and everybody in the L.A.
bureau was talking about it. The lesson was clear. Whoever covers
O.]. the most, wins.

Months later, Jeff Greenfield, who was then ABC'’s chief political
correspondent, was in the L.A. bureau. We were all watching the
evening news show when he noticed a fairly obvious mistake in a
political piece.

“Didn’t anyone else hear that?” he asked, somewhat annoyed.
“No one here caught that?”

“Hey,” the L.A. bureau chief shot back. “You do politics. We do
0.J”

Not exactly a high moral point for ABC’s second largest national
news bureau. But, at that point, she was right. We did O.]. We
knocked other good stories off the air with O. ], and we pulled lots of
good producers off other projects to work on O.]. ABC had an O.].
story on nearly every morning, evening, and late show, and tried to
have an O. ]. segment on every one of its weekly magazine shows.
Even David Brinkley had a few flings with O.]. stories on Sunday
morning. They were odd affairs, with Brinkley, Cokie Roberts, Sam
Donaldson, and George Will setting aside politics to wonder aloud
about things like Mark Fuhrman’s use of the “N” word.

Even after the verdict was in and O. ]. was let off, network news-
casts still showed the influence of the O. ]. model of coverage. The top
story of the day almost always gets more time in the broadcast than it
used to, and a big story might appear in one form or another on all the
networks’ shows during the week.

Of course, the O. ]. story itself didn’t end with the not-guilty ver-
dict. Next came the civil trial, the custody battle for his kids, and a
number of confessions from members of his legal team about how
they had doubted his innocence all along. By then, I had already won
my prize from the O. ]. story, courtesy of Johnnie Cochran. Cochran
had a habit, almost a verbal tick, of repeating your name over and
over if you asked him a tough question. “Well, Helen,” he’d say to me.
“That’s a good question, Helen. I'm not sure I can answer that right
now, Helen.”



After about a year of this, a few people at ABC headquarters
began to notice that someone named Helen was showing up in all the
field tapes and live shots, asking sharp questions for ABC News. I got
invited for a round of job interviews back in New York, where I threw
myself at the feet of every executive producer who would listen to me.
In the end, I got a job on the Jennings tobacco hour.

UNDERCOVER IN CORPORATE AMERICA

These days, any journalist who wants to investigate corporate
America really ought to take a look at the Food Lion case.

In1992, ABC'’s PrimeTime Live ran a story about alleged spoiled food
and unsanitary conditions at the Food Lion supermarket chain. As part
of the story, PrimeTime sent a couple of associate producers wearing
hidden cameras to work at Food Lion supermarkets in North and South
Carolina. The footage they shot was the centerpiece of the show.

Food Lion sued ABC, focusing its legal argument not on whether
PrimeTime had told the truth in its report, but on the techniques its
producers used in the field: pretending to be food workers instead of
reporters and taping their fellow employees without permission.

The argument worked. The Greensboro, North Carolina, jury ruled
that ABC should pay Food Lion $5.5 million in punitive damages.

This verdict knocked the wind out of a lot of investigative
reporters, and not just at ABC. If you can’t conceal the fact that you
are a journalist, then you can’t get access to most places where people
are doing illegal things. If you can’t record illegal behavior, then you
might not be able to prove it happened.

The punitive damage award was eventually cut down to two dol-
lars by an appellate court. But before life got better for the Food Lion
reporters, it got much worse. While ABC chose to keep its public com-
ments about the case mostly in court, Food Lion hired a public rela-
tions firm and spun a story nationwide about how the ABC reporters
had framed innocent employees, staged incriminating scenes, and
withheld information favorable to Food Lion.

Personally, I can’t help being suspicious of any story that comes
from a public relations firm specializing in “crisis management” for
giant corporations —those are the kind of public relations firms who
brought us “scientific proof” that cigarettes are healthy and green-
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house emissions are good for the planet. But since I didn’t work on
the Food Lion story, I can’t say what actually happened on it.

By the time the Food Lion verdict was announced in 1997, I was
working with a small team of producers, doing investigative docu-
mentaries for Ed Bradley. And in 1998, we decided to undertake a
major hidden-camera investigation in North Carolina, just down the
road from where ABC got slammed in court.

Why did we do that? Honestly, I think my bosses at CBS actually
liked the fact that we were taking on the Food Lion verdict.

“If we get sued, we’ll be ready,” said Linda Mason, the vice pres-
ident in charge of the program, in a conversation.

“This is what we went to law school for,” said Rick Altabef and
Jonathan Sternberg, our CBS attorneys.

David Gelber, my executive producer and partner on the piece,
was the one who suggested we go undercover in the first place.

And Ed Bradley — well Bradley has pretty much seen it all, I think.
I'm not certain that he’s afraid of anything, and he clearly wasn’t ner-
vous about this.

But the main reason we focused our story in North Carolina had
nothing to do with pride or courage or legal tactics. Quite simply,
North Carolina was the best place to do the story.

In 1998, I heard about a Greensboro boy who’d died in a mental
hospital owned by Charter Behavioral Health Systems, the nation’s
largest chain of psychiatric hospitals. His death was awful: He suffo-
cated after hospital staff members wrapped a towel around his mouth
and a sheet around his head as they were strapping his arms and legs
to a table.

Then I spoke to a father whose teenage daughter had been at the
Charter hospital in Charlotte, North Carolina. This man told me that
his daughter had run away from home for a few days, and when she
came back, they took her to Charter for a “trial period.” They got ner-
vous when the doctor wouldn’t return their phone calls and panicked
when the staff wouldn’t let them in to see her during visiting hours. He
said when they finally saw her, she was woozy and bruised all over.

At that point, he said, he and his wife confronted a nurse and
demanded to know what had happened to their daughter. He said the
nurse looked at him seriously and told him she was a single mother
and couldn’t afford to lose her job. Then she pulled out a notepad and
wrote him a warning: Get your daughter out of here as fast as you can.
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Now, to me, that’s a situation just screaming out for an under-
cover investigation.

So we found a social worker, an excellent fellow named Terrance
Johnson, and he agreed to get a job at a Charter hospital and wear a
hidden camera for us. He didn’t have to exaggerate his qualifications on
his resume because he was, in fact, overqualified for the job. We didn’t
make him a CBS employee —he was willing to do it for the experience.

Later, when he’d been wearing an eyeglass camera wired to a jock
strap recorder every day for two months, he was a little less gung ho.
But the footage he got was amazing.

Children were being manhandled and injured while staff mem-
bers strapped them into leather restraints. Doctors lied on their
patients” medical forms. One nurse even gave Terrance what
amounted to a lesson in fraud, which she explained was the way to
get insurance companies to keep paying for their patients.

“It’s not like I'm lying,” she told him. “I just focus on the negative
... because that’s how they get paid.”

Everybody agreed that we had powerful material. Everybody
agreed that we had to disguise the children’s identities with the
utmost care. And those were about the last two things we agreed on,
until we went to air.

Editing that piece was torture, a months-long hair-splitting ses-
sion with our lawyers about what to leave in, what to leave out, what
constituted child abuse and what was just lousy care. At some point
in the process, I realized that when our lawyers, Rick and Jon,
screened our footage, they didn’t see images of people. What they
saw were potential lawsuits, flitting back and forth across the screen.

Never mind that Charter might sue us. What about the doctor
who lied on tape? He could sue us, too. What about the nurse who
committed fraud on tape? So could she. And the unqualified coun-
selors? And the underage patients, and their parents? At some point,
we were discussing a scene in which a child appeared to have been
wrongly prescribed a dangerous medication, and we realized that we
could incur a lawsuit from the pharmaceutical industry.

“Oh, I see lawsuits everywhere,” said Rick, waving his fingers
around his head. “They’re floating all around us.”
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THE HOSPITAL WITH NO NAME

The first hurdle we had to clear with our lawyers, and the biggest, was
whether or not we could name Charter hospital in the piece. I'm not
kidding. After we spent months gathering evidence of fraud and abuse
at Charter hospitals around the country, talking to whistle-blowers
from Charter, and shooting inside a Charter hospital, we faced the
serious suggestion of not telling our audience which chain of hospitals
was endangering and ripping off patients. What would be the point of
showing such a piece? What would be the point of watching it?

Realizing that we might lose the whole project if we didn’t get
past this issue, we put together a special “lawyers’ cut” of our show —
an hour and a half of experts and law enforcement officials and over-
sight agencies, all saying ad nauseum that Charter was breaking the
law and shocking their consciences. It was all the boring stuff, the
stuff that you try to keep to a minimum in the piece itself. But it
worked. At the end of the day, Rick and Jon said we could use
Charter’s name, and we were back in business.

Another doozy of an argument was about “wuzzing.” I had spent
days and days at a postproduction house, artfully blurring the images
of the children in our undercover footage. The lawyers rejected it in a
minute. They wanted these kids to be unrecognizable even to their
own mothers, they said. Not just their faces, but their bodies, their
clothes —nothing could be identifiable.

I understood the privacy issues, but we had a little problem. How
could we show that the hospital staff was physically abusing patients
if we couldn’t show the patients’ bodies? For example, we had a scene
where a boy with an injured arm is strapped down to a table, and a
staff member wrenches the boy’s arm and reinjures it. How do you
show that without showing the boy’s body?

In the end, we showed a wuzzed-out blob, with an arm sticking
out of it. It wasn’t exactly a graceful representation of the poor kid’s
suffering, but at least you could understand what had happened to
his arm.

None of this happened through polite negotiations. We all argued,
yelled, threatened, and whined. Sometimes we got on our high
horses. On one late night conference call, I actually hung up on the
lawyers and ran out of the room crying. (I can’t believe I did that now.
David later said that everyone was relieved when I, the only woman



in the conversation, started crying because it gave all the men a face-
saving way out of a nasty argument.)

And then, just before we went to air, Charter filed a lawsuit. Sud-
denly, we loved our lawyers. They were our champions, our heroes.
They’d saved us from a thousand booby traps that were hidden in our
story. We praised their judgment about cuts and adds, and even about
wuzzing.

In fact, they had saved us. Charter tried to get a temporary
restraining order to keep our show off the air, and failed. And after
filing their suit, Charter never actually took us to court.

But if we had gone to court, I don’t think we would have gotten
an unfriendly, Food Lion type of jury, even in North Carolina. The
week after the Charter piece aired, we were swamped with letters,
nearly two thousand letters. All but a few dozen of them praised our
show, and they especially praised the way we took care to be even-
handed, and to be careful with the children’s identities.

It was a complete surprise. We expected a court battle, and instead we
got a love fest. Even a couple of the hospital staff who we exposed in the
piece called to tell us how fair we’d been, and how they appreciated it.

PUBLIC RELATIONS

The next bout we had with Charter wasn’t in court, but in the press.

After we aired our piece, the federal government started shutting
down Charter hospitals here and there around the country. So CBS
decided to rerun the piece that summer, with an update.

We notified Charter executives, who hired Powell Tate, a public
relations firm in Washington, D.C., to deal with us. Powell Tate’s
strategy was threefold.

First, they had a woman who called David and me constantly to
yell at us. This isn’t journalism! she’d yell. You aren’t journalists!
People are going to know about this!

Second, they swamped us with “evidence” to “disprove” what we
had shown in our piece. My favorite piece of “evidence” was a docu-
ment, signed by our own Terrance Johnson, claiming that he had
undergone a formal training session. This was to refute our claim that
Charter didn’t suitably train its employees.

Unfortunately for Powell Tate, they forgot about our hidden
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camera. Terrance had been taping when he signed the document they
later sent us. What happened before he signed was this: the head
nurse told her staff that they weren’t going to have any training ses-
sion because the teacher hadn’t shown up, but she wanted them to
sign the paperwork saying they’d completed the class anyhow.

Powell Tate sent us pages and pages of this kind of material, none of
it proving anything. Nevertheless, it caused a problem for us at CBS
because we did not have time in our television program to repeat and
refute all their allegations against us. And that was the third part of their
strategy: They sent newspapers and TV stations around the country a
packet of their material, entitled “The Facts That CBS Refused to Show.”

That was very clever. Never mind that “The Facts That CBS
Refused to Show” were actually a bunch of false allegations and
empty excuses; as long as we didn’t broadcast it, they could claim we
were holding it back from the public.

That’s what people always hear about television reporters, that
they take a few things out of context, and leave all the rest —the “real
story” — off the air. That was what Food Lion said about ABC.

But again, Powell Tate blew it. They forgot about the Internet. We
didn’t have the airtime for the pages and pages of stuff they dumped
on us. But we had CBS.com, and we put it there. Every single word
Powell Tate sent to us, we reprinted faithfully on our Web site, and
then we refuted all of it, line by line.

It was a huge project, a giant headache, and I'm pretty sure almost
no one read it. But we won. They lost. The only press I saw about “The
Facts That CBS Refused to Show” was a New York Times article about
how CBS had used its Web site in a creative new way to refute alle-
gations against one of its programs.

WHEN NO ONE CARES

While I was working on the Charter story, one of my favorite moments
in journalism happened, in Brentwood, on the O. ]. story. By then, all
the same producers and bookers and camera crews who had fought
over every scrap of O.]. news for years were now staked out by
Monica Lewinsky’s father’s house in Brentwood. Then, just after noon
on February 9, 1998, an SUV drove into the middle of their media
camp and O.]. Simpson popped his head out the driver’s side
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window.

“Is that the Lewinsky house?” he asked. Then he stayed a while to
chat.

You gotta love these big stories, even if you hate them. These sto-
ries never really go away, they just show up in a different form. First,
you’'ve got a media frenzy, then the story seems quaint and amusing
because everyone who was so worked up over it doesn’t care any-
more. In 1998, a bunch of reporters standing on the street in Brent-
wood could get an interview with O.]., but it would only run as a
blurb on an inside page.

But by then, of course, Monica was dominating the headlines and
leading all the broadcasts, and there wasn’t much room for anything else.



THE STORY NO ONE
WANTED TO HEAR

J. Robert Port

Bob Port joined the New York Daily News as an investigative
reporter in July 2000. He has published stories there about prob-
lems in New York’s family court and child welfare system, and
campaign-financing excesses during Hillary Clinton’s senate
race. In 1999, he became a senior editor at APBnews.com (All
Points Bulletin News), a news Web site covering crime, safety,
and justice. His work won an Investigative Reporters and Edi-
tors special citation for investigative reporting and a Scripps-
Howard Foundation Award for online reporting. In 1995, Port
joined the Associated Press (AP) in New York as special assign-
ments editor in charge of a team of national reporters working
on investigative projects. He started and supervised the AP
investigation of the Korean War massacre that occurred at No
Gun Ri in July 1950. His staff’s report on No Gun Ri won the
Pulitzer Prize for investigative reporting and the George Polk
Auward for international reporting (both awards were received in 2000). His staff’s earlier projects
won the AP Managing Editor’s award for national enterprise reporting in 1996, 1997, and 1998.
Before joining AP, Port worked for twelve years at the St. Petersburg Times in Florida, where
he led special projects and introduced the newspaper to computer-assisted reporting. His work
included stories about illegal gun dealing, inflated payroll-cutting claims by Florida’s governor,
and teachers with criminal records. He was one of four Times reporters who received the Society
of Professional Journalists’ 1991 National Distinguished Service Award for investigative
reporting for a series about abuses in the sealing of criminal records in Florida.

In the life of an investigative reporter, at least one who is devoted
to his craft and pursues it for altruistic reasons, there come certain
awful, lonely moments of realization—those rare times when you
stumble upon something you know in your gut, or you think you
know, is not just news, but terribly important news.

You literally tremble when you discover some document you rec-
ognize to be a smoking gun. Your hand shakes as you scribble down
quotes from some whistle-blower finally summoning up the nerve to
say what he really knows. You realize people could be hurt seeing the
ugly truth in print, and that you, as the messenger, will probably be
attacked, but you are compelled to tell the story as fairly as you can.

201
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You do this because it is your profession and because you long ago
decided that this pursuit of knowledge, however imperfect, however
unprofitable, is a wiser choice for all of us than secrecy or ignorance.

To keep perspective, you frighten yourself by typesetting a
ninety-point headline in your mind, testing how much power its
words can accurately convey. These moments of realization are like a
head-on highway collision, where your life passes before you. You
imagine in an instant a cascade of consequences your news will likely
set in motion —and whether you still are up to the task.

For me, such a moment came one evening in April 1998, as I
worked late, which I often did then, in my tiny, windowless office—
crammed with spartan steel furniture and buzzing computer
screens —on the fifth floor of the headquarters of the Associated Press
(AP) in New York City’s Rockefeller Center. The hundreds who work
there, thanklessly I must say, call it “50 Rock.”

The AP is a factory of news that beams an endless stream of words
and pictures by satellite into nearly every newspaper and television
station in America. It has an unmatched reach around the globe. Few
people realize the AP’s telecommunications infrastructure carries all
the other major news wires of the United States, too: the New York
Times wire, the Washington Post wire, Gannett News Service, Knight-
Ridder’s wire—even what remains of United Press International
(UPI), the AP’s head-to-head competitor that suffered a financial col-
lapse more than a decade ago—all feed their news into the same
“wire.” The AP’s.

The AP itself is a nonprofit corporation owned by its members,
who are essentially all the news organizations of America. It has
almost nothing in assets, save the computers and telephones its
reporters use. Yet with the First Amendment to shield it from the gov-
ernment and UPI out of the picture, it has achieved, in effect, a unique
status—that of a constitutionally protected, tax-exempt monopoly.
And it wields great power. By deciding what to publish and what to
ignore, the AP, perhaps more than any single news outlet, can define
what is news. If it speaks loudly enough, it cannot, itself, be ignored.

It also decides what places are newsworthy enough to keep
reporters on hand. It is, for instance, today the only Western news-
gathering organization with a full-time bureat in Korea.

In New York in 1998, I was the AP’s special assignment editor,
given the job three years earlier of leading a new team of national
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writers devoted to investigative projects. I worked for the executive
editor, who answered to the AP’s president. It was a gritty place to
work, with more than its share of petty rivalries, egos, and squabbles.
It was a place filled with excellent journalists, but unfortunately for
me, it was also a place whose leaders seemed not the least bit inter-
ested in the pursuit of investigative reporting for the good of democ-
racy. At the AP, the emphasis is on simple stories and neutrality.

The day before my moment of reckoning at the AP, I had quietly
shipped off my investigative team’s researcher to the National
Archives complex in College Park, Maryland, a gigantic warehouse of
mostly military records, to check out a war atrocity claim being
pressed —nearly fifty years after the fact—by a couple dozen South
Korean citizens. I say “quietly” because I didn’t want my bosses to
know what I was doing —or what it might likely cost and how long it
would take to do it. I assumed they would shut it down. A few days
earlier, a local hire, as the AP calls its nonunion foreign laborers over-
seas, had transmitted an eight hundred-word feature from our bureau
in Seoul to the busy International Desk in New York. The writer was
Sang-hun Choe (pronounced “Shay”), a young Korean reporter, well
thought of and backed up by the editing of a veteran bureau chief,
Reid Miller. Tom Wagner in Tokyo, the AP’s chief of Asia news, had
read the piece, considered it significant and was prepared to devote
more resources to it.

Choe described the latest of several futile legal hearings in the
saga of a war reparations claim that had remained hidden within
South Korea for decades. The claim had begun making local TV news
after a newly elected president began to end the suppression of free
speech imposed by previous regimes. The French wire service,
Agence France-Presse, had noted the case briefly on its wires some
months earlier, but the AP had yet to move a word on it. And this
story was no trifling matter. It was an accusation from supposed eye-
witnesses that U.S. warplanes and U.S. soldiers had deliberately
gunned down some four hundred South Korean civilians —women,
children, babies, and old men—in the fifth week of the Korean War.
The AP’s deputy international editor, Kevin Noblet, had given me
Choe’s copy, with a request: Anything we can do here, meaning
within the United States, to confirm this? Noblet was looking for
results he might publish within a week or two.

As I sat in my office that evening, my hands trembled as I banged



out an answer to a sketchy e-mail from my researcher, Randy Her-
schaft. He was at his laptop, working late, too, at the miserable Best
Western Motel in College Park, checking-in after a hard day.

His persistence had paid off. “Fax me the thing,” I told him. When
I saw it, I couldn’t believe my eyes.

That day, Herschaft had leafed through dozens of boxes filled
with mundane military paperwork from the Korean War, material
routinely declassified when it became more than thirty years old, yet
never closely studied by anyone—some of it was still bundled in its
original brown wrapping and twine as when it was shipped from
Japan decades earlier.

There, he found a most remarkable memorandum issued July 27,
1950, by a U.S. Army commander —in the fifth week of the Korean
War, the very time when, our South Koreans alleged, U.S. forces had
gunned down scores of their fellow villagers.! In the memo, Maj. Gen.
William Kean, referring to a map that highlighted more than one hun-
dred square miles of central Korea—including the site of the alleged
massacre, behind the U.S. front lines—instructed his twenty-fifth
Infantry Division thusly: “All civilians seen in this area are to be
treated as enemy and action taken accordingly.” Herschaft had seen
more explicit documents describing similar orders authorizing the
shooting of civilians, including a radio message from commanders of
the Army’s First Cavalry Division recorded as “No refugees to cross
the front lines. Fire everyone trying to cross lines. Use discretion in
case of women and children.”

Herschaft had nailed down another critical fact.

The complaining South Koreans had been surprisingly specific in
their accusation. Not just any soldiers, they said, but the Army’s First
Cavalry Division had machine-gunned their kin at a railroad bridge
on certain dates. In a written denial of their claim, the U.S. Army had
been equally specific, saying there was no “evidence to show the U.S.
First Cavalry Division was in the area where the shooting allegedly
occurred.”2 Well, not so. Herschaft found that units of the First Cav-
alry Division were all around the area where the shooting had
allegedly occurred —and this according to the army’s official history
from that period of the war, a bound reference book that would be a
schoolboy’s first stop in checking the day-by-day whereabouts of an
army unit during a war.3

Could this possibly be, I thought, what it appeared to be?
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I knew it would require a massive commitment of time and
resources to nail down a worthwhile story, and one suitable for the AP
wire. An army division consists of thousands of men, and we had no
idea what unit—what regiment, what battalion, or what company —
might have veterans who would remember, much less discuss any-
thing. My only reference point for weighing the value of such an
effort was the My Lai massacre.

I was forty-three. I had grown up with Vietnam on television con-
stantly. I had watched my cousin, Gerry Coghlan, head off to that
undeclared war and then seen his photograph in Life magazine on my
mother’s coffee table. He was carrying the bloodied body of his
buddy from the jungle. It affected me. In high school, I had read Sey-
mour Hersh’s stories exposing the My Lai massacre—fully a year
after it had occurred. To me, Hersh was a war hero. The army was a
threat to our national security —more so for trying to keep My Lai
secret, than for letting it happen.

Bias has no place in good journalism, but neither does blind patri-
otism, and I'm not ashamed to acknowledge I make moral judgments
as an investigative journalist. The death of the innocent in war is one
subject where I believe journalists owe it to their readers to ferret out
facts, precisely because the deliberate killing of the innocent is so
wrong. | believe the execution of civilians for the convenience of
battle, particularly in a war over ideology, as Vietham was, is espe-
cially heinous, inhuman, and evil. It is un-American and Nazi-like. To
judge any individual’s acts in wartime, particularly those of the lowly
foot soldier, is a dangerous game of second-guessing, but massacres,
as events, are to be learned from and studied —not hushed up—so
that we all might avoid the mistakes of history.

That was my state of mind as I approached this story. If this made me
more advocate than journalist —a charge I heard repeatedly in my tenure
at the AP—1I plead guilty, but I don’t think it did. I can write an objective
news account. I do admit it, though: I am politically opposed to having
soldiers kill babies in secret. Do you know anyone who is in favor of that?

Here, from the forgotten war in Korea, another undeclared Asian
conflict, we had more than just Lt. William Calley terminating sus-
pected Viet Cong sympathizers. We had documents reflecting orders
to kill civilians, and these orders were issued by generals to thou-
sands of young soldiers in retreat, who would have been expected to
unthinkingly obey. I had served a four-year enlistment in the U.S. Air



Force, albeit in the peacetime after Vietnam. I knew how the military
worked. My God, I thought. What kind of hell was this war in Korea?
I had read nothing of this in history class.

I knew we needed to do considerably more reporting, but I don’t
believe in coincidence, such as secret instructions to shoot refugees
having no connection to refugees who independently assert from the
opposite side of the planet that they were then shot. And how, I won-
dered, could the army be so dead wrong in its formal rebuttal to a
massacre allegation. Indifference? Negligence? Deception, perhaps? Is
there another explanation?

Only a fool, it seemed to me, or someone so biased by loyalty to
country —someone who couldn’t conceive of the U.S. military doing
anything wrong or someone who didn’t wish to encourage a discussion
of it—would not see this as news: archival evidence that bolstered, even
if it did not confirm, a claim of a massacre clung to by South Korean
peasants all their lives. We had unearthed documents, inaccessible to
historians for decades, showing that entire army divisions were told to
kill civilians on sight, an apparent large-scale violation of the law of war.
This alone struck me as newsworthy. Those documents were unprece-
dented pieces of U.S. military history, we would soon learn from a West
Point professor who teaches the subject of war crimes to army cadets.
And we had the army, confronted with a specific allegation of refugees
being shot, publishing a defense that was demonstrably false.

I ask you: If that isn’t news, even forty-eight years later, then what is?

I also recalled that it was actually the AP, not Hersh, which first
transmitted news of the My Lai incident. A description of the killing
was filed to the AP’s “B wire,” which carries nondeadline news and
mostly features. It moved not too long after My Lai occurred. But the
news was played down, lacking in detail, and no one particularly
noticed it in the crush of other news from Vietnam.

The AP, it seemed to me, had failed in its duty to its readers once
before.

I decided to put everything I had —if necessary, every dime left in
my $100,000-a-year budget for investigations —and what little staff I
could spare into this one story. I decided to pursue the project full bore,
to try to answer every question that could practically be answered.

There was one problem: The people who ran the AP. The people I
worked for. I knew they would not share my enthusiasm. It turned
out to be even worse.



What followed — four months of intense reporting and writing,
then more than a year of argument over whether or how to publish
the story —became the most frustrating experience of my career.

Some seventeen months later, in September 1999, to its credit, the
AP finally published the story of “The Bridge at No Gun Ri.” For their
efforts, the reporters received the Pulitzer Prize for investigative
reporting, the only investigative Pulitzer in AP’s history.

Yet before the series had hit the wire, I, the editor who had
launched the project, nurtured it, and become its relentless proponent
within the AP’s executive news staff, found myself out of a job. My
position and my department were dissolved. Not sure the AP would
ever run the story, I resigned in June 1999. I had been transferred to the
AP’s communications department. I was demoted to a position that
could best be described as chief computer repairman for the newsroom.

What's worse, four years at the AP —with every project I proposed
meeting constant internal resistance, even while my staff’s work won
award after award—had eroded my idealism as an investigative
reporter and editor. The AP’s president wasn’t letting me hire anyone. I
had been forced to accept a sad reality of the American news business
today: Some of our biggest, most trusted news organizations simply lack
the courage, the will, or the leadership to consistently do the work nec-
essary to expose the truth about the most controversial subjects in our
world, the AP’s belated publication of “No Gun Ri” not withstanding.

The truth is, to publish “The Bridge at No Gun Ri,” the AP had to
be dragged kicking and screaming every step of the way. Attacks on
the story that came later, orchestrated by army veterans with ruffled
feathers, have left many people thinking it was somehow made up,
when in fact, nothing could be further from the truth.

Armed with intriguing documents, in May 1998, I sent Herschaft
and my best reporter, Martha Mendoza, back to the National Archives
to comb through every shred of paper available. We obtained military
maps from the war, had them copied, and coated the office walls until
the Special Assignment Team suite looked like a war room. Radio logs
and other records, which recorded dates, times, and coordinates, were
used to pinpoint the whereabouts of dozens of different army units.
The maps made it clear that one of four army regiments had to be the
one at No Gun Ri when any shooting of refugees would have
occurred. The unit turned out to be the Seventh Cavalry — the regi-
ment of George Custer and Wounded Knee.
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We used veteran groups and eventually unit rosters obtained
from the National Archives military personnel records in St. Louis,
Missouri, to build a catalog of veterans who might know anything
about No Gun Ri. Noblet and the AP’s international staff sent Choe
searching Korea for more interviews and more details. The interna-
tional staff tossed in the best reporter and writer it could offer: Charles
Hanley, the AP’s senior foreign correspondent.

Hanley and Mendoza began phoning veterans cold. Within days
they hit upon people who remembered bits and pieces about No Gun
Ri. I put them on airplanes to visit anyone who would talk and to
question the commanding officers we had located. I wanted face-to-
face interviews, and I wanted each reporter to be a separate witness
to each other and to what was said. I required interview notes to be
typed into a database we all shared. I sent Herschaft to any library
that might have anything—the Truman Library in Independence,
Missouri, the Army War College in Carlisle, Pennsylvania, and many
more trips to College Park. He read every newspaper, magazine, and
book from the period he could locate, spending days in front of micro-
film machines at the New York Public Library.

It was a massive undertaking. It was beginning to cost a bundle,
and yet I was managing to keep the scale of our efforts below my
boss’ radar. Within a few months, we had burned through more than
$30,000 in travel and computer research expenses. So long as any one
trip stayed below $5,000, I was authorized to sign off without the
executive editor’s okay. He seemed to care little about the details of
what we were doing.

By late July 1998, we had produced a draft of the main story, with
several veterans on the record acknowledging that they had shot hun-
dreds of South Korean refugees at a railroad bridge. Some recalled the
orders that no one was to cross the front lines. One machine gunner
gave a chilling account of shooting into the crowd. There were, pre-
dictably, conflicts in their specific recollections, though on the essen-
tial events, they agreed. I gave the draft of the story to my boss, the
executive editor, Bill Ahearn. We held a meeting. It quickly grew into
an argument.

Ahearn challenged every fact—just what we expected and
wanted. But he began to question the nature and the newsworthiness
of the subject. Hanley, Ahearn said afterward, was “in love with the
story” and could not be trusted. The memories of soldiers would
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likely never be reliable material for an AP piece, he said. Still, Ahearn
was willing to see more.

With nearly each week, another veteran with knowledge of No Gun
Ri was located. Experts weighed in. By August, a second, cleaner draft
was in Ahearn’s hands. He ripped into it. It was too definitive in stating
what occurred. He challenged every assertion of anything resembling a
massacre. He eventually demanded to review all interview notes, then
misinterpreted many of them—statements from soldiers who were
nowhere near the shooting, people we had called while searching for
people who knew something —to be evidence refuting the story.

I asked to send my two reporters, who by now wanted to see the
scene and compare the accounts of soldiers to those of survivors
located by Choe, to Korea. It was a trip that would have cost a few
thousand dollars at most, money I had in my budget. I thought it pru-
dent. Ahearn refused to allow it.

Mendoza began to lose patience. She had moved to New York to
work for me but was finding the cost of living in Brooklyn too high for
her husband and two sons. The pay at the AP in New York City is among
the worst for journalists there. I begged to get her a raise, something only
possible with approval from the AP’s president. I got no response. Men-
doza asked to transfer to an opening in the AP’s San Jose, California,
bureau, near her husband’s family. I had lost my best reporter.

I was accused of practicing “gotcha journalism.” Hanley, the lead
writer, was made to revise the No Gun Ri story sixteen times under
Ahearn’s direction, mostly in ways that played down or obscured
what we had found. We were ordered to give the story a feature lead
and tone. By Thanksgiving, Ahearn appeared to be stalling, going for
weeks at a time avoiding me, not answering e-mails, and not
returning telephone calls. When pressed for some word on the story’s
fate before Christmas 1998, following one stretch of silence, he began
yelling at me furiously, accusing me of trying to pressure him into
releasing the piece before it was ready.

It became clear to me that he didn’t think what we had belonged
on the AP wire. Instead he seemed to see it as big trouble.

Through late summer of 1999, newspapers were filled with news
of attacks on a Cable News Network (CNN) report on Operation Tail-
wind. By fall the subject was fodder for journalism trade magazines.
The CNN report, meant to launch a new evening news show, had
been narrated by Peter Arnett, a former AP correspondent in Vietnam.
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CNN claimed that Special Forces in Vietnam had used deadly sarin
nerve gas in a secret operation to rescue prisoners held in Laos—a
stunning revelation, if true. It turned out the story didn’t hold up
under independent review.

It seemed clear to me that CNN’s story was nothing like what we
were doing and that its reporting methods fell far short of our own.
There were no official documents. Critical sources for CNN were off-
the-record. We had startling official documents. I had insisted every-
thing be on the record. None of that mattered. Heads were rolling at
CNN. It was time to keep your head down at the AP.

I learned that Ahearn carried ghosts from a war of his own. He'd
been an army captain in Vietnam. I asked him if he’d ever killed civil-
ians. Without answering me directly, he described how men would
hear a sound at night in a nearby swamp and fire into the darkness,
only to find it was a family hunting for frogs to eat. He stared out into
the skating rink at Rockefeller Center. I dropped the subject.

After Christmas 1999, I prepared a detailed report with an
analysis and summary of our research, including maps and pho-
tographs. I attached documents, interview excerpts and the names,
birth dates, addresses and telephone numbers of a dozen veterans,
plus the names of a dozen Korean survivors speaking about the
shooting on the record. I had all but given up. I was weary of trying
to explain our investigative effort to editors unwilling or unable to
take the time to absorb the complexity and difficulty of the informa-
tion. I wanted something I could distribute inside the AP —or outside
if it came to that—to let others with no prejudice toward our work
size it up for themselves. Ahearn said he would give me a decision,
but he wanted to consult Lou Boccardi, the president of the AP.

After studying my report, without explanation, Ahearn ordered the
story killed. When I appealed to Boccardi, he informed me by e-mail that
he agreed with his executive editor’s assessment. When I met with him,
he summoned Ahearn, who said nothing during a long conversation.
Boccardi said he felt the story, as written, belonged in Rolling Stone mag-
azine. He said to be suitable for the wire, it needed to lose its prosecuto-
rial tone and be reduced to one story of nine hundred words or less. He
said a paragraph needed to be inserted high in the copy describing
atrocities committed by North Korea during the war —a subject we had
summarized in a sidebar. He said that once reduced to that extent, it
wouldn’t be much of a story, and he’d be in favor of just dropping it.
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“You make these soldiers look like criminals,” Boccardi said
during the meeting. I had seen it differently. If anything, I thought we
had made generals, or perhaps America’s Cold War-foreign policy in
general, look criminal —and done so by presenting facts, documents,
and the statements of witnesses and experts.

“This is the kind of story,” I said, “the New York Times would put
on its front page.”

He was unconvinced. I warned him that his reporters were ready
to take their work elsewhere and that this story would eventually
come out. He said that if other reporters did the story and hosannas
fell upon them, that would be fine with him. I said that if he killed the
project, I would not be able to defend his decision. I suggested a solu-
tion. Bring in a totally fresh editor, who knows nothing about the sub-
ject and who is agreeable to everyone involved, to rework the copy
until he, Boccardi, and the reporters reached consensus.

Let’s think about it a day was Boccardi’s reaction.

It's the last conversation he and I have ever had.

The next day I learned that Jon Wolman, former Washington
bureau chief, named by Boccardi the previous fall to be the AP’s new
managing editor, would take charge of the story. Wolman and I dis-
cussed who could be a fresh editor. It took weeks to learn it would be
Noblet, who, Wolman announced to me, would rework the project
while continuing his duties on the International Desk.

Months of rewriting and rereporting began anew. Reporting to
Wolman, Noblet rewrote the main story using the reporters’ notes and
documents, occasionally asking questions. The reporters were barred
from seeing his work until top editors cleared it. Hanley was enraged.
When he and Mendoza saw the copy, it told a story they felt made it
appear no one was sure what had happened at No Gun Ri. Hanley said
it was dishonest and unacceptable. Noblet was caught in the middle.
Hanley became a pariah, avoided by management and left to guess for
long stretches of time what would happen to his months of work.

I learned my fate. Wolman announced a reorganization of the
news staff. His place for me: systems editor. I would be in charge of
editing terminals in New York. I had built up considerable skill and a
reputation for using computer records in investigative projects, but
this seemed dumb. To stay employed, I agreed. I had begun looking
for another job in journalism. I resigned a month later.

Leading up to publication, and after, the AP’s top managers




refused to even speak to Hanley, one of the wire service’s most
respected reporters worldwide — the author of its 150th anniversary
history book—even as they rewrote the words under his byline.
Noblet was forced to play intermediary. Hanley would speak to
Noblet, who would carry his message to Wolman. Wolman would
respond to Hanley’s issues through Noblet. Hanley would e-mail or
phone Boccardi. Boccardi wouldn’t respond. Ahearn was being mar-
ginalized as Wolman was groomed to take his place. The atmosphere
was surreal, but Hanley pressed relentlessly on.

Every AP bureau chief from Tokyo to Paris knew the AP was sit-
ting on a major story. It became gossip. Hanley was ordered to rein-
terview anyone who would be quoted with an editor listening-in on
his conversation — the first time that practice was ever employed in
the AP’s history. Before publication, Wolman tried to order the AP’s
Web site to remove images of documents, maps, and videos of inter-
views that had been produced to bolster a special presentation of the
story there. The Web site’s editor, Jim Kennedy, refused. The Web ver-
sion of the story later received Columbia University’s Online Jour-
nalism Award.

Boccardi, Ahearn, and Wolman had made clear the word “mas-
sacre” would be censored from all AP copy —though dozens of news-
papers using the story, including the New York Times, instinctively
turned to that word to write their front-page headlines. Even when
government officials, such as Secretary of Defense William Cohen,
uttered the word in the context of “massacre” being an allegation, as
opposed to a proven fact, the word was banished from the AP wire in
connection with No Gun Ri. Soldiers who were there and who called
it a massacre saw their quotes left unused. And when the AP ulti-
mately won its Pulitzer, in the wire service’s own story announcing its
award, Boccardi, a member of the Pulitzer committee himself, per-
sonally sat at a news terminal and deleted every occurrence of the
word used by the story’s writer, who had taken it from the language
of the Pulitzer committee’s official press release.

In the end, the leadership of the AP could agree with its reporters
on only one thing about the No Gun Ri story— the opening phrase of
its lead, an artful sentence composed by Noblet that was as telling as
he could make it. His words, “it was a story no one wanted to hear,”
were an intentional double entendre:

“It was a story no one wanted to hear: Early in the Korean War, vil-
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lagers said, American soldiers machine-gunned hundreds of helpless
civilians, under a railroad bridge in the South Korean countryside.”

It often occurred to those of us working on this story what a thin
thread had even made it possible: the AP’s presence in Korea. A
young reporter’s curiosity. An investigative team ready to handle
complicated research using military records. Having the time and the
money to undertake in-depth reporting.

Today, there is no Special Assignment Team in New York and no
special assignment editor. And what troubles me is this: What other
stories like No Gun Ri are waiting out there to be told? And who at
the AP will be working hard there to tell them?
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DOWNSIDES

Iam unfortunately here to tell you there are downsides to dream
jobs. I thought I had one. I had always wanted to work at CNN,
and I was delighted when I landed the job. It wasn’t on camera, but
the awkward little secret is out now: being a producer on a magazine
show is far more fun, and more editorially interesting, than being the
on-air face or correspondent.

The producer generally gets to shape the story and do the bulk of
the reporting. I was paid to interview interesting people, go to inter-
esting places, to think, and to write. I wasn’t paid the big-star salary —
but I had a lot of satisfaction in knowing that my work really mat-
tered. I felt it was one of the few places in television news not pres-
sured by a huge press for ratings. A program which dared to go after
serious, important topics about public policy. A worldwide audience.
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I won awards. I went to fancy parties. I hobnobbed with important
personages. I liked the people I worked with, and —big mistake —1I
trusted management. Big mistake.

THREATS

During the course of my reporting on Tailwind, that now infamous
report about nerve gas use on a raid to kill defectors in Laos, I received
various threats. Threats to drag my name through the mud if I opened
this can of worms on gas use; threats that no one would believe me—
I was the wrong age and sex; even, ultimately, a death threat.

I was told by management to keep going; it was an important
story. It must be really hot to generate this much heat. I, of course,
kept going, digging deeper and deeper into the secret elite world of
black operations—where everyone is sworn to lifetime secrecy, no
records are kept, and the standing orders are “use any weapon we’ve
got” and “kill anything that moves.”

BLACK OPS

But the whole point of a black operation is to conceal the facts. That’s
why there is so little coverage of such events. It’s really hard shedding
light on them. It takes a long time, a lot of persistence. Absolute proof —
a smoking gun—is almost impossible to find. What you have in the end
is firsthand accounts. Most people are sworn to secrecy and don'’t talk.

In a chilling warning, an officer on the Tailwind raid told my cam-
eraman at the Special Forces convention in June, “Geez, I am really
sorry we're doing this to April.” Meaning the disinformation cam-
paign about me, casting me alternatively as a wildly imaginative con-
spiracy theorist, or else as the Attila-the-Hun producer who pushes
hardened combat veterans to the walls, choking the truth out of them.
But, this officer said, we can’t let the Tailwind story have legs. It can
lead to too many other things being uncovered, even worse things.
Special Forces guys have got to understand they are not to talk to
reporters, and reporters have got to understand they are not to try
and uncover black operations, otherwise they are going to end up like
April. The tactic? An old cliché of warfare: kill the messenger.
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WILLING ACCOMPLICE

[ am ashamed to say that CNN was a willing accomplice in those vet-
erans’ campaign to crush the story. CNN management cut and ran at
the first sign of heat. The heat included everyone from Henry
Kissinger and Richard Helms and Colin Powell complaining about
the story, to an orchestrated e-mail campaign by Special Forces vet-
erans on the CNN executive suite, to a threatened boycott of CNN sta-
tions. Ted Turner, in sanctioning cowardice, proclaimed a new stan-
dard of journalism for the CNN network. He told a conference room
full of CNN managers in late June that we didn’t have enough proof
to persuade a jury in a court of law. That’s a new one. That’s a pre-
posterous new standard for television journalism.

The judicial standard has never been the journalism standard, nor
should it be. Did the ABC news reporter have enough proof when
based on two confidential sources she reported a semen-stained
dress? We had more than a half dozen —some on camera—what then,
is enough proof? A retired chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff who
was the top chain of command read and approved the script. We felt
we had gone to extreme measures to confirm the story —management
knew it was a source-based story, not a document-based story, and
approved it for air. Such a smoking gun standard will crush inves-
tigative reporting. There has been a wave of stories that have been
killed by corporate media management—the Chiquita story, the
Disney mismanagement story reported in the Washington Post, the
allegations by Gary Webb of Contra drug running.*

*The Chiquita story is entitled “Power, Money, and Control, Chiquita Secrets
Revealed.” Written by Mike Gallagher and Cameron McWhirter of the Cincinnati Enquirer,
the story is about Chiquita Corporation’s alleged corrupt business practices in Latin
America. After the story ran on May 3, 1998, Gallagher, who was given access to company
voice-mail messages by a Chiquita insider, was accused of stealing personal corporate prop-
erty and fired from his job. The Enquirer printed a retraction of his story, even though it was
not factually false. The Disney mismanagement story, “ABC Kills Story Critical of Owner
Disney,” ran in the Washington Post on October 14, 1998. Post reporter Howard Kurtz wrote
that ABC News president, David Westin, had killed a 20/20 newsmagazine piece about
alleged hiring and safety problems at Disney. Reporter Gary Webb's series about alleged
Contra drug running was entitled Dark Alliance. The San Jose Mercury News ran the series in
1996 and later retracted support for it.
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WE STAND BY THE STORY

Ultimately, my coproducer [Jack Smith] and I were fired. Our names
dragged through the mud, we were branded journalistic felons by a
Wall Street Journal editorial. Yet, my coproducer and I stand by the
story. We continue to receive strong leads about nerve gas use and a
policy of killing defectors during the Vietham War. Yet, CNN’s goal,
in the words of one manager, is to “kill this thing, drive a stake
through its heart and bury it—so it’s gone” [The manager said this
during a staff meeting the day CNN retracted the story]. That's a
strange position for a newsgathering operation.

So how did we get hung out to dry? Has it been worth it? And
how can you prevent the same thing from happening to you? How do
you pull your life together after such a maelstrom?

The vehicle for our retraction and our firings was a much-bally-
hooed report by corporate lawyer Floyd Abrams. Though touted as a
First Amendment lawyer, Mr. Abrams is no Patrick Henry or Thomas
Paine. He is a corporate lawyer, in the pay of a corporate client, CNN.
On this job, he teamed up with CNN’s corporate counselor, David
Kohler, thus invalidating the independence of their investigation. Mr.
Abrams and Mr. Kohler present a thesis in their report —that we were
true believers in nerve gas use and the hunt to kill defectors, who
ignored information to the contrary. This is simply not true.

ISOLATED AND MADE SCAPEGOATS

The false premise, however, was convenient. It absolved CNN man-
agement of responsibility and simultaneously seemingly protected
the company from defamation suits. If true belief exists on the part of
the producers after all, there is arguably an absence of malice. We, the
producers targeted by CNN’s sham investigation, thus became
CNN’s own best defense in a court of law. In crafting their report, the
lawyers ignored anything that undercut their thesis, including a long
laundry list of skeptics and naysayers whom we attempted to put on
the air, but who denied us interviews. It is clear that the purpose of
their report was not to tell the truth about the editorial decision-
making process, but to isolate and scapegoat us, while protecting
CNN'’s executives and managers, who sign their paycheck.
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PROTECT YOUR SOURCES

In their great haste to undercut the report and blame the producers,
they attacked our confidential sources. In doing so, they used privi-
leged information, including the names of people’s identities we had
pledged to protect. These lawyers not only do not respect
attorney/client privilege, they do not grasp the most basic tenet of
reporting — protect your sources. Their only goal seems to have been
to protect management, at the expense of us and the story. To call such
an investigation independent is simply a fraud. In the words of one
executive, when he found out CNN had hired Abrams, going outside
“to buy respectability, I knew it was a done deal. You didn’t stand a
chance.”

SO—-HOW CAN YOU PREVENT SOMETHING LIKE
THIS FROM HAPPENING TO YOU?

You can choose to play it safe and stick with the pack. But if you dare
tackle a big story that challenges the establishment power to the roots,
pay heed to these:

Ten Tips for Survival From April:

1. If you have a controversial story, prior to broadcast or publi-
cation, make sure your management up to the top knows all
your concerns in writing. Fortunately, we do have a fat wad of
such memos and even a briefing book—so that CNN man-
agement cannot hide behind the fiction that they didn’t know
it was so controversial, or who and what our sourcing was.

2. If you ever hear the word “investigation” in the air about your
work—hire a lawyer fast. I say that with sincere regret
because I don’t like the thought of anyone spending piles of
money on lawyers. We should have never met with Kohler
and Abrams without a lawyer present to protect our interests.
[CNN Vice President Pam Hill ordered April Oliver and Jack
Smith to meet with Floyd Abrams and David Kohler. Oliver
was told that Abrams was going to give Smith and her advice
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about First Amendment and confidential source issues. Later
in the week, Oliver was told that Floyd was no longer ad-
vising her, but investigating her as CNN’s legal counsel.]

. Never, ever, ever accept a gag rule. During the course of the

investigation, we were bound and gagged, and told not to
comment on the story. [CNN wanted to control the story’s
spin. While CNN’s management publicly questioned Oliver’s
competence as a journalist, she was ordered to remain silent.]
During this period of time, many untruths —such as the fic-
tion of repressed memory—circulated in the press [News-
week’s Evan Thomas was the principal writer on “What’s the
Truth about Tailwind?” a June 22, 1998, article that questioned
the veracity of Oliver’s CNN report. In a skeptical tone,
Thomas wrote that an important source of the CNN story, Lt.
Robert Van Buskirk, had “told Newsweek that he had repressed
the memory” of killing a Caucasian soldier at a North Viet-
namese base until twenty-four years later when he suddenly
remembered it during his interview with Oliver. Almost a
year later, on June 27, 1999, the Charlotte Observer reported
Van Buskirk saying that the “repressed memory” part of the
Newsweek article was “the biggest hogwash I ever heard of.”
Thomas’s response: “Thomas says he didn’t misquote Van
Buskirk, although he added that Van Buskirk could have mis-
understood the question when asked if he had repressed the
memory of the incident.”]. We had to respond to those with
silence. The problem with such reporting is that with today’s
twenty-four-hour news cycle, you have to respond instantly,
otherwise the mistruths are accepted as fact. I should have
been leaking all over town and handing out transcripts—
playing the Washington game.

. If your boss requests that you assist the subject of your

reporting with its internal investigation, don’t. Tom Johnson
[now retired from CNN, Johnson was at the time, chairman
and chief executive officer of CNN News Group] marched me
and my coproducers over to the Pentagon to assist the Pen-
tagon with its investigation of Tailwind. This unprecedented
cooperation with the military foreshadowed CNN'’s subse-



7.

10.

quent capitulation. We should never have abided by this
incredible request.

When controversy over a story develops, demand to be noti-
fied immediately if you and your story are under inves-
tigation.

Insist that any investigation be carried out by people from the
world of journalism. This is not work for lawyers in the pay of
corporate managers.

Don’t resign, no matter what the pressures. I was told by Tom
Johnson I could resign with dignity and admit a terrible mis-
take or be terminated. I demanded to be fired. I remain proud
of this story and consider it my best work to date. Over time,
I do believe we will be vindicated, and CNN will be proven to
have caved to pressure.

The word “lawsuit” isn’t necessarily a dirty word. When I
first received a notice that I was being sued by retired General
John Singlaub, I was a little panicked. Over time, and consid-
ering my options, I came to welcome the process, realizing
that maybe now I had a forum. After being written off by most
of the media, maybe now I had a vehicle for proving the truth.
Let’s subpoena Henry Kissinger and Richard Helms and find
out what they have to say under oath, instead of in the back
channels of CNN’s executive suite.

If lawsuits develop, make sure that your journalism company
pays your legal bills. Don’t let them pick your lawyer.
Demand to see their libel insurance policy. You are entitled to
legal representation, and it should not be dictated by an
employer who fired you.

Lastly, but most importantly, get a life —sooner as opposed to
later. Amidst the maelstrom and the headlines, my nine-
pound, three-ounce son was born. He’s got all his fingers and
toes, to the profound relief of CNN’s legal team. His daily
smiles are a constant reminder of what is meaningful in life.



Family and friends have far more shelf life than any piece of
tape. They will still be there to support you in the long run
and are far more rewarding than any journalism prize.



VERDICT FIRST,
EVIDENCE LATER

Garwood
Monika Jensen-Stevenson

Monika Jensen-Stevenson is the author of Spite House: The
Last Secret of the War in Vietnam and coauthor of Kiss
the Boys Goodbye. A former Emmy-winning producer for
60 Minutes, Jensen-Stevenson has traveled throughout
Southeast Asia as a writer and reporter, lectured widely to
West Point cadets and veterans’ and public affairs organiza-
tions, and testified before the U.S. Senate Select Committee
on American POWSs. The Vietnam Veterans Coalition
awarded her the Vietnam Veterans National Medal.

When in his 1961 farewell speech to the nation Dwight D.
Eisenhower warned of the looming dangers of the military-
industrial complex, he left the Fourth Estate out of the equation and,
consequently, out of the national discussion that ensued. Perhaps he
had a premonition that to warn against a military-industrial-media
complex would automatically preclude the kind of national discus-
sion he wanted to engender. Even in 1961, an era now fondly
regarded as halcyon, no national discussion of any subject, even one
presented by the president, was possible without the participation of
powerful media outlets like the New York Times. Eisenhower was
probably aware that journalists —like most of us—have a great need
to see themselves as heroic advocates of truth, the kind envisioned by
Thomas Jefferson when he coined the name “Fourth Estate.” Such
high regard of one’s own profession cannot easily absorb reality: that
the profession is itself part of a potentially dangerous complex, and
that it requires constant vigilance to maintain one’s integrity.
Eisenhower warned, “Only an alert and knowledgeable citizenry
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can compel the proper meshing of the huge industrial and military
machinery of defense with our peaceful methods and goals, so that
security and liberty may prosper together.” Yet he failed to mention
how that could be achieved without a completely free and indepen-
dent press divorced from that military-industrial complex he warned
against. After all, his presidency oversaw the Joseph McCarthy
debacle when hundreds of lives were destroyed in part because the
media failed in its role to check and lend balance to an ego-driven sen-
ator who chaired a committee that was running amock. As a producer
for CBS’s 60 Minutes during the eighties I was proud —as was the
entire news division—that the only reporter with enough clout to
“alert the citizenry” to McCarthy’s demagoguery and with the
integrity to take him on was CBS’s own Edward R. Murrow, who had
so brilliantly reported on WWII from England. None of us then paid
much attention to the fact that Murrow had paid for taking on
McCarthy against the wishes of CBS’s administration. Afterward,
Murrow’s position was never again as secure or prominent as it had
been before.

McCarthy’s intimidation of the media was a harbinger of the
future when the press would, with few exceptions, seamlessly mesh
with the military-industrial complex Eisenhower warned against: The
media leitmotiv, straight from the red queen in Alice in Wonderland,
“Verdict First, Evidence Later.” Less than five years after Eisen-
hower’s speech, reporters would meekly mouth the Warren Commis-
sion’s findings on JFK’s assassination and defame anyone who dared
to question those findings. When Oliver Stone, in the late eighties,
dared to investigate what reporters should have investigated more
than twenty years before, he was accused of being a conspiracy theo-
rist and worse, before the first draft of his JFK screenplay was even
completed. The attack on Stone was led by no less an institution than
the august Washington Post. The press in all its modern manifesta-
tions, charged by Thomas Jefferson to keep the citizenry alert and
knowledgeable had a new reason for being: itself. As guru Marshall
McLuhan so aptly put it, “The medium has become the message.”

For me, it was a hard lesson to learn that the medium to which I
had dedicated myself often used its tremendous power to destroy
ordinary citizens whose only currency was the constitutional guar-
antee of inalienable rights to life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness
and whose only protection of those rights was the truth made public.



No one symbolizes this better than former Marine Private Robert R.
Garwood —fourteen years a prisoner of the communist Viethamese,
who was found guilty of collaborating with the enemy in the longest
court-martial in U.S. history. I first heard of Garwood in 1979 when I
worked for a Canadian news program. Wire reports referred to him as
a defector whom the United States government—specifically the
Marine Corps—was charging with being a traitor. Because I was an
American who had recently moved to Canada, it was a story that
interested me immensely, particularly when a few telephone calls to
Marine Corps representatives in Washington made it clear that this
was a defector who had gone far beyond simply going over to the
other side ideologically. The Marine Corps directed me to high-
ranking officers who said that Garwood was the first marine in his-
tory who had taken up arms against his own countrymen.

I was sorry to have to drop the story because it was not of enough
interest to a Canadian audience, but I kept up with American news
reports. Massive coverage was given to the court-martial. Out of hun-
dreds of reports, only one report, in the Daily News on December 21,
1979, gave me pause. It hinted at “complexities behind the scenes,”
and went on to describe the case as “filled with moral ambiguities,
and much of the testimony in the pre-court martial hearing at Camp
Lejeune has been muddled. As a result the public perception seems to
be one of confusion, combined with the uneasy feeling that a former
POW [Prisoner of War] is being unfairly punished.” But even this
article like all others tipped the balance toward projecting Garwood
as a known traitor when the reporter wrote, “. . . but unlike past cases
of collaboration in Korea and Vietnam, which mainly involved pro-
paganda activities, Bob Garwood is charged with having joined the
enemy as a rifle carrying guerilla who took direct and hostile action
against fellow Americans. As unwanted as the case is, it really can’t be
dismissed as if the charges, if true, are no more than understandable
conduct under the circumstance.”

At the end of the court-martial, there seemed no question that
Garwood was a monstrous traitor who had been treated fairly and
leniently by the government, particularly since he was initially
charged with desertion, a crime that carries the death penalty by
firing squad. Everything I learned from the media convinced me that
desertion charges had been dropped in the interest of healing national
wounds left by Vietnam. When I think back on my naiveté then —my
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fervent belief not only that I worked for a free and independent press,
but also that the stars of the medium truly were “the best and the
brightest” our country brought forth—1I am appalled. My only excuse,
to quote Paul McCartney, “But I was so much younger then...”

In 1985, while working as a staff producer for CBS’s 60 Minutes, |
became interested in Garwood again. He was now speaking publicly
about something that had never made the news during his court-mar-
tial. The Wall Street Journal reported he said that he knew firsthand of
other American prisoners in Vietnam long after the war was over. I
was surprised when I attended a press conference at the National
Press Club in Washington on March 22, 1985, where Garwood spoke
briefly: He was supported by Vietnam combat veterans whose war
records were, to a man, impeccable.

These veterans told a story vastly different from what was made
public during the court-martial and one that was intimately tied to
another 60 Minutes story | was working on—“Dead or Alive?” The title
referred to Vietnam POW/MIAs. The résumés of my sources were
extraordinary. They included outstanding experts like former head of
the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) General Eugene Tighe and
returned prisoners of war like Captain Red McDaniel, who held the
Navy’s top award for bravery, had commanded the aircraft carrier Lex-
ington, and was, for several years, director of liaison on Capitol Hill for
the Navy and Marine Corps. McDaniel’s heroism as a prisoner was
legendary. With such advocates providing back up, it was hard not to
consider the possibility that prisoners (some thirty-five hundred) had
in fact been kept by the Vietnamese communists as hostages to make
sure that the United States would pay the more than $3 billion in war
reparations that Nixon had promised before his fall from grace. Partic-
ularly compelling was the fact that of the three hundred prisoners
known to be held in Laos by the Pathet Lao, allies of the Vietnamese
communists, not one was released for homecoming in 1973.

The big question was, Why had the U.S. government declared that
all prisoners returned in 1973, and four years later officially deter-
mined that all but one—"symbolic” MIA Air Force colonel and pilot
Charles Shelton—were dead? It boggled the mind that no one in the
media asked why all the men on the list, particularly those in Laos,
were not returned. Instead of investigating, reporters accepted ver-
batim the government line that there was no evidence of prisoners
being kept behind, certainly no evidence of anyone still alive after 1973.
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What the media also missed —or perhaps agreed to keep quiet for
what they were told were national security reasons—was the battle
going on within intelligence agencies between those, usually old-
timers with a military background, who believed in intelligence col-
lected by human beings (HUMINT) whether they were hired spies or
volunteers, and those who discounted this as unsavory and unneces-
sary. The opposition to HUMINT came from those who believed high-
tech spying was all that was necessary. Although there was also state-
of-the-art, high-tech satellite intelligence on live American POWs in
Vietnam, the HUMINT coming in largely from South Vietnamese who
had been our allies, was, according to General Tighe (who had made
it a priority when he was head of the DIA), nothing short of miracu-
lous. There were numerous sightings of Garwood in the prison camps
of Vietnam. One South Vietnamese ally who reported that he had
been a prisoner with Garwood for a long period of time was none
other than General Lam Van Phat who had been military commander
of the Saigon area until the 1975 collapse.

Garwood’s return created a huge dilemma for the U.S. government.
He was, in fact, proof that the communists had kept prisoners. More
important, he was a living symbol of thousands of prisoners who had
been declared dead too soon by a government that turned a deaf ear to
families, veterans, and, most important, to some intelligence officials
who had steadfastly maintained that there was at least enough evi-
dence of live prisoners to keep their status open and make a concerted
effort to negotiate for their return. Congress, too, was involved in what
some veterans openly called a cover-up. Since 1975, two congressional
commissions had formally declared, on the basis of communist assur-
ances, that “there are no more Americans in Vietham.” There were more
complicated dimensions to America’s deaf-ear policy on POWs left in
Vietnam after 1973. Strong intelligence indicated that the Viet Cong had
allowed Palestine Liberation Organization (PLO) terrorists to interro-
gate and torture American prisoners who were left behind. In fact, Gar-
wood maintained that before he was allowed to leave Vietnam, he was
interrogated by the PLO and warned of the consequences to himself
and his family if he ever spoke about the PLO in Vietnam. This, along
with all intelligence on POWs, was considered not credible. General
Tighe, loathe to lay blame on anyone in the profession to which he had
dedicated his life, this total opposition to any evidence about POWs in
Vietnam was nothing more than “bureaucratic mindset.”
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The press too had easily succumbed to “off the record” advi-
sories from the government. Those still concerned about prisoners
were described as losers and loonies who couldn’t readjust to
society, or as distraught widows and others who couldn’t face the
fact that their loved ones were dead. There was an added factor to
why the press belittled anyone who questioned whether the Viet-
namese had kept any prisoners.

Many illustrious names in journalism had made their careers
reporting either on Watergate or the Vietnam War, and on “the best
and the brightest” who ran it. The POW issue was not a scandal, like
My Lai, with an easy target. It was instead, what General Alexander
Haig referred to as “a can of worms.” Whether filled with hubris or
not, most journalists considered it unlikely that with their connections
they would have missed a story of such magnitude. No one con-
cerned or knowledgeable about the subject fit in the category of “best
and brightest.” Instead, they were the ones who had actually fought
the war, those described by Clinton cabinet member Donna Shalala as
“not the best and the brightest.” Most of them were, in fact, enlisted
men who had made the military their career. With exceptions like
Bernard Fall and Keyes Beach, most journalists who were famous for
their war coverage had excelled at stories that exposed the vicious-
ness and excesses of American fighting men. Bobby Garwood was on
the top of their list as someone whose deprived background —trailer
park upbringing, broken home, mild juvenile delinquency —made it a
certainty that he fell into the category of “baby-killing and gook-
hunting” soldiers journalists had delighted in exposing during the
war. What exacerbated the situation was that even though the worst
charges against Garwood had to be dropped for lack of evidence at
the court-martial, government spokesmen continued to stir up ani-
mosity against him by openly calling him a deserter-traitor and thus
someone who could not be believed. The fact that General Eugene
Tighe, the intelligence expert, backed up what Garwood said, seemed
to escape the notice of journalists. Even when Tighe spoke before con-
gressional committees, he was ignored.

In 1985, in addition to the POW story, I began working on a story
about Garwood. At that time, I presented one renowned Pulitzer
Prize-winning war journalist/author with the impeccable testimony
on missing POWs that General Tighe had given before a congres-
sional committee. He told me, “I have it on very good information



that Tighe is in the beginning stages of Alzheimer’s.” This answer
flabbergasted me. I had spent hours talking to General Tighe, as had
my researcher, Nellie Lide. We both agreed that he had one of the
quickest minds we had ever come across. It would not be long before
I began to understand how an influential journalist who had exposed
some of the most illegal aspects of President Nixon’s administration
came to believe such slander.

I had heard of Col. Richard Childress, who was generally known
as the government liaison between the National Security Council
(NSC) and POW/MIA families as well as the president’s advisor. Chil-
dress had joined the NSC as what was termed a Southeast Asian Polit-
ical and Military Affairs Officer in 1961. Since he had no military back-
ground, it was generally assumed he worked for the only other gov-
ernment agency that awarded the rank of colonel to some of its
employees —the CIA. In what Red McDaniel’s wife, Dorothy, consid-
ered an abusive telephone call, Childress had accused her husband —
one of my sources on the prisoner story — of defying the official line by
attacking the concealment of intelligence on prisoners; but not before
acknowledging that there were indeed still live POWs in Vietnam.

Now it was my turn. In an effort to get an interview about existing
evidence of live prisoners, I had made several fruitless calls to Colonel
Childress. After I had locked in Garwood and Tighe for 60 Minutes,
Childress called me at my Washington office. His voice definitely not
polite, he demanded, ” Are you doing a piece on POWs?” Without
waiting for an answer, he proceeded to slander most of the people
with whom I had done preliminary interviews. Included was the
smear I had already heard from fellow journalists about General
Tighe. Since it was none of his business and I was highly suspicious
of how he had gotten such precise information about my conversa-
tions with potential interviewees, my back was up. He modified his
tone slightly and tried another tack: “You could jeopardize the lives of
prisoners still over there,” he said. If I had any hesitation about doing
the story before his call, the shock of this revelation which verified
what Garwood had said about other prisoners made me determined
to see it through. The conversation ended with the threat that I would
do myself no good by continuing with this story.

Despite continuing pressure from intelligence agencies — particu-
larly National Security Council and Defense Intelligence Agency —to
drop the story, it aired as “Dead or Alive?” in December 1985 thanks
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in large part to General Tighe’s participation. He too had come under
tremendous pressure to drop out, just as the network had come under
subtle pressure not to interview General Tighe. Correspondents were
taken aside by the head of Pentagon covert operations who gave them
the definitive spin on the matter of POWs. Even the president of
CBS'’s news division was taken aside at a cocktail party by a promi-
nent former national security advisor. The pressure was subtle and, it
was explained, had to do with sensitive matters of national security.
CBS administrators were too savvy to believe the smears against an
American general who received nothing but the highest praise from
his peers in NATO and other allied countries. General Tighe’s world-
wide reputation as one of the finest intelligence professionals this
country has ever produced could not be marred.

Tighe’s participation in “Dead or Alive?” insured the program was
separately screened by Congress several times after it was aired, trig-
gering the formation of a DIA commission on MIA/POWs chaired by
General Tighe. Tighe Commission members included the most knowl-
edgeable professionals in the field, including air ace Gen. Robinson
Risner who had been imprisoned for six years in the former French
colonial fortress dubbed the “Hanoi Hilton” by his fellow American
POWSs —mostly pilots—who were held there during the war. The Tighe
Commission concluded not only that live prisoners had been left
behind, but that there was strong evidence many were still alive. It was
immediately classified without public explanation. Its commissioners
had advised, among other recommendations, that the DIA hire Gar-
wood to work on the prisoner issue. The suggestion was ignored.

Robert Garwood also appeared in “Dead or Alive?” albeit briefly.
Despite my best efforts, I was never able to persuade my producers to
let me do Garwood’s full story on television —not even after I got hold
of film footage of him in Vietnam that proved his prisoner status. Gar-
wood’s court-martial conviction along with continuing government
propaganda against him made networks shy away. I would finally
write his full story in a book entitled Spite House: The Last Secret of the
War in Vietnam, published in 1997. General Tighe, by then deceased,
provided the road map for me to pursue Garwood’s story at the
beginning, when I interviewed both men for “Dead or Alive?”

Despite the Tighe Commission recommendation that Garwood be
hired by the Pentagon, government policy continued to dictate that
only distortions of Garwood's history be made public. Keeping alive
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the image of Garwood as devil incarnate of the Vietnam War insured
no one would pay attention to what he had to report about the men
who, like him, were abandoned in Vietnam. To keep this truth from
surfacing, in the words of highly decorated Army Major and former
Viethnam POW Mark Smith, “Robert Garwood had to become our
token sacrificial lamb on the cross of honor and integrity.”

When Bobby Garwood returned home in 1979 after fourteen years
in communist detention, he was like Rip Van Winkle. His knowledge
of American history ended with his capture in 1965, his belief in his
country —as the Marine Corps had drilled it into him —unshaken. In
1973, the communists had played Henry Kissinger’s statement that all
American prisoners from the Vietnham War were now home, over
camp loudspeakers. But Garwood fervently believed the communists
had deceived the U.S. government. If Washington only knew the
truth, it would immediately act on it. It was inconceivable to him that
by escaping he had given lie to the government dictum that all pris-
oners returned in 1973. Worse, for those who had staked their careers
on this point and been showered with accolades for bringing about an
honorable peace, Garwood knew firsthand that there were others still
alive—a lot of others.

As an ordinary grunt, Garwood was probably unique among
American prisoners in that he had a formidable natural (untrained)
talent for the Vietnamese language. He had used his language and
survival skills —learned from a fellow American POW, Special Forces
Captain William F. (Ike) Eisenbraun—to survive. Mindful of Ike’s
advice to stay alive and try to escape at all costs—as long as he did
nothing to harm other American POWs—he used, after the war, his
talent for fixing machinery of all kinds to repair the broken-down
American vehicles scattered all over Vietnam. That had provided him
with limited freedom to travel to wherever something needed to be
fixed, although never without guards.

Always on the lookout for a way to escape, Garwood used basic
American business savvy to persuade his guards to let him buy a few
of the small quantity of Western products available only in hotels fre-
quented by visitors (mostly aid workers) to Vietnam and off-limits to
them. With a borrowed white shirt and pants, Garwood passed for a
Western aid worker. His guards then traded the soap, cigarettes, or
caviar for a tidy profit. Garwood pretended all he wanted in return
was an extra ration of cigarettes or food. It was on one of his rare trips



to Hanoi that Garwood managed to pass a note to Finnish diplomat
Ossi Rahkonen, who passed it directly on to the BBC and Red Cross.
Rahkonen did not make the mistake of turning the note over to U.S.
authorities, as had previous recipients of Garwood’s furtive notes.
Those notes were never made public. Rahkonen was also wise in
going to the BBC instead of American media. The American media
had consistently upheld the U.S. government position that there was
not one live American prisoner, or even defector, left in Vietnam.
The BBC report that an American prisoner named Garwood was
alive in Vietnam created a huge problem for the politicians and
bureaucrats sitting on the prisoner issue. If they were to keep the
country convinced Vietnam had returned all live prisoners, Garwood
would have to be discredited. He would have to be transformed from
heroic survivor of one of the most notorious prison systems in the
world into a criminal traitor. People would have to be persuaded that
he was more evil than the draft dodgers who had all gotten amnesty;
than the pro-North Vietnam U.S. civilians who had openly urged the
Vietnamese to shoot down American war planes; and even worse
than the Marine Corps colonel who, as a prisoner in the Hanoi Hilton,
had collaborated with the enemy in torturing his fellow prisoners. In
short, Americans had to be convinced that Garwood voluntarily
joined the enemy to fight against other Americans. To make this
believable there had to be every appearance of legality. It had to look
like Garwood, the traitor, was given full constitutional rights to
defend himself. This could not be done without the full cooperation,
witting and unwitting, of the American media. In early 1979, even
before Garwood left Vietnam, the government leaked information to
key newspapers that a live American defector was sighted in Hanoi.
Government memos from early 1979 in the Jimmy Carter presi-
dential library archives state that “Garwood [claims] that he knows of
other Americans who are alive in Vietnam.” That information was not
leaked to the press although it would have been a simple matter for
the press to find out from the BBC that Garwood had contacted
Finnish diplomat Rakhonen and then question Rakhonen on just what
Garwood had said about himself and about other POWs. Instead, the
media, for whatever reason, accepted what the government released
on Garwood. “Garwood passed a note with his name and serial
number to some western tourists in Hanoi,” wrote Newsweek, April 2,
1979, ' want to come home,’ he told the tourist.” Although Newsweek
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went on to state that Garwood also said he was in a forced labor camp
with others, no one believed it. How could an inmate of a forced labor
camp contact tourists in Hanoi? Never mind the fact that there were
almost no Western tourists in Hanoi at the time. By referring to Gar-
wood solely as a defector, the government had set the stage for Gar-
wood’s return. Unchallenged by the press, politicians and bureaucrats
managed Garwood’s story from that point forward, through the
court-martial that would ruin him, and long beyond.

In the process, U.S. officials had to ally themselves with their old
enemy, the communist government of Vietnam. Each country needed
to prevent the American people from finding out that some American
prisoners had been kept by the Vietnamese after the official home-
coming in 1973. That the United States had made no effort to get them
back had to remain a classified secret. Otherwise, the morale of the
armed forces would sink even lower than the all-time low it was at in
1979 —to say nothing of the morale of the American people.

Initially held back by the communists to ensure that the United
States would fulfill its secret promise to pay $4.5 billion in reparation
monies, by 1979 American POWs had become worthless pawns. They
were living ghosts. The United States had not paid the promised
monies and had no intention of paying in the future. (President Nixon’s
letter of February 1, 1973, to Vietnamese Prime Minister Pham Van
Dong promising the money was not released until four years later.) To
the communists who had never felt obligated to treat prisoners
according to Geneva Convention rules, those who survived were useful
as slave labor and as a possible embarrassment to the United States.
Neither side could have the truth come out without tremendous loss of
face and all that it implied. The poverty-stricken Vietnamese, desperate
for diplomatic recognition and economic assistance, could not afford to
alienate the American people and Western allies. Abandonment of war
prisoners was the kind of mistake that could destroy not only careers,
but entire political administrations. No amount of effort or money was
spared in preventing that from happening.

Garwood’s court-martial ended up being the longest in U.S. his-
tory. Millions were spent on an investigation that missed — deliber-
ately or otherwise—the most fundamental and easily found truths.
Most blatant: Garwood was charged with desertion during the war, a
charge that carries the death penalty by firing squad. Yet if anyone
had checked his military records, they would have found that he was




234 INTO THE BLJZZSIAL‘/VJ|

just days away from the end of his Vietnam tour of duty when he dis-
appeared. It was hardly a time when he would have deserted. Yet that
simple fact never made the news until I researched it years later.
During the trial, the prosecution put on the stand Lieutenant Colonel
John A. Studds and Charles B. Buchta, who had been Garwood’s com-
pany commander and battalion motor transport officer at the time of
his capture. Both men had precise knowledge that Garwood disap-
peared while on an authorized chauffeuring job, yet they swore under
oath that he had not had authorization to leave. Therefore, he must
have deserted. When Billy Ray Conley, one of Garwood'’s fellow dri-
vers at III MAF, Marine Corps tactical headquarters, voluntarily
appeared to testify on Garwood’s behalf, it never made the papers. He
swore that Garwood had in fact been on an authorized mission. That
fact was seared in Conley’s mind. Hoping to get Garwood’s position
when Garwood went back to the States, he had been volunteering for
some of Garwood’s jobs. Garwood’s superiors, annoyed that Gar-
wood had his mind somewhere else (he was getting married to his
high school sweetheart as soon as he got home), insisted that Gar-
wood do the job. Conley had never forgotten he could have been the
one in Garwood’s shoes, and he had always made certain to tell
Marine Corps investigators the truth.

When desertion charges had to be dropped, no newspaper asked
why. No one interviewed Billy Ray Conley. No newspaper questioned
whether Buchta and Studds—when they swore under oath that no
stone had been left unturned to find out why Garwood had left the
base on the day of his capture—had been pressured by the govern-
ment in some way. Yet the media was consistently careful to note as
did the New Republic on February 2, 1980, “[although] Garwood faced
charges that could lead to his execution . . . the Marine Corps has been
scrupulous about due process.”

For Garwood’s attackers in the government “Live Americans”
[were] a “political game” involving the prestige of many high-pow-
ered careers. “DIA [Defense Intelligence Agency] and State are
playing this game,” wrote Michel Oksenberg of the National Security
Council (NSC) to National Security Adviser Zbigniew Brezesinski on
January 21, 1980. It would be “simply good politics” for Brezesinski to
go along with the game, advised Oksenberg. It seems to also have
been good politics for reporters.

The game was not one that a Marine Corps private, fourteen-year
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prisoner of the Vietnamese, without money or powerful friends, could
hope to win—or even play. What had sustained Garwood though
fourteen years as a prisoner was an almost naive belief in the goodness
of his country, the freedom of the press, and an unwavering belief in
his rights as a citizen and soldier. He would have disbelieved it if told
that soon after the BBC broadcast, the U.S. State Department made
sure that misinformation portions of its interdepartmental and intera-
gency memos were leaked to the press. From the Oksenberg memo: it
was “unlikely that PFC Garwood would be free to leave any camp
without Vietnamese assistance and . . . it could not be excluded that he
had acted at the request or demand of the communist Vietnamese.” It
was more likely, the State Department argued, “that Vietnam, in its
attempts to achieve normalization, was using Garwood as an agent to
manipulate the U.S.” Other government hacks put a different twist on
this when they revealed in the Report to the Assistant Secretary of
Defense for Command Control, Communication, and Intelligence, that
senior NVS (North Viethamese Army) officers had told them during
bilateral meetings that Hanoi felt “forced to make Garwood leave the
country.” He had been no good to them. He had been “lazy” and a
“troublemaker,” not your ideal prisoner [italics mine]. No reporter
noted this as a brilliant example of what Orwell called “doublespeak.”

Garwood'’s reentry into the free world was carefully orchestrated
to present the image of a man who had always been free to stay or
leave Vietnam. Garwood arrived in Bangkok, his first stop after
leaving Vietnam, on a French plane. This arrangement, worked out
between the United States and Vietnam, gave reporters the impres-
sion that Garwood had been free to go or stay in Vietnam. Almost no
reporter questioned this even though in 1973 all American pris-
oners —even known collaborators like the Marine Corps colonel who
helped torture his fellow prisoners—had returned on American
planes. On arrival, Garwood was kept away from clamoring reporters
who nevertheless greeted him with cries of “How do you feel about
the Marine Corps calling you a deserter?” Garwood, prevented from
answering them by a cordon of military personnel, found the ques-
tion absurd. So should the reporters asking it. Even elementary
research on their part would have established that Garwood was ten
days away from the end of his Vietham tour when he was alleged to
have deserted. This begs the question: Were reporters who only a few
years before had hunted down every last detail of the Watergate
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scandal sloppy or simply disinterested in the fate of a low-level grunt
whose life hung in the balance?

The media establishment knew that the crime of desertion carries
the death penalty. On April 9, 1979, Time magazine reported “pending
the outcome of the Navy’s official investigation, the Marines have ten-
tatively charged Garwood with desertion, soliciting U.S. combat
forces to lay down their arms, and unlawful dealing with the enemy.
If he is court-martialed on these charges and convicted, he could be
sentenced to death.”

After desertion charges were dropped because of Billy Ray Conley’s
testimony, it became increasingly difficult to prove in the courtroom that
Garwood had defected and led the enemy in action against his own
former comrades. That did not stop the prosecution from putting out a
barrage of innuendo to the press and even to Garwood’s own attorneys.
The prosecutor, Captain Werner Helmer, grabbed every opportunity to
take Vaughn Taylor, one of Garwood’s attorneys, aside and tell him of
Garwood’s horrendous record in “harming our troops” in Vietham. He
told Taylor that he had a marine who had been blinded in a Viet Cong
attack led by Garwood ready to testify. Helmer claimed the marine
could identify Garwood by his voice. Taylor says, “You almost had to
believe Helmer knew something the rest of us didn’t.” Finally, Taylor
blew up. The military has a completely open disclosure system. He
demanded that Helmer put up or shut up. Helmer’s reply: “I don’t have
anything in particular.” Helmer went on to explain that he knew Gar-
wood was guilty because he had studied traitors of history like Benedict
Arnold. No one in the media seemed to note that the prosecution had
nothing to offer in the way of evidence.

By that time, it had become clear to Garwood that he was
involved in a process that, for whatever reason, was unwinnable. He
had wanted to take the stand but was talked out of it by his lawyers,
who were themselves unsure of what exactly Garwood was guilty of,
but were convinced that he was a victim of extreme psychiatric
manipulation on the part of Viethamese communists, and post-trau-
matic stress disorder. The Washington Post reported, “Garwood’s
attorneys do not deny the substance of the charges.” Garwood with-
drew into himself, exhausted and resigned to his fate. Only briefly in
June 1980 did he think he might have a chance at acquittal because of
the unexpected appearance of one potential witness.

Garwood saw newspaper accounts that a defector from Vietnam
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had given testimony before Congress. Although newspaper photos
showed the defector disguised in a motorcycle helmet, Garwood
immediately recognized him as Colonel Tran Van Loc, the communist
secret-police chief who sat on a five-man tribunal that had deter-
mined each prisoner’s fate. Of Chinese descent, Tran Van Loc fled
Vietnam during the border war that broke out between China and
Vietnam in the late seventies. The intelligence he brought with him
was so important to the United States that DIA’s best Vietnamese lan-
guage expert and agent, Bob Hyp, was sent to Hong Kong to debrief
Van Loc. Garwood never imagined that vindication would come from
a former enemy, but the fact that Van Loc had defected to the United
States persuaded him that he might be willing to tell the truth about
Garwood'’s prisoner status. Garwood persuaded his lawyers to set up
a meeting with Van Loc, despite extreme opposition from the prose-
cution. The complications of dealing with someone under the witness
protection program made such a get-together difficult.

When Van Loc denied knowing Garwood as a prisoner, Vaughn
Taylor, Garwood'’s attorney, lost confidence in defending Garwood on
any basis except psychiatric. It would take more than a decade for
him to find out that Garwood had not only told the truth, but that Van
Loc had been pressured by the government to lie about Garwood. Ten
years later, under oath in a deposition for the Senate Select Committee
on POWs, Van Loc, questioned by counsel to the committee,
described how he had been approached, through the government
agency that provided both his protection and livelihood, to meet with
a military officer who told him to lie about Bobby Garwood. But by
then Garwood’s reputation had been so utterly destroyed even Sen.
Bob Smith (R-N.H.), the vice chairman of the select committee, could
not get the media interested in the truth about Garwood. Never-
theless, Smith ended his opening speech to the committee with these
words: “I believe Bobby Garwood.” Van Loc’s testimony is in the
Senate records, and attorney Vaughn Taylor introduced the evidence
vindicating Garwood to the Senate Ethics Committee.

Despite suborning the perjury of defector Tran Van Loc and
keeping him as well as other witnesses who supported Garwood from
testifying, the government had an uphill climb in ridding the public
of the uneasy feeling, as the New York Daily News—in an exception to
what was routinely printed —put it, “that a former POW is being
unfairly punished.”
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Unable to produce any evidence that Garwood had deserted, pro-
duced propaganda for the enemy, or acted for the enemy in any way
during the war, the prosecution did a complete turnaround, taking the
position that Garwood had, in fact, been a prisoner. But their strategy
was still character assassination. The charges now were that he had
collaborated with the enemy while a prisoner in ways much more
abhorrent than his peers. The background of witnesses subpoenaed to
testify against Garwood spoke volumes. According to the Washington
Post (December 29, 1979), “ All five of the former POWs who testified
against Garwood . . . have acknowledged that they collaborated with
their captors . . . [they] did whatever their captors were determined to
have them do.” Former DIA chief General Eugene Tighe questioned
whether that fact gave the prosecution undue leverage in getting them
to testify against Garwood. Records of the witnesses’ debriefings
remain classified to this day, so it is difficult to ascertain just what Gar-
wood’s accusers were themselves guilty of. Dr. Edna Hunter, who was
chief of the Pentagon’s POW unit in 1973 and who at that time inter-
viewed all former prisoners who testified against Garwood, thought
the jury should know that every one of his accusers felt guilty about
having behaved exactly as Garwood had, or in some cases worse than
he had in the prison camp. She pointed out—to reporters on the cour-
thouse steps —that none of Garwood’s accusers had so much as men-
tioned bad behavior on his part during their 1973 debriefings, some-
thing they themselves acknowledged during questioning by Gar-
wood'’s lawyers. Instead, they had talked about suffering they had all
endured, Garwood included. Hunter judged none of them, “They
were tortured, tricked, and manipulated by the communists.”

Hunter wanted badly to testify, but after Garwood’s seeming
failure to connect with Colonel Tran Van Loc, even his lawyers did not
exert themselves in opposing Werner Helmer, the prosecutor, to put
her on the stand. Certain that Garwood’s mind was so disturbed that
he had fabricated his connection with Van Loc, their focus was now
on convincing the jury that whatever Garwood had done, he had
done under coercive persuasion, that he had been brainwashed and
had suffered from bouts of insanity. General Tighe thought the fact
that Hunter was not given a chance to testify on Garwood’s behalf
was a continuation of the kind of manipulation the communists had
practiced on Garwood and his accusers; only now the manipulation
came from the prosecution.
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Unusual allowances were made for the former prisoners who
were now Garwood’s accusers. In at least one instance, the veteran
officer who, arguably, gave the most damaging evidence against Gar-
wood was allowed to substitute a written statement for his sworn tes-
timony into official court-martial records. Missing from court-martial
records is a particularly revealing bit of sworn testimony dealing with
what many former highly respected prisoners and doctors say
amounted to severe physical abuse of Garwood by the enemy. With
the help of Marine Corps veterans who at one time had access to com-
plete court-martial records, I was able to obtain the missing testimony
for my files. No evidence was ever presented that Garwood was
guilty of the kind of collaboration his accusers freely admitted.

On the basis of the evidence brought by his former fellow pris-
oners who, according to the Washington Post, had themselves collabo-
rated, Garwood was found guilty of informing on his comrades, inter-
rogating them on military and other matters, serving as a guard for
the VC, and simple assault against a fellow American prisoner. This
last damaged him most severely and hurt most deeply. He was con-
demned before the world of one thing he had never done, harming a
fellow prisoner of war.

The accusation came from David Harker, a former fellow prisoner
who spoke out strongly for Garwood when Garwood first came
home. “Don’t Crucify Garwood,” one headline quoted him. “If he’s
guilty, we’re all guilty,” he told reporters then. But during the court-
martial he reported that Garwood had, in prison camp, struck him a
blow. “As I recall, “ he testified, “he struck me with the back of his
hand. I don’t know whether it was in a fist or whether it was an open
hand that he hit me in the rib. I remember he had a disgusted look on
his face....He made the statement, something to the effect that
‘you’re gonna have to pay for what happened to Russ.””

Russ Grisset had been Garwood’s best friend in the camp, a fellow
marine who was beaten to death because he had stolen the camp com-
mander’s cat, which was then eaten by Grisset and Garwood’s fellow
prisoners, including Harker. Garwood, returning from a work detail,
came upon the scene after the fatal beating. He was angry with the
other prisoners because they had let Russ take the fall instead of
sticking together and taking the blame as a group. Going by past
experience, Garwood was pretty sure the group would have been
punished much less severely than the single Russ. Garwood remem-



bers what the prosecution referred to as a blow as more of a tough
shove to get Harker out of the way as he moved toward Russ.

Harker described in detail the brutality of Grisset’s beating, but
seemed unable to connect Garwood’s action with pain and rage felt
over what had been done to Russ. Almost sheepishly though, he
acknowledged that Garwood’s blow neither hurt nor harmed him,
but merely surprised him. Years later, working on the 60 Minutes pro-
gram, “Dead or Alive?” I asked Harker what made him change his
original opinions, “Don’t Crucify Garwood,” and “He should not be
prosecuted because nobody else was.” He would only say that he
knew Garwood was guilty of other things that never came up in the
court-martial, refusing to elaborate. Had the prosecution persuaded
him off the record? He did not answer. Was it convenient to have Gar-
wood as a scapegoat so that attention was deflected from what all of
his fellow prisoners had done? No answer.

But how was it that the reporters who originally interviewed
Harker never went back to search for the answers to these questions?
Even Col. R. E. Switzer, the judge of the court-martial, remarked on
the apparent injustice done the plaintiff. “We never got at the truth
because we never heard Garwood’s side of the story,” he told me ten
years later when I interviewed him for my book Kiss the Boys Goodbye.

According to the New York Daily News of January 23, 1981, Judge
Switzer did hear part of Garwood’s story that dealt with other POWs
left behind: “a military psychiatrist said on Thursday that Marine PFC
R. Garwood told him in October that about 200 ... POWs are still
being held in Vietnam. Navy Captain Benjamin R. Ogburn. .. con-
ducting a court-ordered psychiatric examination on Garwood . . . said
Garwood was upset because he was not debriefed in the same manner
as other returning POWs. . . . The military judge in the case . . . refused
to allow Ogburn’s testimony ...about...the alleged retention of
Americans in Vietnam, ruling that ‘the testimony is irrelevant.’

“The jurors were not in the courtroom when Ogburn released
Garwood’s reports about other Americans in Vietnam.”

In light of scant evidence against Garwood, the jury came back with
a minor but nevertheless punishing verdict. During the time given him
to appeal, Garwood was not to be released by the Marine Corps, but
was not paid by them either; be reduced to the lowest rank, forfeiting
pay and allowances, including $148,000 due him for fourteen years in
prison. There was no money to pay his court-martial lawyers, much
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less to pay for legal experts to question just how the Marine Corps was
able to justify this punishment constitutionally. No one in the media
asked the Marine Corps either, just as they had not questioned the con-
stitutionality of Garwood being tried by a military tribunal in the first
place when his tour of duty had ended over a decade before.

Like punishment meted out to dissidents in the former Soviet
Union, Garwood was turned into a noncitizen in his own country.
Suffering from a host of prison-induced illnesses and post-traumatic
stress disorder, he received no medical benefits and had no rights as a
private citizen of the United States. He did not question it when he
was told, incorrectly, that he did not even have the right to vote. As a
marine, he was not allowed to find civilian work. He owed hundreds
of thousands of dollars in legal bills and began working as a
handyman for one of his lawyers to pay him back. All of this made for
good investigative journalism. Never was the Fourth Estate more
needed to counter the steady stream of government Newspeak, which
glibly justified every constitutional violation in Garwood’s case.

In only one instance did the media grant Garwood the kind of
massive coverage he might have found useful in bringing to light the
injustice committed against him. Early in the court-martial, headlines
blazed from every supermarket tabloid: “Garwood Accused of Child
Molestation.” Garwood easily disproved this charge in court. Uncon-
tested evidence put him hundreds of miles from the scene when the
crime was alleged to have been committed. But the fact that he was
completely cleared at this trial, which immediately followed the
court-martial, was mentioned almost nowhere in the media, and the
original tabloid slur festered on. Later, when he married, this deeply
and adversely affected his relationship with his in-laws. They told me
that such a story simply could not have been concocted. To this day,
they do not believe that he was completely vindicated.

After the court-martial, despite the severe restriction place on
him, Garwood got on with his life. Finally released from the Marine
Corps in 1986 when the Supreme Court opted not to hear his appeal,
he used his talent to fix things mechanical to make a living. He found
the love of his life in wife Cathy Ray, who died in 2000. “God took
away fourteen years of my life,” he says now, “but he gave them back
through Cathy.”

Garwood remains committed to other American POWs left in
Vietnam. In his quest to bring that information before the public, he
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had strong support from General Tighe (deceased since 1993), who
debriefed him unofficially, assisted by Chris Gugas, the polygraph
expert who set up the CIA’s polygraph system. That debriefing, full of
valuable intelligence that, according to Tighe, could not possibly have
been fabricated, shamed the DIA into conducting its own official
debriefing. One of his debriefers was Bob Hyp, the same intelligence
expert who had debriefed Colonel Tran Van Loc in Hong Kong. When
I was working on my book Kiss the Boys Goodbye, Hyp called my
editor to say that he would send me documentation that would cate-
gorically clear Garwood. I never got the material. Hyp died of a mas-
sive heart attack before he could send it. At the end of the debriefing,
other DIA professionals let Garwood know in no uncertain terms that
he could stay out of trouble with them as long as he kept his mouth
shut. “Consider yourself lucky,” they said, “you made it back. The
others didn’t.”

The debriefings, which Bob Hyp and General Tighe considered a
complete vindication of Garwood, had little impact on government
propaganda. Marine Corps textbooks still slandered Garwood as a
traitor. The media, disinterested in anything to do with POWs,
ignored the debriefings even after they were declassified.

Reporters would briefly show renewed interest in Garwood in the
spring of 1993 when, in his capacity as vice chairman of the Senate
Select Committee on POWSs, Senator Bob Smith planned a trip to
Vietnam. He wanted Garwood to accompany him so that he could
verify for himself the accuracy of Garwood’s testimony during the
debriefings conducted by the DIA. Garwood had described in great
detail the location of some of the camps where he was held. That
information had been corroborated by evidence brought before the
committee. Smith believed other Americans had been held in the
same camps. He wanted Garwood to travel with him in a “protected”
status provided by the government. But other senators, like former
prisoner John McCain, who had never been held in the kind of prim-
itive camp Garwood was held in, were still convinced by false and
continuing propaganda that Garwood was convicted of leading the
enemy against fellow Americans. McCain did not want to send Gar-
wood “on a vacation to Vietnam.” Garwood had to decide whether he
would travel with Smith unprotected. General Tighe strongly advised
against his going, telling him it was extremely dangerous. He told
him that Garwood’s captors would have no compunction about
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having him killed, and the U.S. government was not likely to inter-
vene in the case of a convicted collaborator dying on foreign soil. Sen-
ator Smith promised to raise a ruckus if that happened, but was reluc-
tant to press Garwood. He knew the media would not necessarily
pick up such a cause.

Against such odds, in early July 1993 Garwood went to Vietnam
with Senator Smith. He was determined to help Smith, but he had a
private reason for going as well. He wanted to ask the Vietnamese for
the remains of his friend and mentor, Ike Eisenbraun, the Special
Forces captain who had taught him Vietnamese and how to survive in
the horrible conditions that prevailed in the camps. Garwood had
buried Ike and burned the gravesite in his memory. In the months
before going, he had requested assistance from the U.S. Joint Casualty
Resolution Center and other appropriate agencies. Both the United
States and Vietnamese governments refused to assist him in bringing
back Ike’s remains. Garwood’s efforts got no press coverage.

Even when Senator Smith called a press conference in Bangkok
after their return from Vietnam to explain in great detail how Gar-
wood had proven the existence of a prison camp where his former
captors said no buildings had ever stood, the press was skeptical,
almost hostile to both Garwood and the senator. Smith explained that
Garwood had directed the reluctant Vietnamese to an island that, on
the surface, seemed bare of signs that anyone had ever lived there. In
his DIA debriefings, Garwood had described the precise location of
prison buildings, the color of masonry, bricks, and other building
materials. The Vietnamese were smug as they led the senator and
Vaughn Taylor, Garwood’s lawyer, around the empty site. Garwood
was left briefly unattended by the usually vigilant Vietnamese secu-
rity agents who accompanied them when he shouted for Smith to join
him. Under some bushes he found a pile of building bricks and rub-
bish, matching his earlier descriptions precisely. The Vietnamese were
in a fury. Smith thought Garwood might not make it out of Vietnam.
But the senator’s strong presence did keep Garwood protected. Per-
haps too, the Vietnamese intuited that the American press would
never print Garwood'’s side of this story.

In fact, most Western reporters uncritically repeated Vietnamese
propaganda. Nothing was said about finding evidence of a prison
camp. Ho Xuan Dich, director of Vietnam’s MIA office, was quoted
extensively as saying that Garwood had been a low-ranking Viet-



namese officer and that “he had socialized with other Vietnamese offi-
cers,” and had even been “Dich’s own good friend.” Dich denied that
someone named Eisenbraun had ever existed. Ike’s existence was just
one more fact American media could easily have found out for them-
selves by looking at prisoner rolls.

Garwood was approached by Colonel Thai (probably an alias:
Thai means war in Vietnamese), the man in charge of American pris-
oners who had warned him before his release that the U.S. govern-
ment would never believe he had been a prisoner, and that the Viet-
namese had agents all over the United States, including allied PLO
informers, who would watch him to make sure he kept his mouth
shut. Now Thai came forward and called him friend.

Vaughn Taylor caught Thai and Garwood on camera as Garwood,
enraged, pointed his finger at Thai and said, “you tortured my
friends.” Thai was so furious at this he later contradicted Dich, who
had said Garwood was a good friend who had regularly socialized
with the Vietnamese. During a meeting with Patricia O’Grady-
Parsels, the daughter of a missing American pilot, months later, Thai
emphasized that Garwood had been a war criminal from the start. He
had never allowed himself to be reeducated. He had always had a
“bad attitude.” He had needed to be separated from other prisoners
in order not to contaminate them. For these reasons, his sentence was
not commuted in 1973.

This was the same line some Pentagon staffers had leaked to the
press when Garwood first came home, contradicting their own col-
leagues who said Garwood was an agent of the Vietnamese. More
than ten years after Garwood’s return from Vietnam, neither his Viet-
namese captors nor his own accusers in the Pentagon could keep their
stories straight. No one in the media was interested in what O’Grady-
Parsels had to say.

Does Garwood’s sad experience with America’s version of
“Newspeak” mean that his message about what happened to the men
who still languished in Vietnam'’s prisons when he left in 1979 has not
reached the American people? Surprisingly not. Garwood's true story
has somehow made its way across America. Abraham Lincoln said
you can’t fool all of the people all of the time. Today he might add,
that even with the help of the media, the government can’t fool all of
the people all of the time.

After my book Spite House, telling Garwood’s story, came out in
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1997, Garwood and I were invited to speak to more than two hundred
thousand veterans who were assembled near the Vietnam Memorial
on Memorial Day 1998. The veterans and their families traveled —as
they did every year—from all parts of the country in motorcycle car-
avans to commemorate and keep alive the concern for MIA/POWs
who had not yet been properly accounted for. The Washington Post
had featured the veterans as they paraded from the Pentagon parking
lot down Independence Avenue and to the wall the previous day. Per-
haps for that reason there were network news cameras in the crowd.
Many gathered there in the softly falling rain had at one time
believed that Garwood fought with the enemy against them and
hated him for it. Some had been disappointed that he did not face a
firing squad. But they had educated themselves about the Vietnam
War as probably no other American veterans had ever examined their
own war. They had done this as brothers, learning from each other’s
experiences, whether they had been simple grunts, special forces,
medics, or generals. They published newsletters in which they
reprinted every article that dealt with Vietnam issues from newspa-
pers across the country. They circulated copies of documents like Gar-
wood’s debriefing. Some, like Colonel Ted Guy, who as the highest-
ranking officer to have been in charge of POWs at the notorious
prison camp called “the Plantation,” challenged the increasing
number of government hacks who, handsomely funded by U.S. intel-
ligence agencies, made careers out of disseminating falsehoods about
the war, particularly Garwood'’s role in it, on Internet Web sites.
When Garwood arrived to speak to the veterans amassed near the
Vietnam Memorial, he was embraced by an honor guard of South
Vietnamese veterans —some with the rank of general —who had been
his prison campmates. As he stepped to the podium and saluted the
crowd, it erupted into wild cheers of “Welcome home,” and “We love
you Bobby.” Garwood, overcome by emotion, continued to salute,
‘unable to speak. The seconds dragged on, the cheering unabated
when someone, seeing Garwood struggle to speak, spontaneously
came out of the crowd. He was a large man, obviously a veteran
because of the large metal hook he had for one arm. He moved next
to Garwood, one arm around him, helping to hold him up. Garwood
was still unable to speak when a second man came out of the crowd
to lend Garwood his arm on the other side. Then a third man joined
them. So embraced, Garwood finally began to speak. With his first
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words, a hush settled over the crowd so completely you could hear a
pin drop. Garwood spoke only briefly of the country he loved, the
darkness that he knew was not only in his heart but in the hearts of
all the veterans, a darkness connected to the brothers they had left
behind both dead and alive. Afterward, the three men embraced Gar-
wood as brothers and soldiers embrace.

It was then I noticed the light blue ribbons around the necks of
each of the three men who stood with Garwood. Each ribbon held a
simple decoration, the American eagle sitting on top of a star, the
highest military honor the United States can bestow on a soldier, the
Medal of Honor. A clear voice from the crowd said, “Such men do not
embrace traitors.”

I had been aware of the news cameras rolling throughout this
drama. As an old television producer, there was no doubt in my mind
that I had witnessed everything one could want for a Memorial Day
news story. To make sure the networks that had sent cameras knew
the background of what their cameras had recorded, I collared
reporters and called old friends in news departments. But nothing
appeared on the news programs that night or later.

In spite of this what happened on Memorial Day 1998 was a vic-
tory for Garwood. Like the dissidents living under the old Soviet
regime, thousands of veterans who opened their hearts and minds to
Bobby Garwood found the truth against strenuous odds. They con-
tinue to keep it alive. It helps Garwood to hold on.
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The Dangerous Course of Today'’s
Broadcast Newsrooms

Karl Idsvoog

A two-time Columbia DuPont Award-winning broadcast
journalist, Karl ldsvoog was among the first television
reporters to use computer-assisted research to develop televi-
sion news investigations. A Nieman Fellow at Harvard Uni-
versity, he has been an investigative reporter, producer, and
correspondent for local, syndicated, and network news pro-
grams for twenty-five years. He started Direct Video Mar-
keting, Inc., a firm specializing in business-to-business and
business-to-consumer video-marketing campaigns. Online, he
rode the APBnews.com rocket from startup to bankruptcy
where he was vice president of project development. Since the
demise of APB, Idsvoog has founded 1st Amendment Investi-
gations, a company that provides services to law firms repre-
senting media organizations.

What qualities do you think of when you hear the word
Rolex? What about the word Timex? How do they compare?

Brands are important. In a word or two, they tell your customers
who you are, what you represent. Your sales force depends on that
brand recognition to help sell.

Brands are like credibility — they take a long time to build, a short time
to destroy, and an incredible amount of money to rebuild. Just ask Firestone.

And just as readers know the difference between the New York
Times and the New York Post, viewers know the difference between in-
depth reporting and news for the stupid. Investigative reporting, true
investigative reporting, builds your news brand, builds ratings, builds
viewer loyalty, helps your sales force sell. Investigative reporting is not
up to the newsroom; it’s up to management.

247



28 7o e BUZZSAW

RAH, RAH, RAH FOR JOURNALISM!
OH PLEASE, SPARE ME!

I know where this guy is heading, you say. Well, you’re wrong. I'm
not talking about doing the right thing. I'm not talking about being
concerned about your community, the poor, the environment, or some
endangered bird or fish. I'm not talking about textbook journalism
taught in the tenured Ph.D.-lined classrooms of academia.

I'm talking about building a brand, differentiating your product
from the competition, and making a bunch of money for your share-
holders based on the demands and needs of the marketplace.

There is an incredible business opportunity staring broadcasters
in the face.

If that interests you, read on. If not, go to the next chapter. Bye!

WHAT DO YOUR CUSTOMERS EXPECT
TO BUY AT YOUR STORE?

Say you're in the market for a new computer. You see a commercial
for a dealer who claims to be your “one-stop shopping solution for all
your computer needs.” It promises the best price, selection, and ser-
vice. So you decide to check it out. But when you walk in the store,
you find only a couple of knock-off brands on display, not much soft-
ware, and the sales people are minimum wage folks with little expe-
rience and even less expertise. You've been had.

Would you be angry? Maybe. Would you buy? Of course not.
Would you come back? No.

Increasingly, that’s what is happening to viewers who want to
buy the product known as “local news.” The local news stores all
advertise heavily — some want to be your friends, others want to be on
your side, still others say they’re working for you—but all of them
promote news stories they say you can’t afford to miss. However,
when the news customers come to the news store to buy, they dis-
cover the available products are disappointingly superficial, sensa-
tional, and irrelevant. What’s missing is the product they want most:
news that matters. And local news customers are getting angry.

Orlando Sentinel media critic Hal Boedeker found that out when
he asked readers to tell him what they thought of local TV news.
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Boedeker, who’s been covering media for twelve years, was
astounded by the reaction. More than 1,200 readers responded, and
they weren’t sending compliments.

“People are really angry about local TV news,” says Boedeker.
“They’re tired of being teased. They feel their time is being wasted.
They're tired of anchors being cute. They’re tired of repetition.”1

Many of those angry viewers are leaving the news store and not
coming back. Boedeker warns, “If news directors think they can keep
going the way they have, they’re sadly mistaken because people are
tuning out news that doesn’t matter.”

The response from Boedeker’s readers comes as no surprise to
those who study news viewers. The broadcast industry research firm,
Insite Media Research (http:// www.tvsurveys.com), reports that one
in four adults no longer watches local newscasts. Among the reasons:
Repetition. Sensationalism. Misleading news promotion.2

As NewsLab’s* Deborah Potter notes, “Many viewers have tuned
out local news because it turns them off. They’re annoyed by the
tricks and gimmicks stations use to try to make them watch.”3

For three years, the Project for Excellence in Journalism (http://
www.journalism.org) has conducted a major analysis of local TV
news. In its most recent survey, the project examined forty-nine sta-
tions in fifteen markets, reviewing more than eight thousand stories.
The study included one week during February sweeps and one week
not in a rating period. One key finding: quality sells. The most dis-
turbing finding to an investigative reporter: “The amount of enter-
prise (reporting), already shrinking, is withering to almost nothing.”
The most alarming finding to any shareholder: “. .. the business is
cutting back on precisely the elements that attract viewers —including
enterprise, localism, breadth, innovation and sourcing.”4

Indeed, of those thousands of stories coded and analyzed, the
project says only thirty included substantive questioning of sources
on camera. Why waste time watching something that doesn’t matter?
Increasingly, viewers aren’t.

*a nonprofit organization dedicated to improving the quality of TV news
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SHORT-TERM BENEFITS, LONG-TERM DAMAGE

Managers looking for the quick fix, the quarterly numbers, and the
short-term gain may make decisions that help meet those short-term
goals but damage the brand. Case in point—WCCO Television was
for years the unparalleled news leader in Minneapolis/St. Paul.

When it was locally owned by Midwest Communications, many
would argue that WCCO was the best television station in the
country. Its investigations, documentaries, and anchormen, like Don
Shelby and the late Dave Moore, were respected, admired, and
watched. When it came to news, WCCO was number one. “We rely on
the public’s ability to recall WCCO when it wants hard news,” said
WCCQO’s then-news director Ted Canova, who called the WCCO
news brand “very important.”>

But Brian Lambert, a media writer for the St. Paul Pioneer Press
who's been covering the Twin Cities for more than a decade, says the
WCCO brand, thanks to management decisions, is not what it used to
be. Says Lambert, “I think the WCCO reputation has taken a beating.”®

That'’s not surprising. On December 26, 2000, viewers who turned
on the six o’clock news discovered there was no news. In its place, an
infomercial. WCCO had sold the time period to a fundamentalist Chris-
tian organization that ran a show about Jesus.” Canova says he was
never asked for input; just told of the business decision after the fact.

Six months later, WCCO took another PR blast when Lambert
reported that even though the station had a huge profit margin, it was
asking the city of St. Paul for $250,000 in taxpayer’s money to subsi-
dize the station’s St. Paul bureau (the city gave WCCO $25,000).8
Going after tax money to pay office rent may make CBS executives in
New York happy, but so does cutting expenses. Neither does much
good for the WCCO brand.

Far more critical than a couple possible PR blunders are the
resources dedicated to developing the news product. A station recog-
nized for taking on big issues and big corporations, WCCO has done
what most stations have done: slashed its investigative budget. The
once celebrated I-Team comprised of reporters, producers, research-
ers, and project-dedicated videographers, by the spring of 2001, had
been cut to a single producer who shared a videographer.

Although Canova said that, based on 365 days of reporting,
WCCO’s brand was still “alive and healthy” when it came to hard



'ipsvooc LET’S BLOW UP OUR BRAND 251

news, the Pioneer Press’s Lambert says the budget cuts showed up
most clearly by what was no longer on the screen. Says Lambert, “You
don’t see the kind of story that causes city hall or any major corpora-
tion to buckle its knees; the stuff their reputation (their news brand)
was built on, you don’t see as much.” And viewers know it. “It's now
dawning on the general public,” says Lambert, “that the strings are
being pulled by people a long ways away.”?

PINTOS FLAMBE

Remember the Ford Pinto? Run into the back of one and the gas tank
would explode and burn all the people inside. Ford didn’t promote
that feature. Customers discovered it. It was a feature that prompted
a lot of lawsuits, a government recall, and millions of dollars from
Ford. Had Ford followed the advice of its engineers, there never
would have been a problem.

As stations cut budgets, eliminate true investigative units, and
replace experienced (expensive) reporters and producers with low-
cost replacements, how many stations are currently Ford Pintos just
waiting to get rear-ended? And what will the stockholders say when
they discover that management not only was fully aware of the
defect(s) but also encouraged them?

What happens when you replace experience with inexperience?
What are the risks to your brand? What happens when management
gives fewer people less time to produce more news programming?

Is your station a lawsuit waiting to happen?

THE GREAT TURTLE RACE

Considering the products TV stations make available to the local
news consumer. Local news competition is like a turtle race. Sure
there’s competition, but nobody’s going very fast or doing very much.
Compare for a moment the money stations make on political adver-
tising to the money they spend on political reporting — the difference
would make a political fundraiser blush. Even though the product is
news, TV newsrooms in many markets devote few resources to exam-
ining key issues. Ohio television provides a couple of examples.
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Nick Pittner has been practicing law in Columbus for more than
thirty years. He is the lead attorney in a case he describes as one that
will “determine the future of our state politically and economically
and socially because it directly affects the funding of every school dis-
trict in the state.”10 The lawsuit, against the State of Ohio, challenges
the way school districts are currently funded. Like many lawsuits,
this one’s been going through the courts for years.

And there has been media coverage. “ At various times we’ve had
print reporters want to come and explore the issues,” says Pittner.

What about TV? He says, “None of the Columbus, Cleveland, or
Cincinnati stations ever called.” Pittner says he can only remember
one television reporter (from the Ohio News Network) ever wanting
to understand the case. He calls the lack of reporting discouraging,
and makes the obvious point, “the loser is the public.”

But it’s also a lost business opportunity. The product is news. It’s
what news customers want.

THE STORY FACTORY TELEVISION IGNORES

Producers talk about “feeding the monster.” It's the ever-constant
demand for news stories. Unless you plan to sell the time for an
infomercial, that newscast requires stories. When your product is
news, there’s one place to find one great story after another. It's a
place television reporters seldom go: the state capitol.

Richard Finan, the president of the Ohio Senate, aptly describes
the power of the state legislature when he says, “We can be in your
pocket in two days, and you won't even know your wallet is gone.”11
As senate president, Finan has power and influence over key legisla-
tion —health care, education, transportation, safety —you name it. But
except for one station in Columbus (WBNS) and public radio and tele-
vision, Finan says he seldom gets a call from TV.

Says Finan, “Cleveland (commercial stations) does virtually
nothing, Cincinnati does nothing.” In aword, Financalls TV news cov-
erage of critical issues “terrible.” And he tells one story that should
make even broadcast corporation shareholders shake their heads.

Finan says that back in 1999, not just a TV reporter but an
anchorman actually called wanting him to comment on a particular
piece of news. After a brief interview, Finan says the anchorman asked,
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“What's your position in Columbus?” Finan told him he was president
of the senate. The anchorman then asked, “What party are you in?” To
which Finan says he replied, “If you don’t know what party is in
charge in Columbus, you don’t deserve to be on an anchor desk.”

In the race of turtles, such ignorance doesn’t make much differ-
ence. But in the news business, it does.

THE BUSINESS BENEFITS OF
INVESTIGATIVE REPORTING

How is your product better than the competition’s? Great stories
don’t come in a press release. Substantive reports that deliver worth-
while information to news customers can’t be done with a live shot.
Daily reporting is essential and important. But it can’t stop there. If
the only stories you're covering are what can be covered in a day,
you're not covering much. Reporters have to cultivate sources, ask
questions, dig through documents and databases. They have to read,
find experts, educate themselves on an issue. And if reporters and
producers at one station start to do that, most likely in today’s eco-
nomic climate, the competition will not follow.

An amazing thing happens in markets where nobody’s been
reporting once somebody starts. Sources often are not only eager to
talk, but also glad to find someone who's actually interested. Sources
lead to other sources, that lead to still more stories. Breaking one local
story generates tips and leads from viewers that lead to other stories.

Instead of a newscast glutted with satellite feeds from elsewhere,
viewers will start to notice that the news store has been remodeled,
that it has a new line of products, that it’s actually starting to stock the
product they want: local news.

An investigative team raises the bar for the news operation. A
news operation that tackles major issues and major corporations with
major consequences for being wrong requires seasoned professionals,
first-rate legal counsel, computer expertise. Yes, a station has to pay
seasoned professionals more than those with no experience, and legal
review costs money. But it's not possible to have return on investment
when there is no investment.

It's a business choice. Build your brand. Invest in your product.
Invest in training. Hire quality professionals. Provide the time,
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budget, and equipment to allow those professionals to produce and
report stories that matter. Put solid, substantive local news products
on the shelves for your news customers. Or don’t invest. Just hype
what’s quick, easy, fast, and cheap. Which product would you watch?

What's the value, what's the price tag of your news brand? Do
you want to build it or blow it up?

Do you want a news staff of professional reporters, producers, and
videographers, or do you want to hire the cheapest people you can
find and keep your fingers crossed that nothing goes wrong? Obvi-
ously, I'm biased. But it does my heart good to know that at least one
person I admire agrees with me. The late publisher of the Washington
Post, Katherine Graham, summed up the business in a sentence when
she said, “Journalistic excellence and profitability go hand in hand.”

A POST-SEPTEMBER 11TH FOOTNOTE:
THE HIGH PRICE OF PROFIT

One question every citizen should be asking is, What price has our
country paid for the profit margins of American broadcast companies?

CBS News’ 60 Minutes has consistently reported on our foreign
policy, the Middle East, and subjects like bioterrorism. But examine
every story 20/20, PrimeTime Live, Dateline, and the Fox Network have
done in the last three years on American foreign policy, the attitudes
of Arab states toward the United States, the economic political sta-
bility of the Middle East, the threat of terrorism, and so on, and what
would you know? Not much.

For the good of the country, isn’t it time the FCC becomes some-
thing other than a rubber stamp for the industry? A broadcast license
should be more than a license to print money.

As I write this, I'm helping to train a group of investigative broad-
cast reporters at Rastavi 2 Television in Tbilisi, Georgia. The reporters
and the managers here at Rastavi 2 all talk about the importance of a
free press to a democracy. As American broadcast corporations
examine their profit margins and costs and evaluate their business
priorities, if they're at all responsible, they should be asking what
their business contributes to the strength and vitality of American
democracy, not just how many dollars they can stuff in the pockets of
their shareholders.
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Terrorists don’t have a chance against the United States. Terrorists
will never destroy America. Greed might.
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MAINSTREAM MEDIA
The Drug War’s Shills

Michael Levine

Michael Levine is a twenty-five-year veteran of the Drug
Enforcement Administration (DEA) turned best-selling
author and journalist. Currently, he hosts the popular Expert
Witness radio show on WBAI in New York while working on
his next book. He is the author of two best-selling books on his
drug war experiences: the New York Times best-seller, Deep
Cover and the national bestseller, The Big White Lie. His
articles and interviews on the drug war have been published
in numerous national newspapers and magazines, including
the the New York Times, the Los Angeles Times, USA
Today, Esquire, and the Journal of Crime. He has served as
a consultant and on-air expert for various national television
programs in both Spanish and English, including 60 Min-
utes, Crossfire, MacNeil/Lehrer NewsHour, Good
Morning America, and Contrapunto.

OUTRAGEOUS ACTS: MY PERSONAL EXPERIENCE
WITH DRUG-WAR MONTE

Everything you need to know about mainstream media’s vital
role in perpetuating our nation’s three-decade, trillion-dollar
War on Drugs —despite overwhelming evidence that it is a fraud —
you can learn by watching a three-card monte operation.

Three-card monte is a blatant con game where the dealer lays
three cards on a folding table, shows you that one of them is the queen
of spades, turns them over, and shuffles them quickly. You're sure you
know where the queen is, and you saw a guy before you win easily a
couple of times, so you bet your money. If that dopey-looking guy can
win, so can you. But incredibly, you've guessed wrong. You lost.
You've been taken for a sucker.

The suckers in three-card monte cannot possibly win. It's an
obvious and well-known con game, yet as you walk away, you see a
whole line of other suckers, eyes gawking, jaws slack, hands deep in
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their pockets, mesmerized by the show and ready to lay down their
money as fast as the dealer can get to them. Why? Because they too
saw the dopey-looking guy win. But what they don’t know about the
dopey-looking guy is that he’s a shill.

Shills are the con men (and women) who entice suckers into the
phony game by putting on a show intended to convince those
watching that the game is honest, that if you keep playing you can
actually win. A good shill also helps cover up the operation by dis-
tracting the police away from the illegal action. In a court of law
where three-card monte dealers are considered crooks and thieves,
shills are considered their coconspirators. They are liable to an equal
penalty if indicted and found guilty after trial. In the drug-war monte
game, mainstream media are the shills.

Media’s success as shills is unparalleled in the history of scams,
con jobs, and rip-offs and can best be measured by how effectively
they continue to sell us a fraud so obvious and so impossible to win
that it makes South Bronx gold mine certificates look like a conserva-
tive investment.

Here’s some of the true history that, thanks to excellent shilling,
most of you are unaware of:

When President Nixon first declared war on drugs in 1971, there
were fewer than half a million hard-core addicts in the entire nation,
most of whom were addicted to heroin. Most of them lived in large
inner-city areas, with the greatest number residing in New York City.
Only two federal agencies were charged with enforcing drug laws
back then —the Federal Bureau of Narcotics and U.S. Customs. These
two agencies were greater enemies to each other than to any drug
cartel. The total drug war budget was less than $100 million.

Three decades later, despite the expenditure of $1 trillion in fed-
eral and state tax dollars, the number of hard-core addicts is shortly
expected to exceed five million. Our nation has become the super-
market of the drug world, with a wider variety and bigger supply of
drugs at cheaper prices than ever before. The problem now not only
affects every town and hamlet on the map, but it is difficult to find a
family anywhere that is not somehow affected.

Currently, fifty-five federal and military agencies (that we know
of) are involved in federal drug enforcement alone (not counting state
and local agencies), while U.S. military troops are invading South and
Central American nations under the banner of “drug war.” The fed-



eral drug war budget alone (not counting state and municipal bud-
gets) is now well over $20 billion a year, and my personal quest to find
one individual anywhere in the world who could honestly testify that
America’s trillion-dollar war on drugs has somehow saved him or her
from the white menace has thus far been fruitless.

Do you need a cop to tell you that this is evidence of an over-
whelming fraud? If your stockbroker invested your money the way
our elected leaders have invested our drug-war monte dollars, you'd
have jailed or shot him way before 1972. Yet, the game continues.

Why? Mainstream media, as they did during the Vietnam War,
shill us by means of an incessant flow of fill-in-the-blanks bullshit
“victory” stories, into believing that drug-war monte is a real war that
our leaders intend to win. Media shills, which now include Holly-
wood and “entertainment” television and the publishing industry, are
continuously conning us into believing that if —in a fit of sanity — we
really tried to end the costly fraud, some unspeakable horror would
occur, like Mexican and Colombian drug dealers led by the latest
media-created “Pablo Escobar” would invade our insufficiently pro-
tected borders to force-feed our kids heroin and cocaine. We might
even have to arm the Partnership for a Drug Free America with mis-
siles and rockets.

Unless of course, our kids “Just Say No,” as Nancy Reagan’s bil-
lion-dollar media boondoggle campaign taught them.

And when mainstream media hasn’t been directly shilling us into
supporting drug-war monte, as they do to this day, they have helped
perpetuate it via their censorship, or conscious omission of scandalous
events that—had they been reported with the fervor the Washington
Post showed during the Watergate era—could have brought the whole
deadly and costly charade crumbling to the ground three decades ago.
I know this firsthand because I personally participated in some of the
most significant of these scandalous events either as a federal agent,
and/or a court-qualified expert witness, and/or a journalist.

THE VIETNAM WAR

The undercover case that brought me into Southeast Asia during the
Vietnam War was the most dangerous of my career, and the source of
that danger was not just the dealers. It was the case that first brought
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me face-to-face with the fact that, like the Vietnam War, the War on
Drugs was never intended to be won, and that it was a deadly fraud
perpetrated against the people paying for it. It was also the first case
that taught me that a runaway, corrupt federal bureaucracy could
count on mainstream media to shill for it. Ironically, it began on the
Fourth of July (1971).

At the time, President Nixon had recently declared war on drugs.
Our political leaders had already begun pimping Americans through
media megaphones into believing that our growing drug problem
was the fault of evil foreigners and that—other than the Vietnam
War — the drug problem was our number one national security con-
cern. I was a young agent assigned with U.S. Customs’ Hard Nar-
cotics Smuggling Unit in New York City. My twenty-five-year-old
brother David at that point had been a heroin addict for ten years, and
I was a True Believer.

It was on that July 4th day that I arrested John Edward Davidson at
JFK International Airport in New York City with three kilos of 99 per-
cent pure white heroin hidden in the false bottom of a Samsonite suit-
case, and the investigation known as U.S. v. Liang Sae Tiew et al. began.1

By nightfall, the investigation had brought my team deep inside a
desolate swamp on the outskirts of Gainesville, Florida, where a lone
trailer was parked at the end of a barely visible trail. During the
predawn hours, we raided the trailer and arrested the U.S.-based
financier of the smuggling operation, Alan Trupkin, and his heroin-
addicted gofer, twenty-two-year-old John Clements (remember this
name; we’ll see him later). By the following day, I had all the details I
needed to destroy one of the biggest heroin import operations on the
globe. But there was one major problem to contend with that neither
I nor any of the senior officers to whom I reported could have, in our
wildest dreams, imagined at the time: the CIA.

Two years earlier, Davidson, stationed with the army in Vietnam,
had taken R and R (rest and relaxation) leave in Bangkok. There, he had
connected with a Chinese heroin dealer, Liang Sae Tiew, aka Gary. The
prices were the cheapest in the world, the supplies unlimited. After
Davidson’s discharge, all he had to do was smuggle the stuff into the
U.S., and he and his partners would be rich. Seven trips and twenty-one
kilos later, his luck ran out when I arrested him. Now, to do my job in
accordance with my training and the very philosophy of the entire War
on Drugs, I had to take the next step and go for the source.
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One month later I arrived in Bangkok, posing as Davidson'’s
heroin-dealing partner. Within days I made contact with his heroin
connections, Gary and someone called “Mr. Geh.” At first, my pres-
ence in Bangkok was kept secret from the Bureau of Narcotics and
Dangerous Drugs, the sworn enemies of U.S. Customs. The war
between the two agencies for budget and media coverage had esca-
lated to the level of fist-fighting, arresting each other’s informants,
and in one instance, came close to a shoot-out. But that’s another
story. My presence in Bangkok was also kept secret from the Thai
police, whose only competition for the most corrupt police force in
recorded history —in my experience —came from their Mexican coun-
terparts. The fact was that I was in Thailand illegally. At the time,
undercover operations were illegal in most of the world. It was
unthinkable that cops would be permitted to commit crimes to catch
criminals. I'd already been warned by my own bosses that if the Thai
police got wind of me being there to do a drug deal, undercover or
otherwise, they would bust my ass and disappear me, and my own
country would disavow all knowledge. In short, my butt was way out
on a limb, and I knew it, but I did not know the half of my problems.

After a week of hanging out with the dopers, I had managed to
convince them that I was the capo di tutti frutti of the Mafia hooked into
individual mafiosi across the U.S., each looking for large quantities of
drugs. I was the Main Man. I told them that I needed a new supplier
because my previous source, the French Connection, had been busted.

At the time, the largest heroin seizure in history was in the neigh-
borhood of two hundred kilos, part of the original French Connection.
I knew the case well; I'd played a small role in it. The two Chinese
heroin dealers were as aware of the American market as I was, and
they assured me that these amounts were child’s play compared to
their operation. They had a “factory” in Chiang Mai run by Mr. Geh'’s
uncle that was churning out a couple of hundred kilos a week. What
didn’t go to the soldiers in Vietnam was going into the veins and
brains of American kids. Like my own brother.

I cut a deal: I would buy a kilo of Dragon Brand for $2,500 cash
and send it to my U.S. Mafia customers as a sample. I'd then remain
in Thailand awaiting their orders. I told Gary and Mr. Geh that I esti-
mated I might need as much as three hundred kilos for the first order.
The dopers’ price for a three-hundred-kilo load was $2,000 a kilo, or a
paltry $600,000. That amount of heroin, at that time, could have met
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the entire U.S. heroin demand for about two to three weeks. The cost
to our nation in death, destruction, and taxes was incalculable; the
potential profits to the dopers breathtaking.

French Connection heroin was selling wholesale and delivered in
the U.S. at $20,000 a kilo. The purity of the Dragon Brand heroin I was
buying in Asia was as good or better. It was close to 100 percent pure,
meaning that you could cut (dilute) the stuff up to fourteen times for
the street. The U.S. street price per ounce was $2,000, meaning that a
single kilo (forty ounces) of Asian heroin at $2,000 per ounce could
theoretically gross $1,120,000. Now just multiply that by three hun-
dred kilos, and your original investment of $600,000 has now yielded
more than $300 million.

At the moment I had everything I needed to destroy the operation
except for its location, but I knew how to remedy that. I came up with
one proviso: before we finalized the deal, I demanded to personally
inspect their heroin production facilities, “The factory,” in Chiang
Mai. If they agreed, I would be one step away from destroying them.

Within days, the two dealers made contact with the factory’s owner,
Mr. Geh’s uncle. He agreed to go forward with the transaction and
authorized me to inspect the factory after I bought the first sample kilo.

Sitting alone in my room at the Siam Intercontinental that night, I
replayed the words of the heroin dealers on a minirecorder. The impli-
cations of what I had just learned for our nation, for my own heroin-
addicted brother, mixed with the bullshit exhortations of our political
leaders, seemed to sink deep inside of me. I felt as if I were playing
some hero role in a John Wayne (now Tom Clancy) movie. I was in
position to do what our leaders and mainstream media had psyched
me up to do: strike at the heart of America’s greatest enemies.

I was on a mission from God.

I was a naive idiot.

Bam! The adrenaline was pumping. I was moving. I made contact
with my control officer, Customs Attaché Joe Jenkins. At a predawn
meeting, I brought him up to date. He was as excited as I was, but a
lot more reserved. I could tell there was something he wasn’t telling
me, but at that moment I had a pressing need. I was almost broke. I
needed cash to maintain my cover as a big-time dope dealer. I needed
$2,500 cash to buy the first kilo of heroin. Hell, I didn’t even have
enough money to pay my hotel bill. I was already receiving notes
under my door from the management asking me to bring it up to date.
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Jenkins instructed me to meet him later at a girly bar on Sukamvit.
By that time he assured me, he’d have headquarters—and more
important—embassy approvals for the operation to proceed. And—
most important—he’d have money.

Late that night I met Jenkins again. As three butt-naked, Oriental
doll-women in four-inch spike heels performed a somnambulistic,
wriggle-writhe-squat over beer bottles on the bar above us to a
Rolling Stones album blasting from monstrous speakers, Jenkins
shouted that he had neither approvals nor money. From that point on,
things got strange. Very strange.

The suddenly nervous Jenkins, his eyes jerking at every movement
in the shadows around us, gave me Kafkaesque, bureaucratic excuses
for the delays. He said he needed specific signatures from specific
bureaucrats who were, for some reason or other, unavailable. He fed
me other bullshit that only a government employee would find normal.

I went back to my room and began stalling both the hotel and the
drug dealers. My people are being cautious; they are sending me a courier.
They take no chances. On and on and on, ad nauseum.

At first, the dopers thought that the caution of “my people” was
understandable, even admirable, but when more than a week had
passed and the delays continued, I found myself out of excuses and in
serious danger. I went back to Jenkins. For the first time in my life I
heard myself utter the threat, “I'm going to the press.” Jenkins looked
at me and just rolled his eyes. He recognized an idiot when he saw one.

Some time before dawn, I was called into the embassy for a
meeting with the first CIA officer I'd ever knowingly met. He gave no
name, and I didn’t ask for one. Jenkins had told me he was CIA, and
that was all I needed. The guy was short, stocky, bald, and wearing
what I would come to recognize as the typical CIA uniform: a khaki
leisure suit. He looked at me with a mixture of bemusement and dis-
dain that I would also learn was typical.

“You're not going to Chiang Mai,” he said. “We just lost a man up
there. It’s dangerous.”

“But I'm an undercover,” I protested. “Already certified crazy. I
didn’t take this job to be safe.”

Like I said: a naive idiot.

After not much discussion, the spook looked at his watch and cut
the conversation short. “You served in the military, right? (He didn’t
wait for my answer) Well, our country has other priorities [than the



drug war].” He was firm—1I was not going to Chiang Mai and that
was it. The CIA had made the decision for us—a harbinger of things
to come. My instructions were to buy the single kilo of heroin and
arrest whomever delivered it. Case closed.

This was years before the CIA would come to be known among
Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) agents assigned overseas as
the Criminal Inept Agency and later the Cocaine Import Agency. This
was years before anyone with a government job questioned the judg-
ment of the gang that can’t spy straight, and years before I would
state on my own radio show that the CIA seal at Langley, instead of
reading “and the truth shall set you free,” ought to read “and the truth
shall piss you off.”2

I'd stumbled into a quick look at an ugly truth that would haunt
me for the rest of my life, but at that moment I was not prepared to
believe it. I had served three years in the military as an Air Force
Sentry Dog Handler —combat-trained military police. I'd been an
undercover federal agent for six years. I was a good soldier, trained to
follow orders. I believed in the virtue and morality of my leaders. Like
the devoted husband who catches his beloved wife exchanging a
torrid look with the pizza delivery boy, the truth was too emotionally
charged for me to absorb. It was much easier for me to accept that the
CIA man knew more than I did and that it was in our national interest
for me to simply follow orders.

And that’s what I did. I ordered the kilo of heroin and busted the
two Chinese dealers on the spot. Back in the U.S,, I received a Trea-
sury Act Special Award for the first case of its kind, one agent trav-
eling the globe to “destroy” a heroin operation. Another “victory” for
the U.S. media shill factory.

For a while I was lost in my own press notices.

But I was no longer the same unquestioning, young undercover
agent. My cop instinct nagged at me, told me something was wrong.
Within a year I would learn that the Chiang Mai “factory” that the
CIA had prevented me from destroying was the source of massive
amounts of heroin being smuggled into the U.S. in the bodies and
body bags of GIs killed in Vietnam.3 All I could do was pray that the
CIA knew what it was doing. At that time I rather foolishly believed
that they had the best interests of the American people at heart, but
how competent were they? And if they weren’t competent, to whom
do you turn to blow the whistle? Congress? The media?
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I was a well-trained, experienced undercover operative who,
when in doubt, observed closely and documented what I saw, but
took no action—one of the reasons, I believe, that I survived my
career. And in the early 1970s, very few were in a better position than
I to observe and document the development of drug-war monte.

My unit, the Hard Narcotics Smuggling Squad, was a small group
of men (sixteen to twenty) charged with investigating all heroin and
cocaine smuggling through the Port of New York, home of the
majority of our nation’s hard-core drug addicts. By necessity my unit
became involved in investigating every major smuggling operation
known to law enforcement. We could not avoid witnessing the CIA
protecting major drug dealers.

In fact, throughout the Vietnam War, while we documented mas-
sive amounts of heroin flooding into the U.S. from the Golden Tri-
angle (the triangular area formed by northern Thailand, Laos, and
Burma), while tens of thousands of our fighting men were coming
home addicted, not a single important source in Southeast Asia was
ever indicted by U.S. law enforcement. This was no accident. Case
after case, like U.S. v. Liang Sae Tiew et al., was killed by CIA and State
Department intervention and there wasn’t a damned thing we could
do about it.

It was also during those years that we became aware that the CIA
had gone well beyond simply protecting their drug-dealing assets.
Agency-owned proprietary airlines like Air America were being used
to ferry drugs throughout Southeast Asia, allegedly to support our
“allies.” (With friends like these...) CIA banking operations were
used to launder drug money. The CIA was learning the drug business
and learning it well.

Those of us on the inside, who were aware of the glaring incon-
sistencies between drug-war policy as reported through mainstream
mass media and what was really going on, were afraid to go to either
Congress or the media for help. It seemed impossible that anyone
with any knowledge whatsoever of our growing drug problem would
not have noticed the absence of enforcement in Southeast Asia. It was
just too big, too out in the open. During those years I believe a good
journalist could have had many frustrated “inside sources” to quote
from, yet no stories appeared.

It was also during the waning years of Vietnam that CIA protec-
tion of drug dealers spread to other areas under our watch. As cocaine



traffickers grew in economic and political importance in South and
Central America, they also grew in importance to the CIA and other
covert U.S. agencies.

For example, in 1972, being fluent in Spanish, I was assigned to
assist in a major international drug case involving top Panamanian gov-
ernment officials who were using diplomatic passports to smuggle large
quantities of heroin and other drugs into the U.S. The name Manuel
Noriega surfaced prominently in the investigation. Surfacing right
behind Noriega was the CIA to protect him from U.S. law enforcement.

After President Nixon declared war on drugs in 1971 and all our
political leaders began bleating about how drugs were our number
one national security threat, Congress began to raise our taxes and the
drug-war budget on a regular basis that continues to this day. Mean-
while, the CIA and the Department of State were protecting more and
more politically powerful drug traffickers around the world: the Muji-
hadeen in Afghanistan, the Bolivian cocaine cartels, the top levels of
the Mexican government, top Panama-based money launderers, the
Nicaraguan Contras, right-wing Colombian drug dealers and politi-
cians, and others.4

Under U.S. law, protecting drug trafficking was and still is consid-
ered Conspiracy to Traffic in Drugs—a felony violation of federal law.
President George Bush Sr. once said, “All those who look the other way
at drug trafficking are as guilty as the drug dealer.”> Ironically, not too
many years earlier, as the head of the CIA, Mr. Bush had authorized a
salary for Manuel Noriega as a CIA asset, while the little dictator was
listed in as many as forty DEA computer files as a drug dealer. Seems
only fitting that the CIA named its headquarters after Mr. Bush.

In any case, it was clear to us on the inside of international drug
enforcement that Congress was either well aware of what was going
on, or guilty of terminal ineptitude. It was also clear to us that CIA
protection of international narcotics traffickers depended heavily on
the active collaboration of the mainstream media as shills.

Media’s shill duties, as I experienced them firsthand, were twofold:
first, to keep quiet about the gush of drugs that was allowed to flow
unimpeded into the U.S.; second, to divert the public’s attention by
shilling them into believing the drug war was legitimate by falsely pre-
senting the few trickles we were permitted to indict as though they
were major “victories” when in fact we were doing nothing more than
getting rid of the inefficient competitors of CIA assets.



I began to notice the fill-in-the-blanks drug stories. Every week a
new “drug baron,” or a new drug-corrupted government was —and
continues to be — presented as a new “threat” to America’s kids. Every
case, many of which I took part in, was headlined as “U.S. Authorities
Announce Major Blow Against (fill in the blank) Drug Cartel.” Every
country and national leader that the CIA and the State Department
wanted to slander (i.e., Castro and Cuba, the Sandinistas, and leftist
guerrillas anywhere) was headlined as “U.S. Sources Say (fill in the
blank) Poses New Narco-Trafficking Threat.” Foreign leaders and
nations whose images the CIA and the State Department wanted to
keep clean (i.e., Manny Noriega for two decades, or Mexico and every
one of its presidents since NAFTA) were headlined as “(fill in the
blank) New Anti-Drug Efforts Win Trust of U.S. Officials.”®

The media continues to do their shill job well and drug-war monte
continues to grow massively, as does our nation’s drug problems.

The “Cocaine Coup”

On July 17, 1980, for the first time in history, drug traffickers actually
took control of a nation. It was not just any nation; it was Bolivia, at
the time the source of virtually 100 percent of the cocaine entering the
United States.” The ”"Cocaine Coup” was the bloodiest in Bolivia’s his-
tory. CIA-recruited mercenaries and drug traffickers—collectively
called the “Angels of Death” —unseated Bolivia's democratically
elected president, Lidia Gueiler, a leftist (according to the CIA) whom
the American government didn’t want in power. The drug traffickers
also took the opportunity to eliminate their competitors along with all
suspected DEA informants so that they could consolidate raw mate-
rials and production to meet the US.’s skyrocketing demand for
cocaine. The result was the creation of what came to be known as La
Corporacion — The Corporation—in essence, the General Motors or
OPEC of cocaine.

Immediately after the coup, cocaine production increased mas-
sively, until, in short order, it outstripped supply. This was the true
beginning of the cocaine and crack “plague,” as the media and hack
politicians never tire of calling it. July 17, 1980, is truly a day that
should live in infamy along with December 7, 1941. There are few
events in history that have caused more and longer-lasting damage to
our nation.



What America was never told—despite mainstream media
having the information as well as a prime, inside source who was
ready to go public with the story—was that the coup was carried out
with the aid and participation of Central Intelligence. The source
could also testify and prove that, to carry out the coup, the CIA along
with the State and Justice departments had to combine forces to pro-
tect their drug-dealing assets by destroying a DEA investigation—
U.S. v. Roberto Suarez, et al. How do I know? I was that inside source.8

All the events I am referring to are detailed in my book The Big
White Lie, a book that, to date, has been virtually ignored by main-
stream media —with good reason, as I hope this chapter makes clear.
Documentation of the events portrayed in the book was carried out in
accordance with accepted techniques and practices of evidence-gath-
ering as taught in each of the four federal law enforcement training
academies that I attended. I took precisely the same precautions that
I would have taken were I preparing a case for a jury, backing up
every assertion with solid evidence in the form of reports and tape-
recorded conversations.

The Big White Lie is out of print, but it is available inlibraries. I can only
urge readers, particularly those in law enforcement and the legal profes-
sions, to read the book and judge its evidentiary value for yourselves.

During the months after the Bolivian coup, I watched the massive
news coverage with astonishment. Nothing even came close to the
true and easily provable events. All of it was accurate in that it fright-
eningly portrayed the new Bolivian government as one comprised of
expatriate Nazis like Klaus Barbie and drug dealers like Roberto
Suarez, and reported that the power and influence of the drug
economy was much greater than all the U.S. experts had imagined.
But the most important fact of all was consistently left out: the coup
was CIA-directed and U.S. tax dollars had put these guys in power.

As I detailed in the book, American media’s failure to cover what
was arguably the most significant event in drug war history was
enough to push me over the edge.

I was no hero, believe me. I was an undercover operative who
knew well how to play the angles, not someone who took unreason-
able chances. But this was not that long after Woodward and Bern-
stein’s concentrated, full-court press attack on the Watergate affair had
resulted in real indictments and prison sentences for crimes a lot less
serious than what I was about to report. The media still seemed to offer
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some hope. I could not believe that the failure to accurately cover the
Cocaine Coup was intentional. I would provide them with the missing
pieces. I was now willing to be the drug war’s Deep Throat.

The smoking gun evidence of the CIA’s role in the Bolivian coup
could be found in the Roberto Suarez case, a complicated DEA covert
operation that I had run only two months before the Cocaine Coup.
Media shills had trumpeted it as the greatest undercover sting opera-
tion in history. Its finale occurred when Bolivian cartel leaders
Roberto Gasser and Alfredo Gutierrez were arrested outside a Miami
bank after I had paid them $8 million dollars for the then-largest load
of cocaine in history. Some of the actual facts of the case were used in
the screenplay for the film Scarface, with Al Pacino.

What America was never told before my book was published was
that within weeks of their headlined arrests, both Gasser and
Gutierrez were released from jail. When I learned from my post in
Argentina that these two men and their drug cartel were key players
in the Cocaine Revolution and that the whole thing was CIA-inspired
and supported, I wrote anonymous letters to the New York Times, the
Washington Post, and the Miami Herald.

Despite the fact that the letters contained enough information to
convince them that I was a highly placed source and could furnish
them with information and leads that would quickly and easily bring
a true investigative journalist to the truth, nothing happened. Ironi-
cally, the only journalists who were at all curious about the sudden
disappearance of the case from the news and the DEA’s reluctance to
talk about it were working for High Times, a magazine covering issues
having to do with marijuana and psychedelic drugs. They wrote this
about the Suarez case:

The Drug Enforcement Administration will confirm [that the arrests
were made] but will go no further. This is curious, because it may
have been the all-time great sting operation.?

The other messages mainstream media began to deliver with
shill-like efficiency were the unquestioned bleatings of politicians,
bureaucrats, and “experts” going on about how, as a result of the
Cocaine Coup, it was more urgent than ever that more money be bud-
geted and more federal enforcement agencies and military branches
be tasked to fight the War on Drugs. President Carter even mandated
the CIA to get involved in fighting drugs.



When this last item hit the news, I ran a little test at the embassy
in Buenos Aires, just so that I could say I did it. I asked the CIA sta-
tion chief to lend me a spy camera to cover an undercover operation
I had going in Buenos Aires. “I'm back into the Bolivian cartel,” I told
him. The spook didn’t hesitate or blink an eye when he said he didn’t
have one single camera available. The CIA was simply not going to
help me in any way that might, no matter how remotely, jeopardize
their “assets” —”assets” they were using to overthrow, control, intim-
idate, or influence Latin American governments; “assets” who were
funding, through drug trafficking, their own and other CIA-inspired
paramilitary operations in the region. Cocaine trafficking was a major
source of funding for CIA covert operations. Using drug money
instead of funds appropriated from Congress allowed the CIA to
operate without having to account to the U.S. government for its
actions or expenditures. How then, I wondered, could any interna-
tional DEA agent who took his job and oath seriously be considered
anything but a threat to the CIA? In my Secret Country Report for the
year, I described this paradoxical situation in as diplomatic terms as I
could muster, pointing out that our policymakers, where the War on
Drugs was concerned, seemed at odds with each other. As I expected,
I received neither answer nor comment.

Then the “news” story hit that pushed me over the edge, the story
that would change my life. Larry Rohter and Steven Strasser of
Newsweek had just authored a feature piece on the Bolivian Cocaine
Coup that was, in my opinion, the hydrogen bomb of drug war-scare
stories. Maybe the greatest drug-war monte story of all time. It
detailed how drug money had not only funded the Bolivian Cocaine
Coup, but was now funding revolutions around the world. How many
of these revolutions, I wondered, were backed by CIA and American
taxpayer dollars? But then how, I wondered, could the journalists
know the truth unless they had a Deep Throat to steer them straight?

I flew into action without thinking. I should have heeded the
words of the CIA chief played by Cliff Robertson in Three Days of the
Condor —a warning that should be issued to all potential real-life gov-
ernment whistle-blowers. Near the end of the movie, after a CIA
employee played by Robert Redford has escaped two hours of agency
attempts to kill him to prevent him from blowing the whistle on some
typically depraved CIA plot, he is about to enter the front door of a
major newspaper. There waiting for him is the head of the CIA,
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played by Cliff Robertson, who smiles shrewdly and utters the last
line of the film: “What makes you think they’ll print the story?”

Fade to black.

But my mind was full of Woodwards and Bernsteins. I sat down
at my desk in the American embassy and wrote the kind of letter that
I never imagined myself ever writing. After fully identifying myself,
I detailed on three pages typewritten on official U.S. embassy sta-
tionary enough evidence of my charges to feed a wolf pack of inves-
tigative journalists. I also expressed my willingness to be a quotable
source. I addressed it directly to Strasser and Rohter, care of Newsweek.
I sent it registered mail, return receipt requested. Within a couple of
weeks I got the receipt (which I still have) and waited anxiously to
hear from them. Two sleepless weeks later, I was still sitting in my
embassy office staring at the phone. Three weeks later, it rang.

It was DEA’s Internal Security. They were calling to notify me that
I was under investigation. I had been falsely accused of everything
from black-marketing and having sex with a married female DEA
agent during an undercover assignment to “playing loud rock music
on my radio and disturbing other embassy personnel.” The investi-
gation into these specious charges would wreak havoc with my life
for the next four years.10 My days as the whistle-blowing diplomat
were cut short. I would end up a lot luckier than most high-level gov-
ernment whistle-blowers. I would survive. When push came to shove,
I was a well-trained undercover operative with the survival skills of a
Bronx roach.

DEA HEADQUARTERS

Back in the “Palace of Suits,” I decided that to survive the ongoing
and ever expanding onslaught from Internal Security, I would follow
the sage advice of a veteran suit: “ A bureaucracy has a short memory.
Keep your mouth shut and the suits will forget you even exist.” And
that’s exactly what did happen. To survive, I became a drug-war
monte player almost immediately.

On my first day back at DEA headquarters in Washington, D.C.,,
assigned to the Cocaine Desk, I fielded a phone call from a wire ser-
vice journalist. The newsie wanted to know what percentage of drugs
being smuggled into the U.S. were intercepted at the borders. During



my undercover negotiations with the Bolivian Cartel, the top cocaine
producers in the world at the time, I was told that they factored a less
than 1 percent loss at the U.S. borders.1! Before I could answer, one of
the other desk officers overheard the conversation and said, “Tell him
10 percent. That's the [official] number.” I repeated the number, and
10 percent was the number published in the story.

It was that easy. The same phony percentage was used over the
next two decades without a single so-called journalist ever asking the
logical follow-up questions: How can you possibly know you are
intercepting 10 percent? Who is doing the calculations? It is inter-
esting to note that the magic number has recently been drastically
increased and that Hollywood is now helping out with the shill job.

I noticed what I recognized as a rigged scene in the recent hit
movie Traffic. (It's important to note that the movie was shot with the
cooperation and collaboration of the drug-war monte suits). The drug
czar, played by Michael Douglas, is visiting a U.S.-Mexico border
crossing. He asks a real-life Customs officer (drafted for the movie
role) what percentage of drugs is intercepted at the border. The
answer, blasted in an unnaturally loud voice, is “48 percent.”

Ten percent to 48 percent in twenty years, and there are more
drugs on the streets than ever before? An Academy Award-winning
movie? If this isn’t shilling, I don’t know what is.

But you’ve got to remember dealers and shills have no shame at
all. And I suppose you could say that neither did I because, for the
next five or so years, I played an active and conscious part in
drug-war monte.

OPERATION HUN AND
SOUTH FLORIDA TASK FORCE

I spent much of 1983 shuttling between an undercover assignment on
“Operation Hun” and a temporary post as a supervisor in Vice Presi-
dent Bush’s South Florida Task Force. Ironically, Operation Hun was
aimed at bringing down the same Bolivian drug-trafficking govern-
ment that the CIA had put into power three years earlier. As I detailed
in The Big White Lie, the operation, which could have truly been one of
the most successful in the DEA's history, was still controlled by the CIA
and was ultimately destroyed to hide the fact that protected CIA assets
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were the guys responsible for producing and distributing almost all the
world’s cocaine at the time. I can only urge everyone with an interest to
read the book as if it were one of my prosecution case reports.

When I wasn’t working undercover in Hun, I filled two consecu-
tive assignments in Vice President Bush'’s task force. My first was
watch commander, which basically meant that, during my watch, I
was to notify Washington of every drug seizure so that press releases
and television appearances could be scheduled for Mr. Bush's first-in-
history drug czar, Admiral Murphy. My second task force assignment
was as supervisor of Miami airport operations. I had about fourteen
to sixteen DEA and Customs agents under my command. Our job was
mostly to conduct follow-up investigations of customs drug-smug-
gling arrests at the airport. The trouble with both jobs and the whole
South Florida Task Force concept was that it was all an expensive
drug-war monte publicity stunt. A massive shill job.

Vice President Bush and his drug czar, through the ever-reliable
media, would shill the public into believing that drug seizures in
South Florida had doubled. On any Sunday morning, you couldn’t
avoid seeing Drug Czar Admiral Murphy —the “Little Admiral,” as
we used to call him—on two, three, and four popular news shows,
waving the drug-war victory flags. The media-driven shilling of the
public during this period was relentless. Check it out for yourself. It's
easy to research on the Internet. There was only one problem with the
claims of drug-war victory: they were pure drug-war monte —bogus
and easily disprovable.

The same drug seizures that the DEA, Coast Guard, and Customs
were normally making in the South Florida area prior to the task
force’s existence were now being turned over to the task force and
trumpeted as victories, when in reality there were no more seizures
than before. What was even more fraudulent, if this was possible, was
that the seizures were now being double-counted for congressional
budget hearings. Customs would seize one thousand pounds of mar-
jjuana and turn it over to the task force. Both the task force and Cus-
toms would count the seizures on their yearly statistics for Congress.
The media points all went to the vice president’s task force. The bill,
as always, to the American taxpayer.

Did the media know the truth and hide it?

I personally tipped off at least a dozen journalists who called for
information and I know of other agents who did the same. It would
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not have taken much investigating to verify what we were saying—
no more than a couple of phone calls to the agencies involved. Yet,
nothing ever surfaced. Shills don’t tell marks anything, do they?

AFGHAN AND CONTRA WARS

While a barrage of media headlines continued to shill America into
thinking that Vice President Bush’s South Florida Task Force was a
valiant and effective drug war effort— the sucker card — the real action
that was consciously omitted from news coverage was that some of the
biggest drug dealers in the world were funneling drugs directly into the
brains and veins of America’s children with the protection of the CIA
and the State Department. Who were these drug dealers? Namely the
Nicaraguan Contras and the Mujihadeen rebels in Afghanistan.

For the entire duration of the Contra war, we in the DEA had doc-
umented the Contras—those “heroes” as Ollie North called them—
putting at least as much cocaine on American streets as the Medellin
Cartel. We had also documented the Mujihadeen vying for first place
as America’s source of heroin. Yet, not a single case of any significance
was allowed to go forward to prosecution against either entity. All
were effectively blocked by the CIA and the State Department.

The media’s shilling and misdirection were both relentless and
effective. A particularly galling example: one media poll voted Ollie
North one of the “ten most admired” people in the nation despite the
fact that his efforts to protect major drug dealers and killers like Hon-
duran army general Bueso-Rosa from prosecution had been well doc-
umented by Congress. Astoundingly, North, along with a CIA station
chief and a U.S. ambassador, had been banned from entering Costa
Rica for running drugs through that democratic nation into the
United States (among other crimes). Costa Rica’s Nobel Prize-win-
ning president, Oscar Arias, had issued the ban, yet the news barely
surfaced in the United States. Now compare this to the Monica
Lewinsky coverage.12

Even drug-dealing Contra supporters in other countries were
being protected. In one glaring case, an associate of mine was sent
into Honduras to open a DEA office in Tegucigalpa. Within months he
had documented as much as fifty tons of cocaine being smuggled into
the U.S. by Honduran military people who were supporting the Con-
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tras. This was enough cocaine to fulfill a third of the U.S. demand.
What was the DEA response? They closed the office. 13 The tip-offs —
both anonymous and straight out—to journalists continued to fly
from sources within the DEA and other agencies, yet not one signifi-
cant truthful story ever surfaced.

BACK IN THE BIG APPLE -
THE DRUG WAR MEDIA CAPITAL

In 1984, I received a hardship transfer back to New York. My fif-
teen-year-old daughter now had a drug problem. By this time my
brother David, a heroin addict for nineteen years, had committed sui-
cide in Miami, leaving a note that said, “I can’t stand the drugs any-
more.” | was going to do whatever it took to save my little girl.

In New York City, I was assigned as the supervisor of an active
squad that was constantly being called out to stage raids for television
news—CBS, ABC, etc.—all the big players. On a slow news day, the
SAC (Special Agent in Charge) would get a call: You guys got any-
thing going down we can put on the eleven o’clock news? We could
always come up with something. What was good for their ratings was
good for our budget.

During those years, if you linked every doper the media shilled as
a member of either the Medellin or Cali Cartels, hand in hand, the
chain would reach the moon. The cartels were so effectively painted
as devils that even the normally levelheaded Mayor Ed Koch called
for the bombing of Colombia. Ironically, that’s exactly what we're
doing now.

I played the game, led the bogus raids, and gave the newsies what-
ever they needed to sell papers or raise ratings. As an insider, I learned
the secret of the drug-war generals’ control over the media shills.

Drug stories sold newspapers, got media ratings, and made great
shows for the big and little screens. To get “access” to a police agency,
to get the “inside story” and “credibility,” media executives, pro-
ducers, and editors have to play the game. They can’t broadcast or
write an unfriendly story and expect an open door the next day. You
don’t make a tell-all movie and expect to film it with U.S. government
cooperation, do you?

The bottom line is money. No one in the mainstream media has



taken an oath to protect anything, although they do protect their jobs.
That’s not a criticism, just a fact. The Fourth Estate might as well be
the Fifth, Sixth, or Seventh Estate—it’s all bullshit. For the money,
mainstream media could (and can) be counted on to shill the
drug-war monte game as if their collective bank accounts depended
on it. But this is only part of the media economic story. It gets worse —
much worse.

There were a few of us who, in sudden fits of madness or naiveté,
did risk our lives and careers to blow the whistle. More often than not
we’d find ourselves telling some incredulous Columbia School of
Journalism-trained newsie that the current “news” release issued by
(fill-in-the-blank) drug-war monte agency talking about the “new
political hope” in Mexico and/or Colombia and/or (fill-in-the-blank)
who was going to “clean up” government drug corruption, was just a
repeat of the same bullshit story that’s been printed every couple of
months since the beginning of time. And if they didn’t believe us, all
they had to do was check their own archives.

We'd tell them that our firsthand experience on the front lines had
taught us that as long as Americans bought hundreds of billions of
dollars in illegal drugs, there could be no new hope, and that to ignore
history and to print or broadcast that bullshit was no different than
shilling for three-card monte.

The typical newsie response would be a blank stare. Blank
because they didn’t have the slightest idea what we were talking
about, or the curiosity to research it. Blank, because while they’ve
been trained in sound bites, ellipses, and correct language, they
haven’t the slightest notion of the history or inner workings of
drug-war monte. They don’t even know that “conspiracy” is the fed-
eral law responsible for the majority of humans in cages. Their editors
tell them that whatever “credentialed government spokespeople” say
(usually some public affairs officer) is the story. They are assigned to
be reporters, not investigative journalists.

Meanwhile these encounters leave you, the potential whistle-
blower, with a sinking feeling in the pit of your stomach that makes
you wish you’d kept your damned mouth shut.

But back then, except for those few fleeting moments of sheer
madness, I no longer had the slightest desire to play the Robert Red-
ford role in my own movie. I had a daughter on drugs, a mortgage,
and a debt-financed life. The only thing between ruination and me
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was my job. I had learned the Three Days of the Condor lesson well:
They most definitely would not print the story.

Then, in 1987, I was once again pushed over the edge. But this
time, there would be no turning back.

OPERATION TRIFECTA —DEEP COVER

By 1987, as the DEA suit (bureaucrat) had predicted, I'd kept my
mouth shut and my “sins” had been forgotten. DEA Headquarters
was now asking me to play a lead role in a deep cover sting operation
that would become the New York Times best-selling book, Deep Cover.14

Posing as a Puerto Rican-Sicilian Mafia chief, I and a small cadre
of DEA and Customs undercover agents managed to penetrate the
top of the drug world in three countries: Bolivia, Panama, and
Mexico. The DEA called it “Operation Trifecta.” Customs called it
“Operation Saber.” Our fictitious little “mafia” managed to make a fif-
teen-ton cocaine purchase and smuggling deal with the Bolivian drug
cartel known as La Corporacion, the same group that the CIA had
helped take over Bolivia, the same group responsible for most of the
cocaine base being processed in Colombia to this day.15

Hidden video cameras rolled as I negotiated the price and quan-
tity of the drugs with the cartel’s top representatives. The deal done,
I sent undercover pilots into the jungles of Bolivia to verify that the
cocaine was on the ground and ready for delivery. Then I arranged
with top Mexican government officials for military protection of the
drug shipments as they transited through Mexico into the United
States. Among those with whom I negotiated directly were Colonel
Jaime Carranza, grandson of Mexico’s former President Venustiano
Carranza, and a bodyguard of Mexico’s president-elect at the time,
Carlos Salinas de Gortari.

To verify that the Mexican government was keeping its part of the
deal, “mafia” representatives (undercovers) were dispatched to
Mexico to observe military units preparing our landing field. As part
of the deal, my first drug payment—five million dollars in cash—
would be made to Remberto Rodriguez, chief money launderer for
the Bolivian and Colombian cartels. His operation, as the cartel
leaders told me, was protected by then-CIA asset Manuel Noriega. I
personally went to Rodriguez’s headquarters in Panama City where
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we made arrangements for the five-million-dollar down payment and
shook hands on the deal.

During this harrowing assignment, our team gathered hard evi-
dence in the form of secretly recorded video and audiotapes, first-
hand observations, and secret government intelligence reports that
clearly indicated that military and staff members of Mexico’s
incoming president, Carlos Salinas de Gortari, were planning to open
the Mexican border for smuggling once Gortari took office and the
North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) was passed, hard
evidence that they had already begun to put their plan into action.

We had also stumbled upon evidence indicating that the corrupt
Mexican officials we were negotiating with were also directly
involved in training CIA-supported Contras. We uncovered uninves-
tigated personal links between U.S. government officials (including at
least one DEA officer) and corrupt Mexican government officials,
some of whom may have been involved in the torture/murder of
DEA agent Enrique “Kiki” Camarena and/or its cover-up.

And we had proof that the U.S. paramilitary operation in the
Andean Region (then Operation Snowcap, now Plan Colombia
and/or the Andean Initiative) was a premeditated fraud on the Amer-
ican people, never intended to have any effect on the supply of drugs
from its inception.

As T detailed in Deep Cover, once top officials in our government
became aware of what we had uncovered, the CIA became involved.16 We
had gone too far and had to be stopped. The top drug dealers, the Panama-
based money-laundering operation, and the high-ranking corrupt Mex-
ican government officials that we had snared were effectively protected
from prosecution. Operations Trifecta and Saber were destroyed.

Once again, I can only urge the reader of this chapter to read the
book and judge it for its factual value, keeping in mind that the infor-
mation in it was never intended to be a book.

In the book, I detail how all the revelations listed above were first
presented to DEA’s Internal Affairs in one lengthy memorandum that
I entitled “The Memo Bomb.” I was hoping —naively —that it would
end up in the hands of someone in the government with a conscience,
some bureaucrat or politician who took his/her oath to defend the
Constitution seriously. When I learned that it was going to be covered
up, I didn’t even consider going to the media. I began writing Deep
Cover, which was published three months after I retired.
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The book made the New York Times Best-Seller List despite being
virtually ignored by mainstream media and Congress. What little
media coverage it did receive portrayed me as a disgruntled whistle-
blower. Why? Because that is what “credentialed government spokes-
people” said I was.

DEA and Justice Department officials refused to comment on any
of the specifics. Not one single mainstream media journalist under-
took to do what my publisher’s (Delacorte Press) attorneys had done:
conduct a libel reading, or a detailed examination of how I had docu-
mented my facts. I was a man whose words in courts across the land
were credible enough to convict and sentence thousands to tens of
thousands of years in prisons. My book screamed in a loud, clear
voice that the drug war was a premeditated fraud, yet no one in the
media was interested in investigating the story.

In 1991, Bill Moyers’s “Project Censored” called Deep Cover one of
America’s ten most censored stories. Mr. Moyers commented to me
while we were taping for a show that he’d heard that Deep Cover was
the best-read and least-talked-about book between the Washington,
D.C., beltways. I had already heard the same thing from my own
sources inside the DEA and other agencies.

I pointed out to Mr. Moyers that what I found both frightening
and depressing about the whole affair was that, despite the fact that a
team of U.S. undercover agents had uncovered hard evidence of mas-
sive Mexican government drug corruption and involvement in the
torture/murder of a DEA agent, our Congress had granted them
“cooperating nation” status in the drug war, meaning that they would
be rewarded with American taxpayer dollars for their betrayal. I also
told Moyers that I was deeply disturbed that despite the book’s well-
documented revelations showing that Operation Snowcap was a pre-
meditated fraud, Congress was expanding the militarized South
American drug war without even making a single inquiry.

All Mr. Moyers could do was shake his head the way a streetwise
cop does when he watches the suckers line up to play three-card monte.

Could this have happened if the mainstream media had pursued
the facts and leads revealed in Deep Cover with the aggressive persis-
tence shown during the Watergate and Monica Lewinsky affairs? I
think not. Instead, they averted their collective gazes and have con-
tinued the barrage of fill-in-the-blanks, drug-war monte stories. And
the suckers continue to watch the show and continue to pay.
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TEN YEARS OF JOURNALISM

After retiring and publishing Deep Cover, I wrote Fight Back, How to
Take Back Your Neighborhood, Schools and Families from the DRUG
DEALERS,7 followed by The Big White Lie (cowritten with Laura
Kavanau-Levine). Whatever I thought I knew about drug-war monte
and how to fight it was now in book form, but I still had a lot to learn,
only now from the opposite angle.

Beginning with my retirement from the DEA on January 1, 1990,
up to this moment, I have been active as a freelance print journalist,
media consultant, and on-air drug and crime expert, as well as an
expert witness on all matters related to drug trafficking and the use of
deadly force for federal and state court cases. Since 1997, I have been
the host of The Expert Witness Radio Show, which airs on WBAI, 99.5
FM in New York City and KPFK, 90.7 FM in Los Angeles. The show
features interviews with frontline participants in major drug-war
monte events and other crime and espionage stories that mainstream
media have either misrepresented or consciously ignored.

The screaming need for the show is best illustrated by a program
I hosted entitled “100 Years Experience.”18 It was a roundtable dis-
cussion with Ralph McGeehee (25 years with CIA), Dennis Dayle (27
years with DEA), Wesley Swearingen (25 years with FBI), and me (25
years with DEA, Customs, Internal Revenue Service Intelligence, and
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms). All of us had taken part in
some of the highest profile events in law enforcement, military, and
espionage history. All of us easily agreed that not a single one of these
events — from the Vietnam War and COINTELPRO (the FBI Counter
Intelligence Programs of the 1960s) to the entire War on Drugs—had
been reported honestly by mainstream media.

Dennis Dayle, a principal subject in James Mills’s best-selling
book, Underground Empire, stated that the CIA had interfered with
and/or destroyed every major international drug-dealing investiga-
tion he had ever conducted. You remember seeing that anywhere in
the news?

Now, as a journalist, I want to give you details on some of the
most important events that I experienced firsthand and the media
shilling that went on as they unfolded.
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DRUG WAR INVASION OF PANAMA19

As I've already said, it was as early as 1971, when I was serving in the
U.S. Customs Hard Narcotics Smuggling Unit, that I became person-
ally aware that both U.S. Customs and the Bureau of Narcotics and
Dangerous Drugs knew very well that Manuel Noriega was heavily
involved in drug trafficking to the United States, and that the CIA —
the gang that can’t spy straight—was protecting him from prosecu-
tion. This wacky little drug dealer, like countless other criminals
doing damage to America, was on the CIA payroll. He’d even had
lunch with George Bush. The protection had been going on for so long
and was so well known that no one in the CIA had bothered to tell
DEA agent Danny Moritz and federal prosecutor Richard Gregorie
that the dude was off limits.

So the same CIA that didn’t know that the Berlin Wall was coming
down until the bricks were hitting them on the head, didn’t learn that
their two-decade, drug-dealing asset Manny “Pineapple Face” Nor-
iega was being indicted until it was too late. Now there was a
problem, a problem that only media shills could handle.20

On the evening of December 20, 1989, I watched with a mixture of
horror and wonder as Noriega’s fortress of a home was blown to
smithereens along with Chorillo, Panama City’s entire inner-city area.
It was the opening shot of America’s first full-scale, drug-war inva-
sion. Hundreds, perhaps thousands (depending on whom you
believe), of Panamanians died. Women, children, and tiny babies
were burned, shot, and mutilated by our finest and most advanced
weaponry. It was a great opportunity to try out our Stealth Bombers
and fighter planes. I could not help but be reminded of the Nazi
bombing of Guernica, Spain.

I guess the stuff really works.

Twenty-six American soldiers died, many of them shot by
friendly fire. All this awesome firepower and death to arrest a man
whose drug dealing the CIA had been protecting for almost two
decades. How, I wondered, were the drug war generals and the CIA
going to hide the truth behind this grotesque atrocity?

Media shills to the rescue. Within months, the media coverage
had omitted and obliterated and/or minimized Manuel Noriega’s
true history and reputation with the CIA and DEA, and had turned
the event into a major drug-war “victory.” So effective was the media



shilling that instead of being indicted as a coconspirator, George Bush
Sr. enjoyed a massive surge in his popularity ratings. Lee Atwater, the
chairman of the Republican Party, called the monstrous atrocity a
“political jackpot.”

The damage this did to those in law enforcement with a con-
science was incalculable. Whatever faith we ever had in media ful-
filling its alleged Fourth Estate role was gone.

The “political jackpot” comment was the final straw for me. I had
just retired and felt (again, albeit foolishly) relatively safe from retri-
bution, so I began firing off a barrage of articles to every media outlet
I could think of. It was a futile attempt from the beginning and I knew
it, but I had to try and keep trying. It was only through alternative
media and the then-nascent Internet that the truth surfaced, but who
paid any attention to that? And as long as alternative media had no
affect on the polls, it would have no affect on American politicians.

I was and still am close to many men and women who have spent
their lives in law enforcement. All of them, when sitting in comfort-
able little living rooms after having a couple of drinks, will lower their
voices and admit that if any cop had done what those involved with
the Noriega cover-up and the subsequent phony invasion had done,
they’d have been buried under a federal jail. They’ll say the words
that no shill journalist would ever print: that anyone who was respon-
sible for that invasion ought to be tried as a war criminal. It was the
realization that our silence was the ugliest part of history repeating
itself that kept me at my computer trying to out the true Noriega
story. But the wall of media shills was impenetrable.

It was after my son, Keith Richard Levine, a New York City police
sergeant, was killed by crack addicts on December 28, 1991, that the New
York Times published one of my Noriega pieces.?l I was never sure
whether it was my son’s very public murder that changed their attitude
or the upcoming Clinton-Bush election, but I was grateful, even hopeful.

The Bush-Noriega article—an op ed piece—was a tiny drop in a
media tidal wave going the other way, but it made an important
point. There was some hope in media. It was not monolithic. While it
was, by and large, controlled by easily frightened and manipulated
people of little courage, there were editors, producers, and journalists
out there who were still willing to risk taking a moral stand against
the criminal and/or criminally inept exercise of power.

I was also learning another hard lesson: To force real congres-
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sional action against corruption and/or criminal ineptitude at the
highest levels of government, one article or one television special is
far from enough to combat the ocean of media shills. What's needed
is a Watergate/Lewinsky-like wave of investigative journalism. A
sprinkling won’t work. A sprinkling will only be used to shill us into
thinking we really have a free, aggressive media.

RISE IN POLICE DRUG WAR VIOLENCE
AFTER PANAMA

It was after the mass murder of women and children in Panama that,
as a journalist, I began to notice a distinct increase in the militarization
of the drug war in the U.S. I noticed a very clear acceptance by our
elected “protectors” and the public of an increase in the use of deadly
force in the drug war that continues to escalate to this day and affects
all aspects of police-community relations.

This could never have happened without mainstream media, tele-
vision, and Hollywood shilling with bullshit-based, drug-war monte
movies like Clear and Present Danger, television drug-war specials and
programs like Cops, and the incessant flow of fill-in-the-blanks drug
stories with headlines like “New Threat in Drug Supply Discovered in
(fill in nation of your choice)”; “New Link in Opium Trail Discovered in
(fill in location of your choice)”; “The Hunt for (fill in name), New Leader
of the (fill in name) Cartel”; “Government Sources Alarmed by Increase
in Flow of (fill in drug of choice)”; “Government Sources Allege Drug
Corruption in (fill in location where the CIA wants to initiate some dan-
gerous, foolish, and very expensive action)”; and “Startling Rise in Drug
Use Predicted by (fill in name of agency that wants a budget increase).”?2

AS AN EXPERT WITNESS

Since my retirement, I've worked as an expert witness for attorneys
defending people from the excesses of a drug-war monte game gone
wild. I've been directly involved in a continuous flow of atrocities
perpetrated on innocent citizens that, thanks to the reliable practice of
censorship via omission by mainstream media shills, never get main-
stream media exposure.



From my point of view, the use of the word “atrocities” is no hyper-
bole. As a frontline participant, I’ve watched the drug war evolve from
where, in 1973, DEA agents who raided a premises in Collinsville,
Indiana, in honest error were prosecuted for that error in federal court,
to where the killing of innocent Americans in their own homes is now
not only condoned under the drug war banner, but actively covered up
by drug war generals with the acquiescence of media shills.

Here’s an example. Donald Carlson, a Fortune 500 executive in San
Diego who couldn’t distinguish cocaine from garden mulch, was
gunned down in his own home in 1992 by a federal-state, multiagency
Drug Enforcement Task Force SWAT team that had conducted a mili-
tary-style invasion using machine guns and grenades. They were acting
on allegations made by a criminal informant who claimed that Mr.
Carlson was concealing in his house five thousand pounds of cocaine
and four Colombian hit men who had sworn never to be taken alive.

The very gringo Mr. Carlson, despite the drug agents’ best efforts
to stop his clock, miraculously survived three gunshot wounds. He
decided to sue the government. I was hired by his attorneys to
examine the government’s reports related to the investigation and to
provide an expert opinion—a job I had been trained to do as a DEA
inspector of operations. After reviewing more than five thousand
pages of government reports, transcripts of interviews, and state-
ments, I came to the conclusion that the government agents had based
their probable cause for the search warrant on the uncorroborated
words of a street-level criminal informant whom the telephone com-
pany did not trust enough to furnish with a telephone. I concluded,
citing specific examples from the government’s own reports and
statements, that the agents and prosecutors were not only criminally
negligent, but that they had knowingly violated all of Mr. Carlson’s
constitutional rights against unlawful search of his home. Then they’d
compounded this crime by perjuring themselves in an effort to cover
up their misdeeds. My recommendation was, as it would have been
had I been doing the job for the Justice Department, that the evidence
be put before a federal grand jury with an eye toward a federal indict-
ment of the agents and prosecutors.

Instead of giving U.S. citizens, in the form of a grand jury, the
opportunity to review what had actually happened and to make their
own decision as to whether the agents and prosecutors deserved to be
prosecuted themselves, the United States Attorney, Alan Bersin (a
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Clinton appointee), called a press conference for the drug war shills.23
He proclaimed that “the system did fail” but [that] the agents [and
prosecutors] had done their job.” This proclamation was the “news”
that was broadcast as far and wide as mainstream media could reach.

System failed? What the hell does that mean? Only drug war shills
would accept a statement like this at face value, not real journalists.

The bottom line of the whole adventure came soon after I turned
in my report. The government settled for $2.7 million in damages to
Mr. Carlson, and all government reports were classified.

Classified? How in the hell can these agencies get away with clas-
sifying events leading up to the shooting of an American citizen in his
own home? | kept waiting for some Woodward or Bernstein to ask the
question. It never happened. The media shills did their customary
penguin walk, one following the other off the end of a rock, their
gazes rigidly pointed away from the truth.

Once again I tried to tell the story through any mainstream media
outlet that would listen. The television news program 60 Minutes,
which in my opinion is one of the few remaining hopes in mainstream
media, was the only entity interested. The Carlson debacle was run as
part of a special called “Informants” during the summer of 1993.
Unfortunately, the cover-up was omitted.

Here again, I relearned the lesson that, as much of a media pow-
erhouse as 60 Minutes is, a single story does not a change in govern-
ment policy make. As devastating as the “Informant” piece should
have been to drug-war monte, it was only another drop against the
mighty torrent of mainstream media shilling.

The big question that the Fourth Estate should have been asking
was, If our drug warriors and prosecutors could get away with acting
so criminally in the case of a Fortune 500 executive, what can the
average citizen expect?

Ezekiel Hernandez is the answer. In 1997, the eighteen-year-old
high school graduate was gunned down by a marine sniper on
“antidrug” patrol while herding his family’s goats in his own back-
yard. The young man probably never knew what hit him since the
shot was fired from a distance of more than 250 yards. I couldn’t help
wondering if they were trying out a new weapon. No one in young
Hernandez’s McAllen, Texas, community was aware that those odd-
moving bushes out on the range nearby were marine snipers in cam-
ouflage outfits assigned to patrol the Texas-Mexico border —in direct
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violation of the Posse Comitatus Act, which prohibits the direct par-
ticipation of the military in civilian law enforcement.

As a radio journalist who also happens to be a court-qualified
expert in the use of deadly force, I began my own investigation of the
case, which, in my opinion, was at best a clear-cut case of negligent
homicide and/or manslaughter. At worst, it was an execution.

While mainstream media shilled the death of young Ezekiel as an
unfortunate but justifiable error, I tried to get a government
spokesman to come on my show and explain the government’s posi-
tion on the young man’s murder. No one was willing. I watched the
media—television, newspapers, and magazines —closely. No govern-
ment spokesman would field questions on the matter. Only self-
serving, vague, and misleading statements were released. Why
should the drug war generals explain the murder of an American cit-
izen that occurred during an alleged antidrug action, as long as main-
stream media willingly shilled for them?

In this case, like the Carlson case, no government officialadmitted any
wrongdoing. The settlement with the Hernandez family was $1.7 mil-
lion —significantly less than the very white and still living Mr. Carlson’s
$2.7 million—but then again, why should that fact interest a shill?24

DRUG-WAR MONTE BILLIONS PAID
DIRECTLY TO THE SHILLS

A new level of the drug-war monte con game began when President
Clinton and Republican House Majority Leader Newt Gingrich raised
each other’s hands in victory to announce a new billion-dollar, “Say-
No-To-Drugs” style ad campaign. The money would be paid directly
into the coffers of every Hollywood and mainstream media entity on
Wall Street’s big board for ads, shows, and articles exhorting Ameri-
cans to “just say no.” The first $60 million would go to Disney Stu-
dios. All the full-page “antidrug” ads you see in the New York Times
(for instance) are paid for from this taxpayer-funded pot.

I received a tip from an inside person in the upper ranks of gov-
ernment who finds me cheaper than a psychiatrist to talk to and a lot
more reliable than anyone in mainstream media. “Fraud,” this person
said, referring to the legitimacy of the “Say No to Drugs Campaign,”
“Go get “em, Mike.” So I flew into expert witness investigative action.
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I mean, get real! Do you think some mainstream media journalist is
going to investigate the source of his/her company’s millions? Partic-
ularly at a time when advertising income is on the decline?

My investigation, buttressed by research that I had done for my
book Fight Back, revealed that neither the Partnership for a Drug Free
America, nor anyone else for that matter, had done any research into
the effectiveness of this kind of advertising. In fact, according to psy-
chological studies conducted by neuro-linguistic experts, a growing
body of evidence indicated that the ads weren’t just ineffective, they
actually increased drug use. The creators of the “just say no” ads used
the same slick, highly suggestive Madison Avenue advertising
methods normally used to produce powerful ads that sell products.
The antidrug ads had an unanticipated effect on teenagers, their
target audience. Steven Donziger, policy director for the Partnership
for Responsible Drug information, said that the ads unintentionally
encouraged experimentation: “Research shows that the target audi-
ence are in a period in their lives where they’re open to experimenta-
tion and rebellious behavior,” he said, adding, “The ads do not speak
honestly to adolescents. Many have already experimented. They
know when they see ads that demonize the use of illicit drugs . . . that
they’re not being honest.” (NewsBriefs, July/ August 1998, a publica-
tion of the National Drug Strategy Network from 1989 to 2000.)

A lone article in Brand Week (April 27, 1998), the highly respected
Madison Avenue trade magazine, pointed out that the full amount of
taxpayer dollars that the Partnership for a Drug Free America was
about to give away was $2 billion, making them the biggest adver-
tisers on Madison Avenue. It called the giveaway “very suspect.” My
own DEA source pointed out that the $2 billion would have been
enough to buy up every coca leaf produced in South America that
year. It could have replaced all law enforcement and military opera-
tions in effectiveness.

If you put three-card monte dealers and shills in the can for rip-
ping off hundreds of dollars from innocent suckers, what do you
think these guys deserve?
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CIA DRUG SMUGGLING -
THE VENEZUELAN NATIONAL GUARD CASE

What would be the appropriate action of a truly independent main-
stream media if, say, the Central Intelligence Agency was caught red-
handed actually smuggling as much cocaine into the U.S. as the
Medellin cartel, in direct violation of federal law and with no political
excuse?

Well, precisely that did happen. Sometime in 1990, U.S. Customs
intercepted a ton of cocaine being smuggled through Miami Interna-
tional Airport. A Customs and DEA investigation quickly revealed
that the smugglers were the Venezuelan National Guard headed by
General Guillen, a CIA “asset” who claimed that he had been oper-
ating under CIA orders and protection. The CIA soon admitted, albeit
very reluctantly, that this was true. Once again, as in the Noriega case,
it seemed that the gang that can’t spy straight had failed to notify the
DEA and Customs of what they were up to. That would turn out not
to be the case.

If the CIA is good at anything, it is the complete control of Amer-
ican media. So secure are they in their ability to manipulate media
that they even brag about it in their own in-house memos.2> CIA shills
by far outnumber and outclass the drug-war monte variety, but in this
case both con games—CIA-monte and drug-war monte—were at
grave risk. The CIA Public Information Office, referred to by CIA
insiders as “The Mighty Wurlitzer,” flew into action. Result: The story
appeared nowhere in the media for the next three years.

Example: the New York Times actually had the story almost imme-
diately in 1990 and did not print it until 1993. It finally became news
that “was fit to print” when the Times learned that 60 Minutes also had
the story and was actually going to run it.26 The Times ran the story on
Saturday, one day before the 60 Minutes piece aired. There were, how-
ever, serious differences between the Times report and the claims aired
by 60 Minutes.

The Times piece said:

No criminal charges have been brought in the matter, which the offi-
cials said appeared to have been a serious accident rather than an inten-
tional conspiracy [emphasis mine]. But officials say the cocaine
wound up being sold on the streets in the United States.
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The highlight of the 60 Minutes piece is when the administrator of the
Drug Enforcement Administration, Federal Judge Robert Bonner, tells
Mike Wallace, “There is no other way to put it, Mike, [what the CIA
did] is drug smuggling. It's illegal [emphasis mine].”

Judge Bonner further revealed that his assertion came as a result
of a secret joint investigation conducted by the DEA and CIA’s
internal affairs divisions. As if that weren’t enough, Anabella Grimm,
the DEA’s agent and country attaché in Venezuela when the incident
occurred, was interviewed on camera. She, too, said that the CIA had
simply smuggled drugs in violation of lots of U.S. laws.

You don’t have to be a police detective to note that there are
serious differences in the two reports, or to suspect media shilling in
the first degree. The expert witness once again flew into action. I did
what I thought a real journalist should do: investigate the story.

Accompanied by my life partner, wife, and cowriter, Laura
Kavanau, I flew out to the coast to meet with Annabelle Grimm, an
ex-colleague whose work and forthrightness I had always admired.
After speaking with Annabelle, we talked to another DEA officer who
was directly involved in the incident.

The sum total of my investigation was that the CIA had not only
been smuggling a lot more cocaine —around twenty-seven tons — than
the one ton they were caught with, but that the DEA had warned
them not to do it, telling them that they were proposing an “intelli-
gence gathering operation” that was not just a wacky idea, but a
felony violation of U.S. law punishable by up to life in prison.

The identities of at least two of the CIA personnel who had chosen
to ignore the DEA’s warning and had gone ahead with the massive
smuggling operation had been turned over to the DEA for indictment.
But instead of focusing on these criminals, the investigation turned on
Annabelle Grimm and others.

As I investigated the incident, I noticed that James Woolsey, the
head of the CIA at the time, was appearing on every mainstream
media television and radio “news” show that would have him
(including National Public Radio), to broadcast the claim that no
criminal act had taken place and that the event had all been a “snafu
... ajoint investigation between CIA and DEA that had gone awry.”

Woolsey’s statement directly contradicted that of Federal Judge
Bonner. The overwhelming evidence, my DEA sources assured me,
showed that Woolsey, an attorney, was lying and that mainstream
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media was shilling for him. Any real journalist could have done what
I was doing, but none — other than 60 Minutes —dared. Was there ever
a news story more important than one that should have read some-
thing like “CIA Betrays Nation—Caught Red-Handed Smuggling
More Drugs on U.S. Streets Than the Medellin Cartel,” or “Drug War
a $Trillion Fraud?”

The facts behind the case seem to be proof positive that the whole
War on Drugs has been the longest-running, deadliest con game in the
history of American misgovernment. In the Venezuelan National
Guard case, there were top-level, credentialed government spokes-
people ready to speak openly, ready to tell a devastating truth about
the worst kind of treason possible being committed by the CIA
against its own people. Yet no mainstream media entity, other than 60
Minutes, deemed this news fit to pursue with the same in-depth zeal
devoted to investigating the shape of President Clinton’s penis.

Censorship by omission? Drug-war monte shilling? I would
say so.

Unfortunately for America, my Expert Witness Show was among
the very few places that this important truth could be heard. I should
mention that when I called the Miami U.S. Attorney’s office in charge
of prosecuting General Guillen and others, I was told that “national
security” interests prevented them from providing me with a case
status, or any statement whatsoever for that matter.2”

A fitting postscript for this event: I was recently made aware that
John Clements, the twenty-year-old addict “gofer” featured in the
Bangkok heroin investigation referred to at the beginning of this
chapter, is about to be released from federal prison after having
served most of his thirty-five-year prison sentence. Young Mr.
Clements was convicted of “conspiracy” to traffic in heroin for dri-
ving a drug dealer to one single meeting to pick up drugs. Of course,
the rest of the story is that the media, while ignoring the massive flow
of heroin coming into the United States at the hands of CIA assets, had
shilled the case to the point where there was no way the kid was
going to get anything but the max. Unfortunately I was as guilty as
they were.

I can only hope this helps make up for it.
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BLACK TUESDAY: THE SHILLING CONTINUES

The events of September 11, 2001, occurred after I had completed this
chapter, making this added section necessary. If what I wrote before
has made you see that mainstream media has spent the last three
decades shilling the American taxpayer into believing in the efficacy
of the War on Drugs when this so-called war is every bit as fraudulent
as a game of three-card monte, then here’s what you should be asking
yourself about what happened on September 11: Did mainstream
media also shill for an inept and bumbling FBI and CIA in a campaign
to convince Americans that our homeland defense was in the most
capable hands possible when, in fact, the Boy Scouts of America
might have done a better job? And, did this shilling play a role in
making us vulnerable to the events of Black Tuesday?

Hard to believe, right? Well, the fact is—and you can read it for
yourself in federal court records—that seven months before the first
attempt to blow up the World Trade Center in 1993, the FBI had a paid
informant named Emad Salem who had infiltrated the bombers and
had told the FBI of their plans to blow up the twin towers. Without
notifying the NYPD or anyone else, an FBI supervisor “fired” Salem,
who was making $500 a week for his work. After the bomb went off,
the FBI hired Salem back and paid him $1.5 million to help them track
down the bombers.

But that’s not all the FBI missed. When they finally did catch the
actual bomber, Ramzi Yousef (a man trained with CIA funds during
the Russia-Afghanistan war), the FBI found information on his per-
sonal computer about plans to use hijacked American jetliners as fuel-
laden missiles. The FBI ignored this information too.

If at this point you are scratching your head and asking yourself
why you haven’t heard this story, you can thank mainstream media
“coverage” which, for the most part, gave the FBI credit for solving
the World Trade Center bombing case. The mainstream media then
went on to credit the FBI with solving the Unabomber case when in
fact the madman was caught when his own brother turned him in.

Had the media done a professional job of investigating and
reporting the CIA and FBI's amateurish failures, perhaps our elected
protectors would have been moved to begin working feverishly on
revamping a human intelligence system that appears to be competing
with the Three Stooges for our enemies’ respect.



Many of the anecdotes and incidents that I've written about in
this chapter were taken from events detailed in my nonfiction best-
seller, Dcep Cover, which is subtitled, The Inside Story of How...
Infighting, Incompetence, and Subterfuge Lost Us the Biggest Battle of the
Drug War. If you go back to the beginning of this chapter and substi-
tute “World Trade Center” for “Drug War,” perhaps you’ll come to
realize how very dangerous a shill game is being run on us right now.
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THE MIGHTY WURLITZER
PLAYS ON
Gary Webb

Webb was an investigative reporter for nineteen years,
focusing on government and private-sector corruption and
winning more than thirty journalism awards. He was one of
six reporters at the San Jose Mercury News to win a 1990
Pulitzer Prize for general news reporting for a series of stories
on northern California’s 1989 earthquake. He also received the
1997 Media Hero Award from the 2nd Annual Media &
Democracy Congress, and in 1996 was named Journalist of
the Year by the Bay Area Society of Professional Journalists.
In 1994, Webb won the H. L. Mencken Award given by the
Free Press Association for a series in the San Jose Mercury
News on abuses in the state of California’s drug asset forfei-
ture program. And in 1980, Webb won an Investigative
Reporters and Editors (IRE) Award for a series that he coau-
thored at the Kentucky Post on organized crime in the coal
industry. Prior to 1988, Webb worked as a statehouse correspondent for the Cleveland Plain
Dealer and was a reporter for the San Jose Mercury News where the Dark Alliance series
broke in 1996. Months later, Webb was effectively forced out of his job after the San Jose Mer-
cury News retracted their support for his story. He is now a consultant to the California State
Legislature’s Joint Audit Committee.

f we had met five years ago, you wouldn’t have found a more

staunch defender of the newspaper industry than me. I'd been
working at daily papers for seventeen years at that point, doing no-
holds-barred investigative reporting for the bulk of that time. As far
as I could tell, the beneficial powers the press theoretically exercised
in our society weren’t theoretical in the least. They worked.

I wrote stories that accused people and institutions of illegal and
unethical activities. The papers I worked for printed them, often
unflinchingly, and many times gleefully. After these stories
appeared, matters would improve. Crooked politicians got voted
from office or were forcibly removed. Corrupt firms were exposed
and fined. Sweetheart deals were rescinded, grand juries were

295
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empanelled, indictments came down, grafters were bundled off to the
big house. Taxpayers saved money. The public interest was served.

It all happened exactly as my journalism-school professors had
promised. And my expectations were pretty high. I went to jour-
nalism school while Watergate was unfolding, a time when people as
distantly connected to newspapering as college professors were
puffing out their chests and singing hymns to investigative reporting.

Bottom line: If there was ever a true believer, I was one. My first
editor mockingly called me “Woodstein,” after the pair of Washington
Post reporters who broke the Watergate story. More than once I was
accused of neglecting my daily reporting duties because I was off “run-
ning around with your trench coat flapping in the breeze.” But in the
end, all the sub rosa trench coat-flapping paid off. The newspaper pub-
lished a seventeen-part series on organized crime in the American coal
industry and won its first national journalism award in half a century.
From then on, my editors at that and subsequent newspapers allowed
me to work almost exclusively as an investigative reporter.

I had a grand total of one story spiked during my entire reporting
career. That’s it. One. (And in retrospect it wasn’t a very important
story either.) Moreover, I had complete freedom to pick my own shots,
a freedom my editors wholeheartedly encouraged since it relieved
them of the burden of coming up with story ideas. I wrote my stories
the way I wanted to write them, without anyone looking over my
shoulder or steering me in a certain direction. After the lawyers and
editors went over them and satisfied themselves that we had enough
facts behind us to stay out of trouble, they printed them, usually on the
front page of the Sunday edition, when we had our widest readership.

In seventeen years of doing this, nothing bad had happened to
me. | was never fired or threatened with dismissal if I kept looking
under rocks. [ didn’t get any death threats that worried me. I was win-
ning awards, getting raises, lecturing college classes, appearing on TV
shows, and judging journalism contests. So how could I possibly
agree with people like Noam Chomsky and Ben Bagdikian, who were
claiming the system didn’t work, that it was steered by powerful spe-
cial interests and corporations, and existed to protect the power elite?
Hell, the system worked just fine, as far as I could tell. It encouraged
enterprise. It rewarded muckraking.

And then I wrote some stories that made me realize how sadly
misplaced my bliss had been. The reason I'd enjoyed such smooth
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sailing for so long hadn’t been, as I'd assumed, because I was careful
and diligent and good at my job. It turned out to have nothing to do
with it. The truth was that, in all those years, | hadn’t written anything
important enough suppress.

In 1996, 1 wrote a series of stories, entitled Dark Alliance, that
began this way:

For the better part of a decade, a Bay Area drug ring sold tons of
cocaine to the Crips and Bloods street gangs of Los Angeles and fun-
neled millions in drug profits to a Latin American guerilla army run
by the U.S. Central Intelligence Agency, a Mercury News investiga-
tion has found.

This drug network opened the first pipeline between
Colombia’s cocaine cartels and the black neighborhoods of Los
Angeles, a city now known as the “crack” capital of the world. The
cocaine that flooded in helped spark a crack explosion in urban
America—and provided the cash and connections needed for L.A.’s
gangs to buy automatic weapons.

It is one of the most bizarre alliances in modern history: the
union of a US.-backed army attempting to overthrow a revolu-
tionary socialist government and the Uzi-toting “gangstas” of
Compton and South Central Los Angeles.

The three-day series was, at its heart, a short historical account of
the rise and fall of a drug ring and its impact on black Los Angeles. It
attempted to explain how shadowy intelligence agencies, shady
drugs and arms dealers, a political scandal, and a long-simmering
Latin American civil war had crossed paths in South Central Los
Angeles, leaving behind a legacy of crack use. Most important, it chal-
lenged the widely held belief that crack use began in African Amer-
ican neighborhoods not for any tangible reason, but mainly because
of the kind of people who lived in them. Nobody was forcing them to
smoke crack, the argument went, so they only have themselves to
blame. They should just say no.

That argument never seemed to make much sense to me because
drugs don’t just appear magically on street corners in black neigh-
borhoods. Even the most rabid hustler in the ghetto can’t sell what he
doesn’t have. If anyone was responsible for the drug problems in a
specific area, I thought, it was the people who were bringing the
drugs in.
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And so Dark Alliance was about them—the three cocaine traf-
fickers who supplied the South Central market with literally tons of
pure cocaine from the early 1980s to the early 1990s. What made the
series so controversial is that two of the traffickers I named were inti-
mately involved with a Nicaraguan paramilitary group known as the
Contras, a collection of ex-military men, Cuban exiles, and merce-
naries that the CIA was using to destabilize the socialist government
of Nicaragua. The series documented direct contact between the drug
traffickers who were bringing the cocaine into South Central and the
two Nicaraguan CIA agents who were administering the Contra pro-
ject in Central America. The evidence included sworn testimony from
one of the traffickers—now a valued government informant— that
one CIA agent specifically instructed them to raise money for the
Contras in California. I found a photograph of one of the CIA agents
huddled in the kitchen of a house in San Francisco with one of the
traffickers and had interviewed the photographer, who confirmed its
authenticity. Pretty convincing stuff, we thought.

Over the course of three days, Dark Alliance advanced five main
arguments: First, that the CIA-created Contras had been selling cocaine
to finance their activities. This was something the CIA and the major
media had dismissed or denied since the mid-1980s, when a few
reporters first began writing about Contra drug dealing. Second, that
the Contras had sold cocaine in the ghettos of Los Angeles and that
their main customer was L.A.'s biggest crack dealer. Third, that ele-
ments of the U.S. government knew about this drug ring’s activities at
the time and did little if anything to stop it. Fourth, that because of the
time period and the areas in which it operated, this drug ring played a
critical role in fueling and supplying the first mass crack cocaine market
in the United States. And fifth, that the profits earned from this crack
market allowed the Los Angeles-based Crips and Bloods to expand into
other cities and spread crack use to other black urban areas, turning a
bad local problem into a bad national problem. This led to panicky fed-
eral drug laws that were locking up thousands of small-time, black
crack dealers for years but never denting the crack trade.

It wasn’t so much a conspiracy that I had outlined as it was a
chain-reaction —bad ideas compounded by stupid political decisions
and rotten historical timing.

Obviously this wasn’t the kind of story that a reporter digs up in
an afternoon. A Nicaraguan journalist and I had been working on it
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exclusively for more than a year before it was published. And despite
the topic of the story, it had been tedious work. Spanish-language
undercover tapes, court records, and newspaper articles were labori-
ously translated. Interviews had to be arranged in foreign prisons.
Documents had to be pried from unwilling federal agencies, or spe-
cially declassified by the National Archives. Ex-drug dealers and ex-
cops had to be tracked down and persuaded to talk on the record.
Chronologies were pieced together from heavily censored govern-
ment documents and old newspaper stories found scattered in
archives from Managua to Miami.

In December 1995, I wrote a lengthy memo to my editors,
advising them of what my Nicaraguan colleague and I had found,
what I thought the stories would say, and what still needed to be done
to wrap them up. It was also to help my editor explain our findings to
her bosses, who had not yet signed off on the story, and most of whom
had no idea I'd been working on it.

Two months ago, in an unheard-of response to a Congressional vote,
black prison inmates across the country staged simultaneous revolts
to protest Congress’ refusal to make sentences for crack cocaine the
same as for powder cocaine. Both before and after the prison riots,
some black leaders were openly suggesting that crack was part of a
broad government conspiracy that has imprisoned or killed an entire
generation of young black men.

Imagine if they were right. What if the US government was, in
fact, involved in dumping cocaine into California —selling it to black
gangs in South Central Los Angeles, for instance —sparking the most
destructive drug epidemic in American history?

That’s what this series is about.

With the help of recently declassified documents, FBI reports,
DEA undercover tapes, secret grand jury transcripts and archival
records from both here and abroad, as well as interviews with some of
the key participants, we will show how a CIA-linked drug and stolen
car network—based in, of all places, the Peninsula—provided
weapons and tons of high-grade, dirt cheap cocaine to the very person
who spread crack through LA and from there into the hinterlands.

A bizarre — almost fatherly — bond between an elusive CIA oper-
ative and an illiterate but brilliant car thief from LA’s ghettos
touched off a social phenomenon—crack and gang-power—that
changed our lives in ways that are still to be felt. The day these two
men met was literally ground zero for California’s crack explosion,
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and the myriad of calamities that have flowed from it (AIDS, home-
lessness, etc.).

This is also the story of how an ill-planned and oftentimes irra-
tional foreign policy adventure—the CIA’s “secret” war in
Nicaragua from 1980 to 1986 —boomeranged back to the streets of
America, in the long run doing far more damage to us than to our
supposed “enemies” in Central America.

For, as this series will show, the dumping of cocaine on LA's
street gangs was the “back-end” of a covert effort to arm and equip
the CIA’s ragtag army of anti-Communist “Contra” guerrillas. While
there has long been solid —if largely ignored —evidence of a CIA-
Contra-cocaine connection, no one has ever asked the question:
“Where did all the cocaine go once it got here?”

Now we know.

Moreover, we have compelling evidence that the kingpins of
this Bay Area cocaine ring—men closely connected to the assassi-
nated Nicaraguan dictator Anastasio Somoza and his murderous
National Guard —enjoyed a unique relationship with the U.S. gov-
ernment that has continued to this day.

In a meeting to discuss the memo, I recounted for my editors the
sorry history of how the Contra-cocaine story had been ridiculed and
marginalized by the Washington press corps in the 1980s, and that we
could expect similar reactions to this series. If they didn’t want to
pursue this, now was the time to pull back, before I flew down to Cen-
tral America and started poking around finding drug dealers to inter-
view. But if we did, we needed to go full-bore on it, and devote the
time and space to tell it right. My editors agreed. My story memo
made the rounds of the other editors’ offices and, as far as I know, no
one objected. I was sent to Nicaragua to do additional reporting, and
the design team at Mercury Center—the newspaper’s online edi-
tion —began mapping out a Web page.

At the end of my memo, I'd suggested to my editors that we use
the Internet to help us demonstrate the story’s soundness and credi-
bility which, based on past stories critical of the CIA, was sure to
come under attack by both the government and the press.

I have proposed to Bob Ryan [director of Mercury Center] that we do
a special Merc Center/World Wide Web version of this series. The
technology is extant to allow readers to download the series’ sup-
porting documentation through links to the actual text. For example,



when we are quoting grand jury testimony, a click of the mouse
would allow the reader to see and/or download the actual grand
jury transcript.

Since this whole subject has such a high unbelievability factor
built into it, providing our backup documentation to our readers—
and the rest of the world over the Internet—would allow them to
judge the evidence for themselves. It will also make it all the more
difficult to dismiss our findings as the fantasies of a few drug dealers.

To my knowledge, this has never been attempted before. It
would be a great way to showcase Merc Center and, at the same
time, use computer technology to set new standards for investiga-
tive reporting.

The editors jumped at the idea. From our perch as the newspaper
of Silicon Valley, we could see the future the World Wide Web offered.
Newspapers were scrambling to figure out a way to make the transition
to cyberspace. The Mercury’s editors were among the first to do it right,
and were looking for new barriers to break. A special Internet version
of Dark Alliance was created as a high-profile way of advertising the
Mercury’'s Web presence and bringing visitors into the site. Plus, the
newspaper could boast (and later did) that it had published the first
interactive online exposé in the history of American journalism.

I remember being almost giddy as I sat with Merc Center’s editors
and graphics designers, picking through the pile of once-classified
information we were going to unleash on the world. We had photos,
undercover tape recordings, and federal grand jury testimony. In
addition, we had interviews with guerrilla leaders, tape-recorded
courtroom testimony, confidential FBI and DEA reports, Nicaraguan
Supreme Court files, Congressional records, and long-secret docu-
ments unearthed during the Iran-Contra investigation. For the first
time, any reader with a computer and a sound card could see what
we’d found —could actually read it for themselves—and listen in
while the story’s participants plotted, schemed, and confessed. And
they could do it from anywhere in the world, even if they had no idea
where San José, California, was.

After four months of writing, rewriting, editing, and reediting,
my editors pronounced themselves satisfied and signed off. The first
installment of Dark Alliance appeared simultaneously on the streets
and on the Web on August 18, 1996.

The initial public reaction was dead silence. No one jumped up to
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deny any of it. Nor did the news media rush to share our discoveries
with others. The stories just sat there, as if no one seemed to know
what to make of them.

Admittedly, Dark Alliance was an unusual story to have appeared
in a mainstream daily newspaper, not just for what it said, but for
what it was. It wasn’t a news story per se; nearly everything I wrote
about had happened a dozen years earlier. Because my editors and I
had sometimes vehemently disagreed about the scope and nature of
the stories during the writing and editing process, the result was a
series of compromises, an odd mixture of history lesson, news feature,
analysis, and exposé. It was not an uplifting story; it was a sickening
one. The bad guys had triumphed and fled the scene unscathed, as
often happens in life. And there was very little anyone could do about
it now, ten years after the fact.

So, I wasn’t really surprised that my journalistic colleagues
weren’t pounding down the follow-up trail. Hell, I thought it was a
strange story myself.

Had it been published even a year or two earlier, it likely would
have vanished withouta trace at that point. Customarily, if the rest of the
nation’s editors decide to ignore a particular story, it quickly withers and
dies, like a light-starved plant. With the exception of newspapers in
Seattle, some small cities in Northern California, and Albuquerque, Dark
Alliance got the silent treatment big time. No one would touch it.

But no one had counted on the enormous popularity of the Web
site. Almost from the moment the series appeared, the Web page was
deluged with visitors from all over the world. Students in Denmark
were standing in line at their college’s computer waiting to read it.
E-mails came in from Croatia, Japan, Colombia, Harlem, and Kansas
City, dozens of them, day after day. One day we had more than 1.3
million hits. (The site eventually won several awards from computer
journalism magazines.)

Once Dark Alliance became the talk of the Internet (in large part
because of the technical wizardry and sharp graphics of the Web
page), talk radio adopted the story and ran with it. For the next two
months, I did more than one hundred radio interviews, in which I
was asked to sum up what the three-day long series said in its many
thousands of words. Well, I would reply, it said a lot of things. Take
your pick. Usually, the questions focused on the CIA’s role, and
whether I was suggesting a giant CIA conspiracy. We didn’t know the
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CIA's exact role yet, I would say, but we have documents and court
testimony showing CIA agents were meeting with these drug traf-
fickers to discuss drug sales and weapons trafficking. And so, figure
it out. Did the CIA know or not? The response would come back —So,
you're saying that the CIA “targeted” black neighborhoods for crack
sales? Where’s your evidence of that? And it would go on and on.

There were other distractions as well. Film agents and book
agents began calling. One afternoon Paramount Studios whisked me
down to have lunch with two of the studio’s biggest producers, the
men who brought Tom Clancy’s CIA novels to the screen, to talk
about “film possibilities” for the still-unfolding story. This was about
the time I realized the wind speed of the shit storm I had kicked up.

The rumbles the series was causing from black communities was
unnerving a lot of people. College students were holding protest ral-
lies in Washington, D.C., to demand an official investigation. Resi-
dents of South Central marched on city hall and held candlelight
vigils. The Los Angeles City Council soon joined the chorus, as did
both of California’s U.S. senators, the Oakland city council, the mayor
of Denver, the Congressional Black Caucus, Jesse Jackson, the
NAACEP, and at least a half dozen congressional members, mostly
African American women whose districts included crack-ridden
inner cities. Black civil rights activists were arrested outside the CIA
after sealing off the agency’s entrance with yellow crime scene tape.
The story was developing a political momentum all of its own, and it
was happening despite a virtual news blackout from the major media.

Some Washington journalists were alarmed. “Where is the
rebuttal? Why hasn’t the media risen in revolt against this story?”
fretted former newsman and government flack Bernard Kalb, host of
CNN's Reliable Sources. Kalb expressed frustration that the story was
continuing to get out despite the best efforts of the press to ignore it.
“It isn’t a story that simply got lost,” Kalb complained, during the
show, “It, in fact, has resonated and echoed and the question is,
Where is the media knocking it down?”

It was an interesting comment because it foretold the way the
mainstream press finally did respond to Dark Alliance. A revolt by the
biggest newspapers in the country, something columnist Alexander
Cockburn would later describe in his book White Out as “one of the
most venomous and factually inane assaults . . . in living memory.”

I remember arguing with a producer at a CNN news show shortly
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before I was to go on the air that I didn’t want him asking me to
explain “my allegations” because these stories weren’t my allegations.
I was a journalist reporting events that had actually occurred. You
could document them, and we had.

“Well, you gotta understand my position,” he mumbled. “The
CIA isn’t admitting it. So we're going to call it an allegation. You can
understand that, right?”

“Are you telling me that until the day the CIA confesses to drug
trafficking, CNN’s position is that these events may not have hap-
pened?” I snapped. “What the fuck is that? When did we give the CIA
the power to define reality?”

After nearly a month of silence, the CIA responded. It admitted
nothing. It was confident that its agents weren’t dealing drugs. But to
dispel all the rumors and unkind suggestions my series had raised, the
agency would have its inspector general take a look into the matter.

The black community greeted this pronouncement with uncon-
cealed contempt. “You think you can come down here and tell us that
you're going to investigate yourselves, and expect us to believe some-
thing is actually gonna happen?” one woman yelled at CIA director
John Deutch, who appeared in Compton, California, in November
1996 to personally promise the city a thorough investigation. “How
stupid do you think we are?”

The conservative press and right-wing political organizations
were equally hostile to the idea of a CIA-crack investigation, but for
different reasons. It meant the story was gaining legitimacy, and
might lead to places that supporters of the Reagan and Bush admin-
istrations would rather not see it go. John Deutch was blasted on the
front page of the Washington Times (which had also helped finance the
Contras, hosting fundraisers and speaking engagements for Contra
leaders while supporting their cause editorially) as a dangerous lib-
eral who was undermining morale at the CIA by even suggesting
there might be truth to the stories.

Ultimately, it was public pressure that forced the national news-
papers into the fray. Protests were held outside the Los Angeles Times
building by media watchdogs and citizens groups, who wondered
how the Times could continue to ignore a story that had such an
impact on the city’s black neighborhoods. In Washington, black media
outlets were ridiculing the Post for its silence, considering the impor-
tance the story held for most of Washington'’s citizens.
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When the newspapers of record spoke, they spoke in unison.
Between October and November, the Washington Post, the New York
Times, and the Los Angeles Times published lengthy stories about the CIA
drug issue, but spent precious little time exploring the CIA’s activities.
Instead, my reporting and I became the focus of their scrutiny. After
looking into the issue for several weeks, the official conclusion reached
by all three papers: Much ado about nothing. No story here. Nothing
worth pursuing. The series was “flawed,” they contended. How?

Well, there was no evidence the CIA knew anything about it,
according to unnamed CIA officials the newspapers spoke to. The
drug traffickers we identified as Contras didn’t have “official” posi-
tions with the organization and didn’t really give them all that much
drug money. This was according to another CIA agent, Adolfo Calero,
the former head of the Contras, and the man whose picture we had
just published on the Internet, huddled in a kitchen with one of the
Contra drug traffickers. Calero’s apparent involvement with the drug
operation was never mentioned by any of the papers; his decades-
long relationship with the CIA was never mentioned either.

Additionally, it was argued, this quasi-Contra drug ring was
small potatoes. One of the Contra traffickers had only sold five tons
of cocaine during his entire career, the Washington Post sniffed, badly
misquoting a DEA report we’d posted on the Web site. According to
the Post’s analysis, written by a former CIA informant, Walter Pincus,
who was then covering the CIA for the Post, this drug ring couldn’t
have made a difference in the crack market because five tons wasn’t
nearly enough to go around. Eventually, those assertions would be
refuted by internal records released by both the CIA and the Justice
Department, but at the time they were classified.

“I'm disappointed in the ‘what’s the big deal’ tone running through
the Post’s critique,” Mercury News editor Jerry Ceppos complained to
the Post in a letter it refused to publish. “If the CIA knew about these
illegal activities being conducted by its associates, federal law and basic
morality required that it notify domestic authorities. It seems to me that
this is exactly the kind of story that a newspaper should shine a light
on.” Ceppos posted a memo on the newsroom bulletin board, stating
that the Mercury News would continue “to strongly support the conclu-
sions the series drew and will until someone proves them wrong.” It
was remarkable, Ceppos wrote, that the four Post reporters assigned to
debunk the series “could not find a single significant factual error.”



Privately, though, my editors were getting nervous. Never before
had the three biggest papers devoted such energy to kicking the hell
out of a story by another newspaper. It simply wasn’t done, and it
worried them. They began a series of maneuvers designed to deflect
or at least stem the criticism from the national media. Five thousand
reprints of the series were burned because the CIA logo was used as
an illustration. My follow-up stories were required to contain a boil-
erplate disclaimer that said we were not accusing the CIA of direct
knowledge, even though the facts strongly suggested CIA complicity.
But those stunts merely fueled the controversy, making it appear as if
we were backing away from the story without admitting it.

Ironically, the evidence we were continuing to gather was making
the story even stronger. Long-missing police records surfaced. Cops
who had tried to investigate the Contra drug ring and were rebuffed
came forward. We tracked down one of the Contras who personally
delivered drug money to CIA agents, and he identified them by name,
on the record. He also confirmed that the amounts he’d carried to
Miami and Costa Rica were in the millions. More records were declas-
sified from the Iran-Contra files, showing that contemporaneous
knowledge of this drug operation reached to the top levels of the
CIA’s covert operations division, as well as into the DEA and the FBIL.

But the attacks from the other newspapers had taken the wind out
of my editors’ sails. Despite the advances we were making on the
story, the criticism continued. We were being “irresponsible” by
printing stories suggesting CIA complicity without any admissions or
“a smoking gun.” The series was now described frequently as “dis-
credited,” even though nothing had surfaced showing that any of the
facts were incorrect. At my editor’s request, I wrote another series fol-
lowing up on the first three parts: a package of four stories to run over
two days. They never began to edit them.

Instead, I found myself involved in hours-long conversations
with editors that bordered on the surreal.

“How do we know for sure that these drug dealers were the first
big ring to start selling crack in South Central?” editor Jonathan Krim
pressed me during one such confab. “Isn’t it possible there might
have been others before them?”

“There might have been a lot of things, Jon, but we’re only sup-
posed to deal in what we know,” I replied. “The crack dealers I inter-
viewed said they were the first. Cops in South Central said they were
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the first, and that they controlled the entire market. They wrote it in
reports that we have. I haven’t found anything saying otherwise, not
one single name, and neither did the New York Times, the Washington
Post or the L.A. Times. So what's the issue here?”

“But how can we say for sure they were the first?” Krim persisted.
“Isn’t it possible there might have been someone else and they never
got caught and no one ever knew about them? In that case, your story
would be wrong.”

I had to take a deep breath to keep from shouting. “If you're
asking me whether I accounted for people who might never have
existed, the answer is no,” I said. “I only considered people with
names and faces. I didn’t take phantom drug dealers into account.”

A few months later, the Mercury News officially backed away from
Dark Alliance, publishing a long column by Jerry Ceppos apologizing
for “shortcomings” in the series. While insisting that the paper stood
behind its “core findings,” we didn’t have proof that top CIA officials
knew about this, and we didn’t have proof that millions of dollars
flowed from this drug ring, Ceppos declared, even though we did and
weren’t printing it. There were gray areas that should have been
fleshed out more. Some of the language used could have led to mis-
impressions. And we “oversimplified” the outbreak of crack in South
Central. The New York Times hailed Ceppos for setting a brave new
standard for dealing with “egregious errors” and splashed his
apology on their front page, the first time the series had ever been
mentioned there.

I quit the Mercury News not too long after that.

When the CIA and Justice Department finished their internal
investigations two years later, the classified documents that were
released showed just how badly I had fucked up. The CIA’s knowl-
edge and involvement had been far greater than I'd ever imagined.
The drug ring was even bigger than I had portrayed. The involvement
between the CIA agents running the Contras and the drug traffickers
was closer than I had written. And agents and officials of the DEA had
protected the traffickers from arrest, something I'd not been allowed
to print. The CIA also admitted having direct involvement with about
four dozen other drug traffickers or their companies, and that this too
had been known and effectively condoned by the CIA’s top brass.

In fact, at the start of the Contra war, the CIA and Justice Depart-
ment had worked out an unusual agreement that permitted the CIA not
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to have to report allegations of drug trafficking by its agents to the Jus-
tice Department. It was a curious loophole in the law, to say the least.

Despite those rather stunning admissions, the internal investiga-
tions were portrayed in the press as having uncovered no evidence of
formal CIA involvement in drug trafficking and no evidence of a con-
spiracy to send crack to black neighborhoods, which was hardly sur-
prising since I had never said there was. What I had written— that
individual CIA agents working within the Contras were deeply
involved with this drug ring— was either ignored or excised from the
CIA's final reports. For instance, the agency’s decade-long employ-
ment of two Contra commanders— Colonel Enrique Bermudez and
Adolfo Calero —was never mentioned in the declassified CIA reports,
leaving the false impression that they had no CIA connection. This
was a critical omission, since Bermudez and Calero were identified in
my series as the CIA agents who had been directly involved with the
Contra drug pipeline. Even though their relationship with the agency
was a matter of public record, none of the press reports I saw cele-
brating the CIA’s self-absolution bothered to address this gaping hole
in the official story. The CIA had investigated itself and cleared itself,
and the press was happy to let things stay that way. No independent
investigation was done.

The funny thing was, despite all the furor, the facts of the story
never changed, except to become more damning. But the perception
of them did, and in this case, that is really all that mattered. Once a
story became “discredited,” the rest of the media shied away from it.
Dark Alliance was consigned to the dustbin of history, viewed as an
Internet conspiracy theory that had been thoroughly disproved by
more responsible news organizations.

Why did it occur? Primarily because the series presented dan-
gerous ideas. It suggested that crimes of state had been committed. If
the story was true, it meant the federal government bore some respon-
sibility, however indirect, for the flood of crack that coursed through
black neighborhoods in the 1980s. And that is something no govern-
ment can ever admit to, particularly one that is busily promoting a
multibillion-dollar-a-year War on Drugs.

But what of the press? Why did our free and independent media
participate with the government’s disinformation campaign? It had
probably as many reasons as the CIA. The Contra-drug story was
something the top papers had dismissed as sheer fantasy only a few



years earlier. They had not only been wrong, they had been terribly
wrong, and their attitude had actively impeded efforts by citizens
groups, journalists, and congressional investigators to bring the issue
to national attention, at a time when its disclosure may have done
some good. Many of the same reporters who declined to write about
Contra drug trafficking in the 1980s — or wrote dismissively about it—
were trotted out once again to do damage control.

Second, the San Jose Mercury News was not a member of the club
that sets the national news agenda, the elite group of big newspapers
that decides the important issues of the day, such as which stories get
reported and which get ignored. Small regional newspapers aren’t
invited. But the Merc had broken the rules and used the Internet to get
in by the back door, leaving the big papers momentarily superfluous
and embarrassed, and it forced them to readdress an issue they’'d
much rather have forgotten. By turning on the Mercury News, the big
boys were reminding the rest of the flock who really runs the news-
paper business, Internet or no Internet, and the extents to which they
will go to protect that power, even if it meant rearranging reality to
suit them.

Finally, as I discovered while researching the book I eventually
wrote about this story, the national news organizations have had a
long, disappointing history of playing footsie with the CIA, printing
unsubstantiated agency leaks, giving agents journalistic cover, and
downplaying or attacking stories and ideas damaging to the agency. I
can only speculate as to why this occurs, but I am not naive enough
to believe it is mere coincidence.

The scary thing about this collusion between the press and the
powerful is that it works so well. In this case, the government’s
denials and promises to pursue the truth didn’t work. The public
didn’t accept them, for obvious reasons, and the clamor for an inde-
pendent investigation continued to grow. But after the government’s
supposed watchdogs weighed in, public opinion became divided and
confused, the movement to force congressional hearings lost steam
and, once enough people came to believe the stories were false or
exaggerated, the issue could safely be put back at the bottom of the
dead-story pile, hopefully never to rise again.

Do we have a free press today? Sure we do. It’s free to report all
the sex scandals it wants, all the stock market news we can handle,
every new health fad that comes down the pike, and every celebrity
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marriage or divorce that happens. But when it come to the real down
and dirty stuff—stories like Tailwind, the October Surprise, the El
Mozote massacre, corporate corruption, or CIA involvement in drug
trafficking — that’s where we begin to see the limits of our freedoms.
In today’s media environment, sadly, such stories are not even open
for discussion.

Back in 1938, when fascism was sweeping Europe, legendary
investigative reporter George Seldes observed (in his book, The Lords
of the Press) that “it is possible to fool all the people all the time —when
government and press cooperate.” Unfortunately, we have reached
that point.
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As we speak, so to speak, or read, the CIA is committing hun-
dreds of extremely serious crimes around the globe in our

name and at our expense with nothing to show for it. This is not
according to Sy Hersh —the investigative reporter who uncovered the
My Lai Massacre —or Amnesty International. This is according to the
CIA itself, as reported by the House Intelligence Committee. “The CS
(Clandestine Service of the CIA), is the only part of the IC (Intelli-
gence Community), indeed of the government, where hundreds of
employees on a daily basis are directed to break extremely serious
laws in countries around the world,” reads a committee staff study.
“A safe estimate is that several hundred times every day (easily
100,000 times a year), DO ( Directorate of Operations) officers engage
in highly illegal activities.”1

One would think the Cold War never ended.

The report was the first official admission and definition of CIA
covert operations as crimes which the committee, without explana-
tion, equated with essential national security operations. In other

311
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words, the national security of the United States requires that more
than one hundred thousand extremely serious crimes be committed
every year. The committee expressed no legal or ethical concerns
about these crimes. On the contrary, CIA offenders were portrayed as
potential, hapless victims of sinister foreign authorities opposed to
their lawbreaking. “A typical 28 year-old, GS-11 case officer,” reads
the study, “has numerous opportunities every week, by poor trade-
craft or inattention, to embarrass his country and President and get
agents imprisoned or executed.”?2

One would think that one hundred thousand extremely serious
crimes a year would be a major story no matter what the CIA’s ratio-
nale was. At the very least, pundits could have pondered and asked
in the press how these crimes serve U.S. national security, particularly
since the committee did not bother to do so. Nor did the committee
explain the impact the crimes might have on peaceful, diplomatic
relations or examine their moral and legal ramifications. In fact, the
committee indicated that it did not matter that laws were broken
because they were laws of other countries. To claim that our national
security requires one hundred thousand crimes a year is a rather stark
assertion and operating principle, particularly in a world that increas-
ingly believes the United States acts as if there is one law for America
and another for the rest of the world. Beyond that, it would seem that
these crimes might actually threaten U.S. national security by making
enemies. What nation is going to roll over, play dead, and accept that
breaking its laws is axiomatic with U.S. national security?

There was not a single word about any of this even in the alternative
press, which was particularly disturbing in light of the nature of the CIA
crimes. The report suggested that the CIA’s crimes include murder and
that “the targets of the CS [Clandestine Service] are increasingly inter-
national and transnational and a global presence is increasingly crucial
to attack those targets.”3 In other words, we are not simply talking about
stealing secrets. We are talking about the CIA committing crimes against
humanity with de facto impunity and congressional sanctioning.

Other government documents, including CIA reports, show that
the CIA’s crimes include terrorism, assassination, torture, and system-
atic violations of human rights. The documents also show that these
crimes are part and parcel of deliberate CIA policy (the staff report
notes that CIA personnel are “directed” to commit crimes). For
instance, an investigation by the president’s Intelligence Oversight
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Board (IOB) conducted in 1996 — the same year that the committee staff

report was completed —found that in Guatemala “several CIA assets

were credibly alleged to have ordered, planned, or participated in

serious human rights violations such as assassinations, extra-judicial

execution, torture, or kidnapping while they were assets —and that the

CIA was contemporaneously aware of many of the allegations.”4
Also according to the IOB,

Among the most serious examples of credible allegations against a
then-active CIA asset, were those involving an asset who was the
subject of allegations that in multiple instances he ordered and
planned assassinations of political opponents and extra-judicial
killings of criminals, as well as other less specific allegations of
unlawful activities. Although some of these allegations were from
sources of undetermined or suspect reliability, one was from a
source considered credible by the [CIA] station at the time. Another
asset was alleged to have planned or to have had prior knowledge
of multiple separate assassinations or assassination attempts before
and during his asset relationship. A third asset has been alleged to
have participated in assassination, extra-judicial killing, and kid-
napping during and before his time as an asset.5

CIA documents show that the CIA created, trained, and armed
death squads in Guatemala as part of its coup and destabilization of
the democratically elected government in 1954. These death squads
were run by Guatemala’s CIA-controlled security services. The IOB
reported that, “The human rights records of the Guatemalan security
services—the D-2 and the Department of Presidential Security
(known informally as “Archivos,” after one of its predecessor organi-
zations) —were generally known to have been reprehensible by all
who were familiar with Guatemala. U.S. policymakers knew of both
the CIA’s liaison with them and the services’ unsavory practices.”®
The IOB added that the CIA considered the security services their
“partner” and provided “vital” funding even after official U.S. aid
had been terminated because of systematic human rights violations.”
In other words, the CIA carried out its own foreign policy in contra-
vention of official U.S. policy. The IOB also wrote that the CIA had
spoken to the security services about human rights, ” but egregious
violations continued, and some of the station’s closest contacts in the
security services remained a part of the problem.”8



314 |NTO THE

According to the IOB, the CIA’s assassins and torturers imple-
mented CIA policy, and CIA officers were rewarded and promoted for
recruiting as many of these so-called informants as possible, regard-
less of their criminal records. Contrary to the committee’s claim, the
IOB found that specific U.S. laws pertaining to the CIA were violated.
In Honduras, the CIA’s own inspector general reported that paid CIA
assets at the highest level created and ran a death squad called Bat-
talion 316 which, according to the Honduran government, murdered
at least 184 people.? A secret CIA study found that versions of the
Guatemalan and Honduran scenarios were replicated throughout
Latin America and that more than one thousand informants known as
“unsavory characters” were employed around the world. CIA man-
agers themselves were said to have been “startled” by the large num-
bers of human rights abusers employed as informants.10

The House Intelligence Committee’s only concern regarding these
brutal CIA informants and other CIA offenders was that they might
be arrested and prosecuted. The committee did not advise the CIA to
cease or even limit its lawlessness. In fact, it said that if the CIA
stopped its criminal activities, “the taxpayer would be better off
without a CS [Clandestine Service].”11 It explained neither this asser-
tion nor how crimes protect national security. In response to the com-
mittee’s concern, the Senate Intelligence Committee proposed a bill
that would immunize CIA offenders who violate treaties and interna-
tional agreements while following orders. This is the Nazi rationale,
plain and simple. The bill passed both houses of Congress and was
signed into law by President Bill Clinton on December 27, 2000.

The law is Section 308 of the Intelligence Authorization Act for
Fiscal Year 2001. It provides that, “No Federal law enacted on or after
the date of the enactment of the Intelligence Authorization Act for
Fiscal Year 2001 that implements a treaty or other international agree-
ment shall be construed as making unlawful an otherwise lawful and
authorized intelligence activity of the United States Government or its
employees, or any other person to the extent such other person is car-
rying out such activity on behalf of, and at the direction of, the United
States, unless such Federal law specifically addresses such intelli-
gence activity.”12

One has to stand back and take a deep breath on that one. Taken lit-
erally, it means that the Constitution does not apply to the CIA or any
U.S. intelligence personnel, including lowly agent-assassins. Why?
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Because the Constitution provides that all treaties are the supreme law of
the land. Not just the law, but the supreme law —and no exemptions.

While Section 308 applies to future agreements, if recent history is
any indication, the CIA will apply it broadly and retroactively. This
would mean exempting itself from all international law. The tragic con-
sequence of such CIA license was seen in the April 2000 shootdown of a
plane carrying American missionaries over Peru. The shootdown
resulted in the deaths of Veronica Bowers and her seven-month-old
daughter, and serious wounds to the pilot. In 1994, in violation of inter-
national law, Congress passed a law allowing the CIA to interdict
civilian planes suspected as drug carriers and providing immunity from
all liability, even for “mistakes.” The shootdown in Peru was a CIA-con-
trolled operation. The Senate Intelligence Committee eventually blamed
the CIA for it, but there were no repercussions or prosecutions.!3

While Section 308 applies to treaties and international agreements,
it is clear from the record that it covers CIA violations of the laws of
other countries as well. According to a report by the Federation of
American Scientists, “A congressional staffer said the new provision
(S308) was urgently needed, given that the CIA habitually engages in
criminal activity abroad.”14 Also an explanation that the intelligence
committees provided as to how other countries cannot apply the prin-
ciple of Section 308 indicates that it covers crimes other than treaty vio-
lations. “It (Section 308) is also not meant to suggest,” wrote the com-
mittees, “that a person violating the laws of the United States may
claim any authorization from a foreign government as justification for
a violation of a U.S. law, or as a defense in a prosecution for such vio-
lations.”15> What's good for the goose, is not good for the gander.

No one is above the law. No one has the right to exempt anyone
from the law. Yet the Senate Intelligence Committee, in creating Sec-
tion 308, claimed on May 4, 2000, that some laws do not apply to the
CIA.16 This claim parroted former CIA General Counsel Stanley
Sporkin’s 1987 testimony that some laws “don’t have application to
the U.S. Government.”17 In other words, the CIA is above the law, and
Section 308 was simply turning this fact into an explicit law so that
CIA officers, according to the committee, “will not be burdened by the
uncertainty that laws never intended to apply to their activities could
be so interpreted.”18

Again, there was not a peep from the media about any of this even
though such a story would not have affected corporate sponsorship or
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profits. I talked about it with Vernon Loeb, who covers the CIA for the
Washington Post. He agreed that Section 308 was quite disturbing, as
was the fact that the intelligence committees held no hearings about
the bill. But Loeb wrote nothing about it despite doing several articles
about the Intelligence Authorization Act.

Apparently, the intelligence committees felt that de facto impunity
for committing one hundred thousand crimes a year along with de jure
impunity for violating treaties just were not enough ammunition for
the CIA to do its job protecting national security. So at the same time
they were pushing through Section 308, they called for the lifting of all
restrictions on hiring and deploying a category of informants com-
monly known as “unsavory characters,” even though these informants
carry out assassinations and terrorism for the CIA around the world.
The committees recommended that the “aggressive recruitment” of
“terrorist informants who have human rights violations in their back-
ground” be “one of the highest priorities.” “Unquestionably,” added
the committees, “ a robust and effective intelligence effort will, from
time to time, require U.S. interaction with extremely dangerous and
truly unsavory characters.”1? As usual, the committees did not explain
or prove this assertion. Even if it is true, it does not provide a legal or
moral justification for hiring human rights violators.

The so-called restrictions the intelligence committees wanted
lifted were hardly restrictions at all. They were simply guidelines for
hiring informants that then-CIA Director John Deutch instituted after
the activities of a particularly “unsavory” informant had been made
public. Guatemalan Colonel Julio Alpirez, who had received $40,000
from the CIA, had been directly involved in the murder and torture of
Michael Devine, an American innkeeper, and Effrain Bamaca, a guer-
rilla leader married to American attorney Jennifer Harbury. At the
same time, the CIA discovered that more than one thousand such
informants were employed around the world. The agency then fired
these informants for engaging in the criminal activities they had been
hired to carry out. But the CIA did not stop hiring unsavory charac-
ters. They simply subjected them to a six-month waiting period.
Within months of instituting the guidelines, incoming CIA Director
George Tenet assured Congress that not a single unsavory applicant
had been rejected.20 Congress then called for the elimination of
Deutch’s guidelines and the aggressive recruitment of informants.
Tenet not only complied, it is very likely that he rehired some of the
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fired informants. Indeed, as a sign that the good ole days of murder
and mayhem were back, Tenet awarded the CIA’s Distinguished
Career Intelligence Medal to Terry Ward. Ward had been fired for his
role in the deaths of DeVine, Bamaca, and others.21

All of a sudden, “unsavory characters” had been transformed into
crucial intelligence sources in the fight against terrorism. The ratio-
nale was that it takes one to know one. Or, it takes a terrorist to cap-
ture a terrorist. “ After all,” wrote the committees, “it is an unfortunate
fact that individuals with reputable backgrounds rarely yield the key
intelligence leads that are critical to the counter-terrorist efforts of the
United States.”22 Neither the committees nor the CIA presented any
proof to support this claim or actual instances. There is no concrete
evidence that this has ever been true. In fact, the contrary seems to be
the case. The CIA’s investigation of the fired one thousand informants
revealed that 90 percent of their information was “useless.”23 On the
other hand, there is voluminous evidence that the CIA itself uses
informants as terrorists.

No one, not even Congress or the president, has the moral or legal
authority to deploy known criminals, even if they are key intelligence
sources on terrorism. Crimes cannot be authorized or retroactively
ratified. It is a contradiction in terms. As the most powerful nation in
the world, the United States can do just about whatever it wants. That
still does not mean that it has the legal authority to do so. Might still
does not make right. Nonetheless, this is precisely what the U.S. gov-
ernment is doing—to the sound of profound silence from the press.
There has been no reporting, let alone analysis, of this story. There
have not even been questions from the press regarding the rationale
for using terrorist informants or how they can be controlled.

As noted, the IOB reported that the CIA’s informants were in fact
implementors of criminal CIA policies, not intelligence gatherers.
Former ambassador Robert White agrees. He wrote that Manuel Nor-
iega of Panama, Colonel Julio Alpirez of Guatemala, General Gustavo
Alvarez Martinez of Honduras, Colonel Nicolas Carranza of El Sal-
vador, and Emmanuel Constant of Haiti, all major human rights
abusers, were CIA informants who “enjoyed profitable contractual
arrangements with the CIA not because they were particularly impor-
tant sources of information, but because they served as paid agents of
influence who promoted actions or policies favored by the CIA in that
country.”?4 White reported further that even when the CIA could pro-
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vide counterterrorist information, it did not. He has written that when
he was ambassador to El Salvador, he was under presidential instruc-
tions to do everything possible to reduce human rights violations by
the military. In 1980, after the assassination of Archbishop Oscar
Romero, White directed the CIA chief of station to provide intelli-
gence on violent right-wing leaders and their plans. “With the full
backing of headquarters,” wrote White, “the station chief refused on
the ground that the CIA’s mission lay elsewhere.”2> White also wrote
that the CIA pursued its own proterrorist policy in Haiti to the point
“of hiring a brutish thug and paying him while he persecuted and
murdered the supporters of President Aristide.”26

It was a similar story in Bosnia. According to former State Depart-
ment official Richard Nuccio, when the CIA was asked to assist in
identifying war criminals and terrorists in Bosnia, it refused because
it would “undermine its ability to recruit.”?7 Nuccio also reported that
the CIA carried out its own policy in Guatemala to the point of con-
tinuing the terrorism and obstructing U.S. attempts to bring peace
there. “The CIA systematically defied U.S. policy to end Guatemala’s
civil war by refusing to end its ties with torturers in the Guatemala
intelligence service,” said Nuccio.28

Now along with their de facto impunity, the CIA’s informants are
covered by Section 308,which must be seen for what it is: the culmi-
nation of the CIA’s long-term attempts to obtain statutory exemption
from the law along with its self-anointed de facto impunity. This has
nothing to do with the CIA’s mandate to further national security. No
one has shown that the freedom to commit crimes enhances the CIA’s
ability to protect national security. The CIA has not sought impunity
to better carry out its legal mission. It wants to commit crimes and is
committing crimes for other reasons and has sought impunity to
avoid being prosecuted and stopped from committing those crimes. It
is that simple. One can argue as to the true objectives of these crimes,
but there is no doubt that they do not serve national security.

The September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks in the United States show
that criminal impunity, one hundred thousand extremely serious
crimes a year, and the use of terrorists in the guise of informants, have
not worked. Even Vincent Cannistraro, former chief of CIA counter-
terrorism operations has written that, “The catastrophe resulting from
the terrorism attacks on the Pentagon and the Twin Towers demon-
strates that the United States has made little progress in under-
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standing and deterring the threat from the various fundamentalist
extremes.”?? If anything, the CIA’s creation and use of terrorists such
as the former Afghan rebels has undermined U.S. national security.

The CIA made its first attempt to gain de jure impunity on March 1,
1954. On that day, CIA General Counsel Lawrence Houston wrote a
memorandum of understanding to Deputy Attorney General William
Rogers giving the CIA the right to police itself in violation of federal
law.30 Rogers never responded, but the CIA took the memo as a blank
check as Houston revealed twenty years later to then-Representative
Bella Abzug. Asked whether he thought the memorandum of under-
standing gave the CIA authority to “give immunity to individuals who
happened to work for the CIA for all kinds of crime, including murder,”
Houston responded, “It could have that effect, yes.” “Did it have that
effect?” asked Abzug. “In certain cases it did,” admitted Houston.31

This was the same Lawrence Houston who wrote in 1947, two
months after the CIA was established, that “In our opinion, however,
either activity (covert operations and black propaganda) would be an
unwarranted extension of the functions authorized in section 102 (d)
[paragraphs] (4) and (5). This is based on our understanding of the
intent of Congress at the time these provisions were enacted.”32
Houston was responding to an inquiry from CIA Director Roscoe Hil-
lenkoetter, who wanted to know whether the CIA could undertake
black propaganda (then known as Morale Operations/M.O.) and
covert operations (then known as Special Operations/S.O.). Secretary
of Defense James Forrestal had requested that the CIA launch covert
operations in Europe. Only months before, Forrestal had testified
under oath before Congress that the CIA would only coordinate intel-
ligence. It would not even collect intelligence, let alone conduct oper-
ations. Houston continued,

Areview of debates indicates that Congress was primarily interested
in an agency for coordinating intelligence and originally did not pro-
pose any overseas collection activities for the CIA. The strong move
to provide specifically for such collections overseas was defeated,
and as a compromise, sections 102 (d) (4) and (5) were enacted,
which permitted the National Security Council to determine the
extent of the collection work to be performed by CIA. We do not
believe there was any thought in the minds of Congress that the Cen-
tral Intelligence Agency under this authority would take positive
action for subversion and sabotage. A bitter debate at about the same
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time on the State Department’s Foreign Broadcast Information Ser-
vice tends to confirm our opinion. Further confirmation is found in
the brief and off-the-record hearings and appropriations for the CIA
[and] unvouchered funds for M.O. (black propaganda) or S.O.
(covert operations) work. . . . We believe this would be an unautho-
rized use of the funds made available to the CIA. It is our conclusion,
therefore, that, neither M.O. or S.O. should be undertaken by CIA
without previously informing Congress and obtaining its approval
of the functions and the expenditure of funds for these purposes.33

Speaking of the use of Section 105 as a possible source of authority
for covert operations, Houston added, that “Taken out of context and
without knowledge of [the act’s] history, these sections could bear
almost unlimited interpretation.”34 This, of course, is exactly what the
National Security Council (NSC) did. In December 1947, the NSC
“under the authority of Section 102 (d)(5) of the National Security Act”
directed the CIA to undertake a program of covert psychological war-
fare against the Soviet Union. In June 1948, NSC directive 10/2 cited
the same so-called authority and expanded the CIA’s covert action
programs to include paramilitary operations, economic warfare, and
political action programs. These programs were expanded in 1955 by
NSC 5412/2, again under the presumed authority of Section 102.

In no uncertain terms, Houston said that the CIA had no authority
to conduct any covert operations. He repeated this legal opinion in
1962, singling out the CIA’s 1954 coup in Guatemala and invasion at
the Bay of Pigs, Cuba, as criminal operations. “There is no specific
statutory authority to any agency for the conduct of such activities
(covert operations),” wrote Houston. “When the National Security
Act of 1947 was enacted in 1947, the consideration of Section 102,
which established the Central Intelligence Agency, was restricted ‘to
the performance of intelligence functions.” The language of paragraph
(5) of section 102 (d), ‘to perform such other functions and duties
related to intelligence affecting the national security as the National
Security Council may from time to time direct,” was intended to be the
basis for giving the Agency a charter in the field on clandestine intel-
ligence and counterintelligence.”35

In other words, all CIA operations have been illegal from the get-
go and continue to be since the charter remains unchanged in this
regard. It should also be noted that the National Security Council has
no legal policy-making authority. CIA General Counsel Lawrence
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Houston admitted in secret that all CIA covert operations were crimes
and then proceeded to delegate to the CIA prosecutorial immunity
from criminal liability. The CIA did not discover during the course of
its operations that crimes were necessary for national security. Quite
the opposite. The CIA undertook criminal operations from its incep-
tion and then wrapped the flag around them and gave itself immunity.

A 1975 study by the Intelligence Community Coordinating Staff,
which included members of the CIA, also found that until 1974,
“there was serious doubt that the CIA had authority to engage in
covert operations involving the use of political and military force.”36
This means that thousands of CIA “authorized” operations were
illegal, and that the deaths and damage resulting from them were un-
prosecuted crimes against humanity. A report by the ACLU’s Center
for National Security Studies also concluded “that until the mid-1970s
covert operations were conducted without proper authority”; that is,
no recognized authority or legal basis.3”

In 1975, Congress passed the Hughes-Ryan amendment in an
attempt to exercise minimal control over the CIA. The law required
that the president sign a finding before each covert operation and
notify Congress when he did so. The CIA conveniently misconstrued
these notifications to Congress to mean that Congress was being
informed of, and not objecting to, covert operations. This then, was
further misconstrued as legal authorization from Congress to conduct
covert operations. The CIA’s leaps in logic in these instances are par-
ticularly absurd because the purpose of the amendment was to make
them more —not less —controllable. To construe the amendment as a
process for authorizing covert operations was nothing short of outra-
geous. The CIA’s covert operations have had no legal basis for
twenty-seven years—and still do not. Congress acknowledges this
every year in its appropriations bill: “The authorization of appropria-
tions by this Act shall not be deemed to constitute authority for the
conduct of any intelligence activity which is not otherwise authorized
by the Constitution or laws of the United States.”38

After Houston's 1954 memo of understanding was found to be
invalid by the Justice Department, the CIA continued its attempts to
acquire de jure immunity from criminal liability. In 1981, CIA Director
William Casey wrote a letter to Attorney General William French
Smith urging that the U.S. criminal code be revised to exempt all CIA
employees from criminal liability for any authorized operations.3?



Casey did not even pretend there was a national security need. Three
years later, Casey tried to get the CIA exempted from a proposed anti-
assassination conspiracy bill. Then-Deputy Assistant Attorney Gen-
eral Mark M. Richard testified before Congress that Casey vehe-
mently opposed making assassination conspiracies illegal: “Casey
wanted assurances that this proposal would not reach authorized
conduct of the agency.”40 The Justice Department obliged Casey by
providing the assurances he wanted in a secret letter. But according to
Richard, “the agency had taken the position that the letter was not
acceptable and that they would only go along with an express provi-
sion in the statute exempting authorized intelligence activities.”41

The Justice Department refused to go along with Casey’s demand
and instead dropped the antiassassination provision of the bill. In
effect, Casey achieved his goal because it was still not illegal to conspire
in the United States to assassinate someone overseas. A few months
later, Casey himself conspired in Washington to assassinate Sheik
Mohammed Fadlallah of Lebanon. No fewer than three death squads
were formed to track him down. On March 8, 1985, a car packed with
explosives detonated outside of Fadlallah’s apartment building, killing
eighty innocent people and wounding two hundred. Fadlallah was
unscathed. The CIA was not investigated or prosecuted.42

Following its failure to obtain written de jure immunity for assas-
sinations, the CIA resumed making its own laws through a perverted
interpretation and application of “findings.” A “ finding” refers to the
president finding that an individual or group threatens U.S. national
security, and that this threat requires CIA attention. Following such a
finding, the president signs an order for a CIA response and notifies
Congress. As former CIA General Counsel Stanley Sporkin testified
before Congress, “A finding is a determination by the President of the
United States that a certain activity in a foreign country, which is
undisclosed, is in the interest of national security.”43

As noted, this does not constitute legal authorization, certainly
not the Congressional authorization necessary to make any covert
operation legal, particularly since Congress is sometimes not notified
and has no veto power over the covert operation. Even if findings
conferred authorization, Sporkin revealed that the CIA, not the presi-
dent, creates findings to fit preordained covert operations and sends
the findings to the president as a fait accompli for his signature. In five
years of writing findings, Sporkin never once talked to President
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Reagan, not even on the phone. Sporkin also disclosed that an untold
number of covert operations had been carried out without findings,
and he himself had written a finding for at least one major covert
operation after it had been launched. Sporkin, who was the first U.S.
judge ever sworn into office at CIA headquarters, added that this
finding provided “retroactive ratification” —a concept that has no
standing in law.

Even if findings went as they are supposed to, they have no basis
in law. Nowhere is it written that the president or the CIA or anyone
can unilaterally launch a secret governmental program or operation
on the basis of a mystical finding created by the CIA. This process is
no more different from, or legal than, the attorney general summarily
deciding that school prayers are in the national interest and then pro-
viding grants to schools that initiate praying. Again, Lawrence
Houston had written as early as 1947 that the CIA had no authority
for any operations, period. Later he added that presidents directing
the CIA to carry out covert operations (as had happened from time to
time) still did not constitute legal authorization, particularly since
Congress did not even know about the operations, let alone consent
to them. According to Houston, the process was illegal. Creating and
signing findings does not legalize the process.

It was clear from Sporkin’s testimony that the CIA uses findings
to create its own operations and to give them “a legal coloring,” as
one senator put it4 Cloaking covert operations in presidential
authority is an illegal smokescreen to begin with because the presi-
dent by himself has no such authority. In fact, even Congress cannot
legally authorize many of the CIA’s operations because they are
crimes, including crimes against humanity. The Third Reich and
Hitler “authorized” Nazi operations. That did not make them legal,
and the rest of the world did not treat them as such.

Sporkin’s testimony means that the CIA is, in effect, self-autho-
rizing. Using the president as a strawman, he testified that “You can’t
straitjacket the president. If the president calls in someone and says,
‘We’ve got to move today. Go out and do it I think that somebody
can be able to go out and do it then later on you do the paperwork.
That’s what covert operations are; they give the president an oppor-
tunity to, through a different regime . . . to do it that way.”4>

Sporkin took this concept a step further and argued that findings
allow the president, and through the president the CIA, to legally vio-
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late laws. Most, if not all, of the covert operations covered by
Sporkin’s findings violated serious laws, including the law to notify
Congress about any finding. In the finding “ authorizing” the arms
for hostages, Sporkin himself wrote that the president should not
notify Congress. “I do think,” he said, “ there are instances where you
would have non-notification. I think it is built into the statute
[requiring the president to notify Congress in advance about covert
operations] itself. It’s built into the Constitution.”4¢ In other words,
according to Sporkin, a law requiring the CIA to notify Congress in
advance about covert operations simultaneously gives the CIA the
right not to notify Congress when it chooses, and this right stems
from the Constitution.

Regarding violating “general laws,” Sporkin said, “you’ve got to be
able, under covert operations, to be able [sic] to do these things [break
laws]. I think that an argument could be made that you can override the
specific statute by a covert finding. . . . It’s in the interest of our country
that you can do these things.” (Sporkin did not explain why.)47

Sporkin was describing the activities of a government of men, not
of laws as provided by the Constitution. As long as the decisions to
override the law are made by the “right kind of people,” it’s okay, he
concluded: “. .. what I wanted was to make sure that this was being —
these requests were coming from the top. . . . These are very important
decisions that were being made and they had to be made at the highest
levels . .. You don’t want a government operating where you have—
and I don’t want to use the word ‘low-level.” . . . But somebody that is
beneath a high official . .. making some very, very sensitive kind of
decision that could affect the entire country. You wanted to get these
[decisions from] . . . the highest levels all the time.”48

Nowhere did Sporkin indicate the need for the advice or consent
of Congress. On the contrary, he made it clear that he and the CIA did
not even consider Congress or its elected officials to be sources of
authority. The “highest level” sources who Sporkin deemed had the
proper authority to make decisions about illegal covert operations
included five people: the CIA director, the secretary of defense, the sec-
retary of state, the attorney general, and the national security adviser.4?
Perhaps it was an oversight, but Sporkin did not list the president.

Ironically, a 1975 secret study commissioned by former CIA
Director William Colby aptly described the use of CIA covert opera-
tions as described by Sporkin as an undermining of the Constitution.
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“Using covert operations to implement foreign policy within the con-
text discussed herein,” read the study, “independent of any Congres-
sional grant, affects the equilibrium sought by the framers of the Con-
stitution in providing for the separation of governmental powers. If this
authority were recognized as independently existing in the Executive
Branch, it would permit the president to secretly ‘legislate’ foreign
policy and then secretly execute it, using covert means in doing so.”50

This situation, apparently, was not worthy of media coverage.
Soon, it may not be possible for the press to cover it. As part of the
2001 Intelligence Authorization Act, Congress passed the first “Offi-
cial Secrets Act” criminalizing certain press coverage of the CIA. At
the last moment, Clinton was embarrassed into vetoing the act. But
the CIA said it would go back to the drawing board and continue
“crafting” newer versions.

The first Bush administration pushed the legal envelope even fur-
ther off the charts by reinterpreting Executive Order 12333, which bans
CIA assassinations altogether. In fact, an official legal opinion by the U.S.
Army judge advocate general reinterpreted the order out of existence
with these words: “...if the president has determined that the indi-
vidual(s) in question pose such a threat to U.S. citizens or the national
security interests of the United States as to require the use of military
force, it would be legally permissible to employ (e.g.) an airstrike against
that individual or group rather than attempt his, her, or their capture,
and [it] would not violate the prohibition against assassination.”>!

Shortly after Executive Order 12333 was reinterpreted, President
George Bush signed a secret finding authorizing the CIA and the spe-
cial forces to conduct an attack on alleged Colombian drug lord
Rodriguez Gacha. Instead of capturing him alive, the CIA/Special
Forces team, hovering overhead in a helicopter, shot and killed Gacha,
his seventeen-year-old son, and five bodyguards as they were fleeing
Gacha’s compound. According to a published report, the nonassassi-
nations came “in the wake of the new interpretations of laws and
executive orders by attorneys from the CIA, Army and the Justice
Department that have a collective effect of easing restrictions on oper-
ations that may result in the death of foreign nationals.” The report
added that according to the CIA, deaths resulting from “disruptive
activities aimed at narcotics traffickers” are not assassinations “even
if a particular individual’s death could be [sic] reasonably have been
predicted in advance.”52



These and other efforts to reinterpret the law, along with Casey's
actions and Section 308, show that gaining immunity from prosecution
is the CIA’s long-sought goal. The CIA’s activities show exactly why the
agency is working so hard to get that immunity. The CIA could then
legally establish itself as the arbiter of life itself in the name of national
security. It is within this context that one can see the chilling impact of
Section 308 and congressional sanctioning of CIA crimes and terrorist
informants upon democracy, global security, and the rule of law.

There is something fundamentally wrong with the idea that pro-
tecting national security requires exempting the CIA —or any branch
of the U.S. government for that matter—from all ethical, legal, and
constitutional principles. This is a qualitative leap from defending
Americans against the “Evil Empire” to the Vietham War policy of
destroying a village to save it. The world needs to know that this is
the institutional operating principle of the CIA, not just a few cow-
boys or rogue agents, and that the CIA now has the statutory right to
carry out all manner of crimes anywhere in the world.

One swallow does not a summer make, but one hundred thou-
sand extremely serious crimes a year makes the CIA a criminal orga-
nization. Even if it did not, a suspension of the Constitution exempt-
ing the CIA from observing all international treaties and agreements
screams for press coverage. So does Congress’s sanctioning of CIA
crimes against humanity under the well-worn “national security”
banner. In fact, there is next to no meaningful coverage ever of the
CIA in the mainstream media, let alone analysis. The few exceptions
prove the rule, and when they occur, the rest of the media gang up on
the exception, side with the CIA, and obliterate the story often before
it's published. Point in case: Gary Webb’s articles on the CIA’s
involvement with drugs.

In 1984, I was involved in one such exception. ABC hired me to
help produce a story that I had sold about Bishop, Baldwin, Rewald,
Dillingham & Wong (BBRD&W), an investment firm in Hawaii that
was heavily involved with the CIA. I had earlier provided the same
story to BBC's Newsnight, which had aired a thirty-five-minute pro-
gram that included an interview with me. I had also given an inter-
view and worked with CBS on the same story. The story was fully
documented, and nobody, including the CIA, was able to disprove the
charges. After the CBS program aired, the CIA called CBS and dispar-
aged me but did not counter any charges made in the program.
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The ABC show provoked a more brutal response from the CIA.
Part of the ABC report charged, based on two videotaped interviews,
that the CIA had plotted to assassinate an American, Ron Rewald, the
president of BBRD&W. Immediately the lights went out as the CIA
demanded a full retraction without providing any counterproof other
than their denial. At the center of the uproar was Scott Barnes who
said on camera that the CIA had asked him to kill Rewald. The CIA
denied any association with Barnes, but later it was uncovered that
the CIA had earlier admitted working with him.

The BBC had placed Barnes at the scene of the potential crime.
They had documented that Barnes got himself hired as a chaplain’s
assistant at the Oahu Community Correctional Center in Honolulu
where Rewald was imprisoned, awaiting trial for financial fraud.
Barnes had written to Rewald as “Reverend Scott Barnes” in an attempt
to get close to him. Barnes then became a volunteer at the prison, but
quit when he discovered that volunteers could not visit Rewald’s sec-
tion of the prison. He then became a prison guard and visited the local
coroner’s office posing as a medical student seeking information about
toxic drugs. It was at this time that Barnes claimed that the CIA asked
him to kill Rewald. He said he refused and fled the island.

The CIA was invited to appear on the ABC program, but declined.
After the show aired, CIA officials met with ABC News executive
David Burke. They were unhappy with it, but presented no evidence
to counter the charges made in the program. They did present some
newspaper articles critical of Barnes. Nonetheless, Burke was suffi-
ciently impressed “by the vigor with which they made their case” to
order an on-air “clarification” in which Peter Jennings acknowledged
the CIA’s position but stood by the story.53 But that was not enough
for the CIA. Casey then called ABC Chairman Leonard H. Goldenson.
The call led to three meetings between ABC officials, and, guess who,
Stanley Sporkin, CIA general counsel. On November 21, 1984, despite
all the documented evidence presented in the program, despite ABC
standing by the program in a second broadcast, Peter Jennings
reported that ABC could no longer substantiate the charges, and that
“We have no reason to doubt the CIA’s denial.”>% He presented no
evidence supporting the CIA’s position.

That same day, the CIA filed a formal complaint, written by
Sporkin and signed by Casey, with the Federal Communications Com-
mission (FCC) charging that ABC had “deliberately distorted” the
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news. In the complaint, Casey asked that ABC be stripped of its TV
and radio licenses.5> In January 1985, the FCC dismissed the complaint
out of hand, stating that the CIA had not presented sufficient evidence
to even launch an inquiry. In February, the CIA filed a second com-
plaint asking for FCC penalties under the “Fairness Doctrine” which
requires broadcasters to air at least two sides of “controversial issues
of public importance.” This complaint was also eventually dismissed.
This was the first time in the history of the country that a government
agency had formally attacked the press. Yet, there was no uproar.5?

During this time, Capital Cities Communications was maneu-
vering to buy ABC. Casey was one of the founders of Cap Cities. He
was also chief counsel and board director until 1981, when he became
director of the CIA. At the time, he owned some 34,755 shares of stock
in Cap Cities worth about $7.7 million, which he did not place in a
blind trust despite his agreement with Congress to do so.58 The L.A.
Weekly, which along with the Village Voice provided the best coverage
of the story, claimed that the CIA’s protestations about ABC along
with its FCC complaint “had the result of driving down the price of
ABC stock in the public market.”5? In fact, in October 1984, the price
of ABC’s common stock was sixty-seven dollars per share. By
November 1, it had dropped to sixty-four dollars, and by the end of
the November —shortly after the CIA had filed its FCC complaint — it
had dropped to fifty-nine dollars. While the second FCC complaint
was still pending, Cap Cities bought ABC for $3.5 billion which was
called a “bargain rate” by the trade media.t0

Besides Casey, two other founders of Cap Cities, Lowell Thomas
and Thomas Dewey, had extensive ties to the intelligence community.
When Dewey was U.S. attorney in New York, he had a habit of threat-
ening publishers with prosecution if they published books about the
CIA. He actually suppressed several such books. Thomas Murphy,
Casey’s friend and head of Cap Cities, also had long-standing intelli-
gence ties. Before buying ABC, Murphy invited investment guru
Warren Buffett to buy 18 percent of the combined CC/ABC. At the
time, Buffett controlled Berkshire Hathaway, then a $2-billion holding
company that owned 13 percent of the Washington Post Company, on
whose board of directors he sat until the ABC takeover was com-
pleted. Buffett was then replaced by Murphy’s friend, financier
William Ruane. Berkshire Hathaway also owned a large portion of
Time, and Newsweek. Once Cap Cities became a network, it sold fifty-
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three of its cable TV systems to the Washington Post Company.®! So it
is no wonder that none of these publications covered the story. Even
if the financial links described above did not exist, it is unlikely they
would have covered the story because they have enjoyed uncon-
scionable, collaborative relationships with the CIA for decades.
Pulitzer Prize-winner Carl Bernstein (among others) documented this
in an October 20, 1977, article he wrote for Rolling Stone magazine
entitled “The CIA and the Media.”

The L.A. Weekly speculated that Casey’s actions against ABC
might have been intended to make ABC less likely to run stories crit-
ical of the CIA. I have no absolute proof that there was a connection,
but within months, the entire investigative unit was dispersed, and
the commentator on the Rewald program was assigned to covering
beauty pageants. Needless to say, my contract was not renewed.
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A t the start of the twentieth century, journalists such as Lincoln
Steffens and Ida Mae Tarbell launched the twentieth century
with what came to be called the Golden Age of journalism. They were
investigative reporters who were derisively named “muckrakers” by
President Theodore Roosevelt. The movement lasted only about a
decade but resulted in social and legislative changes that improved the
way of life for millions of Americans to this day. The movement also
provided a startling revelation of the potential power of journalism.
About twenty-three years earlier, in 1877, John B. Bogart, an editor
with the New York Sun, wrote, “When a dog bites a man, that is not
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news, because it happens so often. But if a man bites a dog, it’s news.”
His definition implies the need for a sensationalistic ingredient in
news and is used as a standard to this day. At the start of the twenty-
first century, we may be witnessing the end of muckraking and the tri-
umph of Bogart’s man-bites-dog form of journalism.

The United States has a free press guaranteed by its constitution,
it has the world’s most sophisticated communication system, and it
has more independent media outlets disseminating more information
twenty-four hours a day than anywhere else in the world. Consid-
ering our autonomous press and the quantity of information that
daily bombards us, we should be a very well-informed populace.
Unfortunately, high technology and a free press do not guarantee a
well-informed society.

The problem is not the quantity of information that we receive,
but the quality. During the communist witch-hunts of the "50s, the
media inundated the public with headlines of wild charges made by
Senator Joseph McCarthy, a Republican senator from Wisconsin who
was a rabid anticommunist. McCarthy's accusations of communist
infiltration in American institutions ruined the reputations and
careers of many people, driving some to suicide. It created a national
climate of terror that became known as McCarthyism. While the
media provided extensive coverage of McCarthy's charges, they did
not investigate whether those charges were accurate. Had the media
fulfilled their responsibilities as “watchdogs” of society by investi-
gating the charges, they would have saved many lives from being
destroyed. The quantity of coverage during the McCarthy era was
ample, but the quality was lacking. The media failed to provide the
warning signals we needed. When a problem arises, there should be
a warning signal —information — that alerts citizens that something is
going wrong which needs attention and resolution. Given such a
warning, an aware populace could then influence its leaders to act
upon that information to solve the problem.

Few would deny that the United States has problems, serious
problems, that need to be confronted and resolved if we are to suc-
ceed and survive in the future. Despite the economic boom of the late
twentieth century, America is a nation beset by problems of home-
lessness, poverty, hunger, health care, pollution, violence, drug abuse,
and environmental degradation. And yet, how many of our citizens
are fully informed about, or even aware of, those issues? There has
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been a breakdown in America’s early warning system. Only occa-
sionally, when the problem gets totally out of control, such as was the
case with the hazards of cigarette smoking in the mid-1990s, the elec-
toral debacle in Florida in 2000, or the energy crisis in California in
2001, are the media inspired to provide the information the public
needs to know. Even then, the media tend to provide too little too late.

In 1976, I launched a national media research effort, called Project
Censored, to explore whether there is systematic censorship of certain
subjects in our national news media. The primary goal of Project Cen-
sored is to improve media coverage of important public issues. It
identifies and publicizes serious problems that the mainstream media
have not sufficiently covered and educates the public by raising ques-
tions about censorship and the role of the media in a democratic
society.

Project Censored was founded on the thesis that real and mean-
ingful public involvement in public decisions is possible only if all
ideas are allowed to compete daily in the media marketplace for
awareness, acceptance, and understanding.

In brief, Project Censored defines censorship as the suppression of
information, whether purposeful or not, by any method —including
bias, omission, underreporting or censorship—that prevents the
public from understanding what is happening in society.

The creation of Project Censored was stimulated by my personal
bewilderment over how the American people could elect Richard
Nixon by a landslide five months after Watergate, one of the most sen-
sational political crimes of the century. The reason was very simple —
Watergate was not a major news item before the November 1972 elec-
tion. As Bob Woodward and Carl Bernstein subsequently pointed out,
Watergate wasn’t even a topic of discussion on election eve. The
media did not put Watergate on the national agenda until 1973,
months after the election.

Subsequent comparisons of the coverage given other critical
issues in the mainstream media versus exposés in the alternative
press persuaded me that, although the information might be avail-
able, the mass media do not provide the public with the data it needs
to make informed decisions.



336 INTO THE

THE BAY OF PIGS COVER-UP

Critics of Project Censored claim there is no news media censorship.
While Project Censored has exposed hundreds of stories that didn't
receive the coverage they should have, the Bay of Pigs disaster provides a
classic “smoking gun” example of how the media do censor some stories.

On April 17, 2001, hordes of U.S. media, politicians, and old sol-
diers descended on Cuba to commemorate the fortieth anniversary of
the Bay of Pigs invasion. With all the backslapping and laudatory com-
ments, you would have thought they were celebrating a major U.S.
military victory. In reality, as we know, the Bay of Pigs was a national
disaster, one of the most embarrassing foreign policy involvements in
our history. It was also a disaster that could have been avoided.

When it came time to fix the blame for the Bay of Pigs, there were
more than a few possible culprits. The guilt trail started with Vice
President Richard Nixon’s exuberant enthusiasm for a Cuban inva-
sion in 1959. It was followed by President Dwight D. Eisenhower’s
formal approval of the aggressive action also in 1959, President John
F. Kennedy’s go-ahead and mea culpa in 1961, the U.S. military’s cau-
tious cooperation, and finally ended with the CIA’s 1998 public con-
fession of its key role in the debacle.

But in all the millions of words speculating on who was to blame
for the Bay of Pigs, there have been few raising the culpability of the
news media in the fiasco. Indeed, forgotten in all the recriminations
was the critical role of the press. The invasion plan was well known
to many of the leading media, but after some heated discussions
about whether they should or shouldn’t go to print, the press decided
not to tell the American people. This decision was made despite the
fact that nearly everyone else knew about it, from politicians, to for-
eign governments, to Fidel Castro himself.

Media that knew but failed to expose the coming invasion
included the New York Times, the Washington Post, Newsweek, the
Copley News Service, and others. Not only did they censor the story,
but they ignored the urgings of other less mainstream media to tell
the public what was going to happen. The Nation, in an editorial pub-
lished November 19, 1960, five months before the invasion, docu-
mented the build-up for the invasion and urged the U.S. media to
check out the reports. But they didn’t.

Only the American public didn’t know about the coming invasion.
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Perhaps the most culpable member of the press in the cover-up was
the New York Times. The Times had full and potentially explosive infor-
mation about the planned invasion. In early 1961, a New York Times
journalist wrote an article that would have exposed the upcoming inva-
sion of Cuba and the CIA involvement. The story was originally to be
published by the Times under a four-column headline at the top of page
one. But when word leaked out in Washington that the Times planned
to run the story, President Kennedy called James Reston, Times" Wash-
ington bureau chief, asking him to kill it. Reston told Orvil Dryfoos, the
publisher of the Times, about Kennedy’s call and suggested toning
down the story and removing the references to the invasion.! As a
result, a heavily edited version of the story, with a one-column heading,
appeared with no mention of the CIA’s involvement or that the inva-
sion was imminent. Kennedy himself later told New York Times Man-
aging Editor Turner Catledge, “if you had printed more about the oper-
ation, you could have saved us from a colossal mistake.” It is generally
agreed that if the Times had published the information it had, public
opinion would have forced Kennedy to cancel the invasion.

The New York Times was not the only publication to censor the
story. As David Halberstam pointed out in The Powers That Be, the
media were “remarkably vulnerable to the seductive call of National
Security.” In an effort to absolve themselves of their failure, the media
later said they saw the issue as a conflict between national security
and national interest and were persuaded that this was a case of
national security. In reality, the media failed to perform their respon-
sibilities as the watchdogs of society. The Bay of Pigs was not a
national security issue. It was a matter of national interest. And the
media censored the story.

As the Bay of Pigs example shows us, news media censorship is
not some kooky conspiracy theory. It is a fact of life.

THE RISE AND FALL OF MUCKRAKING

Before speculating on the future of investigative journalism, we should
take a look at what happened to the golden era of investigative journalism
over the course of the twentieth century. The beginning of the end may
have started when President Roosevelt charged that the investigative
journalists who were exposing corruption in society were “muckrakers.”
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There was a mixed response to the malicious terminology
Roosevelt wielded at the journalists he attacked. Some, like Ida Mae
Tarbell, were appalled at his satirical criticism of their research and
writing. Others, like Upton Sinclair, responded to the challenge by
accepting the label with pride. In the end, “muckraker” became a
widely used vituperative term. Most modern-day journalists dislike
the title and prefer to be called “investigative journalists.” Yet, there
are a few authors, like the late Jessica Mitford, who proudly wore the
crown when Time magazine labeled her “Queen of the Muckrackers.”
Mitford, who successfully exposed a variety of society’s “cherished”
institutions, including The Famous Writers School, and Elizabeth
Arden’s Maine Chance spa in Arizona, is best known for The American
Way of Death, a scathing indictment of the funeral industry.

In reaction to the muckrakers’ criticism of corporate America, the
fledgling fields of advertising and public relations rapidly grew in
size and importance. The powerful propagandistic vehicles these
growing fields provided gave corporate America the manipulative
tools it needed to respond to the journalists’ exposés. A loose corpo-
rate conspiracy ensued, one designed to discredit journalists, and
along with the threat of World War I and other factors, the curtain
came down on the Golden Age of journalism.

But there were some journalists who continued to dedicate them-
selves to exposing corporate crime, political corruption, and social
injustice, and they did not disappear with the end of that sparkling
era. However, the talent, energy, and impact of those dozens of inves-
tigative journalists concentrating their efforts in that first decade have
not been seen since.

Research I did for Stories That Changed America: Muckrakers of the
20th Century (Seven Stories Press, 2000) provides an insight into the
pattern of investigative journalism from those early days. The twenty
stories selected for the book had to have a major, positive impact on
society. They span a broad spectrum of critical issues, from corporate
and political corruption, to the environment, population growth, and
civil rights. They are an eclectic collection bound together by a
common theme — they all helped make America a better place, which
one might say is a proper goal for investigative journalism.

Consider, for a moment, the lasting impact of the words written
by the following authors:

Ida Mae Tarbell broke up the Standard Oil monopoly.
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Lincoln Steffens exposed political and corporate crime from the
cities to the nation’s capitol.

Upton Sinclair went undercover to expose corrupt meatpacking
practices that led to the creation of the Food and Drug Administration.

Margaret Sanger fought politicians, the church, and censors to
pave the way for birth control in the United States.

Rachel Carson’s words exposed the hazards of poisonous chemi-
cals and launched the Environmental Protection Agency.

Edward R. Murrow’s telecast about Senator Joseph McCarthy led
to the downfall of the anticommunist tyrant and his reign of terror.

Betty Friedan’s Feminist Mystique launched the women'’s libera-
tion movement.

Michael Harrington’s haunting description of America’s invisible
poor led to the War on Poverty and many of today’s social welfare
programs.

Ralph Nader first exposed unsafe cars and then went on to create
a host of powerful consumer, political, and environmental groups that
fight corporate and political crime.

BLEAK FUTURE FOR INVESTIGATIVE JOURNALISM

Based on my research for Stories That Changed America, 1 would say
that the current outlook for investigative journalism in America is
bleak at best. Four of the twenty stories were from the first two
decades of the twentieth century. In the four decades from the twen-
ties to the fifties, there were just three stories. The 1960s and 1970s
were by far the most productive years in contemporary muckraking.
Thirteen of the stories that changed America occurred during those
turbulent years, a time of individual introspection, idealism, and
social activism. The final two stories selected for the book were “Diet
for a Small Planet,” by Frances Moore Lappé (1971) and the Watergate
coverage by Bob Woodward and Carl Bernstein (1972/1973).
Ironically signaling the end of that muckraking era was the assassi-
nation of Don Bolles, an investigative journalist with the Arizona Republic.
Bolles was investigating local connections between business, politics, and
organized crime, much in the manner Lincoln Steffens delved into cor-
ruption in the cities. Bolles was fatally wounded when a remote dyna-
mite bomb was detonated in his car on June 2, 1976. His death led to the
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creation of Investigative Reporters and Editors (IRE), a nonprofit organi-
zation based at the University of Missouri. It is a major resource center
for investigative journalists in print, electronic, and online media.

The last quarter of the twentieth century did not produce any
earth-shattering exposés that had the same impact as the stories cited
above. Instead, it was a time when journalists became superstars, dis-
tracted by money rather than concerned with the public’s right to
know. As Don Hewitt, executive producer of 60 Minutes, once told Bill
Moyers, “The 1990s were a terrible time for journalism in this country
but a wonderful time for journalists; we're living like [General Elec-
tric’s CEO] Jack Welch.” Moyers astutely noted, “Perhaps that’s why
we aren’t asking tough questions of Jack Welch.”

While the early Golden Age of journalism was marked by a fortu-
itous congruence of dedicated authors, courageous editors and pub-
lishers, progressive politicians, and an outraged public, the circum-
stances are far different now. Today we have journalists dedicated to
the pursuit of high salaries and prestigious awards, a paucity of
courageous editors and publishers, a near reactionary political envi-
ronment, and a public distracted by junk food news about O.].
Simpson, Jon Benét Ramsey, and Monica Lewinsky.

Even television newsmagazine shows that built their ratings and rep-
utations with hard-hitting exposé journalism appear to be fading now.
Mike Wallace, award-winning correspondent for 60 Minutes, conceded,
“It's a question of time, money, and the ratings business.” He added that
newsmagazines are doing “damned little” significant investigative jour-
nalism and that what they do is “much softer than it used to be.”2

SIX FACTORS DOOMING
INVESTIGATIVE REPORTING

There are at least six specific conditions contributing to the dearth if
not impending death of investigative journalism in America.

1. The growing impact of litigation against the news media
became an important variable in journalism in the late twentieth cen-
tury. When ABC television used undercover journalists to explore
meat hazards at the Food Lion grocery chain in North Carolina in 1992,
they were sued and found guilty of misrepresenting themselves to get
the story, a legal gambit used to avoid libel laws. While a jury initially



awarded Food Lion $5.5 million in punitive damages, an appeals court
overturned the verdict in October 1999, exonerating ABC of any fraud.
But the time and cost of the litigation was not lost on media executives.

Upton Sinclair got his remarkable story for The Jungle by similarly
misrepresenting himself in the meatpacking yards of Chicago in pre-
litigious 1905. As a result, the nation got its first food and drug laws.
When ABC used the same basic technique to expose conditions at
Food Lion, the issue of deadly meat was obscured by the lawsuit.
There was no improvement in the nation’s food and drug laws. In
fact, there was an increase in deaths from E. coli-laden meat during
the 1990s. Further, Professor Ronald Cotterill, an antitrust authority at
the University of Connecticut’'s Food Marketing Policy Center,
described the current working conditions in meatpacking as “now
clearly more dangerous and debilitating than at any time since Upton
Sinclair wrote The Jungle [in 1906].”3

Corporate America successfully fought the muckrakers in the
early twentieth century with advertising and public relations and is
now trying to do the same with lawyers and the courts.

2. Another factor that does not bode well for the future of inves-
tigative journalism is the growing censorship of sensitive or contro-
versial subjects resulting from the monopolization of the media. As
the publishing and broadcast industries are increasingly owned and
controlled by conglomerates, there will be fewer and fewer media
available to reformers. Media scholar Ben Bagdikian points out in The
Media Monopoly (Beacon Press, 1997) that there were fifty major media
corporations in 1993, and now there are only about half a dozen. It
would be a truly naive journalist at NBC who would expect his net-
work to air a report on the hazards of low-level radiation by nuclear
reactors built by General Electric, which also owns NBC.

While the Internet, a new medium purported to be a fount of infor-
mation by some observers, provides a soapbox for all critics, it has to
somehow authenticate its sources of information or misinformation
before it can be taken seriously as a dependable news medium.

3. There is an ominous trend from individual investigative
reporting toward a corporate group approach. Nineteen of the stories
cited in Stories That Changed America resulted from dedicated individual
efforts, often at the cost of personal sacrifice. Just one story, Watergate,
in 1972, emerged from a group effort. This trend, from individual to
group journalism, was confirmed when the Pulitzer Prizes were



announced for 1999. In the eighty-two-year history of the prizes, the
Pulitzer Prize board has overwhelmingly recognized the achievements
of individuals. But in 1999, for the first time, a majority (seven out of
thirteen) of the traditionally individual awards went to collectives such
as newspaper and wire service staffs. The 2000 Pulitzers for breaking
news reporting, explanatory reporting, national reporting, and interna-
tional reporting all went to groups of two or more journalists.

Muckraking is most effective when done by individuals driven by
social conscience who won’t be deterred from their goals by corporate
groupthink or allegiance to some corporate entity.

4. The future for investigative journalism also looks bleak
because of the U.S. Supreme Court’s Hazelwood School District v.
Kuhlmeier ruling in 1988. The decision gave high school administra-
tors the power to censor student publications in advance, reversing a
longtime trend of Supreme Court First Amendment support for
freedom of expression issues on high school campuses. The case
involved students of a suburban St. Louis high school who were pre-
vented from publishing articles about teenage pregnancy and the
effects of divorce on high school students in the student newspaper.
Censorship by prior restraint—which was the case in this instance —
is the most onerous form of censorship. Oddly enough, this apparent
gross violation of the First Amendment has been generally ignored by
the major news media. Despite ongoing student protest and a belief
by many that Hazelwood is unconstitutional, the 1988 ruling still
stands today. Now America’s future journalists are being trained at an
early age to acknowledge and acquiesce to censorship as a function of
their profession. The 1988 ruling reversed a longtime trend of First
Amendment support for freedom of expression issues on high school
campuses. Oddly enough, this onerous violation of the First Amend-
ment has been ignored by the major news media. Despite a belief by
many that Hazelwood is unconstitutional, and ongoing student
protests, it is still unchallenged in 2001.

5. Another potential deterrent to the future of investigative jour-
nalism is that the public is losing faith in the media’s ability to fulfill its
role as a media watchdog. The public, concerned with the problems it
sees around it, but bedazzled by junk food news, now questions not
only the way the press does its job, but also its basic values and con-
cerns. In 1985, a national survey found that 54 percent of the public per-
ceived the press as “moral” and just 13 percent saw it as “immoral.” In
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June 2001, a follow-up study revealed that 40 percent of the public now
see the news media as “immoral” while 38 percent see them as “moral.”4

If the people continue to lose faith in the news media, we can’t
expect them to trust what the press has to say, whether it’s about
tainted meat or corrupt politicians. In fact, the constitutional privilege
of the press might itself be vulnerable to repeal. A national poll of
public attitudes about the state of the First Amendment conducted by
the Freedom Forum, a nonpartisan foundation dedicated to the
research and study of a free press and free speech, revealed a signifi-
cant deterioration in the public’s support of First Amendment rights,
including the rights of speech and press. Released in June 2001, the
poll showed that an alarming 39 percent of the people feel that the
First Amendment goes too far in the rights it guarantees. A year ear-
lier, the figure was 22 percent.

6. In the final analysis, it is the media’s bottom line —the profit
and loss statement — that causes the greatest concern for the future of
investigative journalism. Corporate media executives perceive their
primary, and often sole, responsibility to be the need to maximize
profits for the next quarterly statement and not, as some observers
would have it, to inform the public. This attitude is not lost on jour-
nalists. An April 2000 survey of nearly three hundred journalists and
news executives conducted by the Pew Research Center and the
Columbia Journalism Review revealed that more than a quarter of the
journalists surveyed admitted that they avoid going after important
stories that might affect the financial interests of their news organiza-
tions or advertisers. Altogether, 41 percent of the respondents said
that they either purposely avoid newsworthy stories and/or soften
the tone of stories to benefit the interests of their news organizations.

Many of the stories annually cited by Project Censored as “cen-
sored” do not support the financial interests of media corporations or
their advertisers. Investigative journalism also is more expensive (it
takes more time and requires more legwork and resources) than the
“public stenography” school of journalism practiced at many media
outlets. There also is the “don’t rock the boat” mentality that pervades
corporate media boardrooms and then filters down to the newsrooms.
It doesn’t take long for the bright young journalist at ABC to recog-
nize that the chairman of the board at Disney, which happens to own
ABC, does not appreciate aggressive journalists who might be
tempted to investigate reported cases of employee discrimination at
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Disney World. This kind of corporate socialization has been exacer-
bated by the multibillion-dollar, megamedia mergers that created
international giants such as AOL Time Warner, Disney, General Elec-
tric, News Corporation, and Viacom. The need to play it safe became
more and more pervasive as the boats grew in size.

THE HISTORY OF STANDARD OIL —-PART II

Who among today’s establishment media would authorize and sup-
port an updated investigative report on Standard Oil’s activities since
Ida Mae Tarbell’s investigation ended with the publication of The His-
tory of the Standard Oil Company?

The History of the Standard Oil Company, Part II, would have to hold
Standard Oil accountable for its role in the conspiracy to destroy rapid
transit systems in more than one hundred cities nationwide in the
1930s and 1940s, which has been described as perhaps the greatest
economic crime in history. In 1949, Standard Oil of California and the
other companies involved were convicted in the conspiracy and fined
$5,000 each.

The History of the Standard Oil Company, Part II would have to
reveal Standard Oil’s traitorous but profitable relationship with Nazi
Germany both before and during World War II. In 1933, Standard Oil
of New Jersey invested $2 million in Germany to help them make
gasoline for war purposes. After Hitler came to power, Standard Oil
gave Germany the patents for tetraethyl lead, a crucial ingredient for
one hundred-octane aviation fuel. And in 1942, after America entered
the war, while Americans struggled with coupons and lines at the gas
stations, Standard Oil was shipping fuel to the enemy through neutral
Switzerland.>

The History of the Standard Oil Company, Part II would have to
reveal that Standard Oil knew since the 1920s that leaded gasoline
was a public health menace but continued to put lead in gasoline to
prevent engine knocking until 1986 when leaded gasoline was
banned. In the 1960s, Standard Oil of California marketed this lethal
product with a gasoline additive called “F-310" as an antipollutant. Its
marketing theme, “It cleans your engine as it runs,” was so deceitful
that the Federal Trade Commission issued a “cease and desist” order
banning the advertising.
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If some dedicated journalist ever wrote such a book, what media,
outside of the alternative press, would have the fortitude to publish it?

The unseemly power of corporations like Standard Oil over the
public’s weal is not new. Several of our presidents warned us about it
earlier. President Thomas Jefferson cited the aristocracy of moneyed
corporations who defy the laws of our country; President Abraham
Lincoln warned that wealth concentrated in a few hands could
destroy the republic; and President Dwight D. Eisenhower feared the
influence of the military-industrial complex. We didn’t heed their
warnings, and today the United States reflects the dangers they cau-
tioned us about. But there are no investigative journalists to sound the
alarm of this corporate takeover of our democracy.

What is needed to reverse the unfortunate trend away from inves-
tigative journalism is fairly evident. The critical first step is for the
press to acknowledge it has a problem, something it has yet to do. The
full extent of the see, hear, and speak no evil mentality can be seen in
a special thirty-two-page report on investigative journalism pub-
lished in the May/June 2001 issue of Columbia Journalism Review
(CJR), the self-appointed monitor of the press.

The CJR report asks, “Are Watchdogs an Endangered Species?”
and ominously answers, “The existence of investigative reporting
isn’t guaranteed.” This remarkable admission, announced in the CJR,
published by Columbia University’s Graduate School of Journalism,
could be expected to set off alarms in the profession. But it didn’t, pos-
sibly because of the convoluted explanation CJR offered its readers.

TOO MUCH INVESTIGATIVE JOURNALISM?

The CJR article suggests the reason investigative reporting is in
trouble is that there is too much of it, specifically by the television
media. There has been a “diminution of watchdog reporting by dilu-
tion.” Apparently this torrent of investigative reporting has “created
a permanent infrastructure of news devoted to exposure.” But the
problem is that the local news teams, featured in “I-Team” and prime-
time newsmagazines, “do not monitor the powerful elite and guard
against the potential for tyrannical abuse.” Instead, the CJR article
charges, they merely inform the public of dangers to its personal
safety or finances. In the best of all worlds, it would seem that this
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would be the proper role for the local media, on guard against the
local elite and tyrannical abuse, while leaving the big crooks and
tyrants to the major national media.

Thus, CJR appears to conclude that the real reason for the failure
of investigative journalism in the future is that there is too much of it
on too many insignificant issues. The article doesn’t mention the pos-
sible threat to investigative reporting from litigation, monopolization,
journalism student indoctrination, or the pressure to make a profit.

Meanwhile, this lengthy puff piece on mainstream media organi-
zations and journalists fails to acknowledge the existence of a thriving
alternative press in America. There are more than 250 alternative
media ranging from the Boston Phoenix to the Village Voice to the San
Francisco Bay Guardian where much of the investigative reporting that
does occur takes place.

Nor did the magazine mention the Center for Investigative
Reporting, an award-winning San Francisco-based group of inves-
tigative journalists founded in 1977 who have written hundreds of
important exposés about money in politics, the environment, public
health and safety, and government secrecy.

Nor, for that matter, did CJR mention my own foundling, Project
Censored, the longest-running news media research effort in the world
that regularly reports on the performance of major media (www.pro-
jectcensored.org). The project annually exposes the top twenty-five
news stories that the mainstream media overlook, undercover, or censor.

The first step needed to correct the situation is for the major media
and its monitor, CJR, to admit that there is a problem. Then, we need
dedicated journalists giving us the facts, courageous publishers and
editors providing the necessary soapbox, an outraged public
demanding change, and responsible politicians to pass legislation
where needed to solve the problems.

Fortunately, despite the many obstacles, there will always be
some crusading individuals, be they investigative journalists, muck-
rakers, or whistle-blowers, who are willing to undergo great sacri-
fices, both personal and financial, to expose the crimes, the tricks, and
the swindles cited by Joseph Pulitzer.

One person who saw the problem and was courageous enough to
speak out about it was Jay Harris, the former publisher of the San José
Mercury News. Harris resigned his position on March 19, 2001, rather
than fire staff members to meet the profit demands of the paper’s cor-
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porate owner, Knight Ridder. Harris said the constitutionally pro-
tected press “should not be managed primarily according to the
demands of the market or the dictates of a handful of large share-
holders.” In a speech he made to the American Society of Newspaper
Editors shortly after resigning, Harris warned, “The trend threatening
newspapers’ historic public service mission is clear —if we’re willing
to see it. And it can be challenged and reversed —if we’re willing to
speak out. Of course, many are unable, or unwilling, to see or speak
the truth of the situation. One reason is that the high salaries many of
our leaders receive, in newsrooms and business offices as well as cor-
porate headquarters, have turned into golden handcuffs. And those
handcuffs have morphed into blindfolds and gags as well.” Harris
rejected the golden handcuffs and spoke out. His voice should not
remain a lonely one in journalism.

TEDDY ROOSEVELT HAD IT ALL WRONG

In an interesting footnote to the history of muckraking in America, we
must note that the term “muckraker” is a misnomer as President Roo-
sevelt used it when he spoke before the Gridiron Club of newspa-
permen in Washington, D.C., in March of 1906. He called the inves-
tigative journalists muckrakers and likened them to the man with the
muckrake in John Bunyon’s Pilgrim’s Progress, who, Roosevelt said,
could “look no way but downward, with the muckrake in his hand;
who was offered a celestial crown for his muckrake, but who would
neither look up or regard the crown he was offered, but continued to
rake to himself the filth on the floor.”

The Gridiron speech was off the record. But a month later, on
April 14, while dedicating the cornerstone of the House of Represen-
tatives office building, Roosevelt gave the same speech on the record,
publicly labeling writers as muckrakers. He used the term in a pejo-
rative sense to accuse them of being so busy stirring up the mud at
their feet that they could not see the good things in America.

Ironically, it appears that Roosevelt misinterpreted the “Inter-
preter” of Bunyan's allegorical narrative. Bunyan’s “Interpreter” was
actually extolling the virtues of simple poverty. He described how the
wealthy are obsessed with looking downward to rake more riches
when they should have been looking up at the celestial beauty above



them. The term “muckraker” would more accurately describe the
robber barons of Roosevelt’s time, not the journalists. John D. Rocke-
feller was king of the muckrakers, not Lincoln Steffens.

TODAY, IT’'S “WATCH WHAT YOU SAY”

Shortly after the outbreak of the First Terrorist War of the twenty-first
century, I was reminded of what U.S. Senator Hiram Johnson said
during World War I: “The first casualty when war comes, is truth.”
This saying probably dates back to the earliest wars of any kind. But,
this time there is a difference. If truth is the first casualty of war, this
time the First Amendment may be the second casualty of war.

Post-September 11, 2001, the free flow of information in America
is slowing to a carefully monitored trickle.

The president of the United States says he can only trust eight
members of Congress.

The attorney general admonishes Congress to pass the controver-
sial Anti-Terrorism Act without debate.

The national security adviser cautions television networks not to
broadcast press conferences with Taliban leaders because they may
contain hidden messages.

The military tells the press this is a “different war” and thus can’t
observe the 1992 agreement allowing the media more access to infor-
mation.

The State Department tells the Voice of America radio network not to
broadcast an interview with Taliban leader Mullah Muhammad Omar.

The president’s press secretary warns the media and all Ameri-
cans to watch what they say and watch what they do.

These are ominous signs for a democracy. We may be united in
our effort to bring the terrorists to justice, but we should not be so
willing to give up our civil rights and civil liberties.

We must not allow patriotism to become an excuse for censorship.
This is where Project Censored, the national media research project
headquartered at Sonoma State University, plays such an important
role in our society.

Project Censored is an early warning system of the problems that
plague us. Over the years it tried to warn us about many of the chal-
lenges we now face.
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One of those challenges is the threat of biological and chemical
attacks in the United States. In the past ten years, Project Censored
raised the issue of biological and chemical warfare seven times. A
1981 story reported that while research on these weapons was banned
in 1969 due to public pressure, the CIA still maintained biological
warfare stockpiles. Further, a 1998 story revealed that the biological
weapons materials the UN inspection teams were seeking in Iraq was
supplied by U.S. firms.

Another challenge is the possible Taliban use of American-made
Stinger missiles against our aircraft. A censored story of 1993 told how
the CIA was desperately but unsuccessfully trying to buy back hun-
dreds of surface-to-air Stinger missiles that it secretly gave the Afghan
guerrillas a few years earlier. The top censored story of 1997 said the
United States was the principal arms merchant for the world and
warned that United States troops may be at risk from our own
weapons.

In 1984, Project Censored reported that the United States had
secretly given the Afghan rebels up to $300 million in covert aid, far
more than the controversial $24 million it had given the Nicaraguan
Contras. A censored story in 1989 revealed how CBS News broadcast
pro-guerrilla biased news coverage of the Afghanistan war.

Ironically, one of the censored stories of 1983 reported how the Pen-
tagon wanted to establish special “state defense forces” to prevent or
suppress terrorism. The proposal failed. (For more information on these
and other censored stories, please visit www.projectcensored.org.)

The tragic events of September 11 shocked many Americans who
could not believe anyone could hate us that much. An explanation
might be found in the number seven censored story of 1999. It
reported how international news began to fade from America’s news-
papers in the 1970s following the Vietnam War.

Journalist Peter Arnett offered one explanation as to why Ameri-
cans are less informed about what’s going on in the rest of the world:
“Most of the nation’s newspapers and magazines and television sta-
tions, seeking greater profits through larger audiences, fed the public
a diet of crime news, celebrity gossip, and soft features, choosing to
exclude more serious topics that news managers feared would not
stimulate public attention.”6

All this is not to say that the terrorist acts would not have taken
place if the press had provided us with more objective coverage of the
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Middle East, but perhaps it would have made us more vigilant and
better prepared.

Unfortunately, instead of alerting us to these and other important
issues, the news media distracted us with a phenomenon Project Cen-
sored calls junk food news —stories about O.]. Simpson, Y2K, Monica
Lewinsky, Gary Condit, and “reality” television programs like Survivor.

Finally, we urge the press to be responsible in its coverage of this
conflict. It is far easier but less responsible to beat the drums when jin-
goism runs loose in the streets than to carefully report events in a con-
text that makes sense.

In the same way that we survived Pearl Harbor, we will survive
the September 11 terrorist attack. In the meantime, let us not be ter-
rorized into giving up any of our constitutionally guaranteed rights.
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l he building inspector’s son leapt onto the hood of our car and

from there onto the roof. He was a large guy, in his early twen-
ties and about six foot three inches and two hundred pounds. Of
course, he seemed much bigger while he was pounding on the roof
and yelling that he was going to kill us.

He then jumped down beside the driver’s-side door, pulled it
open, and tried to drag out my partner, Dick Johnson. Dick stepped
on the gas pedal slowly, increasing the speed until the son, running
alongside the car, let go.

I could see the son sprint back to his red sports car and begin the
pursuit again. He had first run us off the road shortly after we had
interviewed his father at home. For the past few weeks, we had
watched the father going to tag sales, driving aimlessly, and generally
loafing on his city job. We had conducted a courteous, low-key inter-
view on the inspector’s front lawn while his son watched from a dis-
tance. Dick and I had noticed the son’s glare and cut the interview
short, but we had not gotten away fast enough.

351
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Eventually, we lost the red sports car in traffic and drove back to the
newsroom. As we calmed down, Dick reached over and turned off the
tape recorder sitting on the front seat. Somehow, in the midst of almost
being pulled from the car, Dick had turned it on with his free hand.

We rewound the tape and played it as we crossed the bridge into
Kansas City. We could clearly hear the son’s yells and screams, the
screeching tires, and our ongoing conversation, strained yet quiet,
during the chase.

We never pressed charges, and we never included the incident in
a series on building inspectors who often did anything but inspect
buildings. The series, based on months of surveillance, won some
awards. But I remember best the different lessons I learned from Dick
Johnson —other than turning on a tape recorder while being assaulted.

He was tireless, modest, evenhanded, a great “document guy,”
and a quiet but relentless interviewer. His answer to any impediments
was to say “fair enough” and continue on.

He once fielded a complaint phone call from Nick Civella, the
head of the Kansas City mob, in such a good-natured fashion that he
convinced Nick to agree to a lengthy interview that became the last
day in a series on organized crime.

He kept careful notes in a three-ring binder, with dividers, and he
wrote a weekly memo on how each investigation was proceeding. He
could express impatience or outrage about public servants who did bad
jobs, but he kept things in perspective, and he had a wry sense of humor.

We need more investigative reporters like him. But Dick is no
longer in journalism. He left it nearly two decades ago to take a secure
job that paid him to organize and write. He had a family. He wanted
to see his kids in daylight hours, and he wanted to earn a salary that
would allow him to take care of them.

I think he always viewed investigative reporting as a young
person’s pursuit, and his family, like many journalists’ families, fre-
quently asked what he would do when he grew up.

Investigative journalism has had a reputation as a chronic adoles-
cent. It's contrary, abrasive, and to the regular person, sometimes
inappropriate and offensive. It's an annoying conscience that can be
right even when it doesn’t know every single fact. It doesn’t smile
much, and it argues excessively.

Not surprisingly, investigative reporting and reporters are always
under attack—sometimes by their own colleagues. Powerful people
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and corporations want it censored, and they usually have quite a bit
of success. More worrisome, the corporations appear to be getting
better at quashing stories.

Yet each year new investigative journalists come along undaunted
and eager, often starting at the local level, where if a reporter is
wrong, the offended party is right across the desk the next day.

Other essays in this book delve into some of the most controver-
sial stories recently done on a national or international scale and the
conflicts in doing (or not doing) those stories. The stories behind these
stories are critically important and illuminate the imminent danger of
death for investigative journalism. I want to focus, however, on the
support and knowledge I got from Dick Johnson and the other jour-
nalists who got me started and kept me going, despite the realities of
journalism in a corporate age.

I don’t think my career has been particularly unique. My investi-
gations have been often local and below the media radar screen. But I
hope I speak for the reporters who have been inspired by the big
investigative stories and the courage of those who do them.

Most reporters don’t receive many awards or recognition for their
work, no matter how important the stories have been to their com-
munities. Their reward is seeing the story come together and getting
thanked by those the story helped or protected. At least, that’s the
way it worked for me.

I do know that when my stories went national, the techniques
didn’t change much. The level of sophistication in media manipula-
tion and attempts at corruption and intimidation did increase. But the
stories still involved people who didn’t want to talk, or bureaucrats
who denied access to documents. And they still offered someone who
would supply a tip or open a door.

I began my career at the Woburn Daily Times, a family-owned
newspaper in a blue-collar town outside Boston. Like many rookie
reporters, I did a little of everything. While writing sports features
and game stories, I also covered a school board in the adjoining,
wealthier town of Winchester.

It was 1976. Investigative reporting was in. All the President’s Men
was out as a movie. The Boston Globe had its investigative unit, called
the “Spotlight Team.” There were two Boston alternative papers that
had weekly investigative specials. Publishers actively signed and sold
books about investigative reporting. Ambitious reporters read
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Leonard Downie’s book, The New Muckrakers, again and again, partic-
ularly paying attention to how Woodward and Bernstein first did
investigations at local papers.

All of it was exciting and meaningful. I learned about investigative
reporting by reading about it and reading it carefully, line by line. I could
apply what I was leaming to make one more call, to wait long hours for
interviews, to work hard to get documents and cultivate sources.

In my first small newsroom, I got to watch Charlie Ryan, an expe-
rienced reporter, work on stories on Woburn’s tainted wells and the
possible links to children’s leukemia. Sources and victims visited him,
bringing him information and tips. It was a local investigation that
caught the national media’s attention and eventually became the sub-
ject of books and a movie called A Civil Action.

In that newsroom, I also learned that publishers have friends and
that there was little chance there would be an investigative story on those
friends unless they screwed up so badly the publisher couldn’t ignore it.

So there has always been censorship. Now the censorship is more
corporate, legal and, when necessary, subtle. Back then, it seemed
simpler. No reporter was going to skewer the publishers’ friends.
Thank goodness, they didn’t have that many friends. And I was for-
tunate there were no friends in Winchester, the town I first covered.

One night at a school board meeting, a source tipped me off that
the one black teacher at the all-white Winchester high school had quit
after the students repeatedly chanted “nigger, nigger, nigger” at her
during her classes.

No one would talk on the record. Everyone hoped the problem
would go away with the teacher. The teacher herself would not return
phone calls, but I found out where she and her husband lived. When
I knocked on the door, only the husband answered and said his wife
was out of town. But eventually he let me in to talk, and when she
called to check in with him, he convinced her to speak to me and con-
firm what had happened.

Within a few days it became a statewide story, a Justice Depart-
ment investigation ensued, and Winchester began to confront the
racial issues it had ignored during the Boston school-busing violence
in the 1960s.

That spurred me on to do investigations into regional education
programs, and revealing malfeasance and wrongdoing at vocational
schools and in migrant education programs. Often, I would do the



'HOUSTON _. GO OUT ™

stories in the Daily Times and then write a reaction piece for the Boston
Sunday Globe where I also was stringing.

For one year, I worked on stories about a regional vocational
school where officials behaved as though they were running a “Little
Chicago.” The school was its own investigative primer. I learned how
nepotism and patronage worked, writing my first “family affair”
story after discovering that the school’s administrators made a prac-
tice of hiring relatives and friends of school board members and staff.
I also found out how grants could be misused, and how administra-
tors used the proceeds from a students” gourmet club to go to Paris.

Frequently, I got ideas for stories by just looking around as I drove
to work —something I learned from the examples in The New Muck-
rakers. While driving through Woburn’s city square every day, I
noticed traffic lights wrapped in burlap bags for several weeks. It
turned out that they were part of an intersection project that had been
rejected by the city council after the project was finished. A few dozen
phone calls and two trips to the federal highway agency that had
funded the intersection project led me to a much bigger story. The
bagged traffic lights were part of an $80 million program that had pro-
duced almost no workable intersections anywhere. Either the work
had been rejected—as in Woburn’s case—or the changes made
resulted in traffic moving dangerously fast or frustratingly slow. In
fact, the program had created several intersections that were so dan-
gerous that adults and children had been hit by speeding cars.

Furthermore, it turned out that under this federal program’s
guidelines, local government could indeed reject a project even after it
had been completed. Specifically, the guidelines allowed local officials
to reject a project at 25 percent completion, 50 percent completion, 75
percent completion, and 100 percent completion. It was quite a waste.

During this period, I went to my first conference of Investigative
Reporters and Editors Inc. Back then, the conferences were still small,
and most of us could pack into one room.

I remember seeing Seymour Hersh at that conference in 1979.
Although under legal attack from the Gulf and Western oil company
for stories he had done about the company’s alleged bad business
practices, Hersh spoke freely about the stories that had appeared in the
New York Times, and he criticized the behavior of Gulf and Western’s
attorneys toward him. Hersh’s attorneys probably were going crazy
over his statements, but it fired up every journalist in the room.




At that conference, I not only discovered there was an organiza-
tion for those of us who wanted to do this work, but that there were
all these veteran journalists who would share their skills. Amazing.

I moved to Montana in 1979, thinking I had a job with a paper there
called the Missoulian. The paper had done some strong investigative
work, and the editor was encouraging on the phone when he heard my
background. But when I arrived, the paper had just fired its two inves-
tigative reporters for doing stories on how naive Rocky Mountain
women were getting picked up and turned out as prostitutes by big city
pimps. A Washington, D.C., pimp had killed a young woman from Mis-
soula after picking her up at a Missoula bar and taking her back to D.C.

The community didn’t want to hear that story, and wealthy citi-
zens made plans to start another paper and before long the reporters
were gone. | wasn’t surprised there was no work for me there.

By 1980, I returned to Boston to work for a small news service. I
actually got the job by going to another IRE conference in Kansas City
and looking at the job board.

Sue Bass, a former Associated Press reporter, had started a news
agency, the Daylight News Service. She wanted her news service to do
investigative reports that could be syndicated to local newspapers.

It was a tough sell, and Daylight News lasted only a few years. I
was her first full-time reporter, and I have no idea how she put up
with me. We clashed over most everything at first, but by the time I
left we were friends, and I think we were both pleased with how the
stories had turned out.

She gave me the opportunity to work on statehouse stories and to
learn from some great reporters. It was another of those times in jour-
nalism where the most experienced reporters were getting laid off,
and the Daylight News Service provided a temporary place to work for
these reporters before they got their next jobs.

I remember one reporter deciding to look at judges’ expenses and
actually getting original invoices. He taught me to scrutinize docu-
ments more closely than I had ever done before. When he thought some
receipts looked odd, he held them up to the light and found that a judge
had actually been altering figures to get higher reimbursements.
Another reporter had a memory bank that I have never seen replicated.
I would ask him about some politico or mobster, and he would light his
pipe, lean back, and list stories about them, who their family members
were and what their political connections were; all without notes.
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At Daylight News Service, I also got a chance to revisit part of the
Woburn story on wells. The federal government had decided that
man-made pits filled with arsenic needed to have latex sprayed across
them, so that when the latex dried, it would seal the arsenic inside the
pits. The owner of the property said he couldn’t afford to spend the
few thousand dollars to do so.

Taking what I had learned at IRE conferences from Bob Greene,
who was an investigative editor at Newsday, and from IRE’s first
Reporter’s Handbook, I did my first real estate search. After visiting two
county offices for several days, I found the owner of the pits actually
had other properties worth more than $1 million. I further confirmed
it by finding a lawsuit filed against the owner by his brother, to whom
he owed money. This all came as news, of course, to the assistant U.S.
attorney on the case.

In 1981 I headed to Kansas City to work for the Kansas City Star.
My first interview was with an editor at the now-defunct Kansas City
Times. The editor, Paul Haskins, was tough and did not tolerate fools.
He said he had nothing for me but recommended me to an editor at
the Kansas City Star. Later, Haskins told me he had seen a small seed
of potential in my work (a very small seed), and he hoped I might do
something of worth one day.

I had only worked at the Kansas City Star a few months as a
bureau reporter when two skywalks at the Hyatt Hotel collapsed and
killed 114 people and injured more than 200. I got called downtown
because I could do fast rewrites. While there, I watched as two project
reporters, Tom Watts and Rick Alm, pieced together the cause of the
collapse within a few days.

From that experience my goal was to work on investigations full-
time. At every opportunity, I spent my free time working on inves-
tigative pieces. Some of them made it to the front page with the help
of my editor, Pam Johnson, and that got me transferred to the Kansas
City, Kansas, bureau, where I thought I had entered a Dashiell Ham-
mett novel. The sheriff’s deputies ran the exotic-dancer bars. County
commissioners and politicians socialized with mobsters. The finance
commissioner’s secretary was found dead in a car trunk. And a major
part of the 1980s bank scandal unraveled at a small financial institu-
tion called the Indian Springs State Bank.

One night the bank’s president killed himself by driving his car
into a war monument at eighty miles an hour. Within days, the bank
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board discovered millions of dollars in bad loans in his desk that they
never knew about. The loans were for land in Hawaii that wasn’t
close to the worth of the loans.

For months, another reporter, Eric Palmer, and I covered the
impending failure of the bank and revealed the questionable practices
that led to it. In a very short time, we found there was a group of “bank
serial killers” working across the country, using large short-term deposits
from a Long Island money broker to entice financial institutions into
making bad loans that resulted in those institutions going under.

Initially, the Star’s business editor tried to spike our reports,
calling them all nonstories. But other newsroom editors stayed inter-
ested when we reported the large number of loans that the bank had
made to Kansas City mobsters. We also reported on the assassination
attempt on one of the conspirators and on the make-up of the bank’s
board that included a disbarred lawyer convicted of felonies, and an
airline owner who also provided gunrunning services for the CIA.

The stories ran just as two Kansas City entrepreneurs were cre-
ating a chain of hard-nosed business weeklies in cities throughout the
United States, and during the scandal, the local business journal was
our toughest competition. Eric and I, without knowing it, joined a
new trend: investigative business reporting in the local community.

I soon was attending business panels at IRE and listening to pro-
ponents of this kind of investigation such as Diana Henriques and
reporters from the Wall Street Journal. I read Jonathan Kwitny’s Vicious
Circles, about the mob in the marketplace, line by line.

With little forethought or preparation, it became difficult to do
any story without a business angle. Thus, it seemed a natural transi-
tion to start looking into loans made by the U.S. Small Business
Administration. I started the work with Dick Johnson, but he decided
to become an editor during the research stage.

Somehow, it became a snakebitten project. Editors initially
praised the first drafts, then decided the project was worthless. Two
colleagues left for other jobs rather than continue the battle. Eventu-
ally, we resuscitated the project and it ran as a two-day series,
revealing millions of dollars in bad loans.

There were a lot of scars left from the experience, and I never figured
out where things went wrong. But I realized a new era of more cautious
journalism was evolving and that I had better monitor the well-being of
a project in the newsroom much more closely while reporting on it.
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From Kansas City, I followed a great investigative editor, Roger
Moore, to the Hartford Courant, where there was a new emphasis on
local reporting. Roger knew documents and how to cultivate sources.
Even though he was an editor in Hartford, former sources from
Kansas City called him with tips to pass on back to the Star.

The Courant had been sold to Times Mirror, and the management
brought in from Los Angeles had alienated the readers by closing
bureaus and going national in the reporting. The new management,
much of it from Kansas City, was reopening bureaus and encouraging
local investigations.

For two years, there was a significant local or state investigative
report almost every Sunday. I worked on many of those stories with
Mike McGraw, an extraordinary interviewer and source developer, who
is now back at the Kansas City Star, where he won a Pulitzer Prize for an
investigation into the US. Department of Agriculture. While at the
Courant, we exposed abuses in a state veteran’s home and investigated
the reasons behind a building collapse that killed twenty-eight workers.

But in 1987, with advertising slumping, the emphasis changed
and resources were redirected toward routine reporting that would
lure in more advertisers. Roger Moore left his job as metropolitan
editor and was replaced with the paper’s marketing director, who had
some experience as a business reporter.

It looked like investigative reporting had fallen completely out of
favor. I heard at several interdepartmental meetings that the news-
room was “a nonrevenue producingentity.” If that was the case, I sug-
gested, then we could save money by selling the presses and instead
collect and deliver horse manure to our readers’ doorsteps. No one
laughed, but at least they didn’t pursue the idea.

In the meantime, a favorable change was taking place in the pro-
fession, and it allowed me to keep doing in-depth and investigative
reporting.

In 1985, I had read about a reporter, Elliot Jaspin, at the Providence
Journal who used information found in computer databases to do incred-
ible stories on dangerous school bus drivers and state housing finance
authority scams (back then, most of us weren’t sure what a database
was). My experience with computers and databases up to that point had
been an appreciation of Lexis-Nexis searches, the use of a computerized
registry of deeds, and a loathing of the first laptops, known as Trash 80s,
that could destroy stories as quickly as you wrote them.
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I called Elliot, introduced myself, and asked if I could visit him.
He was pleased someone was interested in what he had been up to.
In the subsequent afternoon visit, my view of the potential of inves-
tigative reporting changed. Elliot had obtained and made available to
his newsroom thousands and thousands of records, from drivers’
licenses to campaign contributions, that could be easily searched.
When he wrote stories, he didn’t talk about a search of random
records or a spot-check of them. Using database software, he could
look at all the records and summarize them.

For someone like me who had struggled (and delighted) in
searching through a few hundred records in boxes, this was an
epiphany. I went back to Hartford determined to set up a similar pro-
gram. It took four years of sporadic attempts, but while traditional
investigative reporting was getting less emphasis, the newsroom
managers, including the top editor, Mike Waller, threw their support
behind our computer-assisted reporting efforts.

Working with editor and friend, Kenton Robinson, I collected and
used government databases on workers’ compensation, the environ-
ment, housing, labor issues, the bail and prison system, and state and
federal expenditures. We built other databases ourselves on campaign
contributions, early retirement scams, and unsolved murders.

We found the databases gave the reporting credibility that was
hard to deny or keep out of the paper. Our stories had context and
depth that could not be gained through interviews or paper records.
It was possible to bill a story as “an explainer” (a story that explains
how things work or don’t work) and then deliver a package that
shocked and surprised even the most jaded or conservative editor. At
the same time, while the Web had not appeared, the Internet was up
and functioning, and tips were coming to us by e-mail.

We taught ourselves a lot, but we also relied on Elliot and other
pioneers such as Philip Meyer, Dwight Morris, Jim Brown, Steve Ross,
and Steve Doig* for clues and emergency help.

By 1993, computer-assisted reporting had played a key role in
many admired investigative projects, and IRE had begun training as
many journalists as it could in the new technology and techniques. It

*Pioneers and professors in the field of computer-assisted reporting, Philip Meyer is
a professor at the University of North Carolina; Dwight Morris now runs his own cam-
paign finance consulting firm; Jim Brown teaches at the University of Indiana; Steve Ross
is a professor at Columbia University; Steve Doig is a professor of journalism at Arizona
State University.
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was a logical extension of all the document training IRE had done
since 1975 —after all, databases were just documents gone electronic.

When I got the chance to lead IRE’s training program in com-
puter-assisted reporting in 1994, I left the newsroom after much dis-
cussion and inner turmoil and went to work at the IRE offices at the
University of Missouri. I planned to stay two years or so and then
return to a newsroom. I am still here, eight years later.

What I didn’t know was that I would be in more newsrooms than
I ever imagined. Because the training in database techniques was so
popular, I trained staff in more than twenty newsrooms in the first
year. I worked with some of the best investigative reporters in the
country because generally, it was those with an investigative urge
who were willing to try the new techniques.

By being at IRE, I also saw and heard about hundreds of new
investigative stories each year. Many of them were from local news-
papers and TV. Each time I read about the demise of investigative
reporting, I would see another batch of impressive stories shipped to
our resource center. Many times the stories had been done despite
advertising pressures and diminishing newsroom resources.

Over time I realized I had become the equivalent of an investiga-
tive editor without meaning to. I gave advice over the phone and by
e-mail, I suggested possible avenues of investigation and story ideas,
and I sometimes unofficially looked over rough drafts. Most of all, I
realized that I had a job in which I could get a broad, daily overview
of the changes and challenges of investigative journalism.

Like most journalists, I am a worrier, and I worry constantly about
the state of investigative reporting and how it will survive and thrive
while Wall Street’s obsession with high profits forces newsroom
budget cutbacks.

Then I see the latest investigative story done at a small news orga-
nization, and I start realizing that investigative reporting is a light that
will never be put out. There is a generation of journalists who won't
stop asking why, and there will be another generation following them
no matter what the legal ramifications or corporate controls.

I think we can help ensure that investigative reporting will be
kept strong by training journalists to ask better questions through the
use of databases and other electronic data. We also can help by
enabling journalists to become more sophisticated in their under-
standing of topics like business, health, and science. The future inves-



362 |NTO THE

tigative reporter simply needs more training in the complex issues.
Otherwise readers won’t think a reporter is a fool; they will know it.

But we need to make sure all that technical training is blended
with developed skills of talking to people and having some sympathy
for them. Too often journalists use the phone or e-mail. Too often they
are looking at a poll, a computer screen, or a focus group —instead of
a person.

The strength in an investigative report comes from the journalist
who has been out in the field, who has done solid research, whose
voice is convincing and knowledgeable, and who sees the local angle
in even the most global issue.

One way or another that kind of story will get out.
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l he chapters in this book have provided a devastating account of

the assault on democratic journalism that is taking place in the
United States today. It is a dark picture, but the point of the book is
not to depress people, or to immobilize them. The point is to show
clearly what is transpiring and the troubling implications for a free
people. In this concluding chapter I will locate this critique in a his-
torical context, and argue that, ultimately, the problem is a result of
the nature and structure of the media industries. Therefore, the solu-
tion will require changes in those structures.

Within democratic theory, there are two indispensable functions
that journalism must serve in a self-governing society. First, the media
system must provide a rigorous accounting of people in power and
people who want to be in power, in both the public and private sec-
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tors. This is known as the watchdog role. Second, the media system
must provide reliable information and a wide range of informed opin-
ions on the important social and political issues of the day. No single
medium can or should be expected to provide all of this; but the
media system as a whole should provide easy access to this for all cit-
izens. By these criteria, the U.S. political system is in deep trouble.
Contemporary journalism serves as a tepid and weak-kneed
watchdog over those in power, especially in the corporate sector. And
it scarcely provides any reliable information or range of debate on
many of the basic political and social issues of the day.

In conventional wisdom, these flaws in the American political
system and press are nearly incomprehensible. The profit-driven U.S.
media system is the only acceptable one for a free people. Whatever
limitations for journalism the pursuit of profit might encourage are
acceptable due to the manifold benefits of the market, and, anyway,
there are professional standards to protect against degradation of the
news by commercial pressures. If our journalism is floundering, it is
because professional standards are not being rigorously adhered to,
or because media consumers are sending the wrong message to media
owners. The system works.

In my view, the conventional wisdom is misleading at best, and more
likely dead wrong. It is a major impediment to our actually grasping the
nature of journalism and its place in a truly democratic society. In this
chapter I hope to debunk the conventional wisdom and show that the
media system is, in fact, the source of much of the trouble with our jour-
nalism. I also intend to show that professional journalism is hardly a
panacea, and, even at its best, it is seriously flawed. Specifically, I address
the historical rise of professional journalism, its relationship to private
media power and democracy, and its strengths and weaknesses.

The notion that journalism should be politically neutral, nonpar-
tisan, professional, even “objective,” is not much more than one hun-
dred years old. During the first two or three generations of the
Republic, such notions for the press would have been nonsensical,
even unthinkable. The point of journalism was to persuade as well as
inform, and the press tended to be highly partisan. The free press
clause in the first amendment to the Constitution was seen as a means
to protect dissident political viewpoints, as most newspapers were
closely linked to political parties. It was understood that if the govern-
ment could outlaw or circumscribe newspapers, it could effectively
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eliminate the ability of opposition parties or movements to mobilize
popular support. It would kill democracy. A partisan press system has
much to offer a democratic society, as long as there are numerous,
well-subsidized media providing a broad range of opinion.

During the nineteenth century, the press system remained explic-
itly partisan, but it increasingly became an engine of great profits as
costs plummeted, population increased, and advertising—which
emerged as a key source of revenues — mushroomed. The commercial
press system became less competitive and ever more clearly the
domain of wealthy individuals, who usually had the political views
associated with their class. Throughout this era, socialists, feminists,
abolitionists, trade unionists, and radicals writ large tended to regard
the mainstream commercial press as the mouthpiece of their enemies
and established their own media to advance their interests. Consider,
for example, the United States in the early 1900s. Members and sup-
porters of the Socialist Party of Eugene V. Debs published some 325
English and foreign-language daily, weekly, and monthly newspapers
and magazines. Most of these were privately owned or were the pub-
lications of one of the five thousand Socialist Party locals. They
reached a total of more than two million subscribers. Appeal to Reason,
the socialist newspaper that inspired Jim Weinstein to launch In These
Times, alone had a readership of nearly a million.

From the Gilded Age through the Progressive Era (1870-1915), an
institutional sea change transpired in U.S. media not unlike the one
taking place in the broader political economy. On the one hand, the
dominant newspaper industry became increasingly concentrated into
a handful of massive, multiple-paper owning concerns and all but the
largest communities only had one or two dailies. The economics of
advertising-supported newspapers erected barriers to entry that made
it virtually impossible for small, independent newspapers to succeed,
despite the protection of the Constitution for a “free press.” The dissi-
dent press, too, found market economics treacherous and lost much of
its circulation and influence throughout the first half of the twentieth
century, far in excess of the decline in interest in “dissident” politics. At
the same time, new technologies helped pave the way for the com-
mercial development of national magazines, recorded music, film,
radio, and, later, television as major industries. These all became
highly concentrated industries and engines of tremendous profits.

At the beginning of the twentieth century, these developments led



366  |NTO THE

to a crisis of sorts for U.S. media—or the press, as it was then called.
Commercial media were coming to play a larger and larger role in
people’s lives, yet the media industries were increasingly the province
of a relatively small number of large commercial concerns operating in
noncompetitive markets. The First Amendment promise of a “free
press” was being altered fundamentally. What was originally meant as
a protection for citizens effectively to advocate diverse political view-
points was being transformed into commercial protection for media
corporation investors and managers in noncompetitive markets to do
as they pleased to maximize profit with no public responsibility.

In particular, the rise of the modern commercial-press system
drew attention to the severe contradiction between a privately held
media system and the needs of a democratic society, especially in the
provision of journalism. It was one thing to posit that a commercial
media system worked for democracy when there were numerous
newspapers in a community, when barriers to entry were relatively
low, and when immigrant and dissident media proliferated widely, as
was the case for much of the nineteenth century. For newspapers to be
partisan at that time was no big problem because there were alterna-
tive viewpoints present. It was quite another thing to make such a
claim by the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries when all
but the largest communities only had one or two newspapers, usually
owned by chains or very wealthy and powerful individuals. For jour-
nalism to remain partisan in this context, for it to advocate the inter-
ests of the owners and the advertisers who subsidized it, would cast
severe doubt on the credibility of the journalism.

During the Progressive Era, a criticism of the capitalist press
reached fever pitch in the United States and was a major theme of
muckrakers. Leading reformers, like Robert La Follette of Wisconsin,
argued that the commercial press was destroying democracy in its
rabid service to the moneyed interests. As Henry Adams put it at the
time, “The press is the hired agent of a moneyed system, set up for no
other reason than to tell lies where the interests are concerned.” In 1919,
Upton Sinclair published his opus, The Brass Check, that provided the
first great systematic critique of the limitations of capitalist journalism
for a democratic society. In short, it was widely thought that journalism
was explicit class propaganda in a war with only one side armed. Such
a belief was very dangerous for the business of newspaper publishing,
as many potential readers would find it incredible and unconvincing.



It was in the cauldron of controversy, during the Progressive era,
that the notion of professional journalism came of age. Savvy pub-
lishers understood that they needed to have their journalism appear
neutral and unbiased, notions entirely foreign to the journalism of the
era of the Founding Fathers, or their businesses would be far less
profitable. Publishers pushed for the establishment of formal “schools
of journalism” to train a cadre of professional editors and reporters.
None of these schools existed in 1900; by 1915, all the major schools
such as Columbia, Northwestern, Missouri, and Indiana were in full
swing. The notion of a separation of the editorial operations from the
commercial affairs—termed the separation of church and state—
became the professed model. The argument went that trained editors
and reporters were granted autonomy by the owners to make the edi-
torial decisions, and these decisions were based on their professional
judgment, not the politics of the owners and the advertisers, or their
commercial interests to maximize profit. Readers could trust what
they read. Owners could sell their neutral monopoly newspapers to
everyone in the community and rake in the profits.

Of course, it took decades for the professional system to be
adopted by all the major journalistic media. The first half of the twen-
tieth century is replete with owners like the Chicago Tribune’s Colonel
McCormick, who used their newspapers to advocate their fiercely
partisan (and, almost always, far-right) views. And it is also true that
the claim of providing neutral and objective news was suspect, if not
entirely bogus. Decision making is an inescapable part of the jour-
nalism process, and some values have to be promoted when deciding
why one story rates front-page treatment while another is ignored.

Specifically, the realm of professional journalism had three dis-
tinct biases built into it, biases that remain to this day. First, to remove
the controversy connected with the selection of stories, it regarded
anything done by official sources, for example, government officials
and prominent public figures, as the basis for legitimate news. Then,
if chastised by readers, an editor could say, “Hey, don’t blame us, the
governor (or any other official source) said it and we merely reported
it.” This reliance upon official sources gave those in political office
(and, to a lesser extent, business) considerable power to set the news
agenda by what they spoke about and what they kept quiet about. It
gave the news a very establishment and mainstream feel.

To cite a very recent example, this bias explains the truly dreadful



news media coverage of the Republican “victory” in the 2000 presi-
dential election. Journalists were reduced to volleying between the
official opinion in the Republican and Democratic camps. Republican
sources were unified in their insistence that the White House was
theirs, regardless of the vote count. The Democratic high command
was unwilling to fight for what we now know they had clearly won —
and many of them spoke of how perhaps it would be best if Gore
threw in the towel —as that would have required mobilizing labor
unions, feminists, environmentalists, and African Americans in mas-
sive demonstrations, something the party’s big-money backers
wanted to avoid like the plague. The press therefore accepted the
debatable premise that Bush had won the election and Gore was
grasping at straws to save his flawed position. For journalists to stick
their necks out to press unwaveringly for a full and accurate tally of
the votes—without Gore or other leading Democrats assuming an
aggressive posture—would have left them exposed as being “par-
tisan.” So they retreated inside the walls of elite debate, and democ-
racy was the loser.

Second, also to avoid controversy, professional journalism posited
that there had to be a news hook or a news peg to justify a news story.
This meant that crucial social issues like racism or environmental
degradation fell through the cracks of journalism unless there was
some event, like a demonstration or the release of an official report, to
justify coverage. And even then, for those outside power to generate a
news hook was and is often extraordinarily difficult. Combined with
its obsession with “neutrality,” journalism tended to downplay or
eliminate the presentation of a range of informed positions on contro-
versial issues. Instead journalism produced the range of elite opinion
on those issues the elite were debating. This produces a paradox: Jour-
nalism, which, in theory, should inspire political involvement, tends to
strip politics of meaning and promote a broad depoliticization.

Both of these factors helped to stimulate the birth and rapid rise
of the public relations (PR) industry, the purpose of which was sur-
reptitiously to take advantage of these two aspects of professional
journalism. By providing slick press releases, paid-for “experts,”
neutral-sounding but bogus citizens’ groups, and canned news
events, crafty PR agents have been able to shape the news to suit the
interests of their mostly corporate clientele. Or as Alex Carey, the pio-
neering scholar of PR, put it in his book Taking the Risk Out of



Democracy (University of Illinois Press, 1997), the role of PR is to so
muddle the public sphere as to “take the risk out of democracy” for
the wealthy and corporations. PR is welcomed by media owners, as it
provides, in effect, a subsidy for them by providing them with filler at
no cost. Surveys show that PR accounts for anywhere from 40 to 70
percent of what appears as news.

The third bias of professional journalism is more subtle but most
important: far from being politically neutral, it smuggles in values con-
ducive to the commercial aims of the owners and advertisers as well
as the political aims of the owning class. Ben Bagdikian, author of The
Media Monopoly, refers to this as the “dig here, not there” phenomenon.
So it is that crime stories and stories about royal families and celebri-
ties become legitimate news. (These are inexpensive to cover, and they
never antagonize people in power.) So it is that the affairs of govern-
ment are subjected to much closer scrutiny than the affairs of big busi-
ness. Charles Lewis, founder of the Center for Public Integrity, notes
that when his group releases exposés of government malfeasance, they
receive far wider coverage from the press than when he provides sim-
ilarly researched exposés of corporate crime. And of government activ-
ities, those that serve the poor (for example, welfare) get much more
critical attention than those that serve primarily the interests of the
wealthy (for example, the CIA and other institutions of the national
security state), which are more or less off-limits. The genius of profes-
sionalism in journalism is that it tends to make journalists oblivious to
the compromises with authority they routinely make.

Professional journalism hit its high-water mark in the United
States from the 1950s into the 1980s. During this era, journalists had
relative autonomy to pursue stories and considerable resources to use
to pursue their craft. But there were distinct limitations. Even at its
best, professionalism was biased toward the status quo. The general
rule in professional journalism is this: If the elite, the upper 2 or 3 per-
cent of society who control most of the capital and rule the largest
institutions, agree on an issue then it is off-limits to journalistic
scrutiny. Hence, the professional news media invariably take it as a
given that the United States has a right to invade any country it wishes
for whatever reason it may have. While the U.S. elite may disagree on
specific invasions, none disagrees with the notion that the U.S. mili-
tary —and the U.S. military alone, unless it deputizes some nation—
needs to have a 007 (as in James Bond) right to intervene worldwide.



Similarly, U.S. professional journalism equates the spread of “free mar-
kets” with the spread of democracy, although empirical data show this
to be nonsensical. To the U.S. elite, however, democracy tends to be
defined by their ability to maximize profit in a nation, and that is, in
effect, the standard of professional journalism. In sum, on issues such
as these, U.S. professional journalism, even at its best, serves a propa-
ganda function similar to the role of Pravda or Izvestia in the old USSR.

The best journalism of the professional era came (and still comes)
in the alternative scenarios: when there were debates within the elite
or when an issue was irrelevant to elite concerns. In these cases, pro-
fessional journalism, with its emphasis on factual accuracy, could be
sparkling. So important social issues, like civil rights or abortion
rights or conflicts between Republicans and Democrats (such as
Watergate), tended to get superior coverage to issues of class or impe-
rialism, like the weakening of progressive income taxation, the size
and scope of the CIA’s operations, or United States-sponsored mass
murder in Indonesia. But one should not exaggerate the amount of
autonomy journalists had from the interests of owners, even in this
“Golden Age.” In every community there was a virtual Sicilian code
of silence, for example, regarding the treatment of the area’s wealth-
iest and most powerful individuals and corporations. Media owners
wanted their friends and business pals to get nothing but kid-glove
treatment in their media and so it was, except for the most egregious
and boneheaded maneuver.

This is not so say that the organized activities of the mass of
people do not have the ability to influence the shape of journalism. In
moments of resurgence for social movements, professional journalism
is malleable enough to improve the quantity and quality of coverage.
In the 1940s, for example, full-time labor editors and reporters
abounded on U.S. daily newspapers, and there were several hundred
of them. Even ferociously antilabor newspapers, like the Chicago Tri-
bune, covered the labor beat. The 1937 Flint sit-down strike that
launched the United Auto Workers and the trade union movement
was a major news story across the nation. By the 1980s, however,
labor had fallen off the map, and there were no more than a dozen
labor beat reporters remaining on U.S. dailies. (The number is less
than five today.) The story was simply no longer covered. Hence, the
1989 Pittstown sit-down strike — the largest since Flint —was virtually
unreported in the U.S. media, and its lessons unknown. As the labor



movement declined, coverage of labor was dropped. People still
work, poverty among workers is growing, workplace conflicts are as
important as ever, but this is no longer news.

It may seem ironic that, during the exact period that coverage of
labor was disappearing from the news, a right-wing critique of jour-
nalism gained considerable momentum (fueled by conservative phil-
anthropic dollars) that argued that U.S. journalism was hostile to busi-
ness and overly sympathetic to labor unions, government employees,
feminists, peaceniks, environmentalists, civil rights activists, and the
poor. This right-wing critique of “liberal” journalism was bankrolled
by organizations obsessed with smashing labor, deregulating business,
and putting corporations firmly in command of society. By the mid-
1970s this critique of the so-called liberal media had established itself
as the “official opposition” to professional journalism. The critique
seems bizarre upon close inspection, but it actually makes perfect
sense. The conservatives were criticizing the limited autonomy of pro-
fessional journalists that gave them power to sway journalism away
from the interests of owners and advertisers. Working journalists were
hardly “leftists,” but they tended to be more liberal, especially on
social issues, than their bosses. The conservative critique also struck a
resonant chord with many Americans insofar as it played on the
elitism that was clearly a part of the professional culture of journalism.

The conservative critique of the “liberal media” remains in place,
but it is far less persuasive than it was two decades ago. The conserv-
ative jihad against “liberal” media has been a success, as the domi-
nant commercial media present a range of opinion from the center to
theright. It is a tad ironic that Rush Limbaugh’s blood boils over what
he regards as rabidly pro-Clinton or pro-Gore coverage by the news
media, when, in fact, on most of the core issues of state, Clinton and
Gore have pushed a solidly probusiness position. One need only look
at the New York Times coverage of Ralph Nader in the 2000 presiden-
tial campaign—his treatment was roughly similar to how Pravda
regarded Andrei Sakharov in the 1970s—to see how left-wing and
radical the news media are.

This movement of journalism rightward is due to many factors,
but a significant factor for this and much else that is happening with
the news is due to the crucial structural changes in the media industry
over the past quarter-century, and especially in the past decade. This
is the striking consolidation of the media from a number of distinct



industries filled with scores, even hundreds, of significant firms to an
integrated industry dominated by less then ten enormous transna-
tional conglomerates and rounded out by no more than another fif-
teen very large firms. The first tier giants include AOL Time Warner,
Disney, Viacom, News Corporation, Bertelsmann, Vivendi Universal,
Sony, AT&T, and General Electric. This consolidation resulted from
government deregulation of broadcasting, new communication tech-
nologies, and lax enforcement of antitrust statutes. To give some sense
of proportion, in 2000, AOL purchased Time Warner in the biggest
media deal ever, valued at around $180 billion. That was more than
five hundred times greater than the value of the largest media deal in
history that had been recorded by 1979. The nine or ten largest media
conglomerates — few of which even existed in their current form in the
mid-1980s —now almost all rank among the 300 largest firms in the
world; in 1965, there were barely any media firms among the five
hundred largest companies in the world.

The consolidation and conglomeration of media ownership have
ramifications that touch on every facet of media behavior. For example,
the largest ten media firms own all the U.S. television networks, most of
the TV stations in the largest markets, all the major film studios, all the
major music companies, nearly all of the cable TV channels, much of the
book and magazine publishing, and much, much more. These firms are
obsessed with finding ways to use their media empires to augment their
profits. So, for example, movies that can spin off sequels, TV shows,
soundtracks, consumer products, and books make the best sense, and
the firms use their far-flung empires to promote all their wares. The
logic of media industries is such that a firm can no longer compete if it
is not part of a larger conglomerate. EMI is the last of the five music
companies that sell some 90 percent of the music in the United States
that is not part of a conglomerate, and it has attempted mergers with
AOL Time Warner and with Bertelsmann in 2000 and 2001. Likewise,
General Electric’s NBC is the only commercial TV network that does not
own a major Hollywood film studio or even a music company or book
publishing operation. General Electric will either become a full-fledged
media conglomerate, or it will sell NBC to a firm that can place NBC
into a larger empire. Moreover, these are truly global empires. Firms like
Disney and AOL Time Warner have seen the non-U.S. portion of their
revenues double in the past decade — to around 20 percent—and expect
continued rapid expansion into the foreseeable future.
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But it is probably journalism, more than any other aspect of
media, that has been affected the most by these developments. As
nearly all the traditional news media became small parts of vast com-
mercial empires, owners logically cast a hard gaze at their news divi-
sions and were determined to generate the same sort of return from
them that they received from their film, music, and amusement park
divisions. The traditional deal — the separation of editorial from busi-
ness—no longer made economic sense for these megacorporations.
And since the “deal” was never in writing, it depended upon the
magnanimity of the owners; it was only going to be honored as long
as it served the economic interests of those in control. This meant
laying off reporters, closing down bureaus, using more free PR mate-
rial, emphasizing inexpensive trivial stories, focusing on news of
interest to desired upscale consumers and investors, doing less over-
seas and investigative journalism, and generally urging a journalism
more closely attuned to the bottom-line needs of advertisers and the
parent corporation. The much-ballyhooed separation of church and
state was sacrificed on the altar of profit.

This has meant that all the things professional journalism did
poorly in its heyday, it does even worse today. And those areas where
it had been adequate or, at times, more than adequate, have suffered
measurably. Empirical studies chronicle the decline of journalism in
numbing detail. Expensive investigative journalism —especially that
which goes after powerful corporate or national security interests —is
discouraged. Idiotic or largely irrelevant human interest/ tragedy sto-
ries get the green light for extensive coverage. These are cheap, easy
to cover, and they never antagonize those in power. Then, when
people consume these stories, the media companies claim they are
responding to demand. It is a circular argument, especially when no
other viable alternatives are on the “ballot.”

Perhaps the most striking indication of the collapse of profes-
sional journalism comes from the editors and reporters themselves.
As recently as the mid-1980s, professional journalists tended to be
stalwart defenders of the media status quo, and they wrote book after
book of war stories celebrating their vast accomplishments. Today the
thoroughgoing demoralization of journalists is striking and palpable.
One need only peruse the chapters of this book or go to a bookstore
to see title after title by prominent journalists lamenting the decline of
the craft due to corporate and commercial pressure. As Jim Squires,



former editor of the Chicago Tribune put it, our generation has wit-
nessed the “death of journalism.”

In some respects we have returned to the world of the Progressive
Era, when journalists and social critics alike lambasted journalism.
And, as in the Progressive Era, the fault lines of mainstream journalism
are clear: deference to business and a blind eye to problems of corpo-
rations and capitalism, as well as a much greater sensitivity to the
needs of the affluent and privileged. In an economically unequal
society like the United States, the rational course for commercial news
media is to aim for the desired middle- and upper-middle-class target
audience. Daily newspapers have effectively dropped the bottom quin-
tile or perhaps third of the population from their “markets”; all the
other major news media from magazines to network news and cable
news channels are even more exclusive. The result of this recipe can be
pulled out of the oven: mainstream news and “business news” have
effectively morphed over the past two decades, as the news is increas-
ingly pitched to the richest one-half or one-third of the population. The
affairs of Wall Street, the pursuit of profitable investments, and the joys
of capitalism are now presented as the interests of the general popula-
tion. Journalists rely on business or free market-loving, business-ori-
ented think tanks as sources when covering economics stories.

The dismal effects of this became clear from 1999 to 2001 when
there were enormous demonstrations in Seattle; Washington, D.C.;
Quebec City; and Genoa, among others, to protest meetings of the
World Trade Organization (WTO), the World Bank, the International
Monetary Fund (IMF), and other institutions of global capitalism.
Here, finally, was the news hook that would permit journalists to
examine what may be the most pressing political issues of our time.
The coverage was skimpy, and paled by comparison to the round-the-
clock treatment of the John F. Kennedy Jr. plane crash in the summer
of 1999. News coverage of the demonstrations tended to emphasize
property damage and violence and, even there, it downplayed the
activities of the police. There were, to be fair, some outstanding pieces
produced by the corporate media, but those were the exceptions to
the rule. The handful of good reports that did appear were lost in the
continuous stream of pro-capitalist pieces. In addition to relying upon
pro-business sources, it is worth noting that media firms are also
among the leading beneficiaries of these global capitalist trade deals
(because they can buy assets overseas, and sell their products with



fewer restrictions), which helps explain why their coverage of them
throughout the 1990s was so decidedly enthusiastic. The sad truth is
that the closer a story gets to corporate power and corporate domina-
tion of our society, the less reliable the corporate news media are.

In recent years, this increased focus by the commercial news
media on the more affluent part of the population has reinforced and
extended the class bias in the selection and tenor of material. Stories
of great importance to tens of millions of Americans will fall through
the cracks because those are not the “right” Americans, according to
the standards of the corporate news media. Consider, for example, the
widening gulf between the richest 10 percent of Americans and the
poorest 60 percent of Americans that has taken place over the past
two decades. Throughout the 1980s and 1990s, real income declined
or was stagnant for the lower 60 percent, while wealth and income for
the rich skyrocketed. By 1998, discounting home ownership, the top
10 percent of the population claimed 76 percent of the nation’s net
worth, and more than half of that is accounted for by the richest 1 per-
cent. The bottom 60 percent has only a minuscule share of total
wealth, aside from some home ownership; by any standard, the
lowest 60 percent is economically insecure, weighed down as it is by
very high levels of personal debt.

As economist Lester Thurow notes, this peacetime rise in class
inequality may well be historically unprecedented and is one of the
main developments of our age. It has tremendously negative implica-
tions for our politics, culture, and social fabric, yet it is barely noted in
our journalism—except for rare mentions when the occasional eco-
nomic report points to it. One could say that this can be explained by
the lack of a news peg that would justify coverage, but that is hardly
tenable when one considers the cacophony of news-media reports on
the economic boom of the past decade. In the crescendo of news-
media praise for the genius of contemporary capitalism, it is almost
unthinkable to criticize the economy as deeply flawed. To do so
would seemingly reveal one as a candidate for an honorary position
in the Flat-Earth Society. The Washington Post has gone so far as to
describe ours as a nearly “perfect economy.” And it does, indeed,
appear more and more perfect the higher one goes up the socioeco-
nomic ladder, which points to the exact vantage point of the corporate
news media.

For a related and more striking example, consider one of the most



astonishing trends lately, one that receives little more coverage than
O. ]. Simpson’s boarder Kato Kaelin’s attempts to land a job or a girl-
friend: the rise of the prison-industrial complex and the incarceration
of huge numbers of people. The rate of incarceration has more than
doubled since the late 1980s, and the United States now has five times
more prisoners per capita than Canada and seven times more than the
whole of Western Europe. The United States has 5 percent of the
world’s population and 25 percent of the world’s prisoners. More-
over, nearly 90 percent of prisoners are jailed for nonviolent offenses,
often casualties of the so-called drug war.

The sheer quantity of prisoners is not even half of it. Recent
research suggests that a significant minority of those behind bars may
well be innocent. Consider the state of Illinois, where, in the past two
decades, more convicted prisoners on death row have been found
innocent of murder than have been executed. Or consider the recent
published work of the Innocence Project, which has used DNA testing
to get scores of murder and rape convictions overturned. In addition,
the conditions inside the prisons themselves tend far too often to be
reprehensible and grotesque, in a manner that violates any humane
notion of legitimate incarceration. It should be highly disturbing and
the source of public debate for a free society to have so many people
stripped of their rights. Revolutions have been fought and govern-
ments have been overthrown for smaller affronts to the liberties of so
many citizens. Instead, to the extent that this is a political issue, it is a
debate among Democrats and Republicans over who can be
“tougher” on crime, hire more police, and build more prisons. Almost
overnight, the prison-industrial complex has become a big business
and a powerful lobby for public funds.

This is an important story, one thick with drama and excitement,
corruption and intrigue. In the past two years, several scholars, attor-
neys, prisoners, and freelance reporters have provided devastating
accounts of the scandalous nature of the criminal justice system,
mostly in books published by small, struggling presses. Yet this story
is hardly known to Americans who can name half the men Princess
Diana had sex with or the richest Internet entrepreneurs. Why is that?
Well, consider that the vast majority of prisoners come from the
bottom quarter of the population in economic terms. It is not just that
the poor commit more crimes; the criminal justice system is also
stacked against them. “Blue-collar” crimes generate harsh sentences
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while “white-collar” crime—almost always netting vastly greater
amounts of money — gets kid-glove treatment by comparison. In the
year 2000, for example, a Texas man received sixteen years in prison
for stealing a Snickers candy bar, while, at the same time, four execu-
tives at Hoffman-LaRoche were found guilty of conspiring to sup-
press and eliminate competition in the vitamin industry, in what the
Justice Department called perhaps the largest criminal antitrust con-
spiracy in history. The cost to consumers and public health is nearly
immeasurable. The four executives were fined anywhere from $75,000
to $350,000, and they received prison terms ranging from three
months all the way up to four months.

Hence, the portion of the population that ends up in jail has little
political clout, is least likely to vote, and is of less business interest to
the owners and advertisers of the commercial news media. It is also a
disproportionately nonwhite portion of the population, and this is
where class and race intersect and form their especially noxious
American brew. Some 50 percent of U.S. prisoners are African Amer-
ican. In other words, these are the sort of people that media owners,
advertisers, journalists, and desired upscale consumers do everything
they can to avoid, and the news coverage reflects that sentiment. As
writer Barbara Ehrenreich has observed, the poor have vanished from
the view of the affluent; they have all but disappeared from the
media. And in those rare cases where poor people are covered, studies
show that the news media reinforce racist stereotypes, playing into
the social myopia of the middle and upper classes. There is ample
coverage of crime in the news media, but it is used to provide inex-
pensive, graphic, and socially trivial filler. The coverage is almost
always divorced from any social context or public policy concerns,
and, if anything, it serves to enhance popular paranoia about crime
waves and to prod political support for tough-talking, “three strikes
and you’re out” programs.

Imagine, for one moment, that instead of being from the bottom
quarter, nearly all the prisoners were from the richest quarter of the
population. Imagine that the students attending Yale or the Univer-
sity of Illinois, for example, had half of their friends behind bars or
dead from a confrontation with police, and that they had been hassled
by the police for being “suspects” in some crime. Imagine, too, that
their parents had the same experiences, and that they knew that many
of those friends in prison were innocent. Imagine the donations the
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ACLU would receive! Would this be a news story then? Of course it
would, but this is hypothetical because the problem would have been
eliminated long before it could have reached that point, and it would
have been eliminated because it would have been the biggest political
and news story of our era.

Or perhaps not. in the past few months, the news media has
encountered a story of even greater magnitude. Following the Sep-
tember 11 terrorist attacks on New York and Washington, D.C., the
United States launched a worldwide war against terrorism. The deci-
sion to go to war is the most important one any society can make. A
war means many thousands, even millions, of lives will be lost, and
immense economic resources must be diverted from peaceful uses to
feed the war effort. In a society that is democratic, the decision to go
to war must be made with the informed consent of the population.
What that requires is a press system that provides the citizenry with
the information and perspectives to make an informed decision. It is,
in some respects, for the notion of a free press, its moment of truth.

Journalists had every reason to be skeptical about the rush to war
immediately following September 11. Since the late nineteenth cen-
tury, the U.S. government has worked aggressively to convince the
citizenry of the necessity of going to war in numerous instances. In
cases like World War I, Korea, Vietnam, and the Gulf War, the gov-
ernment employed sophisticated propaganda campaigns to whip the
population into a suitable fury. It was well understood within the
establishment at the time—and subsequently verified in historical
examinations —that the government needed to lie in order to gain
support for its war aims. The media system, in every case, proved to
be a superior propaganda organ for militarism and empire.

This is the context for understanding the media coverage since
September 11. The historical record suggests we should expect an
avalanche of lies and half-truths in the service of power, and that is
exactly what we have gotten. Our news media has played along in
toto, having learned nothing from history.

The Manichean picture conveyed by the media was as follows: A
benevolent, democratic, and peace loving nation was brutally
attacked by insane, evil terrorists who hate the United States for its
freedoms and affluent way of life. The United States must immedi-
ately increase its military and covert forces, locate the surviving cul-
prits, and exterminate them; then prepare for a long-term war to root
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out the global terrorist cancer and destroy it. Those who do not aid the
U.S. campaign for justice—and logically, this would mean domesti-
cally as well as internationally —are to be regarded as the accomplices
of the guilty parties, and may well suffer a similar fate. No skepticism
was shown toward U.S. military, political, and economic interests that
might benefit from militarism and war. No hard questioning
demanded evidence that the proposed war might actually accomplish
the reduction of terrorism and bring justice to the terrorists respon-
sible for the September 11 attacks. Those concerns, which would be
applied to any other government that proposed to direct a world war,
were avoided by the mainstream press.

The reasons for this grossly distorted coverage are due to the
reliance on official sources that is written into the professional code,
which I have discussed. The entire political establishment fell in line
for the war effort, leaving little wiggle room for journalists to chal-
lenge the jingoist sentiment, without being accused of being unpro-
fessional, partisan, or unpatriotic. Factual stories that challenged the
official position appeared on the margins, but without official-source
support, they died off from lack of oxygen.

Beyond the professional code, U.S. media corporations play a
large role in explaining the dreadful coverage. The number of over-
seas correspondents has been slashed, and international political cov-
erage has plummeted over the past two decades, as that is expensive
and generates little revenue. Whereas Americans once tended to be
somewhat misinformed about world politics, now they are unin-
formed. The U.S. citizenry is embarrassingly and appallingly ignorant
of the most elementary political realities in other nations and regions.
It is an unmitigated disaster for the development of a meaningful
democratic debate over international policy, and highlights a deep
contradiction between the legitimate informational needs of a demo-
cratic society and the need for profit of the corporate media.

The U.S. media corporations also exist within an institutional con-
text that make support for U.S. military seemingly natural. These giant
firms are among the primary beneficiaries of both neoliberal globaliza-
tion — their revenues outside the United States are increasing at a rapid
pace—and the US. role as the preeminent world power. Indeed, the
U.S. government is the primary advocate for the global media firms
when trade deals and intellectual property agreements are being nego-
tiated. Coincidentally, at the very moment that the corporate broad-



casters are singing the praises of “America’s New War,” their lobbyists
are appearing before the Federal Communications Commission
seeking radical relaxation of ownership regulations for broadcasting,
newspaper, and cable companies. Such deregulation will by all
accounts lead to another massive wave of media consolidation. For
these firms to provide an understanding of the world in which the U.S.
military and economic interests are not benevolent forces might be pos-
sible in some arcane twisted theory, but it is incongruous practically.

The propagandistic nature of the war coverage was made crystal
clear by AOL Time Warner’s CNN a few weeks after the war began in
Afghanistan. CNN is not only the leading U.S. cable news network, it
is the leading global cable and satellite news network. The war has
put CNN in a pickle. If it broadcasts the pro-U.S. pabulum it gener-
ates in the United States to international audiences, audiences react
negatively. International audiences are getting a much more critical
take on the war and the U.S. role in their newspapers and other
media, and they will not watch CNN if it is seen as a front for the Bush
administration. On the other hand, if CNN presents such critical cov-
erage to U.S. audiences, it will outrage people in power here. CNN
president Walter Isaacson solved this dilemma by authorizing CNN
to provide two different versions of the war: a more critical one for
global audience and a sugarcoated one for Americans. Indeed,
Isaacson instructed the domestic CNN to be certain that any story that
might undermine support for the U.S. war be balanced with a
reminder that the war on terrorism is a response to the heinous
attacks of September 11.

The implications of this for journalism are self-evident.

The problems with our journalism are not because the people who
run our newsrooms and media corporations are bad people. That is
mostly irrelevant. They do what they do because they are rationally
following the cues they are given. What we need to do is change the
cues so it is rational to produce great journalism. That means we must
redouble the efforts to support independent media. Some argue that
with the rise of the Internet, the corporate media system and main-
stream journalism will go the way of the dodo bird as billions of
media Web sites offer a sumptuous feast of media. The track record so
far, however, makes it clear that this will not happen. To the extent
that the Internet becomes part of the commercial media system, it
looks to be dominated by the usual corporate suspects. Their power is
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based not just on technology, but on political and economic muscle. To
create and disseminate effective media requires resources and institu-
tional support. Technology won’t rescue us, although we do need to
take advantage of it to the best of our abilities.

Ultimately, we need to press for the overhaul of the media system,
so that it serves democratic values rather than the interests of capital.
The US. media system is not “natural,” it has nothing to do with the
wishes of the Founding Fathers, and it has even less to do with the
workings of some alleged free market. To the contrary, the media system
is the result of laws, government subsidies, and regulations made in the
public’s name, but made corruptly behind closed doors without the
public’s informed consent. The largest media firms are all built on top of
the profits generated by government gifts of monopoly rights to valu-
able broadcasting spectra or monopoly cable franchises. The value of
this corporate welfare, over the past seventy-five years, can only be esti-
mated, but it probably runs into the hundreds of billions of dollars.

Our job is to make media reform part of our broader struggle for
democracy and social justice. It is impossible to conceive of a better
world with a media system that remains under the thumb of Wall
Street and Madison Avenue, under the thumb of the owning class. It
is nearly impossible to conceive of the process of getting to a better
world without some changes in the media status quo. We have no
time to waste.
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